
Agenda for a meeting of the Executive to be held on 
Tuesday, 19 July 2016 at 10.30 am in Committee Room 1 
- City Hall, Bradford
Members of the Executive – Councillors

LABOUR
Hinchcliffe (Chair)
V Slater
I Khan
Ross-Shaw
Ferriby
Jabar

Notes:

 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 
contacting the Agenda contact shown below.

 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed 
except if Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered 
by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be 
respectful to the conduct of the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such 
as oral commentary) will not be permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes 
to record or film the meeting's proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda 
Contact who will provide guidance and ensure that any necessary arrangements are in 
place. Those present who are invited to make spoken contributions to the meeting 
should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the 
officer named at the foot of that agenda item.  

From: To:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact:  Jill Bell / Yusuf Patel
Phone: 01274 434580/4579
E-Mail: jill.bell@bradford.gov.uk / yusuf.patel@bradford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS

1.  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)

To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest.

An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting.

Notes:

(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
Standing Order 44.

2.  MINUTES 

Recommended –

That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 June 2016 be signed 
as a correct record (previously circulated).

(Jill Bell / Yusuf Patel - 01274 434580 434579)



3.  INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 

(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)

Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.  

Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.  

If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.  

Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.  

(Jill Bell / Yusuf Patel - 01274 434580 434579)

4.  RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE EXECUTIVE 

To note any recommendations to the Executive that may be the subject 
of report to a future meeting.  (Schedule to be tabled at the meeting).  

 (Jill Bell / Yusuf Patel - 01274 434580 434579)

B. STRATEGIC ITEMS

LEADER OF COUNCIL & CORPORATE

(Councillor Hinchcliffe)

5.  ANNUAL FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE OUTTURN REPORT 
2015-16 

The primary purpose of the report of the Director of Finance and the 
Assistant Director of Policy, Programmes & Change (Document “G”) 
is to give Members insight into the Council’s overall position at the end 
of the 2015-16 financial year by integrating finance and performance 
information. It provides a detailed statement of the final financial 
position of the Council at the 31 March 2016 as well as the annual 
outturn for the Corporate Indicator Set. The report specifically details 
how Services are performing within the context of the Council’s 
stewardship of its revenue resources.

1 - 110



Recommended -

That the Executive:-

(1)     Note the financial position of the Council reported for the 
year ended 31 March 2016.

(2)     Approve the £1.259m of additional requests to carry 
forward funds to 2016-17 outlined in section 2.1 of 
Appendix 1 to Document “G”.

(3) Note the performance position and endorse the actions to 
address the identified areas of underperformance in 
Appendix 1, Section 1 of Document “G”.

(Samantha Plum/Andrew Cross – 01274 432682/436823)

6.  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2017-18 TO 2019/20 AND 
BEYOND INCORPORATING THE EFFICIENCY PLAN 

The Director of finance will present Document “H” on the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy which focuses on how the Council intends to 
respond to the forecasted public sector funding reductions as a result 
of the on-going austerity measures imposed by the Government’s 
spending plans. It sets out the approaches and principles the Council 
will follow to ensure the Council remains financially viable and delivers 
on its priorities.

The Plan also forms the basis of the Council’s Efficiency Plan for the 
next four financial years.

The next four years already contained a series of potentially significant 
changes to the structure of the Council and the services it will be 
responsible for and what it can provide. Many of these changes are still 
at consultation stage which brings additional complexity when 
predicting the future. However, the result of the EU referendum has 
added a further layer of uncertainty to prospects of stability in local 
government finances.

The forecast identifies further savings of £11.5m in 2017/18 in addition 
to the £24.2m agreed in February 2016. In the following year the gap 
increases to £32m in 2018/19 and then up to £109.5m by 2022/23.

Recommended -

(1) That Executive consider the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy as an assessment of the Council’s financial 
outlook to 2019/20 and beyond, and a framework for it to 
remain financially viable and deliver sustainable public 

111 - 
154



services in line with its priorities using the principles 
contained in the Efficiency Plan (Annex D) of Document 
“H”.

(2) That Executive recommends the updated and revised 
Medium Term Financial Strategy at Appendix 1 of 
Document “H” be forwarded to Council for approval.

(3) That Executive recommends, subject to Council approval, 
to delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Leader, to apply to take up the multi-year settlement 
supported by the Efficiency Plan at Annex D to Document 
“H” based on their assessment of whether this will be in the 
best interests of the Council.

(Tom Caselton - 01274 434472)

7.  FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT FOR 2016-
17 

The report of the Director of Finance (Document “I”) provides 
Members with an overview of the forecast financial position of the 
Council for 2016-17.

It examines the latest spend against revenue and capital budgets and 
forecasts the financial position at the year end. It states the Council’s 
current balances and reserves and forecasts school balances for the 
year.  

Recommended -

That the Executive

(1) Note the contents of this report and the actions taken to 
manage the forecast overspend.

(2) Approve the addition of the £0.7m land acquisition for 
Station Gateways Programme to the Capital Investment 
Plan as set out in paragraphs 2 and 5 of Document “I”. The 
scheme to be funded by £0.275m from the Strategic 
Acquisition scheme and temporary borrowing. 

(Andrew Cross – 01274 436823)

155 - 
184



C. PORTFOLIO ITEMS

HEALTH & WELLBEING PORTFOLIO & DEPUTY 
LEADER

(Councillor Val Slater)

8.  REGIONALISATION OF ADOPTION SERVICES 

The purpose of the report of the Strategic Director of Children’s 
Services (Document “J”) is to provide information to the Council’s 
Executive about the proposals for adoption reform contained within the 
government’s Education and Adoption Act 2016. It sets out the 
Yorkshire and Humber regional plan for adoption and requests 
delegated authority for the Director of Children’s Services to form a 
Yorkshire and Humber central adoption hub and develop a West 
Yorkshire Regional Adoption Agency which is to be hosted by Leeds 
City Council.

Recommended -

(1) That Executive approve the formation of a Yorkshire and 
Humber adoption service as set out in this report. 

(2) That authority be delegated to the Director of Children’s 
Services, in consultation with the Education, Employment 
and Skills Portfolio Holder to progress the development of 
the Yorkshire and Humber Hub and the West Yorkshire 
Adoption Agency and to proceed with the revised structure 
leading to the transfer of staff to Leeds City Council as the 
host of the West Yorkshire Agency with the new 
arrangements being in place for April 2017. 

(3) That a further report be presented to the Executive prior to 
the implementation of the new arrangements, including 
details of proposed governance arrangements.

(Jim Hopkinson - 01274 432904)

185 - 
194



EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS 
PORTFOLIO

(Councillor I Khan)

9.  PROPOSED EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY TEAM SPIN-OUT 
FROM THE LOCAL AUTHORITY 

The Director of Children’s Services will present a progress report on 
the proposal to spin out the Educational Psychology Team as an 
Employee Owned Mutual (Document “K”).

Recommended -

The Executive is requested to approve final sign off of the 
proposal that the EPT spins out of the LA as an Employee owned 
Mutual, in the form of a Community Interest Company, from 1st 
November 2016.

(Ruth Dennis - 01274 439444)

195 - 
202

ENVIRONMENT, SPORT & CULTURE 
PORTFOLIO

(Councillor Ferriby)

10.  UNAUTHORISED DEPOSIT OF WASTE (FIXED PENALTIES) 
REGULATIONS 2016 

The Strategic Director Environment & Sport will submit a report 
(Document “L”) in which the Executive is asked to agree to the use of 
Fixed Penalty Notices for fly-tipping offences  as provided for in the 
Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 .

Recommended -

(1) That the Strategic Director Environment and Sport be given 
delegated authority in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
to implement the provisions within the Unauthorised 
Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016. 

(2) That the Strategic Director Environment and Sport 
authorise in writing designated  Council officers to issue 
Fixed Penalty Notices for fly- tipping and such officers will 
receive appropriate training. 

203 - 
208



(3) That the fixed penalty be set at £400 which will be reduced 
to £300 if the penalty is paid in full before the end of the 
period of  10 days  following the date of the notice. 

 
(Amjad Ishaq - 01274 433682)

11.  MINUTES OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY 31 
MARCH 2016 

To receive the minutes of the following meetings of the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority (Document “..” attached):

209 - 
220

12.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

Recommended – 

That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the item relating to the allocation of Basic Need 
Funding for a new primary school in Silsden (Not for publication 
Document “N”) on the grounds that it is likely in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if they were present, exempt information within 
Paragraph 3  (financial or business affairs) of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), would be disclosed 
and it is considered that, in all the circumstances, the public 
interest in excluding public access to the relevant part of the 
proceedings outweighs the interest in publication of the report.

13.  ALLOCATION OF BASIC NEED FUNDING FOR A NEW PRIMARY 
SCHOOL IN SILSDEN 

The report of the Strategic Director Children’s Services (Not For 
Publication Document “N”) provides an overview of the various 
arrangements put in place to enable the replacement of Aireview 
Infants and Hothfield Junior schools with a new school building.

Recommended 

That the Executive approve the allocation of basic need funding 
and other incomes towards the cost of the new school building.

(Terry Davis – 01274 434333)

221 - 
227

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER



 

 
 

Report of the Director of Finance and the Assistant 
Director of Policy, Programmes & Change to the 
meeting of the Executive to be held on 19 July 2016. 
 
            

Subject:            G 
 

Annual Finance and Performance Outturn report 2015-16 
 

Summary statement: 
 
The primary purpose of this report is to give Members insight into the Council’s overall position 
at the end of the 2015-16 financial year by integrating finance and performance information. It 
provides a detailed statement of the final financial position of the Council at the 31 March 2016 
as well as the annual outturn for the Corporate Indicator Set. The report specifically details how 
Services are performing within the context of the Council’s stewardship of its revenue 
resources. 

 

Stuart McKinnon-Evans 
Director of Finance  
 
Samantha Plum  
Interim Assistant Director of Policy, Programmes and 
Change 
 

Portfolio:   Leader of the Council and 
Corporate 
 

Report Contact:  Andrew Cross 
Business Adviser – Management Accounting 
 (01274) 436823 andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk  
 
David Preston 
Policy, Programmes and Change Manager 
(01274) 431241 david.preston@bradford.gov.uk  

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  Corporate 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5/



 

1. SUMMARY  
 
The primary purpose of this report is to give Members insight into the Council’s overall position 
at the end of the 2015-16 financial year by integrating finance and performance information. It 
provides a detailed statement of the final financial position of the Council at the 31 March 2016 
and the annual outturn for the Corporate Indicator Set. The report specifically details how 
Services are performing within the context of the Council’s revenue resources. 
 
2. BACKGROUND  
 
In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011, the Director of Finance is 
required to sign and issue the Statement of Accounts by 30 June 2016. Members’ approval of 
the accounts is sought after the completion of the Audit on or before 30 September 2016.  
 
This report, and the regular reporting of spend and performance to Members, is a key element 
of the Council’s corporate performance framework, which provides assurance that the Council 
has control over its finances, and its investments are driving the delivery of improvements to 
our corporate priority objectives.  
 
This report sets out both the financial position at 31 March 2016 and how the Council has 
performed in 2015-16 in the context of on-going reductions in Government funding and 
inflationary and demographic pressures.  Focusing on how performance has affected the final 
financial result and likewise whether the financial result has had an impact on service delivery. 
 
3. MAIN MESSAGES 
 
3.1  Overall Performance 
 
3.1.1  On 14 June 2016, the Council’s Executive approved a new District Plan which identifies 

the priority outcomes that the Council, its partners and local communities are working 
together to achieve for the District:-  

 
• Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy, 
• A great start and good schools for all our children  
• Better health, better lives 
• Decent homes that people can afford to live in 
• Safe clean and active communities 

 
The District Plan provides a focus and accountability for delivering investment and 
activities that secure positive progress towards achieving these priorities.  
 
A Council Plan is currently being developed which will identify the Council’s 
contributions, its responsibilities for direct delivering and a new set of key performance 
indicators.  
 
These indicators will help us to measure progress towards achieving organisational and 
District wide objectives, to understand the local context in which we are operating, 
identify areas that require improvement and guide decisions about the allocation of 
resources. They will also provide an indication of organisational performance in relation 
to sickness and productivity. 
 
No single organisation can secure the positive results that collectively we are seeking to 
achieve so we must recognise the need to work together to maximise the impact of all 
the District’s assets and resources.  
 
Often the performance of other organisations will have greater direct impact than that of 
the Council. Nevertheless the Council retains a key role as the democratically 
accountable leadership of the District, as its advocate and in influencing its 
communities, organisations, businesses and public services. Monitoring progress 

Page 2



 

towards priorities therefore offers opportunities to assess the impact of Council 
leadership, advocacy and influence as well as its direct delivery and commissioning of 
services.       

 
3.1.2 While the Council Plan will provide the framework for future performance monitoring 

and reporting the Council currently uses 45 headline indicators to measure its 
performance and productivity. This report summarises performance against those 
indicators up to March 2016.  

 
3.1.3 The indicators tell us that performance in many key areas is improving and remains on 

target reflecting the positive impact of previous investment and policy decisions. 
However there continue to be areas where the District faces significant challenges and 
where performance is either deteriorating or not improving quickly enough. 

 
3.1.4 The Council has made significant investments to support young and disadvantaged 

people who are furthest from the labour market into work and these have delivered 
positive benefits for a great many people. Working with business, Leeds City Region 
and others we have secured new apprenticeships, jobs and investment. Nevertheless, 
despite showing improvements employment rates continue to remain too low and the 
proportion of the population without qualifications too high, and therefore a continued 
focus on ways of securing inclusive growth that benefits everyone is necessary.  

 
3.1.5 Good progress is being made on supporting children and families in the early years of 

life, effective child protection processes and in reducing the numbers of young people 
who are not in education, employment or training. However key indicators of school 
standards such as Key Stage 2 achievement and good GCSE’s and of school 
leadership are not improving fast enough. 

 
Educational attainment continues to be a priority area for improvement with 
performance being closely monitored and managed by the Education School 
Improvement Board as part of the Ofsted Inspection Improvement Plan. The District is 
moving to a school led approach to improvement but the Council has made resources 
available to support the recruitment, development and retention of outstanding school 
leaders, secured significant new resources for additional school places and is 
promoting an Education Covenant which makes clear the role that everyone can play in 
improving education.  

 
3.1.6 The Council’s increasing focus on preventative care, support to help people get back to 

independent living after an illness or hospital stay and on-going additional investment to 
address demographic changes means that many social care services are performing 
well. For example, Bradford is a top performer in terms of its rate of admissions to 
residential and nursing homes. Working with health services to use resources 
effectively is delivering good results in terms of reducing the numbers of delayed 
hospital discharges that are down to a lack of social care capacity.  

 
Demographic changes leading to rising demand for care mean that the Council will 
need to continue to work closely with health partners, keep promoting self care and 
invest more in early interventions in order to sustain good performance.  
 
Health and health inequalities continue to present significant challenges but the 
difference in life expectancy between the most and least deprived parts of the District is 
falling. 

 
3.1.7  The Council is performing well in its efforts to increase affordable housing supply by 

investing to bring empty homes back into use although the numbers of private housing 
conditions improved through Council interventions is below target. This is primarily due 
to an increasing demand for initial inspections of private sector housing conditions 
which is leading to less resource being available to actually make the improvements. 
The Council continues to provide support to vulnerable home owners.  

Page 3



 

 
3.1.8 Perceptions of anti-social behaviour and community relations are deteriorating. The 

Council works closely with local communities to identify, monitor and address tensions 
and promotes active citizenship. The People Can campaign encourages people from all 
backgrounds to work individually and together to improve things for themselves and 
others.  Activities encourage a sense of pride in community and locality. 

 
3.1.9  The Council’s Management team is still undertaking targeted work to improve the 
 organisations sickness targets and whilst there has been a slight improvement, 
 performance is still below target.                                  
 
3.1.10 In summary, of the 43 indicators that have targets, 17 are on target, 9 are within 

acceptable variance and 17 are below target. In addition to service specific issues the 
change could reflect the challenges of improving performance or maintaining high 
performance at a time of reducing financial resources and increasing demand which 
require shifts in investment and focus to deliver transformational change.  

 
3.1.11 A detailed summary and commentary of those areas of good and improving 

performance as well as those areas of underperformance is included in section 1 of the 
appendix to this report. 

 
3.2 Headline Financial Result 
 
Net revenue spending was £0.8m (0.2%) less than the approved budget of £400.8m, similar to 
the position reported at the Third and Fourth Quarters.  
 
The table below shows individual departmental results, with services to the public and 
businesses as a group outturning £3.1m (0.8%) below planned spend, and support and non-
service functions £3.2m (7.2%) below plan.  Central budgets and reserve movements are 
£5.5m more than planned, reflecting provision being made for future non-recurrent liabilities 
and movements to reserves including deferred expenditure (£2.8m). 
Detailed commentary on each Department is found in Appendix 1. 
 
Table 1: Budgeted and Actual Expenditure and Income 
 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Services to the public & businesses

Adult & Community Services 182.5 183.5 1.0 54.0 55.8 -1.8 128.5 127.7 -0.8

Children's Services 638.1 641.0 3.0 514.1 515.4 -1.3 124.0 125.6 1.7

Environment & Sport 113.4 113.3 -0.1 47.0 49.6 -2.5 66.4 63.8 -2.7

Public Health 44.0 41.9 -2.1 43.8 41.8 2.1 0.1 0.1 -

Regeneration 116.4 115.7 -0.7 49.4 50.1 0.6 67.0 65.6 -1.4

Revenues & Benefits 189.1 188.1 -1.0 183.7 182.6 1.1 5.4 5.5 0.1

Total services to the public & businesses 1,283.5 1,283.6 0.1 892.0 895.3 -1.9 391.4 388.3 -3.1

Support services and non service

Property Programme 1.4 1.3 -0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 1.3 1.3 -0.0

Chief Executive 5.5 5.1 -0.4 0.1 0.1 -0.0 5.4 4.9 -0.4

City Solicitor 8.9 8.7 -0.3 2.2 1.9 0.2 6.8 6.7 -0.1

Human Resources 9.9 9.3 -0.6 2.1 2.2 -0.1 7.8 7.0 -0.8

Finance (Excluding Revenues & Benefits) 24.0 23.7 -0.4 1.9 1.8 0.1 22.2 21.9 -0.3

Non Service Budgets 2.5 1.7 -0.8 1.3 2.1 -0.9 1.3 -0.4 -1.6

Total support services and non service 52.3 49.8 -2.6 7.6 8.3 -0.7 44.7 41.5 -3.2

Central Budgets & Net Transfers To 

Reserves*
6.7 19.3 12.6 42.1 49.2 -8.4 -35.3 -29.8 5.5

Total Council Spend 1,342.5 1,352.7 10.1 941.8 952.7 -10.9 400.8 400.0 -0.8

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
*Includes £2.8m of deferred expenditure 

Page 4



 

 
Service budgets and actuals include year end accounting adjustments for depreciation, impairment and pensions. 
They also include Facilities Management costs and budgets (utilities and repairs) which during the year are managed 
and controlled within Regeneration. These affect Service’s budgets and actual spend but have nil impact on the final 
service variances. 

 
Source: The Council’s ledger (SAP) as at 31 March 2016 

 
3.3  Deferred Spending 
 
£2.8m of funding is being carried forward to 2016/17, to finance uncompleted priority activities 
(detail in Appendix 1 Section 2.1).  
 
3.4  Implementation of Budget Savings 
 
The 2015-16 budget included £37.7m of specific savings across all parts of the Council.  £4.9m 
were not delivered as planned. As previously reported, the main variances include: 

• £3m reduction in transport assistance reform was underachieved by £1.8m; making 
sure the approach to reassessing entitlement is right and properly resourced has 
taken longer than anticipated.  £0.6m of investment over 2 years in Travel Training 
has been agreed as part of the 2016-17 budget to support the reform. 

• £3m saving from Children’s Centres was underachieved by £0.2m due to delays in 
establishing the final external clusters, now expected by August 2016. 

• £1.6m saving in Adults Residential Care was underachieved by £0.65m as numbers 
of external placements have not reduced as planned and an In House home that 
was planned to be de-commissioned remains open. 

• £1.0m saving linked to reductions in High Cost Adult Services placements was 
underachieved by £0.5m due to lower than planned net reductions in placements. 

 
3.5 Capital Investment 
 
Total capital investment was £70.6m across the district, £4.3m less than the forecast budget of 
£74.9m.   

 

Services 
 

Budget 
£m 

Outturn 
£m 

Variance 
£m 

Adult & Community Services 0.6 0.7 0.1 

Children's Services 24.7 24.0 -0.7 

Public Health 0.4 0.4 0.0 

Environment & Sports 3.6 3.0 -0.6 

Property & Economic Development 17.9 17.5 -0.4 

Regen - Climate, Housing, Employment & Skills 11.5 10.9 -0.6 

Regen - Planning 1.1 0.7 -0.4 

Total - Regen - Highways & Transport 15.1 13.4 -1.7 

 74.9 70.6 -4.3 

 

• The capital investment included the completion of Margaret Macmillan Tower, three 
new affordable schemes, the new Forster Academy school and the redevelopment of 
Clergy House to provide temporary accommodation for homeless families amongst 
others. In addition £6.6m was provided for regeneration through the City Centre Growth 
Zone and the former Tyrls site cleared to enable regeneration. 
 

• Materially all of the £24m of capital expenditure within Children’s services is funded by 
grant income and not Council resources. 

 
 
 

Page 5



 

 
 
 
 
3.6 Contingencies and Provisions 
 

• The budget included contingencies which were utilised during the year to offset the 
risks which emerged, from unexpected liabilities and timing differences in the 
implementation of change.  In closing the year, funds have been set aside to deal with 
established and emerging risks arising from the continued and complex series of 
changes being implemented, future restructuring costs, the academisation agenda, 
uncertainties about future income flows, and doubtful debts.  

 

• At the 31st March 2016, the Council set aside £22.7m, of which £9.4m is expected to be 
used in 2016-17 with the remainder in subsequent years. Provisions are £2.7m higher 
than at the 2014-15 year end. 
 
The main provisions include: 

£8.4m Termination Provision to fund the cost of future redundancies 
  £6.0m Business Rates appeal provision 

£4.0m Outstanding legal claims 
£3.9m Damage Compensation 

 
3.7  Reserves 
 
The Council’s reserves at the end of the year include: 
 

 
Opening 
Balance  

Movement 
in 15-16 

Closing 
Balance 

 £ms £ms £ms 

Unallocated reserves available to support the annual revenue 
budget 33.7 -13.7 19.9 

Corporate Earmarked Reserves 47.7 -8.9 38.9 

Reserves to support capital investment  13.9 -0.7 13.1 

Service Earmarked Reserves 30.6 12.2 42.8 

Revenue Grant Reserves 9.1 -0.7 8.4 

General Fund Reserves 10.8 0.0 10.8 

Schools Delegated budget 38.4 -4.6 33.8 

Total 184.2 -16.4 167.8 

 

• At 31st March 2016 unallocated reserves stand at £19.9m inclusive of the £0.8m 
Council underspend. The 2016-17 budget assumes £6.2m will be used to leave a 
forecasted unallocated balance of just £13.8m at 31 March 2017 (1.5% of the Council’s 
gross budget excluding schools) as a contingency reserve. 

 

• The balance continues to be seen as potentially inadequate by both the Director of 
Finance and the Council’s External Auditors given Governments fiscal policies that will 
reduce Council net spending from £400m in 2015-16 to £300m by 2021. 
 

• Of the £12.2m increase in Service Earmarked reserves; £4.9m relates to the creation of 
an ICT Programmes Reserve to fund refresh of equipment and software following the 
end of the IBM contract. A further £4.9m has been set aside to cover future costs 
associated with the implementation of the Care Act that has been deferred by the 
Government. 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



 

3.8 Council Tax and Business Rates  

 
Council Tax 

 

• The Council Tax element of the Collection Fund ended the year £3.1m in surplus, of 
which 85% (£2.6m) belongs to the Council.  

 

• The overachievement of Council tax income compared to the budgeted figure is due to 
a higher number of new properties being billed and a lower than forecast cost in the 
current year of providing Council Tax Reduction support.  
 

• The total amount collected and in year collection rates are as outlined. 
 

 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Council Tax (incl surplus/ deficit) £ms -146.56 -152.10 -161.95 

In year collection rates* 94.18% 94.24%  

 
 
Business rates 
 

• The Business Rates retention scheme provides for Business Rates collected by 
Bradford Council to be shared between itself, central government and the West 
Yorkshire Integrated Fire Authority. Any difference between what the Council forecast it 
would raise in Business Rates in 2015-16 (£68.513m) and what it has actually raised 
results in either a surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund, 

 

• A deficit of £21.2m was outturned, in line with the forecast in January 2016. Bradford’s 
share (49%) of this deficit was £10.4m. 

 

• A reason for the deficit was the impact of appeals. Successful appeals require the 
Council to refund business in 2015-16 and in many cases prior years. There was a high 
cost of refunds because: 

 

• Refunds due to rateable value reductions on GP surgeries backdated to prior years 
 

• Refunds on other rateable value reductions 
 

• This deficit on the Business Rates Collection Fund was fully forecast when  the 2016-17 
budget was set. As a result, the deficit has already been budgeted for. 

 

• The total amount collected and in year collection rates are as outlined. 
 

 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Business Rates (incl surplus/deficit) £ms -64.3 -68.72 -63.69 

In year collection rate 97.94% 96.94%  

 
3.9 Conclusion 
 

• Performance against the 45 key indicators showed a spectrum of improvement and 
deterioration, reflecting external factors beyond the direct control of the Council, and the 
complexity of issues being tackled, alongside tangible better outcomes.   
 

• The financial result, in a continuing adverse fiscal environment, showed once again a 
significant reduction in the net cost of operations, in line with the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy. 

 
 

Page 7



 

4.  RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 

This is a detailed retrospective report.  The financial data is subject to the current year-
end audit, with the external auditors not signalling any material issues to date.  The 
significant performance and financial issues reported were identified earlier in the year 
and where appropriate, were factored into the 2016-17 budget.  Risk management 
processes are in place in support of day to day operations and change activity, and will 
continue to identify what mitigating action reduces risk to an acceptable level. 

 
5.  LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 

There are no significant legal issues arising from this report.  The proposed 
arrangements for reporting performance are in line with the Government’s expectations 
regarding self-regulation which the Council will continue to monitor. 

 
6.  OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.  EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 

Equality Impact Assessment is undertaken as part of the annual budget setting decision 
process. 

 
8. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Executive is recommended to:- 
 
8.1      Note the financial position of the Council reported for the year ended 31 March 2016. 
 
8.2      Approve the £1.259m of additional requests to carry forward funds to 2016-17 outlined 

in section 2.1 of Appendix 1. 
 
8.3 Note the performance position and endorse the actions to address the identified areas 

of underperformance in Appendix 1, Section 1. 
  
9.  APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 - Annual Finance and Performance Outturn Report 2015-16 
 
10.  BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

• Council Budget Report 26 February 2015 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2018-19 and Beyond Executive Report 21 
July 2015 

• Fourth Quarter Financial Position Statement for 2015-16 Executive Report 12 April 
2016 Document BF 

• Council Budget Report 25 February 2016  

 
 

Page 8



 

 

Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Bradford Metropolitan 
District Council 
 
Annual Finance and Performance  
Outturn Report 
 
2015-16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 
City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council’s Annual Finance and Performance Outturn 
Report  
 
 
1 PERFORMANCE SUMMARY  
 
2 REVENUE OUTTURN  
 

2.1 Better use of Budget Requests 
 

2.2 Savings Tracker 
 
 
3 SERVICE COMMENTARIES 
  

Services to the Public & Businesses  
 

  3.1  ADULTS AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
    
  3.2   CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
    

3.3  ENVIRONMENT AND SPORT 
 
3.4 REGENERATION  
 
3.5 PUBLIC HEALTH  
 
Support Services and Non-Service 
 
3.6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
3.7 CITY SOLICITOR 
 
3.8 FINANCE 
 
3.9 HUMAN RESOURCES 

 
3.10 PROPERTY PROGRAMME 

 
3.11 NON-SERVICE  
 
3.12     CENTRAL BUDGETS 

 
4 BALANCE SHEET 
 
5 CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN 
 
6 WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT COMMENTARY 
 
Annex 1 Capital Investment Plan by scheme 
 
Annex 2 Reserves Statement at 31/03/2016 
 
Annex 2.1 Earmarked Reserves Statement at 31/03/2016 
 

Page 10



 

1.  PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 
 
45 headline indicators are used to measure the Council’s performance against its identified 
priorities and the effectiveness of its internal operations.   
 
Depending on their data source, indicators can be reported monthly, quarterly, termly, half 
yearly or annually. In some cases where validation is required the information may be for a 
historic period. The performance report needs to be viewed in the context of the current 
resource climate and looking ahead, future performance may be at risk from a range of 
adverse factors that vary from service to service and which are covered in more detail in the 
report. 
 
A new, more detailed, set of corporate indicators is being currently being developed as part of 
the work to develop District and Council Plans and this headline set of indicators is 
supplemented by a range of departmental operational indicators linked directly to service 
delivery and reviewed by Strategic Directors on a regular basis.   
 
In terms of this indicator set, the overall performance position has deteriorated since last year 
with more indicators failing to meet targets. However, some below target indicators were set 
higher, more challenging targets for 2015/16.   
 

Of the 43 indicators that have targets 17 (39.5%) are on target ( ), 9 (21%) are within an 

acceptable variance (       ) and 17 (39.5%) are below target (  ).  
 
As opposed to a simple analysis of those indicators which are on target and those which are 
not, a trend analysis which shows whether performance is better or worse compared with the 
same period last year is available for 42 of the indicators. Of these indicators, 22 demonstrate 
improving performance, 3 have no change and 17 demonstrate decreasing performance. 
 
There are a number of areas of where performance is above the target including;  
 

• Delayed transfers of care from hospital which are attributable to Adults social care which is 
now down to 0.128 from 0.62 as a result of work to improve the various pathways and 
enhance patient flows whilst ensuring patients are moved safely  

• Percentage of 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, employment or training which is 
now down to 3.5% from 5.4%, a record low for Bradford and well below the National 
average of 4.2%   

• Percentage of children achieving a good level of development in Early Years Foundation 
Stage which is up to 62% from 55% due to intensive modernisation work with schools and 
a programme of targeted support.  

• Initial child protection conferences (ICPCC) held within 15 working days of the start of the 
section 47 enquiries were up to 93.39% from 74.26% as a result of work undertaken with 
the Children’s Integrated Assessment Team to refresh their knowledge of the information 
required to set up an ICPCC which will hopefully improve performance further.   

• Difference in life expectancy for females at birth between the most and least deprived parts 
of the District where the gap is now narrower than at any time since 2004/6. The work of 
the Public Health teams working in partnership with other Departments and Partners helps 
contribute to this. The rate for males has stayed the same. 

• Empty homes bought back in to use where the total is now 5,651 compared to 2,167 last 
year. This is a positive direction of travel and will reflect a range of factors including an 
increase in activity in the housing market as well as more targeted activity, such as the 
operation of Council Tax discounts and the activities of the Empty Homes and Loans team 
to encourage empty properties back in to use. 

• Percentage of third party spend that is through pre-established and market tested contract 
arrangements which is up to 87.06% from 72% as a result of a more detailed analysis of 
the contract and grant register which is now reconciled on a monthly basis to ensure 
compliance with Council standing orders. 

 

Page 11



 

 
There are also a number of areas where although performance is still below the agreed target, 
there is improvement on the previous year’s performance including;  
 

• Permanent admissions to residential and nursing homes 18-64 per 100,000 population - 
this indicator is showing as under achieving against a very challenging internal target. The 
outturn was 6.05 which is above the target of 5.73 although there was an improvement on 
last years performance of 6.9. This still leaves Bradford as a top performer and compares 
very favourably with regional (11.5) and national (14.2) averages. 

• Percentage of pupils gaining level 4 in reading, writing and maths combined (Key Stage 2) - 

The outturn was 76% which is below the target of 80% but an improvement on last years 

performance of 73%. Targeted work is continuing with priority 3 and 4 schools (schools 

causing concern) with named Achievement Officers and school to school support 

arrangements being put in place.    

• Percentage of pupils gaining 5 A*-C grades at GCSE or equivalent including English and 

Maths (key stage 4). The outturn was 45.5%, compared to 44% last years which although 

still below the target of 60% is an improvement on last year. In an effort to continue to 

tackle this issue and the indicator below, school improvement partnerships have been 

established and formalised between Bradford secondary schools and academies that are 

good or outstanding and those that require improvement. 

• Percentage of pupils attending a secondary school judged good or outstanding – The 

outturn was 45% which is below the target of 73% although this is an improvement on 39% 

last year.  

• Greenhouse gas emissions from Council operations - The outturn was 83,387 tonnes which 

is below last years performance of 84,789 tonnes but still above the target of 70,641 

tonnes. Whilst a number of small initiatives have been delivered across the organisation 

further action needs to be undertaken by Senior Management to reduce corporate energy 

consumption in both its facilities and transport arrangements.  

• The Average Number of Working Days Lost per Employee due to Sickness Absence in 

Bradford Council (including Schools) - Although performance improved from 9.99 days in 

2014/15 to 9.59 days in 2015/16 this indicator missed the target of 9.03 days. Management 

is continuing to deliver the range of initiatives which saw sickness rates reduce last year by 

the highest level over the last three years in order to deliver further improvements. These 

include identifying hotspots, interventions and inactions in DMT meetings, closer 

management working with the Employee Health and Wellbeing Service and targeted work 

with long term sickness cases. 

However, there are also a number of areas of under performance against agreed targets and 
performance on the previous year is down 
 

• Percentage of schools where leadership is judged to be good or better - The outturn is 

slightly down on the 72% last year to 71% and is below the target of 85%. Action is being 

taken to improve performance on this indicator with the Council employing a strategic 

manager to monitor and challenge current leadership structures in some schools and 

implement more rigorous monitoring arrangements reporting underperformance to 

Governing Bodies for action.  

• Percentage of pupils attending a primary school judged good or outstanding – Actual is 

down to 67% from 73% last year and below the target of 83%. Amongst other initiatives 

school to school support is being used to ensure leaders in primary schools are using 

appropriate strategies to improve their school performance and share best practice in 

teaching core subjects.  

• Percentage of people who agree that their local area is the place where people live 

together harmoniously which is down to 62.6% and slightly below the target of 64%. 

Page 12



 

Initiatives as part of the People Can campaign which encourages people from all 

backgrounds to work together separately to improve things for themselves and others 

encourage a sense of pride in community and locality which should see an improvement in 

this indicator.  

• Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting - down to 48% 

and below the target of 55%. The service is aiming to improve performance by increasing 

the levels of recycling at kerbside in 2016/17 through the introduction of bin policy and 

waste program initiative  

• Percentage of residents with high negative perceptions of anti-social behaviour (ASB) - up 

to 24.5% and above the target of 22%. The ASB Improvement Plan has been reviewed and 

local arrangements have been coordinated in relation to enforcement and recording 

processes, training and information sharing to improve response and efficiency and reduce 

negative perceptions.  

• Overall employment rate for the whole working age population - outturn was 65.4%, very 

slightly better than last year but still below the target of 68.5%. In order to support 

improvement in this indicator, ongoing initiatives such as the Council led Programme ‘Get 

Bradford Working’ which has already supported over 1500 individuals into employment and 

the City Centre Growth Zone are continuing to have an impact. 

• The number of private sector homes where, through the intervention of the Climate, 

Housing, Employment & Skills Service, housing conditions have been improved has 

reduced down to 1,330 (2,167 in 2014/15) which is below the target of 1,750. The Service 

has had to focus on an exceptional increase in initial inspections (which are critical in 

initiating enforcement activity) rather than follow up inspections which confirm that 

necessary improvements have been made and which are counted for this indicator.  It is 

likely that the number of follow up inspections will increase shortly as the exceptional 

demand over the last 2 quarters work through.   

• Proportion of working age population qualified to at least NVQ Level 3 which is down to 

46.1% from 47.6% the previous year and below the target of 50%. Raising Educational 

attainment in schools remains a key priority in the District Plan with a key action being to 

provide real opportunity for skills development when young people leave school. 

• The Average Number of Working Days Lost per Employee due to Sickness Absence in 

Bradford Council (Excluding Schools) – out-turn was down to 11.29 and above the target of 

9.76. Management is continuing to deliver the range of initiatives which saw sickness rates 

reduce last year by the highest level over the last three years in order to deliver further 

improvements. These include identifying hotspots, interventions and inactions in DMT 

meetings, closer management working with the Employee Health and Wellbeing Service 

and targeted work with long term sickness cases. 

• Percentage of land and highways that is assessed as having deposits of litter, detritus, 

graffiti and fly-posting that fall below an acceptable level is up to 12% from 8% the previous 

year. The service is working to address this by filling vacancies, introducing new 

technology, raising awareness about litter and better joint working within neighbourhoods. 

 

Table 1.2 below provides a detailed commentary on each of the 17 underperforming indicators 

and includes an explanation as to why the indicator is underperforming and what actions 

Departments are taking to address the matter. 

 

Page 13



 

Table 1.1 Corporate indicators – 2015-16 annual outturn 
 
Section 1) Department of Adult & Community Services 

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

ASCOF 2A 
pt1 

Permanent admissions to 
residential and nursing 
homes 18-64 per 100,000 
population 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
minimise 

6.05 5.73 
 

7 Improving See underperforming report 

ASCOF 2A 
pt2 

Permanent  admissions to 
residential and nursing 
homes 65+ per 100,000 
population 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
minimise 

733.33 750 
 

731.28 Getting 
worse 

All placements go through the placement group 
which consists of team managers, local 
authority residential managers and nurses. 
These are scrutinised to ensure all possible 
options have been looked at. Where a 
placement is not agreed it is deferred and 
further information is asked for.  

ASCOF 2C 
Pt2 

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital which are 
attributable to Adults social 
care 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
minimise 

0.128 2.3 
 

0.62 Improving Staff at hospitals work to two processes. They 
work through all delays on the wards across 
the hospitals to ensure patients are moved 
safely. 7 day working operates on these sites 
so there is a patient flow. Bed meetings are 
attended to look at difficult discharges. Various 
pathways are worked on and improved to 
enhance patient flow.  

ASC STS 
010 

The effectiveness of 
reablement - the 
percentage of service 
users who are able to 
manage on their own or 
require reduced hours 
following re-ablement 
services  

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

56.72% 51% 
 

60.34% Getting 
worse 

The long and short term target has exceeded 
by 5%. Re-configuration in April 2016 of the 
service should reduce the disparity between 
highest and lowest performers.  
 

 

P
age 14



 

 

Section 2) Department of Children's Services 

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_03 
(NI116) 

Proportion of children and 
young people living in 
poverty 

Years 2013/14 Aim to 
minimise 

23.6% 
2013/14 

value 

23.0% 
2013/14 
target 

 
23.6% 

2012/13 
value 

Same The proportion of Bradford’s children living in 
poverty has dropped almost 8 percentage 
points - from 31.4% in 2007. Over the same 
period there has been only a 3.6% percentage 
point decline in the England rate. However, 
until recently, two factors indicated that local 
child poverty rates would start to rise from 2012 
through to 2020. First: the Institute for Fiscal 
Studies projected a national upswing in child 
poverty rates from 2012-2020 on current 
economic models; and second, in Bradford 
District the child population growth is higher 
than average, driven by high birth rates, and is 
concentrated in the most deprived areas of the 
District.  
 
In 2013, 57% of the 33,565 children and young 
people living in poverty lived in nine of the 
District's 30 wards. In order of the highest 
number of children in poverty per ward these 
were: Little Horton (2,560); Bowling and 
Barkerend (2,480); Bradford Moor (2,450); 
Tong (2,285); Manningham (2,280); Great 
Horton (1,885); Toller (1,810); Eccleshill 
(1,635) and City (1,630) wards.  

CIS_010 
(NI 73) 

Percentage of pupils 
gaining level 4 in reading, 
writing and maths 
combined (Key Stage 2) 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

76.0% 80.0% 
 

73.0% Improving See underperforming report 

CIS_011 
(NI 75) 

Percentage of pupils 
gaining 5 A*- C grades at 
GCSE or equivalent 
including English and 
maths (key stage 4) 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

45.50% 60.00% 
 

44.00% Improving See underperforming report 

 

P
age 15



 

 
2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 

Frequency 
Last Update Good 

performance 
is 

Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_013 
(NI 117) 

Percentage of 16 to 18 
year olds who are not in 
education, employment or 
training (NEET) (calculated 
annually on the basis of the 
average NEET rate across 
the three months between 
November and January) 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
minimise 

3.5% 5.2% 
 

5.4% Improving The target is measured on the average of the 3 
months of November, December & January. 
The academic ages 16 to 18 adjusted NEET 
rates for November 2015 and December 2015 
were, at 3.5% for each, joint record lows for 
Bradford district. The rate for January 2016 
was 3.6%. The average for the 3 months was 
therefore 3.5% and the 2015/16 target was 
achieved. The equivalent figure for England 
was 0.7 percentage points higher at 4.2%. Out 
of 152 English local authorities Bradford's 
NEET rate was joint 47th lowest.  

CIS_014 
(NI 80) 

Percentage achieving a 
Level 3 qualification by the 
age of 19 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

50.6% 53.0% 
 

50.7% Getting 
worse 

Although at Level 2 and Level 2 with English 
and maths Bradford improved and closed the 
gap on the national figure, for the second year 
in succession attainment of Level 3 fell 
marginally (-0.1 percentage point). As the 
national figure increased slightly the gap is 
0.5pp higher than in 2014 and 131st of 152 
local authorities nationally (130th in 2014). The 
review of post-16 that has been conducted this 
year has led to an action plan for both rapid 
and longer term improvements in attainment.  

CIS_052 Percentage of schools 
where leadership is judged 
to be good or better 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

71% 85% 
 

72% Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

CIS_053 Percentage of children 
achieving a good level of 
development in Early 
Years Foundation Stage 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

62% 61% 
 

55% Improving Continued to be an upward trend and closing of 
the gap to national averages due to intensive 
moderation work with schools and programme 
of targeted support.  

 

P
age 16



 

 
2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 

Frequency 
Last Update Good 

performance 
is 

Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_054 Raising of the participation 
age (post 16) 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

95% 96% 
 

95.3% Getting 
worse 

The target is measured at the end of 
December. Raising of the participation age 
figures for December 2015 for residents of 
Bradford district showed that the vast majority 
of academic age 16 and 17 young people were 
meeting the duty to participate in learning: 95% 
at 16, 88.6% at 17. The 95% figure was 1% 
below target. However, it was 0.1% above the 
England average of 94.9%.  

CS_ESI03 Percentage of pupils 
attending a primary school 
judged good or outstanding 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

67.0% 83.0% 
 

73.0% Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

CS_ESI04 Percentage of pupils 
attending a secondary 
school judged good or 
outstanding 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

45.0% 73.0% 
 

39.0% Improving See underperforming report 

CS_N15a Initial child protection 
conferences held within 15 
working days of the start of 
the s.47 enquiries 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

93.39% 80% 
 

74.26% Improving There are challenges to maintaining the current 
level of performance given a consistent rise in 
overall numbers of children subject to a child 
protection plan. This places a stress on fitting 
in Initial conferences into a diary that will have 
a higher number of reviews already entered. 
There has been recent contact with the front 
end Integrated assessment team to refresh 
their knowledge of the information required to 
set up an ICPCC which will assist them to do 
this task more efficiently and hopefully improve 
their performance further.  

 

P
age 17



 

 

Section 3) Department of Environment & Sport 

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_016 
(NI 1) 

Percentage of people who 
agree that their local area 
is the place where people 
live together harmoniously 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

62.6% 64% 
 

64% Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

CIS_026 
(NI 192) 

Percentage of household 
waste sent for reuse, 
recycling and composting 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

48.00% 55.00% 
 

51.82% Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

CIS_027 
(NI195a) 

Level of street and 
environmental cleanliness : 
(litter) 

Termly March 2016 Aim to 
minimise 

12% 11% 
 

8% Getting 
worse 

The service is reviewing this indicator over the 
next couple of months; with the possible 
intention of replacing it with a district wide 
survey that would be more meaningful and 
carried out more frequently.   In order to 
hopefully improve cleanliness levels across the 
district, the service is looking at the following:  

• conducting trials in new ways of recruiting 
and deploying staff  

• introducing aspects of technology such as 
routing and phone applications  

• run a media campaign with Marketing that 
raises awareness about littering and fly 
tipping  

• improving the connectivity between Ward 
Clean Teams, Community Wardens, 
Enforcement Officers and the Marketing 
team to try strengthen prevention of 
littering and fly-tipping by successfully 
securing and highlight more prosecutions 
for these activities  

CIS_051 Percentage of residents 
with high negative 
perceptions of anti-social 
behaviour 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
minimise 

24.5% 22% 
 

22.5% Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

 

P
age 18



 

 
Section 4) Department of Public Health  

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

PHOF4.01 Infant mortality - The 
number of deaths under 
the age of 1 per 1,000 live 
births 

Years 2014/15 
 

 

Aim to 
minimise 

5.6 
2011/13 
Value 

6.8 
 

5.6 Same Figure nationally verified on the 16 May 2016.   
The figure of 5.6 relates to the period of three 
calendar years 2011, 2012 and 2013.  
 

PHOF0.1ia Healthy life expectancy at 
birth (Female) 

Years 2014/15 
 

Aim to 
maximise 

61.0 
2012/14 
Value 

61.2 
2012/14 
Target 

 
59.0 

Previous 
Value 

 

Improving Figure nationally verified on the 16 May 2016.  
The figure of 61.0 relates to the period of three 
calendar years 2012, 2013 and 2014.  
 
The target here is to increase female "Healthy 
life expectancy at birth", such that it matches 
the rate for males - as this is seen in national 
figures. In Bradford, healthy life expectancy at 
birth remains lower for women than for men, 
but the absolute figure for women is at its 
highest rate yet, and the gap between female 
and male Healthy Life expectancy is narrower 
than ever before.  

PHOF0.1ib Healthy life expectancy at 
birth (Male) 

Years 2014/15 
 

Aim to 
maximise 

61.5 
2012/14 
Value 

61.2 
2012/14 
Target 

 
61.9 

Previous 
value 

Getting 
worse 

Figure nationally verified on the 16 May 2016. 
The figure of 61.5 relates to the period of three 
calendar years 2012, 2013 and 2014.  
 
The target here is to maintain male "Healthy 
life expectancy at birth" at a level which 
exceeds England's figures. In fact, Bradford's 
level has not exceeded the England rate. The 
rate is, however, higher than the Yorkshire and 
Humber rate. The Public Health department 
continues to work with other departments and 
other organisations to identify means of 
extending life expectancy, implementing 
initiatives and making commissioning decisions 
accordingly.  

 

P
age 19



 

 
2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 

Frequency 
Last Update Good 

performance 
is 

Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

PHOF0.2iiia Difference in life 
expectancy at birth 
between the most and 
least deprived parts of the 
District (Females) 

Years 2014/15 
 

Aim to 
Minimise 

7.2 
2012/14 
Value 

8.5 
2012/14 
Target 

 
8.0 

Previous 
value 

Improving Figure nationally verified on the 16 May 2016.  
The figure of 7.2 relates to the period of three 
calendar years 2012, 2013 and 2014. 
 
The target here is to narrow the gap in life 
expectancy between the most and least 
deprived parts of the district". The work of the 
Public Health team, working in partnership with 
other organisations and departments, means 
that the gap is narrower than at any time since 
2004-6.  

PHOF0.2iiib Difference in life 
expectancy at birth 
between the most and 
least deprived parts of the 
District (Males) 

Years 2014/15 
 

Aim to 
Minimise 

9.6 
2012/14 
Value 

9.6 
2012/14 
Target 

 
9.6 

Previous 
value 

Same Figure nationally verified on the 16 May 2016.  
The figure of 9.6 relates to the period of three 
calendar years 2012, 2013 and 2014.  
 
The target here is to narrow the gap in life 
expectancy between the most and least 
deprived parts of the district". The work of the 
Public Health team, working in partnership with 
other organisations and departments, means 
that the gap is narrower than at any time for 
which figures are available.  

P
age 20



 

 

Section 5) Dept of Regeneration  

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_02_1 
(NI151) 

Overall employment rate 
for the whole working age 
population 

Quarters Q4 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

65.4% 68.5% 
 

65.3% Improving See underperforming report 

CIS_02_2 Overall employment rate 
broken down for 16-24 
year olds 

Quarters Q4 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

40.9% 39.3% 
 

37% Improving The employment rate for 16-24 year olds fell 
over the year to December 2015 compared to 
an increase across Leeds City Region and the 
UK. Bradford's youth employment rate of 
40.9% remains significantly below Leeds City 
Region (53.0) and the UK (53.5%).  

CIS_05 
(NI 154) 

Net number of additional 
homes provided 

Years 2014/15 Aim for target 1,134 
2014/15 
Value 

900 
2014/15 
Target 

 
874 

2013/14 
Value 

Improving Next audited figure available August 2016.  
 
Outturn updated following Housing Flows 
Reconciliation submission to CLG. The official 
net additional homes figure of 1,134 for 
2014/15 is significantly lower than the original 
estimate of 1,320, primarily because:  

• There were some data processing issues 
when producing the final outturn  

• There were 96 additions and 2 deletions 
that are included in Council Tax but do not 
fall under the definition of a self-contained 
dwelling (two large student complexes 
where the Valuation Office has recorded 
individual rooms instead of self-contained 
clusters).  

This does, however, still reflect a significant 
improvement and is the highest figure for 5 
years. The final outturn was also still ahead of 
target.  

 

P
age 21



 

 
2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 

Frequency 
Last Update Good 

performance 
is 

Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_06 The number of private 
sector homes where, 
through the intervention of 
the Climate, Housing, 
Employment & Skills 
Service, housing conditions 
have been improved 

Half Years H2 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

1,330 1,750 
 

2,167 Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

CIS_07 Total number of long term 
empty homes in the District 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
minimise 

4,154 4,073 
 

3,942 Getting 
Worse 

The data for this annual indicator comes from 
the CTB1 return which is made in October. The 
number of long term empty homes has 
increased in the last year which is probably 
explained by the following reasons - (i) there 
are 1,550 additional properties in the District 
which means that there is likely to be a 
proportionate increase in the number of empty 
homes; (ii) a number of new housing 
developments are showing as vacant at the 
moment; and, (iii) there has been a slight 
change in the way some empty properties, 
such as flats are counted - since this also 
includes student flats there is the added factor 
that many properties would be empty at the 
time of the report being run from the Council 
Tax system (5th October) but will now be 
occupied. The outturn still shows that there has 
been a significant reduction (3,419) in the 
number of long term empty homes compared 
with the baseline year in 2008/09. As a 
response to the fact that this indicator is 
effectively a net measure which is affected both 
by increases in the number of properties and 
empty homes bought back into use, an 
additional measure is now being collected 
which shows that in the year up to March 2016, 
5651 formerly long term empty properties 
ceased to be classed as empty.  

 

P
age 22



 

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_056 Empty homes bought back 
in to use 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
Maximise 

5,651  
 

2,167 Improving This is a new indicator which is intended to 
complement CIS_07 (total number of long term 
empty properties). Since the collection of this 
indicator commenced in June 2015, the rolling 
annual total has increased by 14%. This is a 
positive direction of travel and will reflect a 
range of factors including an increase in activity 
in the housing market as well as more targeted 
activity , such as the operation of Council Tax 
discounts and the activities of the Empty 
Homes and Loans team to encourage empty 
properties back in to use.  

CIS_015 
(NI 164) 

Proportion of working age 
population qualified to at 
least NVQ Level 3 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

46.1% 50.0% 
 

47.6% Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

CIS_028_ 
new 

Greenhouse gas emissions 
from Council operations 

Years 2014/15 
 

Aim to 
minimise 

83,387 
Tonnes 
2014/15 
Value 

70,641 
Tonnes 
2014/15 
Target 

 
84,789 
Tonnes 
2013/14 
Value 

Improving See underperforming report 

CIS_029 
(NI48LAA) 

Number of children killed or 
seriously injured in road 
traffic accidents (three year 
rolling average) 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
minimise 

31 33 
 

33 Improving Child KSIs are at an all time low in the district.  
Multi agency partnership working with internal 
and external agencies is yielding these positive 
results.  An evidence led programme of 
interventions has assisted with targeting high 
priority areas where child injuries on the 
network are a concern. 

CIS_055_1 Vacancy rates in Bradford 
City Centre - percentage of 
ground floor business units 
that are vacant 

Half Years 2015/16  Aim to 
minimise 

19.4% 18.5% 
 

This is new indicator 
for 2015/16 

  

City Centre vacancy rates have fallen slightly 
over the year reflecting the opening of the 
Broadway Centre which has increased the 
number of retail units in the city centre but has 
also seen a number of units fall vacant in 
Darley street and the Kirkgate Centre.  

CIS_055_4 Vacancy rates in Keighley 
town Centre - % of ground 
floor business units that 
are vacant 

Half Years 2015/16   Aim to 
maximise 

12.83% 12.5% 
 

This is new indicator 
for 2015/16 

   

Vacancy rates in Keighley have fallen slightly 
over the year and remain significantly below 
District and national rates.  

 

P
age 23



 

 

Section 6) Productivity and corporate grip measures - Finance  

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

BV8_Tot Percentage of invoices that 
were paid within 30 days 
from receipt of invoice - 
Overall corporate figure 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

93.43% 92.00% 
 

90.78% Improving Significant increase in performance due both to 
reduced volumes and more efficient 
processing. Most late payments are due to 
delays within Departments when the invoice is 
not sent to Accounts Payable and therefore not 
"visible" within the system. Please note that 
anticipated improved performance in 2016-17 
is now vulnerable due to recent changes in ICT 
which has marginally slowed the processing 
time for each invoice and no additional 
resource capacity to meet any sudden surge in 
volume or cover for sickness absence.  

BV9 Percentage of Council Tax 
collected 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

94.24% 94.50% 
 

94.18% Improving Whilst the target for this year has not been 
achieved, the outturn figure has slightly 
improved from the outturn for 2014/15. The 
service continues to apply its collection and 
recovery policy whilst having to deal with an 
increasing workload due to an increase in the 
council tax base. 

BV10 Percentage of Non-
domestic rates collected 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

96.94% 97.90% 
 

97.94% Getting 
worse 

The target was not achieved though in 
monetary terms we collected more than in 
2014/15 and have reduced the arrears carried 
forward for all years by £1m. 

CIS_048 Percentage of third party 
spend that is through pre-
established and market 
tested contract 
arrangements 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

87.06% 70% 
 

72% Improving Contract & Grant Register is reconciled 
monthly against actual spend and departments 
are contacted where data is missing. Although 
there are still a significant number of missing 
records partly caused down to resource 
constraints and partly down to lack of 
knowledge of contract standing orders this is 
relatively low in monetary terms (7%). The 
remainder is outside the scope of the register.  

CIS_049 Percentage of total third 
party spend with suppliers 

Months March 2016 Aim to 
maximise 

38.56% 40% 
 

35.58% Improving Performance increased from 2014/15 but was 
still marginally below target. Spend with local 

P
age 24



 

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

operating from within the 
District 

firms on goods and works in particular is below 
30% and increasing this is a challenge either 
due to the pressure on budgets or a limited 
local supply market. More proactive category 
planning is required but resource constraints in 
the central team and insufficient strategic 
procurement skills across the wider 
organisation limit how much can be done.  

CIS_Debt_D Debtor Days excluding 
housing benefit 
overpayments 

Quarters 2015/16 Aim to 
minimise 

57.1 57 
 

58.2 Improving The value of invoices raised in 2015/16 was up 
by £20m on the previous year to £327m. 
Despite the increased value and volume of 
invoices to collect the team have achieved their 
target for this measure and continue to make 
improvements to the debt recovery process. 

L_C&P22 Percentage of contracts 
awarded within 60 days of 
advert (routine 
procurement) 

Quarters Q4 2015/16 Aim to 
maximise 

49 90 
 

This is new indicator 
for 2015/16 

 

See underperforming report 

 

P
age 25



 

 

Section 7) Productivity and corporate grip measures - People 

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

CIS_044_01
(BV12) 

The average number of 
working days lost per 
employee due to sickness 
absence in Bradford 
Council (Including schools)  

Months March 2016 Aim to 
minimise 

9.59 9.03 
 

9.99 Improving See underperforming report 

CIS_044_02
(BV12) 

The average number of 
working days lost per 
employee due to sickness 
absence in Bradford 
Council (Excluding 
schools)  

Months March 2016 Aim to 
minimise 

11.29 9.76 
 

11.28 Getting 
worse 

See underperforming report 

 
 

Section 8) Productivity and Corporate Grip Measures - Assets 

2015/16 2014/15 Code Description PI 
Frequency 

Last Update Good 
performance 

is 
Value Target Status Value 

DoT Comments 

PRO_38 Value of Backlog 
Maintenance works 
outstanding 

Years 2015/16 Aim to 
Minimise 

£56.1m  
 

£54.90m Getting 
Worse 

The apparent increase is not an area of 
concern, and has been caused by a 
reclassification of assets into non operational.  
 
The underlying direction of travel is still a 
positive one, and the levels of Priority 1 
maintenance (highest priority) is the lowest its 
been. 

 
 
 

P
age 26



 

Table 1.2 Commentaries of underperforming corporate indicators   
INDICATOR    

ASCOF 2A pt1 Permanent admissions to residential and nursing homes 18-64 per 100,000 population 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Bernard Lanigan Aim to minimise Months 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 
 
 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 4.100 15.00 -19.6

2014/15 6.995 15.00 2.895

2015/16 6.045 5.73 -0.95  

Size  

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

Actual performance since 2014/15 has improved and is very close to the very challenging target set by the service.  The 
numbers living in care homes in this age group are very low, and steady, despite local demographic pressures.  The 
baseline for 2013/14 is not directly comparable as the Adult Social Care Outcome Framework (ASCOF) measure 
definition was revised by the Department of Health; subsequent figures include people not publicly funded. 
 
The outturn was 6.05 which is above the target of 5.73 although there was an improvement on last years performance of 
6.9. This still leaves Bradford as a top performer and compares very favourably with regional (11.5) and national (14.2) 
averages. 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

Initial data submitted to Health and Social Care Information Centre via the annual Short and Long Term (SALT) data 
collection is representative of only 19 admissions to permanent care for adults aged 18-64 during 2015/16 giving an 
ASCOF value of 6 when divided by the 18-64 local population. 
 
In 2014-15 we were in the top 3 performing councils in the Yorkshire and Humber Region and initial feedback via 
Association of Directors of Adult Social Services Sector Led Improvement suggests we will be a top performer on this 
measure yet again in 2015-16. The regional average for this measure in 2014-15 was 11.5 and the England average 
14.2. 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

Developing community based alternatives, transformational programme in learning disability, new initiative to scrutinise 
unplanned admissions to the Assessment & Treatment Unit, review of contract for outreach and crisis intervention in 
learning disability, senior management oversight of placement panels. 

 

Page 27



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_010 (NI 73) Percentage of pupils gaining level 4 in reading, writing and Maths combined (Key Stage 2) 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Michael Jameson Aim to maximise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 
 
 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 69% -1.0%

2014/15 73% 75% 4.0%

2015/16 76% 80% 3.0%

Size  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

The underperformance is due to the fact that 74 schools had at least 10% of their 2015 Year 6 cohort not achieving L4+ 
Reading Writing and Maths. 

 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

In 2015 Bradford was ranked in 142
nd

 position out of 152 local authorities nationally for the percentage of pupils gaining 
level 4 in reading, writing and maths combined (Key Stage 2).  Bradford was ranked 9

th 
when compared to our 10 

statistical neighbours (Blackburn with Darwen, Bolton, Derby, Kirklees, Oldham, Peterborough, Rochdale, Sheffield, 
Telford and Wrekin and Walsall) and was ranked in 14th position within the Yorkshire and the Humber region that 
comprises of 15 LAs, with Doncaster the only local authorities with a lower percentage of pupils gaining level 4 in 
reading, writing and maths combined (Key Stage 2). 
 
Bradford’s achievement for the percentage of pupils gaining level 4 in reading, writing and maths combined (Key Stage 
2) was 4 percentage points lower (76%) than the national average of 80% in 2015. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

 

• More rigorous scrutiny of data undertaken from September 2015 and underperforming schools were categorised 
accordingly and a named Achievement Officer allocated to monitor and evaluate progress of the school. 

 

• The majority of priority 3 and priority 4 schools (schools causing concern) were offered a good or better school to 
provide school to school support. 

 

• Autumn visits by the School Improvement Service focused on the solutions and actions taken by underperforming 
schools in order to achieve better results in 2016.  However it is important to note that the new assessment 
measures have not helped in schools being able to set realistic targets. 

 

• Named Area Headteacher Leads were directed to visit the priority 1 and priority 2 schools which did not meet their 
level 4+ reading, writing and maths targets. 

 

• All schools were sent their actual 2012 key stage1 attainment in level 2b+ in reading, writing and mathematics and 
were encouraged to set end of key stage 2016 targets based on previous attainment, that is, their pupils starting 
point at the start of key stage2 (i.e. level 2b+ in 2012). 

 

Page 28



 

 

INDICATOR    

CIS_011 (NI 75) 
Percentage of pupils gaining 5 A*- C grades at GCSE or equivalent including English and maths 
(key stage 4) 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Michael Jameson Aim to maximise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 53.0% 59.2% 0.6%

2014/15 44.0% 59.2% -9.0%

2015/16 45.5% 60.0% 1.5%  
 
 
 

Size 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

This indicator is underperforming because not enough students make good progress relative to their starting points to 
attain good GCSE passes in five subjects including English and mathematics. This is, in part, due to pupils’ below average 
attainment on entry to secondary school following Key Stage 2 tests. In addition, a higher than average inward mobility of 
students, particularly during Year 10 and 11 increases the challenge to secure the high standards expected by age 16.  A 
significant number of schools face challenging circumstances that can act as a barrier to improvement; for example, the 
recruitment and retention of highly effective leaders and teachers leaders in key subjects including English and 
mathematics. This has a limiting effect on the capacity in some schools to improve student performance at the necessary 
pace. Leaders are also not always able to respond quickly enough to the needs of different groups of students to improve 
outcomes, including those who are disadvantaged or who have arrived at times other than the start of an academic year. 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

In 2015 Bradford was ranked in 148
th
 position out of 151 local authorities nationally for the percentage of pupils achieving 

5 A*- C grades at GCSE or equivalent including English and maths.  Bradford achieved the lowest result when compared 
to our 10 statistical neighbours (Blackburn with Darwen, Bolton, Derby, Kirklees, Oldham, Peterborough, Rochdale, 
Sheffield, Telford and Wrekin and Walsall) and was ranked in 15

th
 position within the Yorkshire and the Humber region 

that comprises of 15 local authorities. 
 
Bradford’s achievement for the percentage of pupils achieving 5 A*- C grades at GCSE or equivalent including English 
and maths was 8.3 percentage points lower (45.5%) than the national average of 53.8% in 2015. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

Senior officers have liaised with the Regional Schools Commissioner and the DfE to explore ways in which additional 
capacity can be generated through the introduction of external academy sponsors in the district. As a result, four schools 
that were judged to be a cause for concern are now receiving support that is tailored to remove barriers to progress and 
improve student outcomes. Secondary school leaders have a good understanding of the reasons for underperformance as 
a result of regular reviews undertaken by the Bradford Partnership. As an outcome of reviews, school improvement 
partnerships have been established and formalised between Bradford secondary schools and academies that are good or 
outstanding and those that require improvement. As of 2016, this will no longer be the main measure of school 
performance. Instead, progress and attainment measures will be based on students’ performance across eight subjects. 
Consequently, leaders are currently working together to ensure that improvement strategies are tackling the changes in 
curriculum and assessment requirements to ensure that students achieve as well as they can. 
 

 

Page 29



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_052 Percentage of schools where leadership is judged to be good or better 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Michael Jameson Aim to maximise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 79.0% 4%

2014/15 72.0% 83.0% -7%

2015/16 71.0% 85.0% -1%

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

The underperformance is due to some schools previously judged good by Ofsted were judged as requiring Improvement 
for leadership under the new framework. 
 
The leadership of some of our schools are weak due to lack of challenge from governance and lack of rigour in the 
monitoring and evaluation of school improvement by senior school leaders. 

 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

As at 31
st
 March 2016, 71% of schools in Bradford were judged good or outstanding leadership, compared to 88.2% 

nationally.  Bradford achieved the lowest result when compared to our 10 statistical neighbours (Blackburn with Darwen, 
Bolton, Derby, Kirklees, Oldham, Peterborough, Rochdale, Sheffield, Telford and Wrekin and Walsall) and was ranked in 
15

th
 position within the Yorkshire and the Humber region that comprises of 15 local authorities. 

 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

 

• The Council has sent warning notices to schools with weak leadership and governance. 
 

• The Council has employed a strategic manager for recruitment and retention to monitor and challenge the current 
leadership structures in place in some of our schools.   

 

• The strategic manager has been promoting the model of Executive Headship where head-teacher vacancies have 
arisen. 

 

• Weak leaders have been more rigorously scrutinised and monitored and their performance reported to governing 
bodies for them to take appropriate action. 

 

• Underperforming schools have been advised or instructed to become sponsored academies by the Regional 
Schools Commissioner. 

 

• School to school support has been used to improve the leadership of some of our schools by weak leaders learning 
from best practice from good and stronger leaders. 

 
 

 

Page 30



 

 
INDICATOR    

CS_ESI03 Percentage of pupils attending a Primary School judged good or outstanding 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Michael Jameson Aim to maximise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 
 
 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 82.0% 79.0% 17.0%

2014/15 73.0% 79.5% -9.0%

2015/16 67.0% 83.0% -6.0%

Size 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 
 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

• The underperformance is due to an increasing number of both local authority maintained and primary academies 
securing a requiring Improvement judgement under the new framework. 

 

• The underperformance is also due to some of the requiring Improvement schools who are likely to secure a good 
Ofsted outcome not yet being inspected. 

 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

As at 31
st
 March 2016, 67% of pupils attended a primary school in Bradford that was judged good or outstanding, 

compared to 86% nationally.  Bradford achieved the lowest result when compared to our 10 Statistical Neighbours 
(Blackburn with Darwen, Bolton, Derby, Kirklees, Oldham, Peterborough, Rochdale, Sheffield, Telford and Wrekin and 
Walsall) and was ranked in 13

th
 position within the Yorkshire and the Humber region that comprises of 15 local 

authorities with North East Lincolnshire and Doncaster the only councils with a lower percentage of pupils attending a 
primary school that was judged good or outstanding. 
 
However, in May 2016 the percentage of pupils attending a primary school judged good or outstanding has increased to 
69% due to some recent inspections judging requiring Improvement schools to have made good progress since their last 
inspections and awarding them a good overall judgement. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

 

• The outcomes of primary reviews, desk top analysis and local intelligence gathered through school visits have been 
used to risk assess and to allocate priority levels to primary schools.  Resources have been deployed according to 
the needs of the primary schools. 

 

• School to school support is being used to ensure leaders in primary schools are using appropriate strategies to 
improve their school performance. 

 

• A national leader of education from outside of Bradford was deployed to provide a training package for a group of RI 
schools in order to get them to secure a good outcome at their next inspection. 

 

• Schools with best practice in reading, writing and mathematics have been encouraged to offer support to schools 
with weak performance in those subjects as well as to host open sessions for practitioners to come and learn from 
their best practice. 

 

• A more rigorous school review was introduced in September 2015.  This involved the use of an external lead 
consultant (lead inspector status), a Council School Improvement Officer and a Peer Headteacher to review an 
identified school and record the strengths and weaknesses observed during the visit.  The review report is shared 
with governors in order to ensure they have information that can enable them to hold school leaders to firm account. 

 

Page 31



 

 
 
INDICATOR    

CS_ESI04 Percentage of pupils attending a secondary school judged good or outstanding 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Michael Jameson Aim to maximise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 47.0% 49.0% 19.0%

2014/15 39.0% 73.1% -8.0%

2015/16 45.0% 73.0% 6.0%

 
 
 

Size 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

This indicator is underperforming because standards in secondary schools are too low and not enough students make 
good progress relative to their starting points. A significant number of schools face challenging circumstances that can 
act as a barrier to improvement; for example, the recruitment and retention of highly effective leaders and teachers 
leaders in key subjects including English and mathematics. This has a limiting effect on the capacity in some schools to 
improve student performance at the necessary pace. Leaders are also not always able to respond quickly enough to the 
needs of different groups of students to improve outcomes, including those who are disadvantaged or who have arrived 
at times other than the start of an academic year. Consequently, the proportion of secondary schools in Bradford judged 
to be good or better by Ofsted is well below the average. 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

As at 31
st
 March 2016 45% of pupils attended a secondary school in Bradford that was judged good or outstanding, 

compared to 79% nationally.  Bradford achieved the lowest result when compared to our 10 statistical neighbours 
(Blackburn with Darwen, Bolton, Derby, Kirklees, Oldham, Peterborough, Rochdale, Sheffield, Telford and Wrekin and 
Walsall) and was ranked in 15

th
 position within the Yorkshire and the Humber region that comprises of 15 local 

authorities. 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

Senior Council officers have liaised with the Regional Schools Commissioner and the DfE to explore ways in which 
additional capacity can be generated through the introduction of external academy sponsors in the district. As a result, 
four schools that were judged to be a cause for concern are now receiving support that is tailored to remove barriers to 
progress and improve student outcomes. Secondary school leaders have a good understanding of the reasons for 
underperformance as a result of regular reviews undertaken by the Bradford Partnership. As an outcome of reviews, 
school improvement partnerships have been established and formalised between Bradford secondary schools and 
academies that are good or outstanding and those that require improvement. Strategies have been implemented to 
tackle gaps in student performance and to raise standards more rapidly. 
 

 

Page 32



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_016 (NI 1) 
Percentage of people who agree that their local area is the place where people live together 
harmoniously 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Steve Hartley Aim to maximise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 61.0% 60.0% -1.0%

2014/15 64.0% 64.0% 3.0%

2015/16 62.6% 64.0% -1.4%  
 
 

Size  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming 

Performance on this indicator has fallen by 1.4 percentage points between 2014/15 and 2015/16, from 64% to 62.6%. 
Bradford East has the lowest proportion of survey respondents who believe people live together harmoniously (59.9%) 
whilst Shipley has the highest (69.8%). The performance for West Yorkshire as a whole has fallen by 0.5 percentage 
points from 65.1% to 64.6%.  
 
As a District with both high levels of inequality and deprivation and an ethnically and culturally diverse population, 
Bradford faces challenges to its aspirations to be a District where people from different communities get on well together 
and respect and celebrate their differences.  
 
Although there were no major incidents, the EDL demonstration in November 2015 and the unannounced visit by the far-
right group Britain First in February 2016 may also have impacted on this indicator.  
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation 

For quarter 4 2015/16 (January - March 2016) Bradford was ranked 3
rd

 best performing out of the 5 West Yorkshire 
Police Districts - 62.6% for Bradford compared to 64.6% for West Yorkshire. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

The Safer Communities and Stronger Communities Partnerships have merged.  This will bring further opportunities to 
develop mitigating action on the issue of community relations. The new Safer and Stronger Communities partnership 
Plan has been developed and within this Stronger Communities is a key priority.   
 
The Partnership’s, Equalities and Community relations delivery group will lead on this agenda for the District.  The soon 
to be developed Council’s local perception survey will be used to establish a local baseline.  Current activities within the 
delivery plan include responding to emerging issues such as the community relations impact of the EU referendum and 
increase in Hate Crime. 
 
A new Hate Crime project co-ordinator is to be recruited and will co-ordinator activities around community relations, hate 
crime and Prevent. 
 
The Partnership’s Active Communities group has developed the People Can campaign, with a supporting web and 
media social media presence.  This encourages people from all backgrounds to work together to improve things for 
themselves and others.  Collective social action encourages a sense of pride in community and locality.  
 
The annual Community Stars awards will soon be seeking nominations in a range of categories.  The Awards are run in 
Partnership with the Lord Mayors office and the Telegraph and Argus.  The awards recognise and reward community 
activists from across the District and from different backgrounds.  
 

Page 33



 

There are various activities at ward levels planned over the summer including community clean ups, Queen’s Birthday 
celebrations activities and festivals and galas. There are also a variety of events taking place over the summer including 
Bradford Festival, Bradford Literature festival, World Curry Festival, Love Bradford World record attempt in September 
(Future leaders programme).  
 

 

Page 34



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_026 (NI 192) Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Steve Hartley Aim to maximise Months 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 50.78% 55% -0.51%

2014/15 51.82% 53% 1.04%

2015/16 48.00% 55% -3.82%  
 
 
 

Size  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

Recycling performance is a combination of recyclates extracted by the council upstream via kerbside 
collection of recyclable waste sorted by the resident, and down stream by recyclates extracted from the 
collected kerbside residual waste by our contractor for treatment of residual waste. The performance down 
turn concerns the contractor’s performance. The residual waste treatment contract has no hard recycling 
targets, thus the level of recyclates extracted is down to commercial drivers. 2015/16 has seen a down turn 
in commodity prices for recyclates, resulting in less recyclates being extracted by the contractor because it is 
not economically viable for them to do so. However this has not adversely affected the Council’s landfill 
diversion performance, as those recyclates previously extracted have gone into the Refuse Derived Fuel, 
and thus been combusted to create energy.  
With regard to performance at the kerbside, this shows an improving picture with an 8% increase in 
tonnages collected in 15/16. From January to May this year, the service has delivered 18,914 recycling bins 
to residents requesting them, following the introduction of the Domestic Waste and Recycling Policy (the Bin 
Policy). The outcome of this is that recycling tonnes are increasing and correspondingly residual tonnes 
reducing. 

 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation?    

Whilst overall performance has dropped for the above reasons, down from 51.6% in 2014/15 
to48%(provisional figure), this still represents a high performance, and with the exception of Calderdale, is 
still significantly higher than neighbouring authorities when compared to the last published data in 2014/15 
(Leeds 42.9%, Wakefield 38.8%, Kirklees 27.6%). Those Councils who are at the very top of recycling 
performance, such as Calderdale (60.4%) are undertaking waste food collections, and even adopting 3 
weekly collections for residual waste (latest and nearest to do so is Bury).   

We continue to achieve a high level of landfill diversion, currently estimated @ 88% for the year  2015/16, 
compared to 81% in 2014/15. 

 

What actions are being taken to improve performance?    

Through the delivery of the Domestic Waste and Recycling Policy (one general waste bin and no side 
waste) we aim to deliver an increase in kerbside recycling tonnages and reduce the residual (domestic) 
waste collected. 
Through a structured, resourced programme, we are seeking to educate, inform and raise levels of 
awareness regarding the disposal of domestic waste enabling households to increase their levels of 
recycling. In addition to using a graduated approach to encouraging this behaviour change brought about by 
restricting the opportunity to maintain current levels of domestic waste, following persuasion and support, 
enforcement is being used as a last resort. 

Page 35



 

Supported work with community groups  is also taking place to raise awareness and increase recycling 
participation in addition to the introduction of an incentivised community reward recycling scheme that 
actively encourages recycling in communities with limited space for a separate recycling bin.  
We have implemented new refuse collection rounds to make them more efficient and shortly, via the 
introduction of in cab technology into the refuse collection vehicle fleet, we will further improve our ability to 
manage and record waste collection issues in real time to further improve efficiency and performance. 
Finally the Council has approved the introduction of alternate weekly collection of residual waste. This is 
currently being scoped and planned for 2017 and will see a weekly collection to all households of residual 
one week and recyclables the next. Such a move will promote a further drive towards greater recycling 
levels across the district 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

 

INDICATOR    

Code CIS 027 Level of street and environmental cleanliness : Litter 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Steve Hartley Aim to minimise Three times a year  

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 
 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 10.70% 11% -22.3%

2014/15 8.00% 11% -2.7%

2015/16 12.00% 11% 4.0%  

Size  

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming?   

The indicator measures an expectation of how many streets will be found to be failing on litter across the district despite 
the best efforts of Cleansing services. It is not a direct productivity measure of the service. 
 
It is not a process that will ever be operating in a controlled environment but is the sum product of various inputs resident 
behaviour, weather, staff availability, time of day, staff productivity, traffic and road works, adequate waste containment 
on both vehicles and bins and behaviour of other Council services operating on the street. When all these factors are 
then spread across 10,000 streets, 2,100 linear kilometres and with an average of 1 FTE cleaning up after 6,300 
residents assuming 100% attendance. 
 
The service has been operating with 30 vacancies which equates to 26% of its manual resources missing from the street 
even before holidays, training and sickness are taken in to account. 
 
Finally it must be recognised that most of the wards across the district are operating at much better levels (lower) than 
the district score. It is a handful of inner city wards where the problems are significant enough to drag the district 
average up significantly. 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation?    

No meaningful benchmarking information is available following the removal of the statutory indicator. Prior to this the 
information was easily accessible via Audit Commission. Recent APSE reports from responding Authorities (60)  who 
still use this indicator give an average of 7.1% fail rate 

What actions are being taken to improve performance?    

Currently the service is trying to fill 18 of the vacancies with apprentices or full time drivers, with a further desire to fill the 
remaining 12 posts later this year. Recruitment is being done on 30 hour per week contracts to still allow savings to be 
made, but still delivering the requisite numbers out on to the street to augment the depleted existing workforce. 
 
There is also a re-routing program for the mechanical sweeping operation to try and extract any possible further 
efficiency from the fleet, whilst their main focus is on detritus, they do contribute to the fight against litter on the districts 
streets 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 37



 

INDICATOR    

CIS_051 Percentage of residents with high negative perceptions of anti-social behaviour 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Steve Hartley Aim to minimise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 23.4% 23.0% -0.6%

2014/15 22.5% 22.4% -0.9%

2015/16 24.5% 22.0% 2.0%  
 
 
 

Size  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

The indicator measures the percentage of respondents who have high negative perceptions of anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) in their local area and is the a composite measure based on a scale constructed from responses to 7 question 
areas: % in the local area who perceive the following to be a problem: drunk / rowdy behaviour, traffic Issues, 
vandalism, graffiti and other damage, teenagers hanging around the streets, noisy neighbours, rubbish and abandoned 
cars. 
 
Performance has declined from 22.5% in 2014/15 to 24.5% in 2015/16. Within the 7 individual areas of ASB the only 
one that hasn’t seen a deteriorating perception from the public is noisy neighbours/loud parties. There has been a 2.7 
percentage point increase in the proportion of respondents who think there is a problem with traffic issues and a 2.6 
percentage point increase in those who think there is a problem with rubbish and litter lying around. 
 
In line with this indicator there has also been a slight increase in the proportion of people who believe that the level of 
ASB has increased in their area over the last 12 months (from 16.7% in 2014/15 to 18% in 2015/16). 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

Within five of the seven areas of ASB Bradford has the highest level of negative perceptions out of the five West 
Yorkshire Districts (traffic issues, vandalism, teenagers hanging around, rubbish and litter lying around and 
abandoned/burn out cars). For the areas of drunk and rowdy behaviour and noisy neighbours Bradford has the second 
highest level of negative perceptions (behind Leeds) but is still worse than the West Yorkshire average. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

The ASB Strategic Group has reviewed performance data and how this supports the group to determine priorities and 
deploy/share resources. The data measures performance against the actions in the ASB Improvement Plan which 
allows the group to identify strengths and weakness and strategically respond to gaps in service delivery. The 
Improvement Plan has been reviewed and captures ASB priorities, including City Centre ASB. 
 
A six week public consultation commenced on the 9th May 2016 for the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) for 
Bradford City Centre. The Regulatory & Appeal Committee approved the consultation process and the final report will 
be presented back to the Committee in July. Local arrangements have been coordinated in relation to enforcement 
and recording processes, training and sharing information. The PSPO could specify an area where activities are taking 
place that are or may likely be detrimental to the local community's quality of life.  The PSPO can impose conditions or 
restrictions on people using that area and can support the enforcement activity within the City Centre. 
 
A District wide Begging Strategy has been introduced to provide anyone sleeping rough or begging in Bradford with 
access to appropriate partnership support and wrap around care in order to address their personal circumstances. A 
strong communication strategy will run alongside the operational response including an educational campaign aimed 
at members of the public and responsible giving. 
 
The district’s ASB bike team continue to have a huge impact on nuisance vehicle use across Bradford. When the team 
are not out responding to live incidents they are conducting intelligence research, following up on reports of ASB 
vehicle use and also searching “hot spot” areas to monitor activity. This pro-active approach has helped put a stop to 

Page 38



 

ASB use before it has even happened on occasions. The team work in partnership with Bradford Council and housing 
associations in order to deal with residents who cause harassment and noise nuisance to their neighbours. The regular 
exchange of information enables action to be taken against these problem neighbours and will continue to form a part 
of the teams approach to anti-social behaviour. 
The team continues to patrol Bradford District on a regular basis and will deal with the anti-social use of vehicles in a 
positive manner.  
 
Bradford Safer and Stronger Partnership have allocated funding for a Project Officer to work with businesses across 
Bradford City Centre to support an ‘Employer Supported Policing’ scheme which would give the City Centre a 
dedicated uniformed presence. 
 
“Reach out Bradford” aims to highlight the support offered to vulnerable people who are affected by housing, drug and 
alcohol issues in the City Centre and provides an outreach service every Wednesday afternoon. Partners include 
Neighbourhood Policing Team, Bradford Council ASB Team, Horton Housing, Change Agents, Bradford Day Shelter, 
ARCH futures, West Yorkshire Finding Independence and Council Wardens. Work has been done to identify 
problematic cohort in and around Rawson Square and liaise with both Fountains Hall and Bridge to determine if this 
cohort are their service users and to develop positive messages for SMS (Substance Misuse Services) to reinforce 
with service users in relation to anti-social behaviour in that location 

 

Page 39



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_02_01 Overall Employment Rate for the whole working age population 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Mike Cowlam Aim to maximise Quarters 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 66.3% 66.2% 1.4%

2014/15 65.3% 68.5% -1.0%

2015/16 65.4% 68.5% 0.1%  
 
 

Size 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

The gap with regional and national rates closed between 2010 and 2013 but has since widened again. Weak private 
sector jobs growth allied to public sector job losses are part of the reason for Bradford's weak employment rate 
alongside the longstanding impact of lower skills attainment in the working age population when skills levels demanded 
by employers are rising. 
 
Bradford’s low employment rate is mirrored by a number of major UK cities as highlighted below. It is worth noting all 
those cities are in the Midlands and the North. This would suggest that the economic divide between the South East and 
London, where employment rates are generally high, and the rest of the UK has not improved following the recession. 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

Bradford’s employment rate ranks 359 out of 380 local authorities across England, Scotland and Wales. Bradford has 
the lowest employment rate of any authority in the Leeds City Region and in Yorkshire and the Humber.  
 
Bradford’s employment rate is however higher than many other major UK cities including Birmingham, Liverpool, 
Manchester, Leicester, Dundee, Coventry, Nottingham, Wolverhampton and Newcastle. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

Bradford’s Producer City Board is leading on actions to develop a high value, high skill economy that delivers growth 
and opportunity for all. Priorities for action are bringing forward strategic employment sites for new and growing 
businesses, continuing the regeneration of our city and town centres and promoting Bradford to investors businesses 
and skilled workers to unlock our growth potential.  
 
Improving connectivity and in particular rail links to other northern and UK cities is a key priority and the council is 
working with city region and national partners to increase investment in our transport infrastructure.  
 
Get Bradford Working is a Council led programme that has supported over 1,500 individuals into employment. The 
programme has seven strands which include: 
 

• The Employment Opportunities Fund (EOF) targets claimants who have been out of work for at least six months 
and supports them into sustainable employment. To date over 650 jobs have been created and filled within a range 
of sectors including horticulture, catering, ICT, community development and childcare. 

 

• Routes into Work (RIW) targets those furthest away from the labour market such as individuals with a disability, 
mental ill-health and drug and alcohol dependency. To date over 400 individuals have been supported into 
employment through RIW programmes.  

 
• Bradford Apprenticeship Training Agency (ATA) & Apprenticeship Hub. Part of the Cities Deal “Skills Ask”, 

the ATA acts as a recruitment agency allowing organisations to employ apprentices on an agency basis, 
minimising the risk associated with employing staff more permanently. To date the ATA and Hub have engaged 

Page 40



 

301 SME employers and have supported 332 apprenticeships into vacancies. 
 
• Industrial Centres of Excellence (ICE) are discrete vocationally based centres within existing schools or colleges 

with a strong business management. Each ICE aims to address the future strategic workforce needs of local 
businesses through learning, training and work experience. Ultimately, the target is that each centre will have at 
least 300 14-19 year olds accessing their provision. 

 
Bradford’s City Centre Growth Zone continues to gather momentum with businesses signing up to the programme, 
creating jobs and occupying vacant units. To date more than 190 companies have been supported to create 341 new 
jobs stimulating £15 million of capital investment in the city and bringing 47 vacant properties into use.   
 
Bradford has recently secured JRF funding to trial employer led practical projects that will improve access to 
employment for those most disadvantaged in the labour market as a way of addressing poverty. Bradford is also 
involved with city region and national initiatives looking at how to promote inclusive growth.  

 
 

Page 41



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_06 
The number of private sector homes where, through the intervention of the Climate, Housing, 
Employment & Skills Service, housing conditions have been improved 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Mike Cowlam Aim to maximise Quarters 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 1,393 2,000 -858

2014/15 2,167 1,500 774

2015/16 1,330 1,750 -837  
 
 

Size 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16, H1

Actual Target Trend

 
 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

This indicator reflects performance across a range of activities that improve housing conditions in the private sector.  
Against a general background of significantly increasing demand and key outputs, there are several reasons why 
performance on this indicator is below the anticipated level that was reflected in this year’s target. 
 
1.   When the target was set it was assumed that 264 properties would be improved through the installation of energy 

efficiency measures as part of the Better Homes Yorkshire programme (this figure being the proportion of the 
programme target for Bradford).  However, changes in Government policy have led to significant reductions in 
funding and only 140 properties have been improved through this route. Targets have had to be revised downwards 
for the next year and will be reviewed once the new national domestic energy efficiency funding policy for 2017 
onwards is known.  It should also be noted that in 2014/15 there were 655 completed energy schemes included in 
the outturn for this indicator which accounts for a large part of the exceptionally high level of performance in that 
year. 

 
2.  A significant proportion of the target relates to the work of the Housing Standards team who carry out enforcement 

activity on landlords where there are health and safety risks in rented properties.  The second half of the year has 
seen an exceptional increase in demand (up by 11.8% from the same period last year and 16.8% on 2013/14) while 
overall there has been a year on year increase of 2.9% since 2013/14. This unexpected increase in demand may 
have a bearing on this performance indicator because the team has had to focus on initial inspections (which are 
critical in initiating enforcement activity) rather than follow up inspections which confirm that necessary 
improvements have been made and which are counted for this indicator.  It is likely that the number of follow up 
inspections will increase shortly as the exceptional demand over the last 2 quarters work through.   

 
3.   In addition to the general increase in requests for assistance, the Housing Standards team carried out a major 

proactive exercise in the last quarter of the year focussing on high risk premises.  This exercise involved carrying 
out a large number of proactive inspections and again is likely to have reduced the number of follow up inspections 
that could take place in the same period. 

 
4.  The longer term increase in demand has also led the Housing Standards team to review its operational practices so 

that resources can be prioritised on the most significant issues – this includes encouraging tenants to take remedial 
action in the first instance (although support is provided if these approaches are not effective).  In particular, in the 
last year if someone contacts the service about damp and mould problems, an initial assessment has been carried 
out to establish whether condensation is the likely cause and if so to provide appropriate information and guidance 
to the tenant on ways to address this.  This has happened in around 60 cases in the last year, whereas previously 
these cases would have probably resulted in an initial and then a follow up inspection that would have counted to 
this indicator. 

 
5. The Housing service provides assistance to vulnerable owner occupiers either as an equity loan or grant to address 

critical housing defects.  In the last year there has been a managed reduction in the number of cases being 
processed because of uncertainty about continued funding – the amount of loans and grants completed in the last 
year reduced by more than half (-67%) to 43.  However, the capital allocation for this support has now been 
renewed. 

Page 42



 

 
6. The number of empty homes bought back in to use in the last year has reduced from the previous year.  This 

reflects the fact that as the Empty Homes Programme continues, there are fewer properties that can be easily 
bought back in to use and conversely the remaining empty properties are increasingly difficult to address.  This 
said, success in bringing the more problematic properties back in to use generally has an increased impact, 
because not only does this increase housing stock overall, but often there are wider neighbourhood and social 
benefits (for instance by removing a neighbourhood blight).  

 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

It is not possible to benchmark this indicator. However the service has regular informal contacts with other West 
Yorkshire authorities, who also report increased demand and difficulty in responding to new legislation. This regular 
contact allows the exchange of best practice between authorities and has also resulted in the development of shared 
responses to enforcing new legislation (such as the requirement for lettings agents to belong to redress schemes and 
the installation of smoke and CO alarms). 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

 
1.  The element of the target relating to energy efficiency measures will need to be revised downwards in 2016/17 to 

reflect the Yorkshire wide targets and availability of funding – this will still be vulnerable to national policy changes. 
 
2.  It is anticipated that the number of properties improved through intervention of the Housing Standards team in 

particular, will increase in line with the increased demand for service. Measures will be put in place to ensure that 
these are recorded and also adjustments made for any operational changes that will not be picked up by the 
existing data collection arrangements. 

 
3.  Following the fresh capital allocation to support equity loans and health and safety assistance to vulnerable 

homeowners, a new marketing campaign is being developed.    
 
4.  The service will seek to carry out more proactive work using recently completed stock modelling to target resources 

on the highest priority areas. 
 

 

Page 43



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_015 Proportion of working age population qualified to at least NVQ Level 3 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Mike Cowlam Aim to maximise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 45.3% 43.5% 0.2%

2014/15 47.6% 43.0% 2.3%

2015/16 46.1% 50.0% -1.5%  
 
 
 

Size 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 
 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

Skills levels in Bradford have been low historically. Reasons for persistent low skills include weak educational attainment 
levels in our schools, low levels of employer training and migration patterns that typically see skilled people migrating to 
other parts of the region whilst migrants coming to Bradford have lower skills. Bradford’s industrial sector profile is 
characterised by lower than average levels of high skill, knowledge based jobs which mean that Bradford struggles to 
retain skilled workers in parts of the district.  Poor graduate retention levels is another reason for low skills and again is 
partly a reflection of the industrial profile of the district.  
 
Census data shows that higher skilled jobs in businesses and public sector employers are disproportionately taken by 
people living outside the district which brings average skills levels down. Bradford also has higher levels of working age 
people with no qualifications which makes progression to NVQ level 3 harder to achieve.  
 
International migration patterns into Bradford mean that many people coming into the district have low skills levels which 
again impacts in the average across the whole population. Bradford has higher than average levels of residents with 
poor English language skills which again impacts on progression to higher skills attainment. 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

• Bradford ranks 339
th
 out of 380 local authorities across England, Scotland and Wales.  

 

• Bradford has the second lowest NVQ3 attainment of any authority in the Leeds City Region and in Yorkshire and 
the Humber. Only Barnsley has a lower rate.  

 

• Bradford’s NVQ 3 level attainment rate is lower than the majority of cities and towns across the UK.  
 

• Wolverhampton, Peterborough, Stoke and Ipswich are some of the places with lower NVQ 3 skills levels. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

Raising educational attainment in schools remains a key priority and is reflected in the Council Plan priority outcome “A 
great start and good schools” for all our children. A key action over the next four years is to provide real opportunities for 
skills development and jobs when young people leave school.  
 
The Producer City Board is leading on action to develop an employer-led education and skills system to match local 
people to jobs.  SkillsHouse is a partnership venture based in Bradford offering a one stop shop designed to boost retail, 
hospitality and visitor economy businesses and help local people find jobs in Bradford. 
 
Making parts of  the district more attractive to higher skilled workers will also help to raise average skills levels as will 
tackling poor language skills for migrant communities. 
 

 

Page 44



 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_028_new Greenhouse gas emissions from Council operations 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Mike Cowlam To Minimise Years 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 
 
 

 Value Target Status 
Value vs 

Previous  

2012/13 
88,466 

Tonnes 

77,706 

Tonnes  
5,687 

Tonnes 

2013/14 
84,789 

Tonnes 

74,174 

Tonnes  
-3,677 

Tonnes 

2014/15 
83,387 

Tonnes 

70,641 

Tonnes  
-1,402 

Tonnes 
 

Size  

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Title

Actual Target Trend

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming?   

The organisation declares CO2 emissions from corporate energy consumption as a requirement for the Carbon 
Reduction Commitment (CRC, carbon tax) annual reporting cycle. The trajectory for this property related consumption is 
consistent with forecasts and includes emissions from the schools estate as well as Council buildings. 
 
The schools community was taken out of Government CRC scope and the incentive to and appetite for reducing 
consumption is very low. There has been very little uptake of energy efficiency offers across the schools estate. School 
funding for capital investment in energy efficiency measures is very limited. 
 
The Corporate Greenhouse gas emissions reporting includes transport fuel related emissions and very little progress 
has been made to reduce emissions from corporate fleet and travel contributing to the overall underperformance. 
 
The Government carbon taxes are largely focused on property based energy consumption, things like CRC and Climate 
Change Levy. Energy efficiency programmes have concentrated on delivering consumption and carbon tax direct cost 
reductions. Transport based carbon taxes are weaker drivers for change. 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation?    

This reflects a pattern across many other local authorities where property based emissions have been targeted.to 
capture direct efficiency cost benefits but where schools and transport related emissions remain relatively unchanged. 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance?    

The Environment & Climate Change service is responsible for capturing emissions data and manages the corporate 
property based energy budgets with associated controls on consumption and delivery of efficiencies. The service has no 
control over transport related emissions. The ECC service has introduced a small number of projects to support low 
emissions transport initiatives with colleagues in Fleet and Transport. These include, enhanced travel planning functions, 
corporate Metro Cards, electric vehicle pool cars and vans and electric vehicle charging points. There needs to be a 
wider uptake of low emissions vehcle options across services and this should be driven by senior management. 
 
ECC service has worked with colleagues in Education Client Services on delivering a bespoke schools energy 
investment model. There has been very low uptake of the opportunity. Officers are currently developing a funding offer 
using external capital finance via Salix – a low carbon project funding vehicle and expect a higher rate of uptake. 
 

 

Page 45



 

 
INDICATOR    

L_C&P22 Percentage of contracts awarded within 60 days of advert (routine procurement) 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Stuart McKinnon-Evans Aim to maximise Quarters 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16 49 90  
 
 
 
 

Size 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 
 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

This is a relatively new indicator and following our own validation exercise we now know that the target was based on a 
Yortender report that extracted inaccurate data often giving a false result as it appeared that the tender took less time.  
The error has been reported but it is unlikely to be corrected in the short term so manual adjustments are required.  To 
optimise the administration we have restricted the number of tenders included to tenders where the value is over £100k 
meaning the 90% target within 60 days is probably unrealistic.  We are considering whether it is better to change the 60 
day timescale or keep it and set a more realistic target in 2016-17. 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

Not currently an indicator that is benchmarked across the Yorkshire & Humber region. 

 
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

See above. 
 
 

 

Page 46



 

 

INDICATOR    

CIS_044_01 
The average number of working days lost per employee due to sickness absence in Bradford 
Council (Including Schools) 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Sue Dunkley Aim to minimise Months 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 
 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 10.09 9.03 -0.35

2014/15 9.99 9.03 -0.10

2015/16 9.59 9.03 -0.40

Table 

Size  

8.40

8.60

8.80

9.00

9.20

9.40

9.60

9.80

10.00

10.20

10.40

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming?  

Whilst the target may not have been achieved the overall sickness out-turn has reduced by the highest level of the 3 
years measured above. Whilst much of this reduction is on the schools side sickness has also reduced in some areas of 
the Council such as Chief Executive’ Office, Human Resources, City Solicitor, Finance, Public Health and Environment 
& Sport. This improvement has been masked by an increase in sickness absence in some of our larger Departments 
(Adult & CS, Regeneration and Children’s Services) 
 
Age could be a contributing factor to the sickness performance. Adults & CS and Regeneration have higher levels of 
staff aged 45 and over together with greater numbers of frontline and former manual staff. Their number one sickness 
reason is fractures/sprain/muscular which typically can be a long term condition particularly in older workers. In contrast 
the average age in schools is 41 with only 40% of staff aged 45 and over and the number one sickness reason is 
cold/flu/viral a typically short term condition. 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

Currently there is little comparative data available for the last financial year. Using the CIPFA benchmarking data for 
2014/15 the average figure including schools was 9.4 days for the metropolitan councils involved (Rotherham 9.3, 
Dudley 10.3, Doncaster 9.7). 
 
The CIPD absence management report for 2015 also states that public sector sickness increased by almost a day in 
2015, whilst we have managed to continue our downward trend.  
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

There have been a number of Corporate and Departmental actions taken to improve performance.  

• Attendance management forms part of the Council’s overall performance framework and is monitored through 
Productivity Clinics /CMT.  

• HRPlus ensure managers receive advice and support in managing their people issues. Management 
information from the system is currently being used at DMT meetings to look at hotspots, interventions and 
inaction. 

• The Council and HRPlus have run a targeted campaign to help reduce long term sickness. The campaign 
activity focused on a maximum of 120 long term sickness cases and resulted in a reduction in absence. The 
HR service now follows up on cases where sickness has been recorded on SAP and a trigger point has been 
reached but no case has been opened with HRPlus. This aims to ensure that managers with sickness cases 
are getting the advice they need. 

• The Employee Heath and Wellbeing Service (EHWB) continue to provide support for managers in dealing with 
both sickness absence management and preventative actions. 

• Attendance management continues to be overseen by the DAC Group (Departmental Attendance Champions) 
who meet monthly. 

• Departments continue to monitor sickness absence triggers, where triggers have been hit improvement targets 
are set and agreed between the employee and line managers. 

• Departments also have specific interventions related to their specific service areas. 

Page 47



 

 

 
INDICATOR    

CIS_044_02 
The average number of working days lost per employee due to sickness absence in Bradford 
Council (Excluding Schools) 

Responsible Officer 
Performance 
Calculation 

Reporting Frequency 

Sue Dunkley Aim to minimise Months 

Outturn and Latest Performance Performance Trend (3 Years) 

 
 

Value Target Status

Value vs 

Previous 

2013/14 11.32 9.76 -0.57

2014/15 11.28 9.76 -0.04

2015/16 11.29 9.76 0  
Table 

Size  

8.50

9.00

9.50

10.00

10.50

11.00

11.50

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Actual Target Trend

 

  

Commentary 

Why is this indicator underperforming? 

The sickness out-turn has levelled out across the Council and whilst there has been no overall improvement there have 
been areas where sickness has reduced such as Chief Executive’s Office, Human Resources, City Solicitor, Finance, 
Public Health and Environment & Sport. This improvement has been masked by an increase in sickness absence in 
some of our larger Departments (Adult & CS, Regeneration and Childrens Services) 
 
Age could be a contributing factor to the sickness performance. Adults & CS and Regeneration have higher levels of 
staff aged 45 and over together with greater numbers of frontline & former manual staff. Their number one sickness 
reason is fractures/sprain/muscular which typically can be a long term condition particularly in older workers. In contrast 
the average age in schools is 41 with only 40% of staff aged 45 and over and the number one sickness reason is 
cold/flu/viral a typically short term condition. 
 

How does performance compare to other Councils/organisation? 

Currently there is little comparative data available for the last financial year. Using the CIPFA benchmarking data for 
2014/15 the average figure excluding schools was 10 days for the metropolitan councils involved (Rotherham 11, Dudley 
12, Doncaster 10) 
The CIPD absence management report for 2015 also states that public sector sickness increased by almost a day in 
2015, whilst we have managed to maintain our sickness levels.  
 

What actions are being taken to improve performance? 

There have been a number of Corporate and Departmental actions taken to improve performance. 

• Attendance management forms part of the Council’s overall performance framework and is monitored through 
Productivity Clinics /CMT.  

• HRPlus ensure managers receive advice and support in managing their people issues. Management 
information from the system is currently being used at DMT meetings to look at hotspots, interventions and 
inaction. 

• The Council and HRPlus have run a targeted campaign to help reduce long term sickness. The campaign 
activity focused on a maximum of 120 long term sickness cases and resulted in a reduction in absence. The 
HR service now follows up on cases where sickness has been recorded on SAP and a trigger point has been 
reached but no case has been opened with HRPlus. This aims to ensure that managers with sickness cases 
are getting the advice they need. 

• The Employee Heath and Wellbeing Service (EHWB) continue to provide support for managers in dealing with 
both sickness absence management and preventative actions. 

• Attendance management continues to be overseen by the DAC Group (Departmental Attendance Champions) 
who meet monthly. 

• Departments continue to monitor sickness absence triggers, where triggers have been hit improvement targets 
are set and agreed between the employee and line managers. 

• Departments also have specific interventions related to their specific service areas. 

Page 48



 

2.  REVENUE OUTTURN 
 
 
The Council’s approved net revenue budget for 2015-16 is £400.8m. The budget is after 
£37.7m of service and non service budget savings.  The table below outlines the 
performance against budget of Council departments. 
 
 
2015-16 Revenue spend  
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Services to the public & businesses

Adult & Community Services 182.5 183.5 1.0 54.0 55.8 -1.8 128.5 127.7 -0.8

Children's Services 638.1 641.0 3.0 514.1 515.4 -1.3 124.0 125.6 1.7

Environment & Sport 113.4 113.3 -0.1 47.0 49.6 -2.5 66.4 63.8 -2.7

Public Health 44.0 41.9 -2.1 43.8 41.8 2.1 0.1 0.1 -

Regeneration 116.4 115.7 -0.7 49.4 50.1 0.6 67.0 65.6 -1.4

Revenues & Benefits 189.1 188.1 -1.0 183.7 182.6 1.1 5.4 5.5 0.1

Total services to the public & businesses 1,283.5 1,283.6 0.1 892.0 895.3 -1.9 391.4 388.3 -3.1

Support services and non service

Property Programme 1.4 1.3 -0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 1.3 1.3 -0.0

Chief Executive 5.5 5.1 -0.4 0.1 0.1 -0.0 5.4 4.9 -0.4

City Solicitor 8.9 8.7 -0.3 2.2 1.9 0.2 6.8 6.7 -0.1

Human Resources 9.9 9.3 -0.6 2.1 2.2 -0.1 7.8 7.0 -0.8

Finance (Excluding Revenues & Benefits) 24.0 23.7 -0.4 1.9 1.8 0.1 22.2 21.9 -0.3

Non Service Budgets 2.5 1.7 -0.8 1.3 2.1 -0.9 1.3 -0.4 -1.6

Total support services and non service 52.3 49.8 -2.6 7.6 8.3 -0.7 44.7 41.5 -3.2

Central Budgets & Net Transfers To 

Reserves*
6.7 19.3 12.6 42.1 49.2 -8.4 -35.3 -29.8 5.5

Total Council Spend 1,342.5 1,352.7 10.1 941.8 952.7 -10.9 400.8 400.0 -0.8

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
*Includes £2.8m of deferred expenditure carried forward via reserves to 2016-17. 

 
Service budgets and actuals include year end accounting adjustments for depreciation, impairment and pensions. 
They also include Facilities Management costs and budgets (utilities and repairs) which during the year are 
managed and controlled within Regeneration. These affect Service’s budgets and actual spend but have nil 
impact on the final service variances. 

 
Source: The Council’s ledger (SAP) as at 31 March 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

2.1 Better use of Budget requests to carry forward funds 
 
The table below outlines requests from Departments to carry forward funds to finance uncompleted 
priority activities. 
 
Table 2.1 – Expenditure to take place in 2016-17  

Reprofiled Activity 

Total incl 
requests 
approved 
at Qtr 4 

New 
request

s at 
Outturn 

   

Adult and Community Services   
Housing Related Support -  To cover contract extension until re-tender        226   

Learning Disabilities (Residential) – 2 X Minibuses,  ordered not delivered         100   

Mental Capacity Act – To help reduce MCA assessment backlog         100        100  

   

Children’s Services   

Investment in School Leadership         100   

Education Psychology Services –help fund transition to mutual            86         86  

   

Regeneration   

Housing Standards – help fund Planning Design Guide.          23        23  

Economic Development – Match fund for Superfast Broadband          71   

Economic Development – Match fund for ERDF        380   

Events – Help fund events infrastructure and communications         140   

Allotments - Small scale maintenance           20         20  

Energy Unit – Help fund one off water disconnection charges           55          55  

Energy Unit – Help offset impact of Energy Market Reform          150        150  

Planning – Help fund completion of Local Plan         300   

Cycle to work – Help fund District Cycling Initiatives 12        12  

Property Programme – Help fund one off costs associated with vacating Jacobs Well        100   

   

Environment and Sport   

Waste Disposal – help fund Materials Recycling Facility             92   

Strategic Support – Help fund grants to National Media Museum as part of 3 year plan      167      167  

Strategic Support – Help match fund grants to Impressions and Bradford Carnival          13        13  

Assistant Director – Culture – Help fund grants payable to Impressions, Women of 
World, City of Film and Yorkshire Festival 

60 60  

Tourism – Help fund Tourism Review           50          50  

Parks & Landscapes – Help complete projects that have commenced/ in consultation 47  47  

Parks & Landscapes – Help fund delayed Scholemoor Memorial Garden         20         20  

   

Chief Executive   

Policy, Programmes and Change – Help fund transition to lower cost base         100       100  

Public Affairs & Communication – Partnership Place Marketing          50         50  

   

Human Resources   

Employee Health & Well-being – To help fund Well-being agenda     62         62  

Member Development – To help fund  Safely Together APP to help lone worker safety           20         20  

Workforce development – Help fund Signs of Safety Agenda in Children’s            40         40  

Employee Health & Well-being –Help fund equipment and web development linked to 
well being 

          28          28  

Traded Services – Marketing Material to help rebrand PACT HR             6            6  

   

Finance   

Revenues and Benefits - completion of benefits system  migration and MyServices 
ICT work      

   141  150  

Total expenditure to take place in 2016-17 
          

2,757  
         

1,259  

 

Page 50



 

 
 

2.2  Delivery of Budgeted Savings proposals 
 
The combined budget savings of £37.7m in 2015-16 (£35.1m approved by Council in 
February 2015, and a £2.6m Government in year cut to the Public Health Grant) brings the 
total savings the Council has had to find in the five years following the 2010 Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR) to £172.6m. 
 
Table 2.2- Year on Year savings since 2010CSR 

 £m 

2011-12 48.7 

2012-13  28.5 

2013-14 26.1 

2014-15 31.8 

2015-16 37.7 

Total savings  172.6 

 
In tracking progress made against each individual saving proposal, £32.8m (87%) of the 
£37.7m were delivered, leaving £4.9m that was not delivered as planned. 
 

Saving Tracker 

Service  
Budgeted 

Savings 
Revised* 
Savings Variance  

Adult & Community Services  8.6 8.3 1.2 

Children’s Services  9.5 9.1 0.6 

Environment & Sport  2.9 4.5 0.5 

Regeneration  4.7 4.2 0.2 

Public Health 0.9 3.5 0.1 

Director of Finance 1.9 1.9 0.1 

City Solicitor 0.3 0.3 0.0 

Chief Executives Office 1.1 1.1 0.0 

Director of Human Resources 0.9 0.4 0.0 

Non Service Budgets and cross cutting 1.3 1.1 0.2 

Travel assistance 3.0 3.0 2.0 

Total 35.1 37.7 4.9 

*Revised savings vary from the originally budgeted savings as a result of planned structure changes including 
Culture services and Youth services moving to Environment & Sport and the decentralisation of Transactional 
Services from Human Resources. Additionally there has been a £2.6m in year government cut to the Public 
Health grant requiring additional offsetting savings. 

 
As reported previously, the main planned savings that were not to delivered in full include: 
 
Transport Assistance 
 

• Informed by extensive public consultation, the Executive in June 2015 approved a 
revised Travel Assistance Policy based on principles and guidance contained in a 
joint framework between Children’s and Adults. The £3m reduction in transport 
assistance was underachieved by £1.8m. Making sure that the approach to 
reassessing is right and properly resourced has taken longer than anticipated. £0.6m 
of investment over 2 years in Travel Training has been agreed as part of the 2016-17 
budget to help travel assistance reform. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

 
Children’s Centres 
 

• Of the £3m saving that was planned to be delivered from clustering Children’s Centre 
provision across the district, £0.2m was not achieved in 2015-16. The shortfall relates 
to a delay in the reconfiguration of the 3 remaining external Children Centre clusters. 
The new arrangements should be in-place by August 2016, and the issue should not 
recur. 

 
Reduction in Adults Residential Care provision 
 

• A £1.6m saving was planned to be delivered by decommissioning an In-House Home 
and reducing external purchased residential care placements by 80 to 900.  Of the 
£1.6m, £0.65m was not delivered as the In-house home remains open and average 
external residential placements have reduced by 37 to 943. 

 
Renegotiation of high cost placements in Adults 
 

• £1m of savings was planned to be delivered by renegotiating high cost placements. 
To date savings of £1.2m have been achieved through reviews and sharing costs 
with health,  however there have been new high cost placements costing £0.7m 
reducing the overall amount saved to £0.5m. There are a number of service users 
currently awaiting decisions surrounding Continuing Health Care funding from the 
NHS which could have a positive impact on the high cost placement budget in the 
future. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 

3. SERVICE COMMENTARIES 
 
The Annual Finance and Performance Outturn Report details the specific financial results by 
department for 2015-16 as well as key performance achievements of each department and 
service.  The commentaries link the opportunity costs and impacts on service delivery with 
budget variations departments experienced in 2015-16 and, lastly, outline the key challenges 
they anticipate in 2016-17. 
 

3.1  Adult and Community Services 
 

2015-16 Financial Outturn 
 
 

Budget Outturn Variance Budget Outturn Variance Budget Outturn Variance

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Operational Services

Purchased Care 85.4 87.4 2.0 27.6 28.8 1.2 57.8 58.6 0.8

In-House Community Care 10.4 11.1 0.7 7.7 8.3 0.6 2.7 2.8 0.1

In-House Residential and Day Care 14.4 14.5 0.1 3.6 3.7 0.1 10.8 10.8 0.0

Access, Assessment & Support 14.4 14.2 -0.2 2.6 2.6 0.0 11.8 11.6 -0.2

No Recourse to Public Funds 0.4 0.9 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.9 0.5

Other Operational Services 0.5 0.5 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.4 0.0

Non Residential Charges 0.0 0.1 0.1 5.8 5.6 -0.2 -5.8 -5.5 0.3

Commissioned Services 34.7 33.9 -0.8 1.2 1.5 0.3 33.5 32.4 -1.1

Total 160.2 162.6 2.4 48.6 50.6 2.0 111.6 112.0 0.4

Integration and Transition 

Financial Support 1.2 1.2 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.0 1.1 1.0 -0.1

Transformation 0.8 0.7 -0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.7 0.6 -0.1

Housing 8.7 7.7 -1.0 0.6 0.6 0.0 8.1 7.1 -1.0

Commissioning & Contracting 7.2 7.1 -0.1 1.0 1.1 0.0 6.2 6.0 -0.2

Safeguarding 0.9 1.0 0.1 0.4 0.3 0.0 0.5 0.7 0.2

Commissioned Services 1.1 1.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.0

Total 19.9 18.8 -1.1 2.3 2.4 0.0 17.6 16.4 -1.2

Directors Office 2.1 2.1 0.0 3.0 3.0 0.0 -0.9 -0.9 0.0

Total 182.5 183.5 1.0 54.0 55.8 1.8 128.5 127.7 -0.8

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 999 15.22 (Mar 14) £997 15.2% (June 14) 10% 

Year end 2014-15 1042 12.74 (Mar 15) £947 14.9% 11.9% 

Year end 2015-16 1,056 13.83 (Mar 16) £942 13.7% 9.6% 

 
 

Page 53



 

 

 
Adults Services - £182.5m gross budget / £128.5m net budget, £0.8m underspend 
 
In addition to under spending the budget, there are  many positive indicators showing that 
services are transforming in line with the strategy of providing more enabling; preventative; 
self directed and community based care, and less Residential and Nursing Care. There were 
however a number of significant variances to budget. These include; 

 

• £0.9m overspend on the £6.1m Learning Disability Residential Fees budget due to 

rising average costs of placements caused by an increasing complexity of care 

requirements.  

• £0.7m overspend on the £7m Learning Disability Home Support budget due to 

increased demand resulting from a larger client base. 

• To mitigate the above overspends, the department is reviewing clients to identify 
appropriate care settings to reduce the cost of these placements. The department 
continues to work with the NHS to share the costs of high cost placements where 
appropriate. 

 

• £0.5m  overspend on the BACES equipment service pooled budget, due to more 

specialist equipment and record high numbers of items loaned  in line with the 

strategy of keeping service users independent in their own homes for longer. The 

service has identified a number of mitigations to reduce the pressure in 2016/17. 

These include a practitioner’s panel for the approval of specialist equipment and 

invest to save measures amongst others. 

• £0.5m overspend on the £0.4m No Recourse to Public Funds budget resulting from 

additional demand. The Council has allocated £0.4m of additional budget for 2016-

17. 

The overspending areas highlighted above were however  more than offset by underspends 

elsewhere in the department in 2015-16, most notably in Housing Related Support (£0.9m) 

and staffing savings in advance of further planned savings in 2016-17.  

 
Adult and Community Services 

Adult Services underspent the £128.5m net expenditure budget by £0.8m, with Operational 

Services overspending by £0.4m, offset by a £1.2m underspend in Integration and Transition 

and Directors Office. 

Operational Services 

• Despite the £0.4m overspend, many Operational services are performing well with 

positive evidence of transformation of services to focus more on preventative care; 

enablement services; self directed care including Direct Payments, and Community 

Care (Home Care and Extra Care amongst others) that collectively help service 

users remain independent, and less on Residential and Nursing Care. This relates 

particularly to Older People and Learning Disability Services which together make up 

the vast majority of expenditure on Adults Services. 

 

Page 54



 

 

      Older People Services 

• The table below shows that Older People services are providing higher levels of 

Community Care (Home Care, Direct Payments), and less Residential and Nursing 

Care in line with the strategy. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Av Older People Residential Population  1,000 980 943 

Avg Older People Nursing Population 403 488 346 

Avg Older People in receipt of Homecare 1,378 1,425 1,426 

Avg Older People in receipt of Direct Payments 88 96 104 

Total 2,869 2,989 2,819 

OP Residential Fees £ms 16.4 16.2 15.9 

OP Nursing Fees £ms  7.0 7.2 7.1 

OP Purchased Home Care Gross Cost £ms 8.4 8.8 8.8 

OP Direct Payments Gross costs £ms 0.9 1.1 1.2 

Total 32.7         33.3 33.0 

              

• Additionally, higher numbers of clients are being supported through the BACES 

equipment service, and are in receipt of Disabled Facilities Grants (see Housing 

Operations in Regeneration) than ever before. This helps Older People remain 

independent in their own homes for longer, reducing the need for Residential and 

Nursing Care. 

• Other areas of note include the Enablement services which are providing more hours 

of care to an increased client base compared to 2014-15 and delivering good 

outcomes. 

 

• 56.7% of service users are able to manage on their own, or require reduced hours of 

care following the 6 weeks of enablement services. 

• Additionally, Bradford’s Enablement model includes intermediate care that is funded 

by the NHS and provided in partnership with Council Residential Homes. This is also 

delivering excellent outcomes relating to the avoidance of delayed transfers of care 

from hospital (see KPI table). This outcome compares very favourably with other 

areas of the country where bed blocking (delayed transfers of care) is a major issue 

for the NHS. 

 

B.E.S.T 
 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 4,570 4,458 5,045 

Income £000s -2,295 -3,441 -4,903 

Net Costs £000s 2,275 1,017 142 

    
Average Population 
 

573 469 481 

No of hours of home care provided weekly 4,562 3,929 4,852 

Average hours of homecare per person per week 7.96 8.38 8.79 

Average cost per hour £19.26 £21.82 £19.99 

Page 55



 

Learning Disability Services 

• Adult Services are also managing additional demand for Learning Disability services 

resulting from significant demographic growth.  

• The table below shows the increase in the number of LD clients being cared for in the 

main service areas, and also shows that demand is being managed by providing 

more Home Care, Day Care and Direct Payments, and less Residential and Nursing 

Care in line with the strategy. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Avg LD People Residential Population  134 136 128 

Avg LD People Nursing Population 53 53 50 

Avg LD People in receipt of Homecare 416 445 501 

Avg LD People attending Day Care 266 280 352 

Avg LD people in receipt of Direct Payments 209 251 308 

Total  1,078 1,165 1,339 

LD Residential Fees £ms 7.1 7.6 8.1 

LD Nursing Fees £ms 1.3 1.1 1.1 

LD Purchased Home Care Gross Cost £ms 4.1 5.8 6.5 

LD Day Care £ms 1.1 1.8 1.8 

LD Direct Payments Gross costs £ms 3.1 3.0 4.4 

Total £ms 16.7 19.3 21.9 

     

Access, Assessment and Support 
 

• The service underspent the £11.8m net budget by £0.3m mainly due to delays in 
recruitment and also as a result of management reviewing the structure. 

 

• The regular reviewing of clients to ensure that they are receiving the appropriate level 
of care is key to the transformation of Adult Services and the delivery of savings 
 

• The table below shows an increase in the number of reassessments carried out and 
also a proportionate reduction on reassessments leading to permanent care. 

 
 
Reassessments – existing clients with adult care and 
support assessments 

2014-15 2015-16 

Number of existing clients reassessed in period 1,734 2,028 

Number of existing clients reassessed where outcome was 
support plan 

813 985 

Number of existing clients reassessed where outcome was 
permanent care 

609 656 

% of reassessments leading to permanent care 35% 32% 

 

• When coupled with BEST enablement activity information outlined previously, the 
data indicates a positive transition towards short term enablement that improves 
service user independence and reduces the need for costly long term care. 
 

• The service also delivered a significant increase in the  number of Mental Capacity 
and Deprivation of Liberty assessments for which a £250k grant was received in 
2015-16  

 

Despite the positive direction of travel regarding the transformation of Older People and 
Learning Disability services,  there were however a number of significant budget variances 
within Operational Services  that are outlined  below. 

Page 56



 

 

Learning Disabilities Purchased Care - Residential Fees 

• The service overspent the £6.1m net expenditure budget by £0.9m. The overspend 
resulted from the  rising unit cost  of care caused by the full year effect of 2014-15 
high cost placements and the part year effect of 2015-16 new high cost placements.  
The cost of these new contracts rather than the quantity of care weeks provided is 
increasing the cost base. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015/-6 

Gross Costs £000s 7,091 7,548 8,071 

Income (Client Contributions) £000s  -100 -117 -140 

Direct Net Costs £000s 6,991 7,431 7,931 

    

Learning Disabilities Average Population 134 136 128 

Learning Disabilities Weeks of Care 6,947 7,093 6,703 

Average Cost per person per week £1,003 £1,050 £1,191 

 *The Council also receives £0.8m of Health income making the net budget £6.1m 

 

• Consequently, the service did not fully meet its proportion (£0.5m) of the 2015-16 
High Cost Placements budget saving target of £1m.  To date, savings of £0.6m have 
been achieved on high cost placements through reviews and sharing costs with 
health, however there has been additional high cost placement expenditure as a 
result of new entrants of £0.6m negating the overall saving. 

 

• The service also has a further £0.5m savings target on high cost placements to 
achieve in 2016-17. 
 

• To mitigate the overspend in 2016-17 the department’s dedicated LD reviewing team 

will continue to review client’s packages of care and negotiate costs with providers.  

The department also works closely with the NHS to share the cost of high cost 

placements where a client has both health and social care needs.  Demographic 

growth money provided as part of the 2016-17 budget setting process will be 

allocated to this budget as required to fund new entrants. 

Learning Disabilities Purchased Care - Home Care 

• Learning Disabilities Home Care overspent the £7.0m net expenditure budget by 

£0.7m.  This is primarily due to an increase of 56 clients compared to 2014-15, 

resulting in an additional 1,046 hours of care delivered per week compared to 2014-

15.  It is positive to report that the number of hours each client is receiving has 

remained static compared to 2014-15, indicating that the overspend is linked to 

increased people in the system as opposed to increases to current packages of care. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 
Gross Costs (relating to activity below) £000s 4,146 5,829 6,552 

Gross Costs including other £000s 5,032 6,452 7,761 

Net Costs £000s 5,032 6,452 7,761 

    

LD Home Care Average Population 
 

416 445 501 

No of weeks of home care provided per year 21,632 23,140 26,052 

No of hours of home care provided per week 5,758 8,150 9,196 

Average hours of homecare per person per week 13.84 18.31 18.36 

Average cost per hour 13.85 13.76 13.70 

 

Page 57



 

• An increase in activity is expected due to higher demand in this area and the strategy 

of maintaining clients in the community as opposed to typically more costly 

residential or nursing placements.   

• This overspend risk will recur in 2016-17 and will potentially increase due to 

demographic pressures; however an element of demographic growth money 

provided as part of the 2016-17 budget will be allocated to fund new entrants.  

Additionally the service will continually review packages of care to ensure they are 

appropriate and cost effective. 

B.A.C.E.S (Equipment Lending Service)  
 

• The BACES pooled budget with the NHS overspent the £2.8m gross expenditure 
budget by £1m, of which £0.5m was funded by health. The over spend is linked to 
increasing demand for equipment,  

 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs  2,888 3,327 3,714 

Income 2,170 2,182 2,191 

Net Costs 718 1,145 1,005 

    
Actual Number of Clients 10,146 10,259 10,392 

Number of NHS Items lent  24,905 25,186 

Number of Local Authority Items Lent  9,038 11,081 

Total Number of Items Lent 33,191 33,943 36,267 

Deliveries within 7 days (target 93.5%) 93.2% 94% 94% 

 

• In particular requests for ‘special equipment’ (equipment which is not kept in stock at 
BACES) have seen a significant increase over the last two years: 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Special Order Expenditure £000s 500 686 755 

. 

• Expenditure has also increased from 2014-15 on mattress and bed hire, despite 
purchasing additional mattresses through an invest to save scheme.  This is due to 
the service not being able to meet the short timescale demand from the hospitals.  
 

• The overall performance for items delivered within 7 days is however on target.  
 

• Despite the overspend, the increased use of community equipment is a positive 
direction of travel as the equipment is used to help people remain independent and in 
their own homes for longer, potentially reducing the need for more costly Residential 
and Nursing Care. 
 

• To mitigate the overspend issues in 2016-17, the service has formulated a number of 
plans. These include; 
 

• Introducing a practitioner’s panel (both Council and Health) for special orders 
to ensure value for money.  

• Identifying further  invest to save initiatives  

• Reviewing the current provision of equipment to Care homes protocol 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

No Recourse to Public Funds  
 

• The service overspent the £0.4m net expenditure budget by £0.5m due to an 
increase in the number of families seeking support.   
 

• In 2014-15 a budget reduction of £0.3m was approved on the basis of reducing 
numbers requiring support; this budget is now reporting an increase in demand and 
the current migrant crisis could increase this further. 

 

• Additional funding of £0.4m has been allocated through the Council’s 2016-17 budget 

setting process.   

Mental Health Purchased Care  
 

• The service overspent the £5.7m net expenditure budget by £0.3m mainly due to 
additional homecare costs as a result of the de-commissioning of the Mental Health 
Housing Related Support contract.   
 

• The full year effect on the MH Home Care budget of those clients assessed as Care 
Act eligible will be apparent in 2016-17 and additional budget has been identified to 
address this.    
 
Non Residential Charges  

 

• The service has under achieved the £5.7m net income budget by £0.2m due to fewer 
service users being charged for services and a reduction in the average charge per 
service user. 

  2014-15 2015-16 

Number of service users charged  2,966 2,793 

Average charge per client per year   £1,997 £1,577 

 

• The Contributions Policy for Adult Social Care will seek to increase contributions from 
clients with higher levels of income from 2016-17.   

 

• £0.5m of additional income is planned to result from the new contributions policy, and 
a further £0.3m of additional income is planned to result from reviewing the charging 
arrangements for Mental Health clients. 
 

• The above overspends/under achievement of income in 2015-16 were partially 

mitigated by underspends on staffing budgets and contract savings. 

• All other Operational Services performed broadly as planned and to budget. 

 

Integration and Transitions  

• Integration and Transitions underspent the £17.6m net expenditure budget by £1.2m. 

The main service variances include; 

• The Mental Capacity and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards service overspent 

the £0.1m net expenditure budget by £0.2m; this is after a grant of £0.2m from the 

Department of Health to assist Councils with the additional budget pressure has been 

applied.  

•  This overspend is due to the costs of increased Mental Capacity Act assessments 

and also the associated costs of medical assessments carried out by doctors. 

Page 59



 

• The service has submitted a Better use of Budget request of £0.1m to purchase 

external support to carry out assessments. This will help reduce the current backlog. 

• The Housing Related Support contract underspent the £6.1m net expenditure 

budget by £0.9m, this is in addition to the £1.5m 2015-16 saving which has also been 

achieved.  

• Accelerated savings on contracts have been made in preparation for 2016-17 saving 

of £4.1m. 

• All other services are performing broadly as planned and to budget. 

2016-17 and beyond 
 
In 2016-17, the department has a number of significant challenges to face including; 
 

• Delivering further savings of £12.5m 

• Continuing to manage the impact of demographic growth 

• Pursuing with the NHS the best way of integrating Health and Social Care  

• The implications of the National Living Wage on providers 

 

Page 60



 

3.2 Children’s Services 
 

2015-16 Financial Outturn 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Specialist Services 67.0 70.9 3.9 4.5 5.8 -1.3 62.5 65.1 2.6

Client Services 78.8 79.7 0.9 38.5 39.8 -1.3 40.3 39.9 -0.4

Access and Inclusion 27.3 27.6 0.3 16.3 16.7 -0.4 11.0 10.9 -0.1

Education and School Improvement 36.0 34.8 -1.2 27.9 27.2 0.7 8.1 7.6 -0.5

Directors Office 0.2 0.3 0.1 0 0 0 0.2 0.3 0.1

Schools 428.7 427.7 -1.0 426.9 425.9 1.0 1.8 1.8 -

Total 638.1 641.0 3.0 514.1 515.4 -1.3 124.0 125.6 1.7

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 

 
People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 1586 11.61 (Mar 14) £1,530 18.7% (Jun 14) 11% 

Year end 2014-15 1628 11.69 (Mar 15) £871 17.2% 11.3% 

Year end 2015-16 1,491 11.8 (Mar 16) £1,245 17.4% 13.0% 

  

 
Children’s Service - £638.0m gross budget/ £123.9m net budget, £1.7m  overspend 
 
The main variances in Children’s services include: 
 

• Children’s Services are successful in caring for a relatively lower number of children 
in care compared to other Local Authorities through timely assessment, support and 
interventions.  The cost of caring for these children, as in the case for Local 
Authorities, is challenging and there is a £3m overspend in the £5.6m purchased 
placements.  This is due to increasingly complex care arrangements and statutory 
requirements which over a period of time has led to a higher number of non in-house 
residential care placements and reduction in lower cost Independent Fostering 
Agency placements. 
 

• There is a £0.4m overspend on the £10.3m Allowances budget paid to carers 
(Special Guardians, Foster carers, Adoption carers); £0.1m of this results from on-
going consultation on Fostering Allowances that should not recur in 2016-17.  The 
remaining £0.3m is an on-going pressure resulting from the increasing numbers of 
children receiving support.  This spend reflects the priority in monitoring children in 
family based settings wherever possible. 
 

• The Council has allocated an additional £1.5m as part of the 2016/17 budget to help 
mitigate the pressure on Purchased Placements and Allowances. 
 

• There are clear strategies and plans being delivered to sustain the healthy balance 
between care and prevention and a more bespoke placement strategy.  This includes 
Children’s Services mitigating the remaining pressure by reviewing the sufficiency 
and commissioning strategy; re-commissioning block contracts for residential and 
fostering provision; reviewing the care plans of all young people in purchased 
placements who can return to internal provision or to an Independent Foster Agency 
placement, and increasing the capacity of the In-House Fostering Service through 
training and recruitment. 

 
The overspends highlighted above were partly offset by underspends elsewhere in the 
department in 2015-16 

Page 61



 

 

Children’s Services 
 
The department overspent the £123.9m net expenditure budget (£638.1m gross budget) by 
£1.7m. In arriving at this position the service has delivered £8.5m of the £9.1m of approved 
service budget savings within the financial year. There is £428.7m of gross expenditure in 
relation to schools included within the service expenditure which is primarily funded from the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and delegated to individual schools.  
 
Specialist Services 
 
Specialist Services overspent the £62.5m net expenditure budget by £2.6m after using 
£0.8m of one off reserves. The main variances within Specialist Services include: 
 
Looked After Children – Purchased Placements 
 

• A purchased placement is either an independent fostering placement, an external 
residential placement, a leaving care placement, or secure residential provision.  

 

• The Council (in line with other Local Authorities) is seeing an increased trend of 
Looked After Children requiring more complex purchased placements. 

 

There are several issues contributing to the increased cost of purchasing external 
placements: 

• A shortage of in house options including in-house foster carers; appropriate 
vacancies within in-house residential units; lack of in-house leaving care provision 
and no local secure provision. 

• An increase in the number of teenagers requiring placements and the reduction in 
the number of very young children being accommodated has led to a mismatch with 
current in-house foster carer approval level, skills and/or experience. 

• Some risks attract a higher cost package of care (e.g. Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE), Children going missing, violent aggressive behaviour and self harm amongst 
others. 

 

The overall impact of the above has resulted in a £3.0m overspend on the £5.6m purchased 
placement budget (Inclusive of Residential, Fostering, Leaving Care and Secure 
Placements). 
 
The table below provides a history on the overall number of placements and associated 
costs. 

PURCHASED PLACEMENTS  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 6,686 6,320 9,150 

Income £000s (104) - (592) 

Net Costs £000s 6,582 6,320 8,558 

Fostercare Purchased Nights  16,775 12,941 12,320 

Secure Residential Care Nights 443 289 770 

Residential Nights Purchased 14,125 13,156 17,829 

Leaving Care Supported Nights 1,641 3,204 3,899 

Total  32,984 29,590 34,818 

Cost per Purchased Fostercare Week £s 813 792 791 

Cost per Secure Residential Week £s 4,215 5,152 3,381 

Cost per Purchased Residential Care Week £s 2,037 2,226 2,421 

Cost per Leaving Care Supported Week £s 827 1,003 1,076 

             
 
 
 

Page 62



 

Allowances  
 

• The Allowances budget of £10.3m paid to carers (Special Guardians, Foster carers, 
Adoption carers)  overspent by £0.4m; £0.1m of this results from on-going 
consultation on Fostering Allowances that should not recur in 2016-17, the remaining 
£0.3m is an on-going pressure resulting from the increasing numbers of children 
receiving support (see table below).  

 

Type of Placement 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15    2015-16 

% 
Increase 

from 
2012-13 

Placed with Parents 90 82 84 86 -4% 

Placed for Adoption 39 53 63 38 -3% 

Friends and Families 201 189 218 206 2% 

Foster Parents 386 383 349 365 -5% 

Fostering Agencies 39 37 32 32 -18% 

Residential Care 60 70 68 63 5% 

Residential Care (Ext) 40 41 46 50 25% 

Other  * 34 32 37 34 0% 

Sub Total (Number of Looked After 
Children) 

889 886 897 874 -2% 

Residence Orders 78 81 65 69 -12% 

Adoption Orders 213 224 270 271 27% 

Special Guardianship Orders  122 157 240 277 127% 

Sub Total (Chd in Permanent 
Arrangements) 

413 462 575 617 49% 

Total Children Receiving Support 1,302 1,348 1,472 1,491 15% 

*Independent Living, Hospital, Mother and Baby and Youth Offending 
 

• The number of Looked After Children has reduced by 2% but the number of children 
receiving support has increased by 15% over the same period. There has been a 
reduction in the use of low cost fostering (both in-house and agency) and an increase 
in the use of high cost residential care (both in-house and purchased) due in part to 
the complexity of Care packages. 

 

• The Council has allocated an additional £1.5m as part of the 2016/17 budget to help 

mitigate the pressure on Purchased Placements and Allowances. 

 

• To mitigate the remaining pressure on Purchased Placements and Allowances the 

service plan to review the sufficiency and commissioning strategy; Re-commission 

block contracts for residential and fostering provision; review the care plans of all 

young people in purchased placements who can return internally or to an 

Independent Foster Agency placement, and increase the capacity of the In-House 

Fostering Service through training and recruitment. 

Care Management 
 

• The service overspent the £20.5m net expenditure budget by £0.2m as a result of 
agency staff required to cover vacancies; transport of Looked After Children and the 
cost of Leaving Care services. 
 

Page 63



 

• These additional demands on the service reflect an on-going pressure.   
 

• Use of agency staff has however helped ensure that a high % of Single Assessments 
have being undertaken within 45 days of referral. 

 

ASSESSMENTS  2015-16 

Number of Single Assessments 8,411 
Number of completed S47 investigations 2,354 

Avg no of work days to complete single assessment 21 

% of Single Assessments within 45 days of referral 95% 

 

• Separately the legal/court fees budget of £1.0m within Assessment and Care 
Management underspent by £0.3m mainly due to reductions in court fees payable by 
the Council. Court fees are reviewed annually so it is currently unclear if the saving 
will recur. 

 
• The Child Protection service overspent the £1.1m net expenditure budget by £0.1m 

due to an increase in staffing costs. 
 

• Children’s Residential Units overspent the £8.5m net expenditure budget by £0.3m 

on staffing cost £0.2m and premises cost £0.1m. 

• Children Shared Care service underspent the £1.0m net budget by £0.2m on 
staffing cost £0.1m and payments to carers £0.1m.  The Youth Offending Team 
underspent the £1.3m net budget by £0.2m. 

 
 

• Direct payments for children with disabilities were £0.1m below the £1.1m net 
expenditure budget as a result of reduction in carers entitled to Direct Payments. The 
new Personal Budgets framework was considered by the Executive in April 2016.  
 

• The Prevention and Support service underspent the £2.9m net expenditure budget 
by £0.3m mainly on the commissioning budget.  
 

Client Services (Building Schools for the Future - Private Finance Initiative plus 
Employment and Skills Service)  
 

• Client services underspent the £78.8m gross expenditure budget (including £52m of 
capital charges relating to school buildings) by £0.4m. The main variances to plan 
within Client Services include: 

 

• The Education, Employment and Training team overspent the £2.4m net 
expenditure budget by £0.1m due to shortfall in generating income from 
projects/contracts. The reconfiguration of the Skills for Work service should ensure 
that the shortfall does not recur in 2016-17. 
 

• The Employment and Skills service underspent the £1.3m net expenditure budget 
by £0.3m due to vacancies held in preparation for 2016-17 budget savings. 
 

• In June 2012 the Council’s Executive approved an Employment Investment 
Programme “Get Bradford Working” which represented £13.5m of investment from 
the Council and partners to provide employment opportunities by creating jobs, 
apprenticeship places, transformational curriculum for 14-19 year olds and a range of 
measures to support employers.  The programme has incurred £12.3m to date  and 
supported 2,146 individuals into employment. The programme consists of seven 
strands (Skills House – Bradford’s Retail Academy, Employment Opportunity Fund, 
Apprenticeship hub, Routes into Work, Industrial Centres of Excellence, Advanced 
Skills Fund and Step up to Business). 

Page 64



 

 

• Strategic Commissioning team underspent the £1.6m net expenditure budget by 
£0.1m due to staffing vacancies and a reduction in commissioning with the Early 
Help budget. 
 

• The Assistant Directors office underspent the £0.6m net expenditure budget by 
£0.1m due to one off savings on ICT software license costs and staffing budgets. 

.   

 
Access and Inclusion 
 

• Access and Inclusion underspent the £11m net expenditure budget (£27.3m gross 
expenditure budget) by £0.1m. The main variances within Access and Inclusion 
include: 

 

• The Diversity and Cohesion service overspent the £0.2m net expenditure budget 
(£1.2m gross budget) by £0.1m due to shortfall in income generation and a shortfall 
in achieving cross cutting savings in combining equalities functions across the 
Council. The reconfiguration of Children’s Services is planned to address the 
overspend. 

 
• The Health and Well Being Team overspent the £0.2m net expenditure budget by 

£0.1m due to the under achievement of traded income. The service will cease in 
2016-17 except for services funded via Public Health grant mitigating the overspend. 
 

• The Education Psychology service underspent the £0.9m net expenditure budget 
by £0.1m due to higher levels of school income than budgeted. Plans to transfer the 
service to an employee owned mutual in 2016-17 are being considered by the 
Executive. 
 

• The Special Education Needs (SEN) and Behaviour Support Services 
underspent by £0.2m due to staffing vacancies held in preparation for 2016-17 
budget savings. 

 
 

Education and School Improvement 
 

• Education and School improvement underspent the £36m gross expenditure budget 
by £0.5m. The main variances within Education and School Improvement include: 

 

• Children’s Centres overspent the £8.6m net expenditure budget by £0.2m due to 
delays in the implementation of the new Children Centre clusters. It is now expected 
that the final three external clusters will be established by August 2016. 

  

• The Curriculum ICT traded service is facing a £0.1m shortfall in income generation 
against the £0.1m net income budget.  The service also utilised £0.2m of “one off” 
reserves. Plans are being drawn up to ensure that the base budget pressure is 
addressed in 2016-17 

 

• Bradford Achievement Service (BAS) underspent the £1.8m net expenditure 
budget by £0.5m as a result of staffing underspends and deferred expenditure in 
preparation for 2016-17 savings. The BAS will move to a school led school 
improvement service in 2016-17. The service is requesting to carry forward £0.1m of 
the underspend into 2016-17 to cover deferred school improvement expenditure. 
 

• The Bradford Education and School Improvement Commissioning Board (BEICB) 
was established in September 2015 to provide a forum to ensure effective 
collaboration and joint accountability between the Local Authority, formal School 

Page 65



 

Partnerships, the School Forum and Teaching School Alliances within a self-
improving school led system. The board reflects the changing roles of schools 
and local authorities, providing a vehicle for the commissioning and accountability 
of effective support. It plays a key role in ensuring that the following principles are 
achieved: 
 

- Bradford is a school-led system 
- All schools need to be good or better 
- All schools need to belong to a formal partnership 

 

• The board has been allocated £1.246m Joint investment Fund from the Schools 
Forum plus £0.220m from the Local Authority for development of leadership and 
management. In 2015-16 funds have been allocated to: 
 

- leadership developments - for projects such as Newly Qualified 
Teachers induction funding; 

- ‘Centres of Good Practice for New Arrivals’ - 6 schools have been  
designated as Centres of Good Practice to provide a programme of 
support across the district– each school has received an initial 
allocation of £20,000 to commence this work; 

- Transition projects from Key Stage 2 to 3 
- Improving boys’ writing at KS1 and 2 

 
• Early Childhood Services underspent the £1.7m net expenditure budget by £0.3m 

due to vacancies held in advance of service reconfiguration in 2016-17. 
 

• The Pension Payment budget for former teachers and lecturers of £5.7m 
underspent by £0.1m in 2015-16 due to a reduction in claimants. 
 

 
Transport Assistance 
 

• Informed by extensive public consultation, the Executive in June 2015 approved a 
revised Travel Assistance Policy based on principles and guidance contained in a 
joint framework between Children’s and Adult’s services. There was £3.0m allocated 
as budget saving in 2015-16. Children’s and Adults services have been able to 
generate £1.2m of savings in 2015-16 hence there has been a £1.8m saving shortfall 
in 2015-16. The savings have been delivered by reducing the use of internal 
Passenger Transport Service (PTS) buses and savings on the contract for 
mainstream pupil bus contract. 

 

Directors Office 
 

• The Directors Office overspent the £0.2m net expenditure budget by £0.1m due to 
the budget saving of £0.15m linked to management efficiencies across the service 
not being delivered. New management arrangements from April 2016 will ensure that 
the saving is delivered in 2016-17.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

3.3 Environment and Sport   
 

2015-16 Financial Outturn 
 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Directors Office 0.3 0.2 - - - - 0.3 0.2 -

Environmental Health & Transport 16.0 14.8 -1.2 14.5 14.0 0.5 1.5 0.8 -0.7

Waste Collection & Disposal 32.8 32.7 -0.1 5.0 5.0 - 27.8 27.7 -0.1

Neighbourhoods & Street Scene 21.5 21.2 -0.3 5.9 7.4 -1.5 15.6 13.8 -1.8

Leisure & Culture Services 42.9 44.4 1.5 21.7 23.2 -1.5 21.2 21.2 -

Environment & Sport 113.4 113.3 -0.1 47.0 49.6 -2.5 66.4 63.8 -2.7

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 1430 11.44 (Mar 14) £2,959 11.1% (Jun 14) 8% 

Year end 2014-15 1477 11.36 (Mar 15) £3,028 11.9% 9% 

Year end 2015-16 1,679 11.16 (Mar 16) £3,214 13.4% 9.8% 

 
 
 

 
Environment and Sport - £113.4m gross budget / £66.4m net budget, £2.7m  
underspend. 
 
The main variances in Environment and Sport include: 

• A  £0.8m  overspend on the £16.3m Waste Disposal net budget as a result of 

residual tonnes not reducing as planned, and the underachievement of recyclate 

sales income due to contaminated batches reducing the value of paper sales.  

• The overspend in 2015-16 has been mitigated by underspends on kerbside Refuse 
and Recycling collection services (£0.5m) and higher levels of business in Trade 
Waste (£0.3m). The service is also implementing the Waste Minimisation Strategy to 
reduce tonnes of residual waste, and purchasing equipment to solve the issue of 
contaminated batches. 
 

• Sports Facilities overspent by £0.6m due to staffing cost overspends and income 
budget underachievement partly resulting from the continued trend of falling visitor 
numbers. 

 
The overspending areas highlighted above were however more that offset by underspends 
elsewhere in the department. Most notably £1.4m of higher than expected income for 
parking tickets and fines, and staffing underspends in Uniformed Services. 
 

 
 

Environment and Sport  
 
The department underspent the £66.4m net expenditure budget (£113.4m gross budget) by 
£2.7m, and delivered £4.0m of the £4.5m budget savings as planned. 
 

 Waste Services 
 

Page 67



 

• Waste services underspent the £27.8m net expenditure budget (£32.8m gross budget), 

by £0.1m. The underspend comprised of a £0.9m underspend on waste collection 

(inclusive of refuse, recycling, garden and trade waste collection) offset by a £0.8m 

overspend on waste disposal. 

Waste Disposal. 

• The service overspent the £16.3m net expenditure budget by £0.8m following an income 

shortfall against budget of £0.3m due to contaminated batches of saleable recyclates, 

and an overspend of £0.4m on disposal costs. 

• The budget provided for 145,000 tonnes of residual domestic waste, but final tonnage 

was 148,400, resulting in an overspend of £0.3m. Costs for the disposal of green waste, 

sweepings & wood also exceeded budget by £0.1m. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 17,313 17,326 17,429 

Income £000s (1,614) (1,652) (1,469) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 15,698 15,674 15,960 

Direct Non controllable costs* 434 2,315 1,079 

    

Waste Collected as Recycling (Tonnes) 000s 60.7 61.2 64.8 

Waste to Landfill or Alternative Treatment (Tonnes) 000s 146.0 145.4 148.4 

Total before Trade Waste 206.7 206.6 213.2 

Trade Waste tonnes 000s (funded by Trade Waste) 19.3 19.6 20.1 

Total Municipal Waste Disposed of (Tonnes) 226.0 226.2 233.3 
* Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash 

• The £0.4m budget saving for 2015-16 was therefore not delivered as planned. It was 

however mitigated by underspends elsewhere in Waste Services in year. 

• The issue of contaminated paper batches should be rectified by the end August 2016 

following the procurement of specialist equipment. The service has requested a better 

use of budget carry forward of £0.1m to cover the cost of equipment hire and employee 

costs. 

• Going forward, the overspend on disposal charges is planned to be mitigated by 

increased recycling resulting from the Waste Minimisation Programme. Most of the work 

to deliver bins, education & awareness in the Keighley area has been completed and 

efforts are now being concentrated on the Bradford area. 

• In addition to this adverse variance against budget, the 2016-17 disposal budget will be 

reduced by a further £0.3m (savings ref 3E1).  

• Indicatively, in order to meet the 2016-17 savings targets, tonnes of waste will need to 

reduce by approximately 3,800 tonnes in comparison to 2015-16 at current tonnage 

prices at a time when the  population and number of households is increasing. 

• A new 12 year Waste Disposal Contract is currently in procurement with an expected 

commencement date of October 2017. 

 

 

Page 68



 

Refuse Collection  

• The Domestic Refuse Collection Service underspent the net expenditure budget of 

£5.9m (£6.0m gross) by £0.4m due to lower transport/fuel costs of £0.26m and staffing 

costs of £0.17m due to vacancies held. 

• The tonnes of domestic waste collected were marginally less in 2015-16 and the net 

costs approximately £350k higher resulting in a higher cost per tonne. Costs were higher 

partly due to staff costs previously funded by a government grant being moved to refuse 

collection. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 5,016 4,567 4,878 

Income £000s (55) (177) (129) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 4,961 4,390 4,749 

Direct Non controllable costs £000s* 246 425 787 

    

Tonnes collected 130,070 130,072 129,702 

Gross Cost per Tonne collected £38.57 £35.11 £37.61 
*Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash. 

• Benchmarking data indicates that the Waste Collection service remains comparatively 

very low cost when compared to other Councils.  

• The service is continuing with weekly domestic refuse collections in 2016-17, but will 

change to fortnightly from April 2017, when significant savings are expected. 

Recycling Collection 

• Dry Recycling Collections underspent the net budget of £3.2m by £0.2m, largely due to 

lower than budgeted transport costs, particularly on fuel. 

• The service cost less and collected more in 2015-16 than in previous years delivering 

improved value for money.  

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 2,512 3,116 2,320 

Income £000s (1) (485) 3 

Direct Net Costs £000s 2,511 2,631 2,322 

Direct Non controllable costs £000s* 131 481 646 

    

Tonnes collected 15,982 17,291 17,977 

Gross Cost per Tonne incl DCLG grant £s 157 180 129 
*Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash. 

• The Waste minimisation project is aiming to increase recycling tonnes collected by a 
further 3,000 tonnes in 2016/17. 

 
Garden Waste Collection  

• The Garden Waste Collections Service balanced the net budget of £0.7m and cost 

approximately the same as in 14-15. The service collected 10,900 tonnes (15% more), 

delivering improved value for money.  

Page 69



 

Trade Waste 

• Trade Waste over achieved the net income budget of £0.1m (£2.7m gross) by £0.3m, as 

income received from collection contracts exceeded budget by £0.2m. The number of 

contracts has remained fairly stable over the last three years and income received to 

date in 2016-17 suggests that the client base has been maintained. 

• There were also more modest underspends on employees and disposal, resulting in an 

additional £0.1m. 

• Tonnes collected, total income, and net income was significantly improved in 2015/16 

indicating improved performance and value for money. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 2,552 2,827 2,630 

Income £000s (2,929) (2,872) (3,158) 

Direct Net Costs £000s (377) (46) (528) 

Direct Non controllable costs £000s 92 179 171 

    

Tonnes collected 19,284 19,589 20,106 

Net income per tonne -20 -2 -26 
*Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash. 

• Other areas of Waste Services (Bulks, Depots, and Waste Minimisation project) 

balanced their budgets. 

 

Neighbourhoods and Customer Services  
 

• Neighbourhoods & Customer Services underspent the £15.6m net expenditure budget 

(£21.5m gross budget) by £1.8m after delivering £2.4m of planned savings. The 

following services constitute Neighbourhoods and Customer Services. 

Uniformed Services 

• Uniformed Services receipted higher levels of penalty charge notices (PCNs) and 

parking charges than expected (£1.2m) and had £0.2m of staffing underspends. This 

resulted in a  £1.4m positive variance. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 3,890 3,720 3,487 

Income £000s (4,614) (5,058) (5,861) 

Direct Net Costs £000s (724) (1,338) (2,374) 

Direct non controllable costs £000s* 772 761 1,067 

    

Income Breakdown £000s    

   Parking Tickets  1,828 1,848 1,948 

  Contract Parking 115 117 142 

   Fix Penalty Fines  1,267 1,866 2,429 

   Parking Fines  1,359 1,182 1,271 

   Other Income   45 45 71 

TOTAL Income  4,614 5,058 5,861 

* Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash. 

Page 70



 

• Expected income for parking increased from £4.08m to £4.6m to match 2013-14 levels of 

income received. Income has however increased by £1.2m between 2013-14 and 2015-

16 which explains the year end variance in 2015-16. 

Income  2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Expected          (4.1)       (4.1)      (4.6) 

Outturn         (4,6)        (5.1)      ( 5.9) 

Variance        (0.5)        (1.0)        (1.3) 

* It should be noted that money received from parking and bus lanes is highly variable and   
subject to behaviour change (bus lanes) and city and town centre prosperity. 

 
 

Youth Services 

• The service underspent the £3m net expenditure budget (£3.1m gross budget) by £0.1m. 

The two main areas of underspend relate to higher than budgeted income, from 

premises lets, salary recharges and grants, and savings from vacancies. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 5,248 3,522 3,137 

Income £000s (298) (244) (237) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 4,950 3,278 2,900 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 354 1,030 256 

    

Attendees 6,120 5,706 4,644 

Attendances 75,222 58,087 56,595 

Gross Cost per attendance £69.77 £60.63 £55.43 

 

• The decrease in attendance numbers from 2014-15 to 2015-16 was due to service 

reductions. 

• However, proportionately, gross costs have reduced more than attendance numbers (-

10.93% for gross costs as compared with -2.57% for attendance), so gross costs per 

attendance have reduced. 

Customer Services – Face to Face 

• The service underspent the £1.5m net expenditure budget (£1.5m gross budget) by 

£0.2m, as a result of planned staffing savings, in advance of agreed budget reductions in 

2016-17.  

• These savings are predicated on a continued realignment of service provision towards 

telephony and automated self serve methods, and away from face to face contacts that 

typically require a higher level of staffing intervention.  

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 1,727 1,805 1,258 

Income £000s 0 0 0 

Direct Net Costs £000s 1,727 1,805 1,258 

    

Total Face to Face contacts 000s 229 175 128 

Gross cost per contact £7.54 £10.32 £9.83 

 

Page 71



 

Customer Services – Telephony  

• The service underspent the £1.8m net expenditure budget by £0.1m, again, as a result of 

savings on employee costs.  

• Gross costs have increased from 2014-15 to 2015-16 due to the staff realignments from 

Face to Face. The increase in calls answered further confirms the shift from Face to 

Face contact to a more automated, remote service provision, evidencing the success of 

the Customer & Citizen strategy approach. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 1,595 1,330 1,717 

Income £000s 0  (40) 0 

Direct Net Costs £000s 1,595 1,290 1,724 

    

Calls Answered 000s 504 555 601 

Calls Offered 000s 672 726 799 

% Answered  75% 76% 75% 

Gross Cost per Call answered £3.16 £2.39 £2.86 

Number of Self Service Enquiries 000s - 27 74 

 

Safer & Stronger  

• The Safer & Stronger service underspent the £1.9m net expenditure budget (£3.0m 

gross budget) by £0.1m due to held vacancies and higher than budgeted income, 

particularly from grant received from West Yorkshire Police. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 1,815 2,743 2,888 

Income £000s (342) (442) (1,102) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 1,472 2,301 1,786 

    

Population 000s 525 527 528 

Spend per population £3.46 £5.20 £5.47 

 
 
Neighbourhood Services  

• Neighbourhood Services balanced the net budget of £1.4m. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 1,218 1,424 1,387 

Income £000s (2) (4) (4) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 1,216 1,419 1,383 

    

Population 000s 525 527 528 

Gross Spend Per Head of Population 2.32 2.70 2.63 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



 

Street Cleaning 

• The service overspent the £4.2m net expenditure budget (£4.4m gross budget) by 

£0.1m. due to the purchase of 47 solar, waste compacting litter bins that were trialled in 

the Shipley area. The purchase will result in bins requiring less emptying, allowing 

Operatives to be deployed to more areas of need. 

• This is of particular relevance as resources are stretched; there are currently 30 

vacancies in Street Cleansing. Thirteen of these vacancies are on hold pending 

decisions regarding the 2015-16 savings proposal (ref E4) to reduce working hours, 

which has not yet been implemented due to on-going consultation. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 5,416 5,050 4,489 

Income £000s (214) (240) (162) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 5,202 4,810 4,327 

    

Spend per population £10.32 £9.58 £8.50 

Level of street cleanliness (Street failing) 10.7% 8.0% 12.0% 

 
 
Sports & Leisure Services  and Culture  
 

• Sports&Leisure Services & Culture overspent the £15.1m net expenditure budget by 

£0.1m after delivering £1.4m of planned savings. This is a movement of £0.3m from the 

£0.2m underspend reported at the end of the 3rd quarter.   

• The service has received a rates rebate for Sports Facilities and Museums totalling 

£0.3m and a request has been submitted to transfer to reserves to provide funding to 

help cover the cost of replacing sports facilities equipment and museum site 

development in future years. 

 

Sports Facilities 

• The service overspent the £2.6m net expenditure budget by £0.6m (gross budget 

£7.6m). Total attendances have steadily dropped from 1,986k in 2010-11. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 8,086 7,767 7,759 

Income £000s (4,341) (4,435) (4,555) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 3,745 3,332 3,204 

Direct non controllable costs* £000s 1,986 3,205 4,722 

    

Total Attendances 000s 1,907 1,893 1,822 

    

Gross Managed Cost per attendance £4.24 £4.10 £4.26 

Income Per Attendance  -£2.28 -£2.34 -£2.50 
*Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash. 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

• £0.5m of the overspend was due to Staff costs being higher than the budget as outlined 

in table below 

Employee Cost £000s   
2013-14 

 
2014-15  

 
2015-16 

  

2015-16 
Outturn 
Budget 

Variance 
  

2016-17 
Baseline 

Budget 
 

15-16 
Outturn 

16-17 
Budget 

Variance 
 

Total   4,713 4,631 4,766   466   4,267 421 
 

• The Service saw a reduction in employee costs of £0.1m in 2014-15 with costs then 

rising by a comparable amount in 2015/16. The introduction of the Integrated Working 

Project has resulted in the cost of permanent staff increasing by £0.3m offset by a £0.2m 

reduction in the use of casual staff. 

• Additionally, the service underachieved the £4.8m income budget by £0.2m partly 

resulting from reduced visitor numbers. 

Visitor Numbers at Facilities Showing 
Significant Movement 

2013-14  2014-15  2015-16 
Change 

over 
period 

Marley & Other Sport P 118 97 88 -30 

Eccleshill Pool 197 171 170 -27 

Ilkley Pool 164 149 140 -25 

Bingley Pool 102 89 84 -17 

Nab Wood Sports Centre 66 62 53 -13 

Tong Sports Centre 81 81 71 -10 

Keighley Leisure Centre 262 264 253 -9 

Other 917 980 963 46 

Total 1,907 1,893 1,822 -85 

 

• Although income levels did increase by £120k to £4,555k in comparison to 2014-15, this 

was due to grant income received for Tour de France and Nab Wood Sports Centre. 

When this is adjusted for, the level of income dropped by £46k compared to the previous 

year impacted by falling attendances. 

• The underachievement of income could result in a financial pressure in 2016-17. 

• The Sports Facilities Investment plan is progressing and design consultants have been 

appointed. The site for the City Pool has been acquired, and demolition of the existing 

building on the site has been completed. 

 

Bereavement Services   

• The service over achieved the net income budget by £0.2m and administered 143 more 

burials & cremations than in 2014-15.  

• The majority of the overachievement has been achieved through the managed reduction 

of the bad debt provision and efficiency’s achieved in grounds maintenance and 

equipment purchase. 

Page 74



 

• The Cremators are however nearing the end of their useful lives, and will require 

replacement in the near term at significant capital cost. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 1,706 1,832 1,808 

Income £000s (2,839) (2,961) (3,008) 

Direct Net Costs £000s (1,133) (1,129) (1,201) 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 72 (24) 95 

    

Burials   1,221 1,183 1,205 

Cremations 2,820 2,871 2,992 

Burials and Cremations administered 4,041 4,054 4,197 

 

Libraries Service 

• Libraries underspent the net expenditure budget of £3.8m (£3.8m gross) by £0.1m. This 

was largely due to a 2014-15 bad debt provision not being required. 

• The service cost less in 2015-16 than in previous years and catered for fewer visitors 

than 2014-15. Visitor numbers were however impacted by the closure of the Shipley 

Library (one of our busiest libraries with 284,000 visits per year) for 8 months in 2015-16 

for major refurbishment.  

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 4,773 4,298 3,804 

Income £000s (362) (251) (144) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 4,410 4,047 3,660 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 1,519 (80) (95) 

    

Books and Media Loans  000s 1,284 1,171 1,078 

Number of New Borrowers  000s 17 16 13 

Number of Visits 000s 1,393 1,485 1,394 
*Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash. 

• 2015-16 budgets were reduced by £0.35m but off-set by £0.15m transitional funding. 

Transitional funding will also be applied to 2016-17 budgets, to ease with the progression 

and delivery of changes to service provision. 

• During 2016-17, the service will continue to transfer some libraries to community 

management. 

Museums 

• Museums & Galleries underspent the £2.2m net expenditure budget (£2.6m gross) by 

£0.1m. This was due to staffing and supplies and services underspends and an 

overachievement of income. 

• The service continues to attract external funding, primarily from Arts Council England 

Museums Resilience Fund, which aims to enable museums to become more resilient & 

sustainable businesses. 

• The service delivered several exhibitions & events during 2015-16, including World War 

1 commemorations (on-going), the Rothenstein art exhibition and Christmas market. 

Visitor numbers are however lower due in part to the closure of Manor House 

Page 75



 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 2,533 2,664 2,507 

Income £000s (281) (383) (320) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 2,253 2,280 2,187 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 415 211 814 

 
Visitors 000s 

   

Bolling Hall 22 25 24 

Cartwright Hall 46 58 48 

Cliffe Castle  55 59 53 

Manor House 17 14  

Industrial Museum 51 54 60 

Bradford 1 Gallery* 18   

TOTAL  210 210 185 

Art in the Park 28 47 28 

TOTAL incl Art in the Park 238 257 213 

 Direct net cost per visit   £9.47 £8.87 £10.27 

*Relocated to Cartwright Hall in 13/14 

Theatres  

• Theatres balanced the £1.1m net expenditure budget (£8.1m gross) including meeting 

targeted savings of £16k. 

• The service delivered a number of successful shows & productions including Dirty 

Dancing, Shrek, and the pantomime, Jack & the Beanstalk.  

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 8,499 11,407 10,805 

Income £000s (7,709) (10,555) (9,741) 

Direct Net Costs £000s 789 852 1,064 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 346 355 (1,558) 

    

Alhambra Ticket Sales 000s 236 290 269 

St Georges Hall Ticket Sales 75 85 77 

Total Ticket Sales  314 378 350 

Gross Managed Cost per ticket £27.09 £30.15 £30.86 

Income per ticket -£24.57 -£27.90 -£27.82 

Net Managed subsidy per ticket  £2.52 £2.25 £3.04 
*Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash. 

• Although attendances were not as high as the previous year which had a number of 

blockbuster shows, efforts were made to maximise income through programme deals 

and auxiliary sales. 

• In 2016-17 St Georges Hall will be closed for a major refurbishment following a 

successful bid to the Heritage Lottery fund. 

• The Alhambra will host a number of shows including Billy Elliot, Wicked and Mary 

Poppins amongst others in 2016-17. 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

Markets 

• The Markets Service continues to perform well regarding unit occupancy levels and 

quality of service; the service won the award for best wholesale market in the UK in 

2015. There are however pressures resulting from a national trend of changing shopping 

habits and increased choice for consumers.  

• In addition, the closure of the Morrisons store on Westgate (that is adjacent to the 

Oastler Centre) at the beginning of April 2016 is starting to impact on footfall and trader 

confidence. This has resulted in traders submitting a petition for the Council to reduce 

current rental levels.  

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 1,985 1,788 1,799 

Income £000s (2,870) (2,806) (2,838) 

Direct Net Costs £000s (885) (1,018) (1,039) 

Direct non controllable costs £000s (341) 189 845 

    

Indoor units occupied % 88% 89% 86% 

Wholesale units occupied % 83% 83% 88% 

Outdoor units occupied %  50% 45% 49% 

Visitor Numbers 000s 6,693 5,788 5,829 

Website visits 000s 146 87 68 

.  

Strategic Support and Projects 

• The service underspent the £0.9m net expenditure budget (£1.1m gross) by £0.2m, due 

to spend that was deferred to 2016-17. A better use of budget request to carry the 

budget forward to 2016-17 to fund grants to the National Media Museum, Impressions 

Gallery and Bradford Carnival has been submitted (see section 2.1). 

• The service is managing a number of projects attached to external funding including a 

Creative Employment Scheme for apprenticeships/interns and an Arts in Communities 

programme. Both of these received funding from the Creative & Culture Skills Council, 

Arts Council England and Dept for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).  

• The Arts in Communities programme was hindered through a delay from DCLG with 

regards to confirmation of funding for year two and will complete this year.  

 

Environmental Health and Fleet Services  
 

• Environmental Health and Fleet Services underspent the £1.5m net expenditure budget 

(£16.0m gross budget) by £0.7m. The following services constitute Environmental Health 

and Fleet. 

Environmental Health  
 

• Environmental health underspent the £0.9m net expenditure budget by £0.3m due to 

£0.2m of staff cost due to vacancies, and dog warden veterinary fees, kennel costs and 

Gypsy site facility costs (£0.1m). 

• Volumes in requests and interventions have reduced following the transfer of Pest 

Control and Environmental Enforcement to Neighbourhoods and Customer Services at 

Q4.  The budget will transfer from 1st April 2016. 

Page 77



 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs incl Public Health recharge £000s 2,162 2,127 2,089 

Income £000s* (409) (1,449) (1,411) 

Net Costs £000s 1,753 679 679 

 Direct non controllable costs £000s 117 290  192  

    

EH Service requests  21,370 22,146 19,787 

EH proactive interventions  4,943 5,640 4,389 

Number of Interventions 26,313 27,786 24,176 

% satisfied with service 88% 82% 78% 

% business inspections satisfied  95% 97% 96% 

     *Includes recharge to Public Health of £1,037k in each of 14/15 and 15/16 

• There was a reduction in satisfaction with service delivery expressed by persons making 

complaints to the Service across the year, but this had improved to  84% for the last 

quarter of the year. 

• Satisfaction with proactive services, such as food hygiene, animal health and health and 

safety premises inspections was 96%, despite many inspections resulting in enforcement 

activity by inspecting officers. 

• The Food Team, supported by the Food Standards Agency, investigated a significant 

case of food fraud, attracting national recognition for their efforts in its cessation and 

subsequent legal proceedings. 

• Most of the service will transfer to Public Health in 2016-17, with Pest Control and 

Environmental Enforcement transferring to Neighbourhood & Customer Services. 

Fleet Services  
 

• Fleet services underspent the net income budget of £0.6m (gross budget £8m) by 

£0.2m. Further reductions in the cost of petrol combined with a reducing fleet explain the 

main underspends and trend analysis with the Fleet Service.  

• The number of Fleet jobs created has decreased as a result of a reduction in the size of 

the Council fleet and new vehicles requiring less work, and the service is performing well 

against benchmarks 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 8,167 7,526 6,671 

Income £000s (8,784) (8,454) (7,498) 

Net Costs £000s (617) (928) (827) 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 94 92 184 

    

Number of work orders created within 24 hours  14,838 13,505 

% of jobs completed within 24 hours  87% 88% 

Total number of vehicles sent for testing  155 160 

% MOT passed  95% 96% 

Benchmark comparator pass rate  89% 91% 

Cost of Fuel Issued £000s 2,235 2,359 1,950 

 

 

Adult Social Care Transport – Contracted Taxis 
 

• The Adult Social Care Taxi Transport Service has balanced the £0.2m net budget (gross 

budget £1m).  

Page 78



 

• The number of client journeys has reduced as a result of reductions in demand following 

review and re-routing. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 1,140 975 998 

Income £000s (1,053) (822) (814) 

Net Costs £000s 87 152 184 

Direct non controllable costs  90 87 79 

        

Adult - Number of client journeys 0 107,944 89,609 

Avg number of clients transported per day 0 212 178 

Avg gross cost per journey 0 12.1 14.2 

 

 

SEN Children & Adults Core In House Minibus Transport Service 
 

• The service balanced the £0.1m net income budget. All costs are transferred to 

Children’s and Adults; therefore a nil variance is expected.  Gross costs have reduced by 

£1m from 2014-15 to 2015-16.     

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs adding back Children’s charge 4,509 4,170 3,170 

Income including charge to Childrens £000s (2,194) (2,219) (1,918) 

Net Costs £000s 340 9 (148) 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 241 527 383 

        

Children - client journeys per qtr. - 194,834 153,874 

Children - Client numbers - 474 397 

Adult - client journeys per qtr.  - 221,640 215,576 

Adult - Client numbers - 440 421 

Total Client journeys   416,474 369,450 

Total Client numbers   914 818 

Avg gross cost per journey   9.74 9.77 

 

 

• Whilst savings have been achieved by moving clients between Core and contracted 

transport (outsourced), cost is only one consideration, client location, needs and vehicle 

occupancy are also factored into the final decision. 

 

SEN Children’s Taxi Transport - Contracted  
 

• The SEN Children’s transport service balanced the £0.1m net income budget. All taxi 

charges are transferred to Children’s via a recharge.  

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs Adding Back Children's charge £000s 5,556 5,442 5,651 

Income £000s (745) (790) (881) 

Net Costs £000s (70) (61) (106) 

Direct non controllable costs £000s 45 60 93 

       

SEN Children Transported per year 0 928 920 

Number of days  0 193 187 

Children - Ext Contracted No. of Client Journeys 0 343,906 340,552 

 

 

Page 79



 

3.4 Regeneration 
 
2015-16 Financial Outturn 
 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Strategic Directors Office 0.2 0.3 0.1 - - - 0.2 0.3 0.1

Economic Development 9.1 7.9 -1.2 1.5 1.5 - 7.6 6.4 -1.2

Climate, Housing & Property 73.2 72.8 -0.3 41.6 41.8 -0.3 31.6 31.0 -0.6

Planning, Transportation & Highways 33.9 34.6 0.8 6.3 6.8 -0.5 27.6 27.9 0.3

Regeneration 116.4 115.7 -0.7 49.4 50.1 -0.7 67.0 65.6 -1.4

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 1810 10.39 (Mar 14) £1,536 13.8% (Jun 14) 9% 

Year end 2014-15 1790 10.8 (Mar 15) £1,594 14.0% 5.6% 

Year end 2015-16 1,517 11.61 (Mar 16) £1,459 13.3% 12.2% 

 

 

 
Regeneration - £116.4m gross budget / £67.0m net budget, £1.4m underspend. 
 
 
The main variances in Regeneration include: 

• £0.8m unused funds in 2015-16 on Economic Development Services resulting from 

the timing of high value projects including Perseverance Mill, the Tyrls and Odeon 

plus European grant funded enterprise activity. Budget is planned to be carried 

forward to 2016-17.  

• £0.4m net overspend resulting from the underachievement of trading income in 

Industrial Services Group due to loss of contracts. 

• £0.3m underachievement of Building Control fee income due to reducing numbers of 

inspections, partly offset by a £0.1m underspend on the cost base. The service is 

planning to mitigate the net overspend through cost reduction and shared services 

The outturn represents a £0.3m improvement since quarter 3, after less spend than 

expected materialised on the Local Plan and winter maintenance after a mild winter.  

 

 
 

Regeneration 
 
The department underspent the £67m net expenditure budget (£116.4m gross budget) by 
£1.4m, and delivered £4.0m of the £4.2m budget savings as planned. 
 

Economic Development 

Economic Development Services underspent the £7.6m net expenditure budget (£9.1m 

gross budget) by £1.2m. Some Projects (see below) with a longer lead in time require £0.6m 

of spend to be deferred.  Of the £0.9m savings EDS were targeted to achieve all were 

delivered, however transitional funding (£0.2m) means that reform is taking place across 

2015-16 into 2016-17. 

Page 80



 

Economic Development Services - Programmes 

• EDS are responsible for large scale initiatives supporting the local economy. Among 
these are the City Centre Growth Zone and participation in business growth schemes 
supported by European Structural Investment Funds. £17.6 million of Regional 
Growth Fund money was secured to deliver the City Centre Growth Zone matched 
with £17.5million of Council resource.  Investment over the last three years has 
brought about significant physical improvements to the City Centre and has 
incentivised private sector investment.   
 

• To date outputs include 518 new jobs created (435 FTEs), 217 businesses 
supported, and over 70 vacant City Centre properties brought back in to use. 2015-
16 saw the completion of the two major European Regional Development Fund 
funded programmes delivering Enterprise Support to businesses across the District.  
The final outputs delivered cumulatively by the two programmes included the creation 
of 660 new jobs and assistance to 550 Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs). 
 

• Deferred spend for European Structural Investment Funding (ESIF) is requested to 
cover local projects which are following Central Government and Leeds City Region 
calls for projects. Schemes proposed for Economic Development within Bradford will 
concentrate on Enterprise Support for high Growth Businesses. 
 

• In 2015-16 EDS received an additional budget of £250k for City Park events bringing 
the total cost of planned events to £625k. The service is leading on development of a 
sponsorship strategy, and the feasibility of promoting City Park as a commercial 
space.  Plans are also underway to develop an on-line booking system, which will 
save on officer time.  In addition a brochure/portfolio promoting the space will be 
developed.   
 

Economic Development Services – Delivery 

• The year saw the completion of the Broadway Shopping Centre. This £260m 
investment is now 93% let and has been the catalyst for other investment in the City 
Centre including the adjoining Xchange and the proposed cinema and leisure 
scheme by Meyer Bergman. Other developments led by the service have also 
progressed including One City Park where the demolition of the former Tyrls Police 
Station and construction of a temporary garden was completed and a funding 
agreement for an initial allocation of funds for One City Park from the Combined 
Authority signed in February 2016. 
 

• Elsewhere in the District the first units on the Baildon Technology Park were 
completed and occupied with advanced engineering companies such as Produmax, 
and Anetic Aid relocating from Leeds. 
 

• In addition to businesses supported through the City Growth Zone outlined above, 
the Service worked with a further 752 businesses. This led to the creation of 360 
jobs, safeguarded 94 jobs and over £19 million investment in the District. 
A successful yes vote for the establishment of a Business Improvement District in 

Keighley was achieved. 

An upcoming task for the EDS Delivery team is to prepare projects for inclusion in the 

third round of Regional Local Growth Fund investments.  

• EDS have submitted better use of budget requests linked to Superfast Broadband, 

European Regional Development Funds and Events outlined in previously in Table 2. 

 
 
 

Page 81



 

Climate Housing and Property 

Climate Housing and Property Services underspent the £30.9m net expenditure budget 

(£73.2m gross budget) by £0.6m. The following services constitute Climate, Housing and 

Property. 

Housing Operations 
 

• The service underspent the £1.3m net expenditure budget by £0.1m due to increased 

demand for the Council’s agency service for the delivery of adaptations for disabled 

people.  There was also a small underspend on staffing costs from one vacancy.  

• The second half of the year has seen an exceptional increase in requests for service 
from the Housing Standards team which deals with the enforcement of housing 
standards in the private rented sector (PRS) (up by 11.8% from the same period last 
year and 16.8% on 2013/14).  This increase in demand is likely to reflect the 
increasing size of the PRS and the high incidence of poor standards in the sector. 

• Demand for major adaptations (Disabled Facilities Grants) to enable disabled people 
to continue to live independently resulted in the highest level of completions (276). 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

No of Long Term Empty Homes in the district 3,953 3,942 4,154 

Number of service requests - Empty Homes 645 486 303 

Number of service requests - Housing Standards  1,324 1,320 1,491 

No of Housing Standards inspections 857 849 1,161 

Disabled Facilities Grants Cumulative £000s 2,468 2,746 3,288 

Number of Disabled Facilities Grants enquiries 357 489 602 

Number of Disabled Facilities Grants completed 186 236 276 

 

Housing Development  

• The service balanced the net £3.6m revenue budget. The work of both the Empty 
Homes and Housing Development and Enabling teams contributes towards the 
Council’s New Homes Bonus (NHB) which will result in a NHB payment of £11.1m in 
for 2016-17.  

• During 2015-16, the detailed designs for the Council’s next affordable housing 
schemes have been in development.  Subject to the required consents, these will 
result in a further 139 affordable homes to rent in addition to the existing 176 homes.   

• The Clergy House/Jermyn Court scheme to deliver additional temporary 
accommodation for homeless people is on site with a completion date of Autumn 
2016. The Housing service was successful in attracting in excess of £2m Homes and 
Communities Agency through the Care and Support and Platform for Change 
programmes. 

• The Housing service is responsible for delivering financial assistance with flood 
resilience measures to residents affected by the recent floods.  780 homes were 
affected and the team are working closely with those affected, other Council 
departments and other agencies to provide assistance through grants of up to £5,000 
per property.  

Utilities/Energy Unit.  

• The overall energy account underspent the £5.4m net expenditure budget by £0.3m 
and the service continues to focus on reducing energy consumption.  

Page 82



 

 

• The Energy Unit requests a better use of budget (section 2.1) to invest in continuing 
water billing & efficiency work which yielded circa £50k water cost rebate at year end   

Industrial Services Group, 

• The service overspent the £0.3m net expenditure budget by £0.4m as a result of 

underachieved sales.  

• The impact of the loss of a major customer following competitive tender, combined 

with another large customer having financial difficulties, led to a sharp reduction in 

sales and a resulting pressure. 

• The second half of the year has been characterised by improvements in sales within 

both businesses. The window and door business has now partnered with a new 

construction customer, and having recently successfully completed a contract in 

Luton, a contract with the same customer has been secured in Leeming Bar to be 

completed in the 2016-17.  

• In addition, Festival Lights have secured three new contracts in Calderdale, 

Coventry, and Scarborough in 2015 and these will be retained in 2016, increasing 

sales levels. 

• The forward order book in windows and doors for 2016-17 is 20% higher than in the 

previous year at £1.1m - almost to the total level of sales in 2015-16 - and includes a 

larger proportion of higher margin refurbishment works. 

Facilities Management (including School Catering, Architects, Building and Technical 

Services, Admin Buildings, School Cleaning, Building Cleaning, Residential Home Catering 

and Other Catering) final outturn improved since Q4 by £0.1m to 0.6m. 

• School Catering was £0.4m over its targeted surplus with meal numbers up 400,000 

year on year with resulting income increases. This was linked to the full year effect of 

universal infant free school meals. 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Costs £000s 13,599 14,911 16,654 

Income £000s (14,381) (16,095) (17,568) 

Direct Net Costs £000s (782) (1,184) (914) 

Direct Non Controllable Costs £000s* 352 395 642 

Number of Meals 000s 5,282 6,093 6,476 

Other activity - e.g. Breakfast clubs meals 000s 138 161 179 

Take up of school lunches 58% 67% 69% 
Primary school children’s satisfaction with school 
meals 73% 74% 72% 

Direct Gross cost per meal YTD £2.51 £2.38 £2.50 

Income per meal  -£2.65 -£2.57 -£2.64 

Direct profit per meal -£0.14 -£0.19 -£0.14 

*Non controllable costs include capital charges and pension adjustments that are typically outside of the 

control of the service and are non cash 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Electric 000 KwH- (Non Street Lighting)  19 22 17 

Gas 000 KwH 50 45 48 

Total Gas & electric 000 KwH 69 67 65 

Page 83



 

• Admin Buildings underspent the £13.2m net expenditure budget by £0.2m primarily 

due to one off net savings from adjustments in rateable values. 

• In 2015-16 Margaret Macmillan Tower (former Central Library) became operational, 

enabling the co-location of Children’s Services and the vacation of the leased  Future 

house  (see also Property Programme 4.10) 

• The number of occupants was lower; the size of the admin estate was bigger and the 

cost per occupant was higher in 2015-16. This however was planned and results 

from a limited period of dual running of Future House and the new Margaret 

Macmillan Tower. 

  13/14 14/15 15/16 

Occupants 3,509 3,468 3,221 

Workstations 3,419 3,419 3,919 

GIA m2 of Admin Buildings 68,312 67,557 77,219 

Cost per Occupant per year £ 1,270 1,269 1,430 

Occupancy rate 100% 101% 82% 

 

• 2016-17 will see the decommissioning of Future House and Jacobs Well reducing the 

size of the Admin Building estate from 77,000m2 to approximately 55,000m2 gross 

internal area. The decommissioning will result in higher occupancy rates and a 

financial saving of approximately £2.0m per year from 2017-18 onwards. 

• Other Facilities Management services including Building Cleaning, School Cleaning 

and Residential Home Catering and Other Catering, saw relatively minor differences 

compared to budget although Other Catering, despite reporting an improved position 

as the year progressed, was over budget by £0.1m linked to an overall downturn in 

trade in recent years.   

• Building & Technical Services & Architects succeeded in both achieving planned 

savings and meeting their combined revenue budget with the value of capital work at 

£11m out of £15m representing approximately 70% of the workload. 

• The Council’s Estate is both significantly smaller and in a significantly better state of 

repair than previous years as a result of the work undertaken by Building and 

Technical Services and the Property Programme.  

 

Backlog Maintenance 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Operational £ms     77.7      68.4      55.2      50.1      50.3      48.7  

Non Operational £ms     10.8      10.8      10.8        9.2        4.6        7.4  

Total Backlog Maintenance £ms     88.4      79.1      66.0      59.3      54.9      56.1  

       

Of which Priority 1 £ms     61.8      53.8      43.3      31.1      27.8      26.2  

P1 as proportion of total  70% 68% 66% 52% 51% 47% 

       

Size of Estate        

Operational GIAm2 000s      285       268       252       248       248       223  

Non-Operational GIAm2 000s        26         26         26         26         23         37  

Total      312       295       278       274       271       260  

*Excludes Schools and Investment Estate.  

Page 84



 

 

• The increase in the Non operational estate size and backlog maintenance 

requirement in 2015-16 is due to reclassification of asset and is not a cause for 

concern. The direction of travel remains a reducing estate with lower backlog 

maintenance 

• Estates Management – The service underspent the £4.0m net expenditure budget 

by £0.2m. Rents paid via Public Health for occupation of Shipley Town Hall, together 

with salaries from vacant posts, increased the overall favourable balance. Due to the 

retendering of the service based at the Town Hall there is no guarantee that we will 

continue to receive rent from Public Health; as such this income should be regarded 

as a windfall for 2015/16. Similarly, it is intended that vacant posts will be filled during 

2016/17 to help with a review of commercial and non-commercial leases, and the 

transition to a smaller estate. 

 

Planning Transportation and Highways  

Planning Transport and Highways overspent the £27.6m net expenditure budget by £0.3m 

mainly due to shortfalls in fee income for Building Control and Planning Fees. PTH Outturn 

results represent a further improvement since Q3 (from £0.6m to £0.3m), as fee income 

wasn’t as low as forecast, and less expenditure was incurred on the Local Plan and winter 

maintenance after a mild winter. Despite this the costs of maintaining the road network 

overran by £0.6m, this was however alleviated by higher permit receipts (£0.3m).   

• Policy/Local Development Framework; Policy/LDF leads on the delivery of the 

Local Plan for the District and underspent by £0.3m in 15-16 due to delays in the 

examination process, however this will be completed in 16-17  

• Significant progress has been made with submission of three other documents for 

examination (Area Action Plans for Bradford City centre and Shipley and canal Road 

Corridor, and Waste plan). Progress towards adoption of these documents in 16-17 

will need on-going financial support with major progress anticipated on Allocations in 

order to put in place a Draft plan for 2017 ready for submission. 

• Building Control Services underachieved the £1.3m Building Control Fees budget 

by £0.3m; this represented an improvement to 14-15 and it is expected to further 

improve in 16-17. Additional income streams will be sought when the joint service 

with Kirklees is established in the 3rd Quarter. Key to a balanced budget will however 

be a significant reduction in the cost base as market share of fees remain unlikely to 

significantly recover in the medium term. The Council’s expertise in dealing with 

dangerous structures and sports grounds safety is required round the clock. A 

number of major incidents were attended to in 15-16 including fires at Drummond 

Mill, Prospect Mill and Thornton Mills. 

• Development Services overspent the net £0.4m budget by £0.1m. The service 

collected £1.9m of Planning Fees in 15-16, the same as 14-15. Additional income 

opportunities are expected to materialise in 16-17 with the introduction of fees for 

High Hedge complaints and Street Naming and Numbering. The cost base for the 

service is being restructured in 16-17 and is expected to rebalance the service 

budget 

 

Page 85



 

• Planning and Building Control Activity  

 2014-15  2015-16  
Planning applications 
BC Inspections 
BC Enforcements         

3,198 
5,235 

260 

3,158 
6,650 

194 
 

• Highways Asset Management including Street Lighting overspent the £22.6m 

budget by £0.6m, this included £0.2m higher than planned for costs of street lighting 

utilities costs although this was offset by lower staffing costs in the year across wider 

function.  

• Highways Delivery Unit overspent the £1.1m budget by £0.3m although there were 

one off savings from Winter Maintenance due to a mild winter, savings in Trunk Road 

maintenance also helped to alleviate the pressure overall. The Boxing Day Floods in 

2015 added additional pressures to existing budgets as expenditure incurred was not 

eligible for government funding under the Bellwin scheme, however the Department 

has received £2.5m in Capital Grant for Local Highway Flood Damage. In terms of 

routine work, fewer potholes were repaired however capital expenditure on surfacing 

work was maintained providing for a more durable network 

• Highways Delivery and Highways Asset Management Activity  

 2014-15  2015-16 

Capital Spend 
Potholes repaired 
Cat 1 Repair Jobs 

£2.9m 
12,463 

284 

£4.6m 
11,633 

305 

   
 

• Highways services commenced work on the Challenge Fund schemes in conjunction 

with Kirklees MDC in 15-16. This is a three year Capital Funded Grant for the 

maintenance of Highway Structures of which Bradford’s share is £3.63m 

• Transport Development underspent its £0.7m net budget by £0.3m. 2015-16 saw 

the introduction of the NRAWSA permit scheme which achieved £0.2m income within 

its first year and increased income from prolonged occupation of highways (Section 

74 charges). Despite a challenging climate for front line highways services, 

Transportation Development officers are leading on the delivery of major highways 

projects that form part of a regional vision to improve local infrastructure. A number of 

projects (Hard Ings Road, Harrogate New Line and the Station Gateways), all in 

partnership with the Combined Authority, are reaching key staging posts in their 

delivery.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 

3.5 Public Health 
 
2015-16 Financial 
Outturn

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Public Health Leadership 1.6 1.4 -0.2 -0.4 -0.7 -0.4 1.2 0.6 -0.6

Information & Intelligence 0.3 0.2 -0.1 - - - 0.3 0.2 -0.1

Nutrition, Obesity & Phsical Activity 2.3 2.0 -0.2 - -0.0 -0.0 2.3 2.0 -0.2

Drugs Misuse 13.1 13.1 0.0 -0.8 -0.8 -0.0 12.4 12.4 -0.0

Alcohol Misuse 0.5 0.5 -0.0 - - - 0.5 0.5 -0.0

Tobacco 2.1 1.7 -0.4 -0.8 -0.8 0.0 1.3 1.0 -0.4

Dental Public Health 0.8 0.6 -0.2 - - - 0.8 0.6 -0.2

Children 5-19 4.0 3.9 -0.2 - -0.0 -0.0 4.0 3.9 -0.2

Health Checks 0.2 0.2 0.0 - - - 0.2 0.2 0.0

General Healthcare Projects - - - - - - - - -

Sexual Health 6.0 5.3 -0.7 -0.3 -0.3 -0.0 5.7 5.0 -0.8

Emergency Preparedness - - - - - - - - -

Premises becthe respons 0.1 0.1 -0.0 - - - 0.1 0.1 -0.0

Running Costs 0.5 0.6 0.1 - - - 0.5 0.6 0.1

Health Protection 1.4 1.4 0.0 - -0.0 -0.0 1.4 1.4 0.0

Wider Determination 4.6 4.5 -0.1 - -0.0 -0.0 4.6 4.4 -0.1

Children's Service (0-5 Year Olds) 6.1 6.0 -0.1 - - - 6.1 6.0 -0.1

Public Health Transition - - - - - - - - -

Public Health Grant Funding 0.4 0.4 - -41.6 -39.1 2.6 -41.3 -38.7 2.6

Public Health 44.0 41.9 -2.1 -43.8 -41.8 2.1 0.1 0.1 -0.0

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 59 10.27 (Mar 14) £1 45.1% (Jun 14) 21% 

Year end 2014-15 61 11.22 (Mar 15) £0.3 46.9% 14.1% 

Year end 2015-16 53 10.17 (Mar 16) £0.3 33.5% 11.9% 

* New Department transferred into the Council 1 April 2013 
 

 

 

Public Health - £44.0m gross budget / £0.1m net budget, £0.0m underspend 

 
• The main variances include underspends on Sexual Health services (£0.8m) and 

Tobacco cessation services (£0.4m). The  underspends are linked to managed 
contract savings in response to the £2.6m in year Public Health grant cut imposed by 
Government. In year reductions of £2.6m have been met through realignment of the 
procurement plan, one off vacancy savings and non recurrent funding from NHSE.   

 

• As reported at quarter 3, further reductions to the Public Health grant have been 
confirmed by the Department of Health, and will be phased in over the next 4 years; 
this additional reduction of £4.3m is expected between 2016-17 and 2019-20. 

 
 

 
 

Public Health 
 
The main variances to plan within Public Health included  
 
Sexual Health  
 

• The service underspent the £5.7m net expenditure budget by £0.8m.  
Page 87



 

 

• The main underspends are as a result of decommissioned Voluntary and Community 
Sector contracts, reduced spend in laboratory costs, change in contractual 
arrangements with NHSE regarding HIV costs, and property costs. It also includes 
income from the sexual health clinical services for 25% of out of authority activity 
recharged to other Local Authorities. 
 

• The majority of Sexual Health Services were re-commissioned in 2015-16. 
 
Tobacco Services 
 

• The Tobacco service underspent the £1.3m net budget by £380k.  The under spend 
of £380k within Tobacco programme is largely due to £240k savings on prescribe 
stop smoking medication; £23k under spend on commissioned GP and Dental 
providers. Additional savings of £121k is a released provision for dispensing fees.  

 
Drug and Alcohol Misuse 
 

• The service balanced the combined £12.9m net expenditure budget. 
 

• The main performance measure for drug treatment is the ‘successful completions 
without re-presentation to treatment within 6 months of discharge.  Approximately 
5.4% of Opiate Users’ had successful completions in Bradford compared to 6.8% 
nationally and this continues to be an area of concern, a high proportion of the 
£12.9m drugs and alcohol misuse budget is spent on the treatment of opiate users. 

 
 

 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

All opiate users in treatment  2,641 2,581 2,492 

% of clients completing and not re-presenting within 6 months 6.3% 6.1% 5.4% 

National  7.8% 7.6% 6.8% 

 
 

• The Bradford & District Care NHS Foundation Trust  services are subject to 
performance monitoring review as these services are directly affecting District 
performance. This will result in reduced funding allocation in 2016-17.  

 

• The second performance measure relates to Non Opiates and this is ‘Number of 
completions without re-presentation to treatment within 6 months of discharge - Non 
Opiates’ and is currently 38.5% which is below the 43% district target but above the 
37.3% reported nationally.    

 
 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

All Non opiate users in treatment  724 769 814 

% of clients completing and not re-presenting within 6 months 38.4% 40.1% 38.5% 

National 37.8% 39.0% 37.3% 

 
 

• The whole system is the subject of a re-commission and this performance was 
highlighted as one of the factors for change. It is anticipated that a completely new 
system will commence in October 2017. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

3.6   Chief Executive 
 
2015-16 Financial Outturn 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Chief Executive Core Office 0.6 0.6 0.0 -0.0 -0.0 - 0.6 0.6 0.0

Political Offices 0.3 0.2 -0.0 - - - 0.3 0.2 -0.0

Public Affairs 1.6 1.4 -0.2 -0.1 -0.1 -0.0 1.5 1.3 -0.2

Policy Programme 3.0 2.8 -0.2 - -0.0 -0.0 3.0 2.8 -0.2

Chief Executive 5.5 5.1 -0.4 -0.1 -0.1 -0.0 5.4 4.9 -0.4

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
 
People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative

) 
True manager cost as 

% Total salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 142 6.99 (Mar 14) £1 22.5% (Incl WYPF Jun 14) 9% 

Year end 2014-15 119 9.33 (Mar 15) £0.8 26.1% ((Incl WYPF) 4.4% 

Year end 2015-16 97 6.66 (Mar 16) £0.1 26.1% 4.9% 

 
 

 

Chief Executives - £5.5m gross budget / £5.4m net budget, £0.4m  underspend 
 

• The Chief Executive’s Office including Policy, Programmes & Change (PPC)  
underspent the £4.7m net expenditure budget (£4.9m gross budget) by £0.3m. This 
is primarily through an under spend on employees in Public Affairs and Policy 
Programmes and Change as a prudent approach to staffing is being taken in 
anticipation of a need to achieve further efficiencies in 2016-17.  

 

 

• The Chief Executive’s Office including Policy, Programmes & Change (PPC) 
underspent the £5.4m net expenditure budget (£5.5m gross budget) by £0.4m. This 
is primarily due to an under spend on employees in Public Affairs and Policy, 
Programmes and Change as a prudent approach to staffing is being taken in 
anticipation of a need to achieve further efficiencies in 2016-17.  

 

• Additionally substantial savings targets of £1.1m are on track to be delivered as the 
service completes its transition to a lower cost base.   

 

• The service has submitted a better use of budget request to help the service 
transition to a lower cost base in 2016-17. 

 
 

3.7  City Solicitor 
 
2015-16 Financial Outturn 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

City Solicitor's Office 0.4 0.4 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 -0.0 0.3 0.3 -0.0

Democratic 6.0 5.8 -0.2 -1.9 -1.6 0.3 4.1 4.2 0.1

Legal 2.5 2.4 -0.1 -0.2 -0.2 -0.0 2.4 2.3 -0.1

Legal & Democratic 8.9 8.7 -0.3 -2.2 -1.9 0.2 6.8 6.7 -0.1

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 

Page 89



 

People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 113 8.92 (Mar 14) £21 20.8% (Jun 14) 8% 

Year end 2014-15 106 12.24 (Mar 15) £14 22.2% 7.9% 

Year end 2015-16 99 9.23 (Mar 16) £32 15.4% 10.0% 

 
 

• The City Solicitor underspent the £6.8m net budget and delivered £0.3m of budget 
savings in 2015-16. 

 
 

3.8  Finance 
 
2015-16 Financial Outturn 

 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Director of Finance 0.3 0.2 -0.0 -0.0 - 0.0 0.3 0.2 -0.0

Financial Services 2.9 3.0 0.1 -0.2 -0.2 -0.0 2.7 2.8 0.1

Revenues & Benefits 189.1 188.1 -1.0 -183.7 -182.6 1.1 5.4 5.5 0.1

Information & Customer Services 18.7 18.5 -0.1 -1.4 -1.3 0.1 17.3 17.2 -0.0

Commissioning & Procurement 2.2 1.8 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 0.0 1.9 1.6 -0.3

Finance Directorate 213.1 211.8 -1.3 -185.5 -184.4 1.1 27.6 27.4 -0.2

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
 
People  

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 557 8.92 (Mar 14) £377 20.9% (Jun 14) 8% 

Year end 2014-15 571 9.56 (Mar 15) £201 19.7% 8.5% 

Year end 2015-16 572 8.33 (Mar 16) £257 18.7% 16.1% 

 
 
 

 

Dept of Finance including Revenues and Benefits - £213.1m gross budget /, £27.6m 
budget, £0.2m underspend 
 

• Net spending was £0.2m below the £27.6m budget, reflecting a favourable variance 

in Commissioning & Procurement of £0.3m, offsetting small pressures in Financial 

Services and Revenues and Benefits. Budgeted savings of £1.9m were achieved.  

Within the overall result, significant financial risks were dealt with.  

• The £0.2m surplus is after posting a provision in Revenues and Benefits, to reduce 

the level of outstanding debt and associated balances created over several years, 

relating to salaries paid by the Council in respect of school-based staff.  

• An extensive review has concluded that, while discussions between the payroll 

service and individual schools continue, it is not certain that schools will reimburse 

the Council for the expenditure incurred, given the age of and uncertainty of some of 

the debt.  Accordingly, a provision to the value of £1m has been included.  

 

 

Page 90



 

 
Financial Services 
 

• Financial Services ended the year overspending the £2.7m net expenditure budget 
by £0.1m  

 

• Structural changes required to achieve the £0.4m allocated savings have been put in 
place although an implementation time lag resulted in a small in year overspend on 
salaries.  

 

• Further opportunities for joint working partnerships are being explored building upon 
the existing positive relationship with Wakefield Council. 

 
ICT Services 
 

• The ICT Service underspent the £17.3m net budget by £0.05m and achieved its 
15/16 savings target of £0.8m.  
 

• IT Services spend reduced from £24m in 2014/15 to £17m in 2015/16 as a result of 

the 10 year contract with IBM/Serco ending in September 2015 with the Council 

reverting to an In House operation.    

 

• Expenditure per user has fallen significantly since the end of the contract and is 

planned to fall further 

 

  2014/15 201516 Planned 16/17 

Gross spend per user per year £ 3,403 2,515 2,430 

Net Spend per user per year £ 3,176 2,378 2,200 

 

 

• £4.9m - in the 2015/16 budget for payments to the erstwhile contractor for planned 
upgrade and maintenance – has been set aside in reserves, as funding to pay, 
equivalently, for future investment and maintenance in systems and hardware. 

 

• The service goes into 2016/17 with unfilled vacancies of some £0.4m. Further work 
on restructuring and re-profiling the service in line with the future need of the Council 
is underway, with salary cost reductions to the value of £0.2m are planned. 
 

• The service has implemented this year’s programme of technology developments & 
system improvements including the new desk top solution on over 1,000 new 
devices. A framework has also been put in place to ensure achievement of a further 
£5.95m of savings in 2016-17 as compared to the original contract cost.  

  
Revenues & Benefits 
 

• Revenues & Benefits ended the year with a £0.1m deficit. In day-to-day operations, 
they achieved a surplus of £0.9m, against a £4.5m net budget. As noted above, the 
aggregate position was affected by an exceptional £1m provision relating to school-
based staff paybill balances 

 

• £0.4m budget savings were achieved, although they included some compensating 
savings being made to offset those originally targeted reductions that turned out not 
be achievable, especially in recovering charges for late payment of tax.  Such 
recovery remains a challenge due to the financial circumstances of some debtors. 
 

Page 91



 

• In respect of activity levels, the value of council tax collected in year rose by 4%, 
£6.7m from £166m to £173m, while the number of business rates bills issued rose by 
3.8%, from 17,900 to 18,600. 
 

• Employee costs were £0.5m underspent, arising from less overtime, fewer agency 
staff, and vacancies. A £0.5m surplus on the net benefits payments budget reflects 
continued improvement in the performance in collecting overpaid housing benefit and 
an on-going benefit the Council has from backdated reductions in entitlement to 
Council Tax Benefits.  

 

• Forecasting reliably during the year the net benefit payment budget remains difficult - 
a near £185m turnover, volatility in claimant circumstances and debt levels, 
combined with the increasing practical difficulty of collecting from debtors under 
financial stress, all make precise forecasting hard. 
 

• Additional administrative costs associated with migrating to Universal Credit, 
projected at £0.5m, will now, due to delays in the DWP’s roll out programme, be 
incurred from 2016-17 onwards. The associated funding has been reserved, in 
respect of grant funding received in 2015-16 for new burdens, plus a request made to 
carry forward £0.1m. 

 
Commissioning and Procurement 
 

• The Commissioning and Procurement Service underspent the £1.9m net 
expenditure budget by £0.3m, primarily from filling vacant posts pending a service 
review, and in year savings through renegotiation of contracts.  
 

• The gross cost of the service per £’000 of 3rd party spend has fallen from £4.43 in 
13/14 to £4.13 in 14/15 and to £3.54 – evidence of the cost efficiency of the service. 
Set against this, there is still scope for improvement in the maturity and efficacy of 
Council-wide procurement habits and practice, which forms the centre-piece of the 
Service’s operating plan for 2016/17. Further savings to the value of £192k are 
required in the 2016-17 budget.   

 
 

3.9  Human Resources 
 
2015-16 Financial Outturn 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

HR Functions 5.4 5.1 -0.3 -0.3 -0.5 -0.2 5.1 4.6 -0.5

Single Status -0.0 0.0 0.0 - - - -0.0 0.0 0.0

Corporate Projects 0.1 0.1 -0.0 - -0.0 -0.0 0.1 0.1 -0.0

Miscellaneous Income - 0.0 0.0 -0.0 -0.1 -0.0 -0.0 -0.1 -0.0

Traded HR Functions 1.4 1.3 -0.1 -1.6 -1.5 0.1 -0.2 -0.3 -0.0

Administration 3.0 2.8 -0.2 -0.1 -0.1 -0.0 2.8 2.6 -0.2

Human Resources 9.9 9.3 -0.6 -2.1 -2.2 -0.1 7.8 7.0 -0.8

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
People employed 

 FTE 

Sickness Rate 
(days lost per 

employee) 

Overtime 
spend £000 
(cumulative) 

True manager 
cost as % Total 

salary cost 
Vacancy 

Rate 

Year end 2013-14 551 10.93 (Mar 14) £20 13.9% (Jun 14) 8% 

Year end 2014-15 214 11.14 (Mar 15) £2 20.8% 6% 

Year end 2015-16 191 7.79 (Mar 16) £7 21.9% 9.5% 

 

 

Page 92



 

• Human Resources (HR) underspent the £7.8m net expenditure budget by £0.8m 
which is in addition to £0.4m of savings applied to it in 2015-16 which are being 
reported as being achieved.  

 

• Approximately half the under spend is in employee costs within the core Human 
Resources & Administration functions due to vacancy control pending the completion 
of the restructure and the decentralisation of Transactional Support staff.  The other 
half of the under spend is from one off savings and income generation within 
Workforce Development. The projections also allow for work on Council priority 
programmes such as New Deal & Learner Management System being funded in 
2015-16 via prior year underspends. 

 

• HR plan to submit a better use of budget request for £0.2m to help cover the 
transition to a lower cost base in 2016-17. 

 
3.10 Property Programme 
 
2015-16 Financial Outturn 

 
 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Property Programme 1.4 1.3 -0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 1.3 1.3 -

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 

• The Property Programme balanced the £1.3m net expenditure budget. 
 

• In 2015-16 the Programme continued work on the City Centre Property Utilisation 
Project that is now nearing completion.  
 

• The Project was initially approved £15.8m to relocate the library service to City Park; 
undertake a major refurbishment of the former Central Library building to office 
accommodation, and purchase and undertake a major refurbishment of the 
neighbouring Mercury House (now Sir Henry Mitchell House).  
 

• The aims of the project were to  

• Enable the vacation of 2 large out of town office building (Future house and 
Flockton House saving £1.5m gross per year). 

• Reduce backlog maintenance requirements by £5m from the major renewal of 
the former Central Library building and the demolition of Flockton House 

• Accommodate many Children’s Services on one location in line with Ofsted 
recommendations 

• To relocate the library to a fit for purpose building on City Park that was formerly 
underutilised as the Bradford 1 Gallery (relocated to Cartwright Hall). The 
Bradford 1 Gallery previously had approx. 33k visitors per year, where the new 
City Library has approx. 214k visitor per year (32k more visitors than in 2014-15). 

• City Centre regeneration through the renewal of two major buildings that were 
previously dilapidated (Former Central Library and the neighbouring Mercury 
House), and the relocation of 1,000 staff aiding City Centre footfall. 

 

• The project has ended up costing £14.5m and in addition to the benefits outlined 
above, has also subsequently enabled the vacation of other Council office 
accommodation including the Aire Building Shipley. 
 

• The Programme is also in the process of relocating Council Staff from the Jacobs 
Well office, with the majority of staff relocating to Argus Chambers and space created 
within Britannia House.  

 

Page 93



 

• Other work on the horizon includes 
o The Depots strategy which is seeking to consolidate Council depot operations 

on to freehold land on Bowling Back Lane, enabling the disposal of 
Shearbridge and Harris Street depots.  

o The proposed Keighley Hub, which is planned to be a Public Sector hub 
shared by the Council and other Public Services. The scheme is still at the 
planning stage, and will only progress if appropriate lease terms can be 
agreed with other Public Bodies. 

 

• The Programme has submitted a better use of budget request for £0.1m to help fund 
costs associated with the vacation of Jacobs Well in 2016-17. 

 
 

3.11  Non Service Budgets 
 
2015-16 Financial Outturn 

 

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Outturn

£m

Variance

£m

External Audit 0.5 0.3 -0.1 - - - 0.5 0.3 0.1

Interest & Investments - 0.1 0.1 -1.3 -1.8 -0.6 -1.3 -1.8 -0.7

Joint Committees 1.2 1.1 -0.1 -0.0 -0.0 0.0 1.2 1.1 -0.0

Levys 0.2 0.2 -0.0 - - - 0.2 0.2 -0.0

Miscellaneous 0.3 -0.4 -0.7 - -0.1 -0.1 0.3 -0.5 -0.8

Parish Councils 0.0 0.2 0.2 - -0.2 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Non Recurring Investment 0.3 0.2 -0.1 - 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2 -0.1

Non Service 2.5 1.7 -0.8 -1.3 -2.1 -0.9 1.3 -0.4 -1.6

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 

• Non Service budget underspent by £1.6m, mostly due to the overachievement of 
interest earned, and £0.4m  of deferred income  for Flood Hardship grants (shown 
within Miscellaneous). The remaining funding from government for Flood Hardship  
will be available for 2016-17. 

 
 

3.12  Central Budgets 
 

• Central budgets and transfers to reserves include non service  expenditure relating to 
capital financing costs £50.1m, the West Yorkshire Passenger Transport Authority 
Levy £23.9m along with general grants (New Homes Bonus £9.6m).  
 

• Year end technical accounting entries relating to  charges made to services for 
depreciation, amortisation, technical pension adjustments, capital grants, Finance 
Lease costs relating to Private Finance Initiative Schools and revaluation losses are 
also included. 

 

• Overall Central Budgets and Net Transfers to reserves shows an overall deficit 
against budget of £5.5m. 

 

• The overspend comprises an additional £6.7m to fund a provision for redundancy 
costs associated with future budget plans. Further, £2.7m of costs were transferred 
to the Better Use of Budgets reserve to fund deferred expenditure in 2016-17.  
Additionally there were technical accounting adjustments for gains and losses on 
disposal of fixed assets. 

 

• These charges were partly funded by a £6.5m underspend on capital financing costs 
and £1.4m of net budget contingencies were not used in 2015-16. There was also a 
£0.8m saving on miscellaneous budgets, including some amounts set aside for 
inflation which were not required. In addition, there was £0.4m of additional general 
grant income, mostly relating to Business Rates grants.  

 

Page 94



 

 
4.0 BALANCE SHEET  

  
4.1  Revenue Reserves 
 

• At 31st March 2016 unallocated reserves stand at £19.9m inclusive of the £0.8m 
Council underspend. The 2016-17 budget assumes £6.2m will be used to leave a 
forecasted unallocated balance of just £13.8m at 31 March 2017. 

 

• The balance continues to be seen as potentially inadequate by both the Council’s 
Section 151 Officer and the Council’s External Auditors given Governments fiscal 
policies that will reduce Council net spending from £400m in 2015-16 to £300m by 
2021. 

 

• Net movements from reserves have led to a £16.3m reduction in total reserves from 
£184m at 1 April 2015 to £167.7m at 31st March (£133.9m Council and £33.8m 
schools). The £16.3m net releases from reserves include: 

 
o £18.7 m of net releases from reserves outlined previous qtr. reports. 

o £2.3m of net additions to reserves since 29th Feb: 

 

• The main releases to and from reserves are outlined below. 
 
Releases from reserves include 
-£4.6m to support School Delegated Budget (see School Reserves) 
-£3.6m from PFI Credits reserve to meet liabilities. 
-£1.4m from Employment Opportunity Fund 
-£1.0m from Routes to Work  

 
Additions to reserves include 

 +£3.9m movement to Transition and risk reserve to help cover cost of 
redundancies and other risks in future years. 

  +£3.2m Care Act – Remaining funding to cover hourly rate increases in 16-17 
  +£2.8m Better use of budget requests (table 2) 
  +£1.7m transfer to Grant Reserves relating to deferred spend of grant. 
  +£0.8m General Fund surplus 
   
Appendices 1&2 outline all Council and schools reserves including movements in year. 
 
4.2  General Fund balance 
 

• The General Fund balance is a statutory requirement which provides a contingency 
against unforeseen events. At 31 March 2016 the General Fund balance remains at 
£10.8m and within the Council’s policy of 2.5% of the net budget requirement. 

 
4.3 School Reserves  

 

• The table below shows that School Reserves (including Schools Contingencies) 
position as at 31st of March 2016. At the end of the 2014-15 financial year, the 
school reserve balance was £38.4m. The table below provides the current position 
on school balances. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 95



 

Balance 1
st

 April 
2015 

Balance 31
st

 
March 2016 

Forecast 
Movement 

 

Nos £000 Nos £000 Nos £000 

Nursery 7 866 7 634 0 232 
Primary 137 13,281 137 13,193 0 88 
Secondary 15 4,303 13 3,307 0 996 
Special 6 773 6 693 0 80 
Pupil Referral Units (PRU) 7 1,841 7 1,041 0 800 

Total 172 21,064 170 18,868 0 2,196 

School Contingency  16,693  14,091 0 2,602 
City Learning Centres/Other  598  844 0 (246) 
Total 172 38,355 172 33,803  4,552 

 

• There were six schools (Midland Road Nursery, Stocks Lane Primary, Hanson 
School, The Holy Family Catholic school, St Bede’s & St Joseph’s College, Oastler 
School) that have a combined deficit of £1.2m in 2015-16. 

 

• Two schools (Belle Vue Boys and Immanuel College) converted to Academy status 
in 2015-16. In setting the 2016-17 school’s budget, the Schools Forum has utilised 
£9.6m balance on School Contingencies. 

 
4.4 Provisions 
 

• At the 31st March 2016, the Council set aside £22.7m, of which £9.4m is expected to 
be used in 2016-17 with the remainder in subsequent years. Provisions are £2.7m 
higher than at the 2014-15 year end. 
 
The main provisions include: 

£8.4m Termination Provision to fund the cost of future redundancies 
  £6.0m Business Rates appeal provision 

£4.0m Outstanding legal claims 
£3.9m Damage Compensation 

 
4.5 Long Term Assets 
 

At 31 March 2016, the Council had long term assets of £1.149bn consisting almost 
entirely of land and buildings 

 
4.6      Other Significant Balances 
 

• At 31 March 2016, the Council’s net worth (the total value of its financial assets less 
the value of its outstanding liabilities) decreased by £25.6m, resulting in a negative 
net worth of £42.1m.  

 
 2014-15 £ms 2015-16£ms 
Revenue and Capital -218.0 -202.3 
Unusable (non cash)   234.5 244.4 
Total Reserves (net worth)     16.5    42.1 
 
 
4.7  Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Rates and the Collection Fund 
(Council Tax and Business Rates) 

 
Council Tax 

 

• The Council Tax element of the Collection Fund ended the year £3.1m in surplus, of 
which 85% (£2.6m) belongs to the Council.  

 

• The overachievement of Council tax income compared to the budgeted figure is due 

Page 96



 

to a higher number of new properties being billed and a lower than forecast cost in 
the current year of providing Council Tax Reduction support.  
 

• The total amount collected and in year collection rates are as outlined. 
 

 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Council Tax (incl surplus/ deficit) £ms -146.56 -152.10 -161.95 

In year collection rates* 94.18% 94.24%  

 
Business rates 
 

• The Business Rates retention scheme provides for Business Rates collected by 
Bradford Council to be shared between itself, central government and the West 
Yorkshire Integrated Fire Authority. Any difference between what the Council forecast 
it would raise in Business Rates in 2015-16 (£68.513m) and what it has actually 
raised results in either a surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund, 

 

• A deficit of £21.2m was outturned, in line with the forecast in January 2016. 
Bradford’s share (49%) of this deficit was £10.4m. 

 

• A reason for the deficit was the impact of appeals. Successful appeals require the 
Council to refund business in 2015-16 and in many cases prior years. There was a 
high cost of refunds because: 

 

• Refunds due to rateable value reductions on GP surgeries backdated to prior 
years 

• Refunds on other rateable value reductions 
 

• This deficit on the Business Rates Collection Fund was fully forecast when  the 2016-
17 budget was set. As a result, the deficit has already been budgeted for. 

 

• The total amount collected and in year collection rates are as outlined. 
 

 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

Business Rates (incl surplus/deficit) -64.3 -68.72 -63.69 

In year collection rate 97.94% 96.94%  

 
  
5.  CAPITAL  INVESTMENT PLAN 
  
5.1  Capital Spend 
 

• During the year the Council made a total capital investment of £70.6m in the district. 
This was £4.3m less than the forecast budget of £74.9m. The capital investment 
included the completion of Margaret Macmillan Tower, three new affordable 
schemes, the new Forster Academy School and the redevelopment of Clergy House 
to provide temporary accommodation for homeless families. In addition £6.6m was 
provided for regeneration through the City Centre Growth Zone and the former Tyrls 
site cleared to enable regeneration. 

 

• Costs of £0.2m were incurred over the past three years on two schemes that have 
not been brought into use. These are the Saltaire Hydro scheme (£0.1m) and the 
design and feasibility work on the proposed Saltaire Extra/Intermediate Care 
development at Queens Road, Saltaire (£0.1m). Accounting standards do not allow 
for these costs to be capitalised and the costs have to be charged to revenue. This 
leaves a net spend position of £70.4m. 

 

Page 97



 

 

Services 
Forecast 

Budget 
£m 

Outturn 
£m 

Variance 
£m 

Adult & Community Services 0.6 0.7 0.1 

Children's' Services 24.7 24.0 -0.7 

Public Health 0.4 0.4 0.0 

Environment & Sports 3.6 3.0 -0.6 

Property & Economic Development 17.9 17.5 -0.4 

Regen - Climate, Housing, Employment & Skills 11.5 10.9 -0.6 

Regen - Planning 1.1 0.7 -0.4 

Total - Regen - Highways & Transport 15.1 13.4 -1.7 

 74.9 70.6 -4.3 

Less Abortive Costs Saltaire Hydro & 
Extra/Intermediate Care devt 

 -0.2 -0.2 

TOTAL - All Services 74.9 70.4 -4.5 

 
5.2  Analysis of Spend by Type of Expenditure 
 

• The Table below shows an analysis of the capital expenditure by the type of 
expenditure. This shows the main variance relates to expenditure on the 
maintenance of the Council’s own assets, in the main relating to the maintenance of 
schools and reflecting the intention to redirect some of that resource to increase 
school capacity. 

 
Budget  

Actual  
Spend 

Variance 

 Budget Spend Variance 

 £m £m £m 

Maintenance of Council Fixed Assets 36.5 34.0 2.5 

Invest to Save 2.1 2.1 - 

New Build or Acquisition 8.2 8.0 0.2 

Schools Capacity 12,2 11.6 0.6 

Regeneration 10.6 9.3 1.3 

Grants to Third Parties 5.3 5.4 -0.1 

 Total 74.9 70.4 4.5 

 
5.3  Funding of Capital Investment Plan 
 

• In year the total net capital expenditure of £70.4m was funded from a variety of 
sources, shown in the table below: 

 

Sources of funding  

 £m 

Capital Grants and Contributions 40.0 

Direct Revenue Funding 6.7 

Capital Receipts 5.1 

Prudential Borrowing 18.0 

PFI and Other Finance Lease 0.6 

Total  resources used to fund capital spend 70.4 

 
5.4  Capital Grants and Contributions 
 

• The Council had a balance of £38.4m in unused capital grants and contributions at 
the beginning of the year. A further £39.3m was received in year.  Of this £38.9m 
was used to fund capital expenditure on the Council’s own assets and a further 
£1.1m was used to fund expenditure on assets owned by third parties. This leaves a 

Page 98



 

closing balance of £37.7m. 
 

Capital grants and contributions  

 £m 

Balance B/fwd at 1.4.2015 38.4 
Capital grants received in year 39 3 

Repayment of Grant       - 
Applied to fund spend on Property Plant & Equipment -38.9 

Applied to fund REFCUS1
     -1.1 

   

Balance C/fwd 31.3.2016 37.7 
 
5.5 Capital Receipts 
 

• The Council received £8.2m of receipts from the disposal of assets and repayment of 
loans. £5.1m was applied to fund capital expenditure on the Council’s own assets. 
The remaining £4.9m relates to the repayment of loans and grants under schemes 
that require the reuse of those repayments for similar schemes as the original loan or 
grant and to schemes that have generated capital receipts that will be used to fund 
that scheme in the following year. 

 
Capital receipts  

 £m 

Balance B/fwd at 1.4.2014 1.8 
Capital receipts  received in year 8.2 
Applied to fund spend on Property Plant & Equipment -5.1 
Balance C/fwd 31.3.2015 4.9 

 
5.6  Direct Revenue Funding 
 

• The Council used £6.7m of its revenue budget to directly fund capital expenditure. 
The most significant contribution was the £3.4m from school own funds to fund 
capital improvements. 
 

5.7  Prudential Borrowing and Prudential indicators 
 

• The £18.0m of capital spend funded from additional borrowing (including finance 
lease) has been offset by a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) of £32.0m to pay off 
debt. There is therefore a net decrease in the notional debt owed of £14m reducing 
the Capital Financing Requirement from £679.3 to £665.7m.  

 

• In accordance with ‘The Prudential Code for Capital Finance’ the Council monitors 
performance against a range of prudential indicators set as part of the budget 
process.  There are no concerns currently in relation to prudential indicators.  
In particular: 
 

• Borrowing was within the authorised limit and operational boundary throughout 
2015-16. 

• Net external borrowing is below the capital financing requirement. 
 
 

      

 

                                            
1
 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under statute, is revenue expenditure where the 

Secretary of State has given specific approval for it to be funded using capital financing. 

Page 99



 

 

6. WORKFORCE 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 

Capital Outturn 2015-16       ANNEX 1 

  
Scheme 
No 

Scheme Description 

 Budget Outturn Variance 

    £'000 £'000 £'000 

Adult  & Community Services    

CS0008 HIV Capital Grant 78 71 -7 

CS0237 Great Places to Grow Old - Adult Residential Strategy 
10 9 -1 

CS0239 Community Capacity Grant 210 205 -5 

CS0257 
BACES Mattresses – purchase of mattresses rather than 
leasing 32 30 -2 

CS0275 Bfd Dementia Friendly Environment Pilot 2 0 -2 

CS0312 Integrated IT system - new scheme 250 336 86 

CS0326 Single Gateway to Housing Support  50 0 -50 

     

Total - Adult & Community Services 632 651 19 

     

Children's Services    

CS0012 Schools Access Initiative 2 2 0 

CS0022 Devolved Formula Capital 1,979 1,579 -400 

CS0025 Childrens Home Residential Provision 100 86 -14 

CS0030 Capital Improvement Work 65 53 -12 

CS0042 Primary Capital Programme 73 11 -62 

CS0181 SEBD School (ESB) 7 6 -1 

CS0227 Designated Specialist Provision at Grange/ Southfield 
11 7 -4 

CS0231 C&I School (Conversion of Thorn Park) 3 2 -1 

CS0240 Capital Maintenance Grant 5,438 5,773 335 

CS0244 Primary Schools Expansion Programme  8,000 7,336 -664 

CS0249 Schools DRF 4,100 3,411 -689 

CS0256 2yr old Nursery Educ Expansion Programme 840 932 92 

CS0278 Targeted Basic Needs 3,325 3,349 24 

CS0286 Outdoor Learning Centres 435 513 78 

CS0297 Universal Free School Meals - Kitchen 117 113 -4 

CS0314 Foster Homes Adaptation 1 0 -1 

CS0316 Tracks Educational provision 180 227 47 

CS0321 Spencer Rd Rec Ground Lighting Sch 30 30 0 

CS0322 Horton Park Primary Open Spaces 31 18 -13 

CS0330 Innovation Centre Notebooks 23 24 1 

CS0338 Ingleborough Hall Gateway 3 0 -3 

CS0341 Nursery at High Park Special School 0 61 61 

CS0072 School Finance Leases 0 504 504 

     

Total - Children's' Services 24,763 24,037 -726 

     

Public Health    

CS0315 Bridge Enterprise, Train and Devel Cte 350 350 0 

     

Total - City Solicitor 350 350 0 

     

Environment & Sports    

CS0060 
Replacement of Vehicles (funded by prudential borrowing 
with revenue funding identified by service dept) 

1,700 1,657 -43 

CS0066 Ward Investment Fund 42 7 -35 

Page 101



 

CS0090 Landfill Restoration Sugden End  41 1 -40 

CS0107 Markets   143 66 -77 

CS0121 Roberts Park 55 3 -53 

CS0129 Scholemoor Project 83 0 -83 

CS0130 Gilpin Street Recreation Ground 0 7 7 

CS0151 Building Safer Communities Capital Proj 42 0 -42 

CS0162 Capital Projects - Recreation 491 474 -17 

CS0187 Comm Sports Field & Facilities 53 0 -53 

CS0229 Cliffe Castle Restoration 0 146 146 

CS0242 War Memorial 9 4 -5 

CS0245 Doe Park 223 29 -194 

CS0247 Replace Box Office Equipment 2 2 0 

CS0259 Gypsy & Traveller Site Improvement 0 -10 -10 

CS0274 Bradford Enhanced Recycling Collection Bid 28 26 -2 

CS0283 Above Ground Fuel Storage 60 -5 -65 

CS0284 City Centre Sports Facility 65 55 -10 

CS0320 5 x Non Turf Cricket Pitches 47 49 2 

CS0324 Waste Minimisation Strategy 124 177 53 

CS0327 Oastler Market Redevelopment 100 71 -29 

CS0328 Cliffe Castle Chimney Piece Project 12 7 -5 

CS0339 Big Belly Bins 205 205 0 

CS0004 S106 Recreation 0 46 46 

 Westgate Carpark 50  -50 

     

Total - Environment & Sports 3,575 3,018 -557 

     

Regeneration - Property & Economic Development    
CS0094 Property Programme (bworks) 561 390 -171 

CS0262 
Property Programme - Office Rationalisation / Former 
Library 4,075 4,616 541 

CS0294 Property Programme - Essential Maintenance 1,210 1,311 101 
CS0295 Property Programme - Invest to Save 18 44 26 
CS0318 Property Programme 15/16 1,863 1,988 -125 
CS0309 Birklands-Mail Finishing Equipment 7 0 -7 
CS0333 Argos Chambers / Britannia House 350 407 57 

CS0132 Community Hubs 60 35 -25 

CS0184 Baildon Community Link 0 -3 -3 

CS0213 Park Dam 9 3 3 

CS0269 Burley In Wharfedale Culvert repair 100 0 -100 

CS0331 Demolition of Edwards Rainbow Centre 40 4 -36 

CS0085 City Centre Growth Zone 7,500 6,636 -864 

CS0189 Buck Lane 69 35 -34 

CS0228 Canal Road 100 0 -100 

CS0241 Re-use of Former College Buildings Keighley 0 11 11 

CS0266 Superconnected Cities 150 145 -5 

CS0290 Odeon 56 50 -6 

CS0291 Tyrls 1,500 1,585 85 
CS0303 Former furniture city site 250 253 3 

     

Total - Regen – Property & Economic Development 17,918 17,510 -408 

     

Regeneration - Climate, Housing, Employment & Skills    

CS0050 Carbon and Other Management Efficiencies  
1,200 1,066 -134 

CS0134 Computerisation of Records 5 0 -5 

CS0136 Disabled Housing Facilities Grant 2,909 3,288 379 

CS0137 Development of Equity Loans 650 555 -95 

CS0141 Area Renewals 0 9 9 

CS0144 Empty Private Sector Homes Strategy 1,058 1,015 -43 

Page 102



 

CS0157 DEEP/Community Warmth 91 91 0 

CS0158 Regional HALS 11 0 -11 

CS0305 LCR Green Deal Communities Project 554 478 -76 

CS0230 Beechgrove Allotments 277 3 -274 

CS0160 New Affordable Housing - Longfield Dve 143 132 -11 

CS0223 Affordable Housing - Beech Grove 221 266 45 

CS0225 Affordable Housing Programme 2011-2015 2,200 2,263 63 

CS0308 Affordable Housing Programme 2015-2018 600 607 7 

CS0250 Goitside 33 56 23 

CS0280 Temporary Housing Clergy House 1,520 1,070 -450 

     

Total - Regen - Climate, Housing, Employment & Skills 11,472 10,897 -575 

     

Regeneration - Planning    

CS0131 Keighley Town Centre Heritage Initiative 592 233 -359 

CS0178 Ilkley Moor 8 2 -6 

CS0179 Landscape Environmental Improvement 45 48 3 

CS0281 Saltaire - Public Realm imp 444 452 8 

     

Total - Regeneration - Planning 1,089 735 -354 

     

Regeneration - Highways & Transport    

CS0071 Highways S106 Projects 22 28 6 

CS0091 Capital Highway Maintenance 4,611 4,624 13 

CS0095 Bridges 1,188 991 -197 

CS0096 Street Lighting 454 252 -202 

CS0097 Bridge Assessments 0 226 226 

CS0099 Integrated Transport 1,018 629 -389 

CS0101 S. Bradford Integrated Transport Improvements 0 0 0 

CS0103 WY Casualty Reduction Partnership 50 45 -5 

CS0164 Local Intgrtd Transp Area Com CS0164 991 838 -153 

CS0168 Connecting the City (Westfield Agreement) 229 173 -56 

CS0169 Public Realm Impm't, City Centre 33 0 -33 

CS0172 Saltaire Roundabout Congestion & Safety Works 
74 81 7 

CS0232 Local Sustainable Transport Fund 119 119 0 

CS0252 Measures to Support Hubs 48 2 -46 

CS0264 Highway to Health 815 716 -99 

CS0282 Highways Strategic Acquisitions 391 391 0 

CS0289 Local Pinch Point Fund 2,424 1,882 -542 

CS0293 West Yorkshire & York Transport Fund 742 439 -303 

CS0302 Highways Property Liability Reduction Strategy 210 262 52 

CS0307 Bus Hot Spots 61 70 9 

CS0310 Clean Vehicle Technology Fund 61 61 0 

CS0317 VMS Signage 355 357 2 

CS0319 Challenge Fund 800 812 12 

CS0323 Flood Risk Mgmt 55 10 -45 

CS0325 Street Lighting Invest to Save 330 337 7 

CS0329 Damens County Park  2 2 0 

CS0334 Air Quality Monitoring Equipment 25 0 -25 

CS0336 Plotter - Highways 13 13 0 

     

Total - Regen - Highways & Transport 15,121 13,362 -1,759 

     

TOTAL - All Services 74,920 70,561 -4,359 

 

Page 103



 

Reserves Statement as at 31 March  2016              Annex 2 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2015-16 

£000 

Closing  
Balance 

£000 Comments 

A. Reserves available to support the annual revenue budget   

Unallocated Corporate Reserves 33,666 -13,747 
 

19,919 The approved 2015-16 Budget used 
£14.8m of unallocated reserves. A 
further £6.2m will be drawn down in 
2016-17. 

Total available Unallocated Corporate 
Reserves 33,666 -13,747 19,919   

          

B Corporate Earmarked Reserves to cover specific financial risk or fund specific programmes of work. 

          

Employment Opportunities fund 2,427 -1,402 1,025 Funding to support young and 
disadvantaged people into 
employment 

Managed severance 4,093  0 4,093 Money to meet termination costs in 
the years beyond 2017-18. 

Exempt VAT 2,000  0 2,000 Amount set aside to meet the 
estimated cost of VAT that the 
Council would not be able to 
recover should it exceed its partial 
exemption limit. 

Waste Collection and Disposal Options 4,433 -404 4,029 A Trade Waste VAT claim resulted 
in a £4.4m reimbursement. This 
has been set aside to address 
future Waste Collection and 
Disposal costs 

Trade Waste VAT refund 583 -120 463 £120k per annum to be used in 
2015-16 onwards to contribute 
towards the cost of Financial  
Services. 

PFI credits reserve 4,627 -3,822 805 Funding to cover outstanding 
potential Building Schools for the 
Future liabilities.  

Insurance 1,775 0 1,775 To mitigate and smooth the impact 
of any future increases in insurance 
premiums. 

Industrial Centres of Excellence 1 0 1   

Sports Strategy 255 -90 165 To cover feasibility costs 
associated with the Sports 
Strategy. 

Single Status  24 0 24 To cover any residual  
implementation of Single Status 
costs. 

Capital Feasibility Studies 273 -203 70  

Carbon intervention 761 -761 0 To be spent on carbon efficiency 
measures over a number of years. 

Transformation Programme  124 0 124 To fund transformational activity 

Better Use of Budgets  7,274 -4,517 2,757 £7.2m has been transferred back to 
Services to enable projects and 
activities carried over from 2014-15 
to be completed 15/16. £2.8m was 
added at year end to transfer to 
16/17 per section 2.1 

Producer City Initiative  768 -25 743 To pump prime initiatives linked to 
the Council’s Producer City 
programme 

Regional Growth Fund 7,000 -655 6,345 The Council’s revenue match 
funding for the Regional Growth 
Fund 

Regional Revolving Investment Fund 3,956 0 3,956 Money set aside in 2013-14 carried 
forward to meet the Council’s 
commitment to the Regional 
Revolving Investment Fund. 

Discretionary Social Fund 1,848 0 1,848 To fund a replacement local 
welfare scheme following the 
government ending its Local 
Welfare Assistance grant 
programme. 

Transitional and Risk Reserve 5,300 2,448 7,748 To help fund Transitional work, and 
cover risks. £3.6m will be  used to 
support the 16-17 budget 

Health Integration Reserves 222 0 222  Available to fund projects that lead 

Page 104



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2015-16 

£000 

Closing  
Balance 

£000 Comments 

to greater integration between the 
Council and its Health partners. 

Match Fund Basic needs Grant 0 700 700  

     

Sub Total 47,744 -8,851 38,893   

C. Reserves to support capital investment     

Renewal and replacement 12,648 -731 11,917 Funding used to support the capital 
investment programme. 

Markets 1,235 -4 1,231 Cumulative Market trading surplus’s 
to be re-invested in maintaining 
market buildings throughout the 
district. 

Sub total 13,883 -735 13,148   

D. Service Earmarked Reserves 30,619 12,210 42,829  See Appendix 2 

E. Revenue Grant Reserves 9,081 -692 8,389   

F General Reserves         

General Fund 10,803 0 10,803 The GF balance acts as a 
necessary contingency against 
unforeseen events.  The balance at 
31st March represents a minimum 
of 2.5% of the Council's budget 
requirement in line with council 
policy and the general advice of 
External Auditors.  

Schools delegated budget 38,355 -4,553 33,802 Represents in the main balances 
held by schools as part of delegated 
budget responsibility.  These 
balances are not available for 
Council use but are balances 
attributable to individual schools. 

Sub total General Fund Reserve & School 
balances 

49,158 -4,553 44,605   

Grand total 184,151 -16,368 167,783   

Page 105



 

Annex 2.1          
Departmental Earmarked Reserves Statement as at 31st March  2016                    
  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2015-16 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Adult and Community Services       

Supporting People 2,065 0 2,065 Funding to support invest to 
save projects 

Integrated Care 7,776 -2,429 5,347 NHS and Council  monies used 
to support ring fenced projects in 
2015-16 and integration of 
health and social care 

Great Places to Grow Old 350 254 604 Funding to cover management 
and staffing costs linked to the 
transformation of services for 
older people.  

District Tenants Federation  30 0 30 Funding committed to provide 
support to District Tenants 
Federation  
 

Clergy House 171 -171 0 To fund the capital costs of 
developing a new temporary 
housing scheme.  

Stock Condition 95 0 95 Funding to procure Stock 
Condition Surveys. 

Social Lettings 259 405 664 To undertake a feasibility study 
for a Social lettings Agency. 

Homelessness prevention 934 110 1,044 To fund initiatives to prevent 
Homelessness. 
 

Care Act Reserve 0 4,863 4,863 To support the implementation 
of the Care Act 

     

Total Adult and Community Services 11,680 3,032 14,712   

          

Children Services         

BSF Unitary Charge  6,071 497 6,568 These reserves are being built 
up to ensure that in the future 
there is sufficient money 
available to meet the cost of 
BSF annual contract payments 
when the PFI grant the Council 
receives reduces 

BSF Unitary Charge Phase 2  4,343 -250 4,093 See above 

Dilapidation  1,000 0 1,000 At the end of a lease on a 
building, the Council will be 
liable for any dilapidations of the 
building. 

BSF Phase 3 Local Education Partnership 100 -100 0 Used to support the 2015-16 
Budget as no residual costs 
following the cessation of Phase 
3 of the BSF programme are 
expected to come through. 

Children’s Planned Underspend 550 -550 0 2013-14 underspend of £1.5m 
included as part of Children’s 
Services saving proposals in 
2014-15. Planned underspend in 
2014-15 carried forward to meet 
2015-16 savings. 

The Innovation Centres 197 -197 0 The Innovation Centres were 
formerly run by Schools and 
transferred to children’s Services 
in 2013-14, The reserve covers 
the cost of on-going service 
provision from  2014-15 

Page 106



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2015-16 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Better Start Programme 135 -45 90 Council’s two year contribution 
to a programme that will bring in 
£50m of revenue investment to 
the District over a 10 year 
period. 

Food Poverty 89 -89 0 NHS Bradford contribution to 
support on-going projects aimed 
at School Cooks, parents and a 
Grow Your Own Initiative used in 
2015-16 

Home Safety Equipment 190 -190 0 To be used to install fireguards 
and other safety equipment in 
homes across the District 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 20 -20 0 For CSE support and parenting 
projects 

Safeguarding Board 176 -90 86 Support for the Council in its role 
as the accountable body for the 
Bradford Children’s 
Safeguarding Board 

     

Routes to Work 0 361 361 

Advanced Skills Fund 0 386 386 

Retail Academy (Skills for Employment) 0 337 337    

Training Work Programme (Skills for Work) 0 1,031 1,031 

Employment and Skills funding 
that spans more than twelve 
months. 

Total Children 12,871 1,081 13,952   

     

Finance     

Non Council Events programme 35 -25 10 To support events put on by non 
Council Departments  

Community Support and Innovation Fund 480 -76 404 To support community led 
service provision and investment 
in initiatives that engage with 
vulnerable people. 

Subsidy Claim 711 0 711 Contingent support set aside to 
address the fluctuations in the 
subsidy claims. 

ICT Programmes Budget 0 4,900 
 

4,900 To fund future ICT projects 

UC Admin Reserve 0 545 545 To help cover the cost of the 
implementation of universal 
credit administration. 

Total Finance 1,226 5,344 6,570   

          

Environment and Sport         

Marley pitch replacement 305 0 305 To provide match funding under 
the terms of grants given to 
maintain Sports and Leisure 
venues across the District 

Waste disposal procurement 341 -63 278 Set aside to meet Departmental 
costs associated with delivering 
a Waste Management solution  

Customer Service Strategy 912 -63 849 2013-14 non recurring 
investment to be used to fund 
the Customer Service Strategy. 

Taxi Licensing 457 -137 320 Statutory requirement to set 
aside any taxi licensing surplus 
when setting future fees. 

Theatres Box Office 0 96 96  

Page 107



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2015-16 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Cricket Pitch Refurbishment 0 310 310 Bradford Park Avenue  

Culture Service Transition 216 -95 121 To cover costs associated with 
modernising the service and 
adopting a different service 
delivery model. 

Art Fund 12 0 12 To fund the purchase of works of 
Art. 

HLF Building Maintenance 10 0 10 A condition of the HLF grant is 
that an asset management 
programme is in place to 
maintain Manningham Library to 
a specified standard.  

Torex 10 0 10 To address e-Govt targets and 
improve service delivery. 

Saltaire Tourist Information Centre 15 0 15  

Culture Company 0 200 200 Help create a Culture Company 
 

Gym Equipment 0 133 133 To fund replacement gym 
equipment in Sports Facilities 

Museum Restoration 0 133 133  

Tour De Britain 
 

0 8 8  

Tour De Yorkshire 0 139 139  

Lidget Moor YC 27 -9 18 To support Youth Services in 
Lidget Green Area 

Total Environment and Sport 2,305 652 2,957   

          

Regeneration         

Empty Homes 125 0 125 To support the on-going 
programme to bring empty 
homes back into use 

Council Housing Reserve 244 131 375 To meet future costs associated 
with later stages of the 
affordable housing programme 

Housing Development Programme 212 0 212 Fee income generated to be 
used to subsidise the delivery of 
projects in future years.   

Facility Management Service Improvement 515 0 515 To support investment in service 
improvements and cover against 
uncertainty in the client base 

City Park Sinking Fund 295 335 630 Funding set aside to meet the 
future maintenance costs of City 
Park.  

European Structural Investment Programme 257 610 867 Match funding for ESIP  

Empty Rates Relief Scheme 0 500 500 Supporting Business Growth 

City Centre Regeneration W 0 150 150  

Total Regeneration 1,648 1,726 3,374   

          

Human Resources         

Page 108



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2015-16 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Schools Traded HR Reserves 106 0  106 To mitigate the risk of changes 
in customer base. 

Business Support Centre 482 -337 145 To support organisational 
development 

Workforce Development New Deal 0 530 530 Changing the organisation - 
vision & values, recruitment & 
selection, development of 
managers, performance 
management, 
leadership & succession 
planning linked closely with the 
New Deal agenda 
 

Learner Management System 0 85 85 Software/system implementation 
etc in support of workforce 
development. 

Total Human Resources 588 278 866   

         

City Solicitor     

District Elections 301 -85 216 To smooth the cost of District 
Elections over a four year 
period. 

     

Public Health     

Public Health 0 182 182  

     

Total Service Earmarked Reserves  30,619 12,210 42,829  

 
 
 
 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
Executive to be held on 19 July 2016. 
 
 

            H 
Subject:   
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017-18 to 2019/20 and beyond incorporating the 
Efficiency Plan 
 

Summary statement: 
 
The Medium Term Financial Strategy focuses on how the Council intends to respond to 
the forecasted public sector funding reductions as a result of the on-going austerity 
measures imposed by the Government’s spending plans. It sets out the approaches and 
principles the Council will follow to ensure the Council remains financially viable and 
delivers on its priorities. 
 
The Plan also forms the basis of the Council’s Efficiency Plan for the next four financial 
years. 
 
The next four years already contained a series of potentially significant changes to the 
structure of the Council and the services it will be responsible for and what it can provide. 
Many of these changes are still at consultation stage which brings additional complexity 
when predicting the future. However, the result of the EU referendum has added a further 
layer of uncertainty to prospects of stability in local government finances. 
 
The forecast identifies further savings of £11.5m in 2017/18 in addition to the £24.2m 
agreed in February 2016. In the following year the gap increases to £32m in 2018/19 and 
then up to £109.5m by 2022/23. 

 

 
Stuart McKinnon-Evans 
Director of Finance 

 
Portfolio:  Leader and Corporate 
 
 
 

Report Contact:  Tom Caselton 
Phone: (01274) 434472 
E-mail: tom.caselton@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Corporate 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6/



 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 In the medium term the landscape of local government service provision could 

totally shift through a series of potential changes announced collectively in the 
Spending Review 2015, Local Government Settlement and the Chancellor’s Budget 
Statement in March 2016. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) does 
however set out the financial envelope for the Council to deliver its key priorities as 
set out in the revised Corporate Plan. The result of the EU referendum has 
increased the uncertainty facing local government finances. The Chancellor has 
indicated that there will not be an immediate emergency budget but that there may 
need to be an adjustment to deal with issues following the referendum result. Any 
such adjustment through a Budget would be in the autumn. The impact on local 
government finance is not known and this forecast has not built in any adjustments 
to the local government finance envelope as a result of the EU referendum result. 

 
1.2 The key outcomes that underpin the financial planning of the Council are: 

 

• Good schools and a great start for all our children 

• Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy 

• Better Health and better lives 

• Safe, clean and active communities 

• Decent homes that people can live in 
 

1.3 The MTFS shows a continuing reduction in the size of the Council’s financial 
envelope and identifies an immediate need to identify revenue savings of a further 
c£11.5m in order to set a balanced Budget in February 2017. The gap rises to 
£32m in 2018/19 and continues to widen to £109.5m by 2022/23. 
 

1.4 Appendix 1 section 3.1 contains details of the key risks associated with the forecast. 
Clearly the recent result of the EU referendum has introduced immediate and 
unquantifiable uncertainty to the future of local government finances. The key risk is 
the deterioration of the national economy which could lead to further austerity 
measures imposed on local government.  
The biggest uncertainties that could affect the Council finances post April 2020 are 
the state of the national economy and in particular the current reforms on local 
government finance which include business rate reforms, academisation and the 
restructure of the New Homes Bonus. 
 

1.5 The Council has the opportunity to apply for a multi year settlement which will 
provide a certain level of comfort on the rate of decline of the Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG). Annex D to Appendix 1 of this report forms the basis of the Efficiency 
Plan the Council is required to prepare if it chooses to apply for the multi year 
settlement. 

 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1  The MTFS forms part of the Council’s planning and performance framework, and 

provides the context for the more detailed budgeting process. 

Page 112



 
 

 
2.2 The MTFS is refreshed each year to give a rolling three year assessment of the 

fiscal environment, after the close of the previous year, and before the budgeting 
round commences. It also provides a forecast for a further three years but due to 
the current work on reforming local government finances these further three years 
are based on the current financial system. 

 
2.3 The MTFS (Appendix 1) comprises three sections 
 

1. Purpose, priorities and principles – page 2 
2. Medium Term Financial Forecast and Gap Analysis – page 4 
3. Risks associated with the forecast – page 7 

 
Followed by a series of annexes 

 
Annex A Current Cost and Resource Structure and savings delivered 
Annex B Expenditure Forecast Assumptions 
Annex C Resource Forecast Assumptions 
Annex D Efficiency Plan (to support application for a multi year settlement) 

 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 The MTFS is typically affected by Forward Plan decisions being considered by 

Executive and Council which have material financial implications. In addition 
national policy changes can also have a significant impact on the MTFS. 

 
 

4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 The MTFS is a financial and resource appraisal. 
 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 The principal risks arising from the strategic assessment emerge from: 
 

• the sensitivity of financial estimates to actions beyond the immediate control 
of the Council, in particular Government decision on local authority financial 
regimes and spending levels. This is particularly significant for this forecast 
given the National reforms currently being considered 

• the capability of the Council to influence Council Tax and Business Rates 

• the impact on the economy and any resulting adjustment to the local 
government financial envelope resulting from the EU referendum vote to 
leave the European Union. 

 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
 Non specific 
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 113



 
 

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 

Non specific 
 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Non specific 
 

7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

Non specific.  
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Non specific.  
 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 

Non specific.  
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 

Non specific.  
 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

Non specific.  
  
 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 

None.  
 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
9.1 The two options to consider are whether the Council wishes to apply for the multi 

year settlement or reject the offer. In simple terms the multi year offer will fix the 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) up to and including 2019/20. Annex C section 1.1b 
sets out the RSG on offer but is replicated here: 

 
 

Forecasted RSG from  multi year settlement 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 £’m £’m £’m 

RSG included in the forecast  62.8 48.5 34.1 

 
 
 The multi-year settlement guarantee is subject to unforeseen circumstances and 

the EU referendum vote to leave the EU will undoubtedly be classed as such an 
event. However, it is too early to say whether any autumn budget will affect the 
multi-year offer. 

Page 114



 
 

 
9.2  Interest in accepting the multi year offer will only be considered if a link to a 

published efficiency plan is received by 5pm Friday 14th October 2016. 
 

Those councils that chose not to accept the offer, or do not qualify, will be subject to 
the existing yearly process for determining the local government finance settlement.  

 
Allocations could be subject to additional reductions dependant on the fiscal climate 
and the need to make further savings to reduce the deficit. 

  
At present we do not expect any further multi-year settlements to be offered over 
the course of this parliament. 

 
9.2  Option 1 – Accept the multi year deal. This option will at least give a limited amount 

of comfort as to the rate at which RSG will fall and the Council can then plan 
accordingly. The MTFS assumes that RSG will fall to zero by April 2020 in line with 
Government announcements. By accepting the multi year settlement the Council 
would not be locking into a source of funding that would potentially increase.  

 
 Option 2 – Reject the multi year deal and be subject to the annual settlement 

announcement. 
 
9.3 Given the size of the budget gap to close, as indicated by this MTFS, then an 

element of certainty over the next three years on a funding stream will help in 
planning to address the budget gap. It is considered extremely unlikely that by 
locking into the RSG there would be a missed opportunity for an increase in RSG 
even if there was a change in government.  

 
9.4  Having considered the two options it is recommended that the Council applies for 

the multi-year settlement based on this MTFS and in particular the Efficiency Plan 
at Annex D. The position will be reviewed up to 14th October 2016 to ensure that if 
any new information comes to light, (for example further austerity measures as a 
result of the EU referendum vote to leave the EU), this can be taken into account 
before submitting the application for the multi-year settlement. 

 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That Executive consider the Medium Term Financial Strategy as an assessment of 

the Council’s financial outlook to 2019/20 and beyond, and a framework for it to 
remain financially viable and deliver sustainable public services in line with its 
priorities using the principles contained in the Efficiency Plan (Annex D). 

 
10.2 That Executive recommends the updated and revised Medium Term Financial 

Strategy at Appendix 1 of this report be forwarded to Council for approval. 
 
10.3 That Executive recommends, subject to Council approval, to delegate to the Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Leader, to apply to take up the multi-year 
settlement supported by the Efficiency Plan at Annex D based on their assessment 
of whether this will be in the best interests of the Council. 

 
 

Page 115



 
 

 
11. APPENDICES 
 
11.1 Appendix 1 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 to 2019/20, including the 

annexes to the Strategy. 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
12.1 Council Budget Report 25th February 2016 Document R

Page 116



 
 

 
           APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Bradford Metropolitan  
District Council 
 
Medium Term 
Financial Strategy & Efficiency Plan 
 

2017/18 – 2022/23

Page 117



 
 

PURPOSE, PRIORITIES AND PRINCIPLES OF THE MEDIUM 
TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) 
 

1.1 Purpose and priorities  
 
The MTFS sets out how the Council intends to respond to: 

• the forecasted size of the financial challenge it faces in both the medium and longer 
term (Medium Term Financial Plan – Annex A) 

• the constraints of the national and local landscape 

• the risks to financial resilience. 

In the current financial climate the Council’s principal financial aim is to remain viable so 
that it continues to work with partners, other organisations, residents and communities to 
deliver positive outcomes on its priorities of: 

• Good schools and a great start for all our children 

• Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy 

• Better Health and better lives 

• Safe, clean and active communities 

• Decent homes that people can afford to live in. 
 

To remain affordable and deliver sustainable public services, the MTFS has four main 
objectives;- 

• Continue the trend of recent years to manage down the Council’s recurrent cost 
base in line with reductions in overall resources 

• Maintain income levels and increase them where possible, including growing the 
Council Tax and Business Rates tax base 

• Prudently use unallocated reserves and balances to smooth the transition to a lower 
cost base and accommodate unforeseen challenges, and ensure that longer term 
liabilities and risks are adequately covered 

• Seek to benefit from public service reform 
 

1.2 Approach and principles 
 
The MTFS is consistent with the priorities the Council is pursuing, as articulated in the 
District Plan and the Council Plan. 
 
The principles that will influence the choices the Council will make in the future are 
summarised below  
 

• Enabling Community Leadership – a culture and system of governance which is 
vibrant inclusive and democratic. 

 

• Working closely with partners - maintain cost-effective partnerships, through 
pooling resources and collaborating with various organisations in the District 

 
 
 

Page 118



 
 

• Reducing demand, changing expectations and behaviour -  
o managing and reducing demand for services through changing citizen’s 

behaviour, recognising that people have responsibilities as well as rights. 
o changing public expectations about the level and scope of Service they can 

expect from the Council and the role they can play in helping achieve 
positive results for themselves, their families, communities and the District. 

 

• Investing in prevention and early intervention – taking action early to stop 
problems getting worse or from happening in the first place.  

 

• Reducing inequalities and tackling poverty – targeting resources where they are 
most needed to address inequalities and poverty. 

 

• Devolution - to ensure the Council can operate effectively at neighbourhood, 
District and regional level. The Council’s approach shaped by the outcome of 
devolution. 

 

• Productivity and Value for Money - making sure that services give value for 
money and maximise the potential of all the District’s assets, be they in the public, 
private or third sectors or within the community. 

 
A robust performance management framework arrangement will make sure value for 
money, sustainability, efficiency gains and the effectiveness of resource allocations can be 
demonstrated across all Council services, partnerships and commissioned service 
delivery; and that mechanisms are in place by which performance against these can be 
measured and managed. This will provide an increasingly sophisticated understanding of 
performance against district wide and local priorities set within the context of the financial 
outlook. 
 
This forecast is based on a series of assumptions which are detailed in Annexes B and C.  
It starts from the current financial structure of the Council, which is analysed in more detail 
at Annex A. 

The strategy and principles set out above lay down the framework and constraints for the 
next stage in the continuous cycle of operational and financial planning.  Annex D shows 
the Efficiency Plan to meet the financial planning challenge. 

 

Page 119



 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL FORECAST AND GAP ANALYSIS 

2.1 The medium term and longer term forecasts set out in Table 1 and Table 2 derive 
from comparing forecast expenditure assuming no changes to current plans, with 
forecast income, to give a deficit to be managed out through budget decisions.   

 
2.2 The starting point for the Forecast is the current financial structure of the Council, 

which is analysed in Annex A. It also assumes that the Service and non-Service 
savings  approved by Council, covering 2016/17 and part of the gap for 2017/18 will 
be achieved in full  (£68.8m). 

 
2.3 Forecast cost structure and forecast future resources are affected by a number of 

factors, some that are within our control and others that are not. However, given the 
announcements in the Local Government Settlement and March 2016 Budget there 
are  significant changes planned for local government finance but the early stage of 
these developments mean that the impact on Bradford is currently unknown. These 
developments are set out in more detail in Annex C. In Annex B the material factors 
that are likely to affect the Council’s spending forecasts are set out. 

 
2.4 This Forecast is also the platform for the Efficiency Plan (Annex D) of the Council in 

order to secure the multi year settlement on the Revenue Support Grant of which 
2016/17 is the first year. This forecast therefore covers in detail the period up to 
2019/20 but also projects for a further three years up to 2022/23. Given the 
uncertain nature of the local government financial landscape post April 2020 clear 
assumptions are set out.  

 
2.5 In 2010 the Council’s adjusted net budget was in the region of £500m, it is now 

£378m. Given that core grant is expected to disappear by April 2020 the Council is 
using a working assumption that the net budget will be c£300m in current prices by 
2020/21. 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Bradford Council Net Budget - £m

Forecast Net Budget

 
 

2.6 In the five years from the beginning of 2011/12 to 2015/16 the Council has 
implemented a series of reductions to its net budget of £172.6m. Further reductions 
of £45.6m (including £1.0m of further Public Health grant cuts) are being applied 
during 2016/17 taking the total reductions to £218.2m.  

Page 120



 
 

2.7 On 25 February 2016 the Council agreed further savings for 2017/18 of £24.2m. 
Assuming that the Council raises Council Tax in 2017/18 by 1.99% and also applies 
the social care precept of 2% in full, the deficit still to be closed in 2017/18 is 
forecast to be £10.3m. 

2.8 Initial projections are that it is expected that austerity will have ended and the 
Council net resources will start to increase again from 2021/22 however, there will 
still be a cumulative gap of £110m by 2022/23. Clearly the result of the EU 
referendum has brought further uncertainty and it is too early to understand the 
implications of this vote. The Chancellor has announced that any adjustment to 
public finances will be deferred until the Office for Budget Responsibility has 
updated its forecast in the autumn and any new budget would not be implemented 
until there is a new Prime Minister. This forecast has not incorporated any fresh 
assumptions into the financial outlook and if the position materially changes the 
financial outlook will be updated after any new autumn Budget has been published. 

 

Page 121



 
 

TABLE 1 CUMULATIVE THREE YEAR MEDIUM TERM FORECAST    

 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

  Forecast Forecast Forecast 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

NET EXPENDITURE      

2016/17 Base Budget  378,045 378,045 378,045 

Reversal of non recurring investment (1,478) (2,643) (2,643) 
Full year effect of recurring pressures 500 500 500 

Sub total 377,067 375,902 375,902 
     

FUNDING CHANGES    

Education Services Grant 4,668 5,850 5,850 

Independent Living Fund 68 131 190 

Local Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit Admin 300 600 900 

Local Reform and Community Voices  25 48 48 

New Homes Bonus Grant 2,081 4,800 5,015 

Return of New Homes Bonus Top Slice  (2,045) 0 0 

Dedicated Schools Grant 931 1,413 4,020 

Better Care Funding to protect Adult Social Care (4,189) (4,189) (4,189) 

S31 grants (8) (143) (177) 

Public Health Grant 1,085 2,201 3,288 

Sub total 2,916 10,711 14,945 
INFLATION      

Pay Award, (1.0% up to 2019/20, 2.0% thereafter) 2,164 4,350 6,558 
National Living Wage 0 800 2,700 
Contract Price Indexation (1.5% in 2017-18, 2.0% thereafter)  3,048 7,427 11,896 
Income (0.5%) (441) (885) (1,331) 
Employers LGPS Contribution  2,640 2,640 2,640 

Base Net Expenditure Requirement 387,394 400,945 413,310 
Demographic Pressures in Adults 1,500 3,000 4,500 

Adult Social Care Services costs funded by BCF 4,189 4,189 4,189 
Additional Adult social care costs funded by precept 3,271 3,306 3,341 
2016/17 Budget decisions (24,242) (24,242) (24,242) 
Public Health reduction expenditure in line with reduced grant (1,085) (2,201) (3,288) 
Apprenticeship levy 1,000 1,000 1,000 
One off pressures 1,005 0 0 
Transitional Funding (745) (980) (980) 
Net Expenditure Requirement 372,287 385,017 397,830 

RESOURCES      

Localised Business Rates (72,097) (76,238) (77,763) 
Top Up Business Rate Grant (58,162) (59,877) (61,791) 
Revenue Support Grant (62,849) (48,539) (34,054) 
Use of Reserves - Earmarked (355) (120) (120) 

Council Tax Income (167,266) (168,200) (169,134) 
Total resources (360,729) (352,974) (342,862) 
    

Budget shortfall  11,558 32,043 54,968 

Memorandum      

Council tax base 134,255 135,005 135,755 
Council tax Band D  £1,245.88 £1,245.88 £1,245.88 

    

  

Page 122



 
 

TABLE 2  CUMULATIVE SIX YEAR OUTLOOK      
     
       
 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

  Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

       

       

NET EXPENDITURE 
REQUIREMENT 372,287 385,017 397,830 410,253 420,714 431,480 

        

RESOURCES       

       

Localised Business Rates (72,097) (76,238) (77,763) (79,318) (80,904) (82,522) 

Top Up Business Rate Grant (58,162) (59,877) (61,791) (63,645) (65,554) (67,521) 

Revenue Support Grant (62,849) (48,539) (34,054) 0 0 0 

        

Use of Reserves - Earmarked (355) (120) (120) 0 0 0 

Council Tax Income (167,266) (168,200) (169,134) (170,069) (171,003) (171,938) 

       

Total resources (360,729) (352,974) (342,862) (313,032) (317,461) (321,981) 

       

Budget shortfall  11,558 32,043 54,968 97,221 103,253 109,499 

Memorandum         

Council tax base 134,255 135,005 135,755 136,505 137,255 138,005 

Council tax Band D  £1,245.88 £1,245.88 £1,245.88 £1,245.88 £1,245.88 £1,245.88 
 
 

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE FORECAST 

 
3.1 A series of potential changes announced collectively in the Spending Review 2015, 

Local Government Settlement and the Chancellor’s Budget Statement in March 
2016 inevitably means the numbers of uncertainties, sources of risk attached to the 
forecast are significant. 

• The impact of national economic performance public sector finance following the 
result of the EU referendum to leave the EU. 

• The buoyancy of the local economy 

• Fundamental review of relative needs of local authorities in a national funding 
regime 

• Business Rates Review process, 2017 Revaluation, appeals against the rating list 
and future increases in the Business Rate multiplier 

• Integration of health and social care, the financial health of the NHS, and the ability 
and willingness of the NHS to fund social care 

• Inflation – a 1% variance in pay equates to £2.2m and a 1% change in prices would 
have a £2.1m impact on expenditure assumptions 

• Treasury management – the extent to which cash balances will drive the need to 
borrow to finance capital investment 

• Change management risk, and the deliverability of existing budget decisions 

• Liabilities that may arise from conversion of schools to academies 

• Contractual risk 

Page 123



 
 

• What devolution, regional and other aspects of public sector reform will mean for 
Bradford 

• Impact of demographics in terms of both additional demand and additional growth 

• The potential costs of transition and restructuring 

• Outcome of the New Homes Bonus reforms 

• Triennial valuation of the local government pension scheme 

Page 124



 
 

4.1 ANNEX A:  CURRENT COST AND RESOURCE STRUCTURE AND 
SAVINGS DELIVERED TO DATE 

 

To put the size of the challenge facing the Council into context an understanding of the 
current cost, resource base and savings delivered to date is required. 

a) Cost Base 

Whilst the Council continues to have overall accountability for close to £1.3bn of spend, it 
cannot spend directly £419m which is controlled by schools. This leaves, in 2016/17, a 
gross expenditure budget of £846m (£378m net expenditure) to fund non school activity. 

 

2016/17 
Gross Expt Net 

Expt 

  £m £m 

Council Services 846.1 378.0 

Schools 419.5 0 

   

  1,265.6 378.0 

If the £178m spent on benefit payments, the £34m required to meet the cost of the long 
term PFI contracts, the £24m levy paid to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
(WYCA), the £44m that must be spent on Public Health activity and the £42m capital 
financing budget are excluded from the gross expenditure budget, this leaves a much 
smaller gross cost base, £524m, from which to drive out further savings. 

 

Whilst the Net Budget today is £378m, by 2022-23 it is forecast to be just under £322m.  
That’s a 15% drop from today in the amount of cash available to fund services which will 
continue to be subject to some inflation and increases in demographic-led demand. 

 

Of the net budget of £378m almost one third is allocated to Adult Services. This 
emphasises that if the Council is going to balance its books in the long term and make 
sure the services it provides are sustainable, controlling demand and spend on Adult and 
Integrated Health Care is key.   
 
2016/17 Budget Gross 

£m 
Net 
£m 

% of net 
budget 

Adults and Community Services 154.3 116.4 30.8% 

Children's Services 570.9 71.3 18.9% 

Capital Financing, WYCA and 
contingency 

75.7 70.4 18.6% 

Environment & Sport 91.5 45.4 12.0% 

Regeneration 83.2 36.5 9.7% 

Department of Finance 210.1 21.3 5.6% 

Travel Assistance 7.1 6.9 1.8% 

City Solicitor 8.2 6.0 1.6% 

Human Resources 7.6 5.5 1.5% 

Chief Executive 4.3 4.2 1.1% 

Public Health 45.7 0.6 0.2% 

Page 125



 
 

Non Service 7.2 (6.7) -1.8% 

 1265.7 378.0 100.0% 

 
 
A different way of presenting the budget is by the Council Outcomes that will be used for 
the Outcome Based Budgeting exercise. This is an initial analysis and the definitions and 
criteria for allocating costs to each outcome will be refined as the process progresses. 
 
Outcome Gross 

£m 
Net 
£m 

%of net 
budget 

Better health and better Lives 450.5 173.6 46% 
Enablers 96.2 53.7 14% 
Fixed 48.7 48.4 13% 
Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy 96.7 45.0 12% 
Safe clean, active communities 59.7 38.1 10% 
Good schools and a great start for all our children 510.4 17.0 4% 
Decent homes that people can live in 3.5 2.2 1% 
 1265.7 378.0 100% 

 
The analysis illustrates that 46% of the budget relates to personal type services which will 
undoubtedly lead to some difficult choices through the budget process. 
 
 
b) Resource base 
 
The Table below shows that in 2016/17, 60% of the Council’s net expenditure is funded 
from Council tax (43%) and locally retained Business Rates (17%). As explained in Annex 
C there is currently work being undertaken on the development of the business rates 
reforms. These reforms are expected to be implemented by April 2020. At the time of 
writing DCLG have had no information that 2017 rates retention legislation will have to 
make way for EU exit legislation. Given the significance of these reforms the analysis 
below has projected on the basis of the current system continuing post April 2020 on the 
basis of consistency and overwhelming uncertainty on what the reforms might mean. 
 
Sources of Funding in 2016/17 Gross 

£m 
% Net  

£m 
% 

Schools Grants 419.5 33% - 0% 

Other Government Grants 293.6 23% - 0% 

Revenue Support Grant 83.9 7% 83.9 22% 

Fees, Charges, Contributions 174.5 14% - 0% 

Council Tax and previous year surplus 161.9 13% 161.9 43% 

Business Rates and previous year 
deficit 

63.7 5% 63.7 17% 

Government "Top Up" Grant 57.0 5% 57.0 15% 

Use of Reserves 11.4 1% 11.4 3% 

 1265.7 100% 378.0 100% 

Please note totals may not add up due to rounding differences 

 
Looking at the prospective composition of the Council’s net budget today compared to six 
years time (see the table below) the points to make are: 

• Government Revenue Support Grant today is £84m.  It drops steeply over time, and 
forecasted to reach zero in 2020-21 

Page 126



 
 

• Whilst the Council might choose to increase Council Tax current rules require a 
referendum for increases above 2%. There is also now the power to raise additional 
sums for Adult Social Care via a social care precept of up to 2% 

• Council Tax income today makes up 43% of the net budget. It rises to 54% by 2022/23 

• Localised business rates are around £72m today – the aim is to grow them to £82m by 
2022/23, around 14%. 
 

Prospective Composition of Funding of Council Net Budget £m (before any business rate 
reform) 

 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/2
3 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Revenue Support Grant 84 63 49 34 0 0 0 

Localised Business Rates† 64 72 76 78 79 81 82 

Government Top Up Grant 57 58 60 62 64 65 68 

Collection Fund Balance 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Use of Reserves 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Council Tax 160 167 168 169 170 171 172 

Total 378 360 353 343 313 317 322 

 
Prospective Composition of Funding of Council Net Budget% (before any business rate 
reform) 

 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/2
3 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Revenue Support Grant 22% 18% 14% 10% 0% 0% 0% 

Localised Business Rates 17% 20% 22% 23% 25% 26% 25% 

Government Top Up Grant 15% 16% 17% 18% 20% 21% 21% 

Collection Fund Balance 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Use of Reserves 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Council Tax 42% 46% 48% 49% 54% 54% 53% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

 
† 2016/17 business rates are supressed due to deficit on collection as a result of successful appeals on GP surgeries 
Please note totals may not add up due to rounding differences 

 

The clear message as the Council is required to absorb further reductions in Government 
funding is that the Council’s ability to grow both its local council tax base and local 
business rates base in order to sustain services and deliver on priorities will take on 
increasing significance.  
 
c) Savings delivered to date 
 
Six consecutive years of reductions in Government funding, and inflationary and 
demographic pressures have required the Council to make savings over the period of 
£218.2m.  
 
 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015/16 2016/17 Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Savings 48.7 28.5 26.1 31.8 37.5 45.6 218.2 

 
 
By 2022/23 it is estimated that to balance the books over £109m more in savings and 
additional income (29% of the current net budget) will have to be found – on top of the 

Page 127



 
 

£218.2m already made and increases in Council tax.  
 
To date the Council has absorbed a disproportionate share of Government funding 
reductions and protected basic services. The Council will continue to focus on reducing 
costs and improving efficiency and productivity but finding new savings totalling 29% of the 
current net budget may mean that it will no longer be possible to protect all frontline 
services. 
 

Page 128



 
 

ANNEX B:  EXPENDITURE FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS   

1.1 Inflation 

 
a) Pay 
 
Although the Council does not receive any specific funding for pay awards an amount 
equivalent to 1.0% for 2017/18 and for each year up to 2019/20 has been included in the 
calculations. From 2020/21 the pay award has been assumed to be 2.0% p.a. Services 
are expected to absorb incremental increases.  
  

b) Non Pay  

 
The Bank of England published their forecast of CPI in May 2016, which indicated that 
inflation would increase to 2% by the end of 2017/18. Given this, an inflation rate of 1.5% 
has been assumed for contract inflation as the average rate during 2017/18, levelling off at 
2.0% in future years. As there is a fixed price contract in place until April 2018 for waste 
disposal no price increases have been provided for waste disposal in 2017/18. Premises 
and Transport costs have been increased by 2% in all years. 
 
In recognition of current low levels of inflation, all Services inflation increases to their 
income budgets are factored in 0.5% per annum. 
 

1.2 Pension Contribution Rates  

The next Actuarial Valuation will take place in December 2016. Employers’ pension 
contribution rates have been fixed at 14.2% until the end of 2016/17. The forecast 
assumes that further provision will have to be made in 2017-18 to address the service 
pension deficit. An increase of 1% on the Employers’ contributions has been incorporated 
into the forecast. Following the referendum vote to leave the EU the gilt yields have fallen. 
If the gilt yields do not recover then this will have implications for the pension deficit as the 
gilt yields are used as a benchmark for calculating LGPS fund liabilities. Similarly, if the fall 
in share prices remains this will have a negative impact on the triennial valuation. 

1.3 Demand-Led Service Pressures 

 
As in previous years an extra £1.5m p.a. has been included to reflect the increased 
pressure on Adult Social Care services from demographic trends. 
 
In addition £0.5m has been included to reflect the likely loss of income from recycling 
contracts that are due to expire at the end of 2016/17. The loss of income is due to falling 
market prices for recyclates. 
 
1.4 West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA)  
 
From 1st April 2015 the WYCA began operations overseeing strategies for growing the 
economy, creating jobs, developing new affordable homes and improving the transport 
network. Whilst in 2016/17 the levy paid to the WYCA by the Council was increased by a 

Page 129



 
 

relatively small amount £65k, discussions as to how to bridge the gap between the 
aspiration to deliver a £1.4bn Transport Fund compared to the Government's commitment 
of £1bn over 20 years may result in an increase in contributions by local Councils from 
2016/17. No such increases have been factored into the Forecast.  The initial forecast of 
District Council levies indicated a further £1.3m p.a. would eventually be required from 
Bradford by 2024/25. The levy would steadily increase by an average £140kp.a.  

1.5 Service and Non Service Saving Proposals 

 
The Forecast assumes that the Service and Non Service savings of £68.8m, approved by 
Council, covering 2016/17 and part of the gap for 2017/18 will be achieved in full. If the 
tracking of these savings identifies this not to be the case, the Forecast assumes Services 
will absorb the shortfall through compensating savings.   
 
1.6   Health Sector Reforms 
 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs) are being developed in collaboration with 
the NHS to tackle financial, care quality and health challenges.  No allowance has been 
made in this MTFS for any impact of financial, organisational or service delivery changes 
arising from those plans. 
 
1.7      Better Care Fund (BCF) 
 
The 2016/17 Base Budget includes a £4.2m contribution from the Better Care Fund to 
support Adult Social Care Services. The forecast is reliant on this funding continuing. The 
Final Local Government Settlement provided an estimate for an Improved Better Care 
Fund that recognises the fact that some local authorities with a low council tax will not be 
able to raise as much from the social care precept as those with a high council tax base. 
Part of this Improved BCF is likely to be funded through the reductions to the amounts of 
New Homes Bonus paid.  
 
The indicative amounts included in the Final Local Government Settlement are set out 
below: 
 
 
 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
 £m £m £m £m £m 

Improved Better Care Fund 0 0 1.6 9.9 17.2 
 
Source: Final core spending power supporting information published by DCLG Feb 2016 

 
 
It is not clear whether this money will be paid directly to local authorities. None of the 
Improved BCF monies have been included in this forecast.  
 
As Adult Social Care represents nearly one third of the Council’s net budget it is inevitable 
that further cuts will have to be made in this area. The scale of such cuts depends to some 
extent on the level of additional BCF the Council receives. 
 
1.8 Care Act 2014 
 
The Care Act 2014 brings a number of challenges to the Council but until further 

Page 130



 
 

information is available the forecast takes a neutral stance in terms of the impact of the 
new cap on care costs. 
 
1.9 Independent Living Fund 
 
For 2016/17 the Council will receive a grant of £2.1m for the administration of the 
Independent Living Fund (ILF). A modest 3.5%p.a. reduction in the ILF grant has been 
forecast over the period of this forecast in line with the indicative allocations. 
 
1.10 Living Wage 

 

The Council had previously introduced a local living wage from 1 October 2015 of £7.85 
per hour as a non consolidated supplement to pay. In the July 2015 Summer budget the 
government announced that a new compulsory National Living Wage (NLW) will come into 
effect for workers age 25 and above on 1st April 2016 at the rate of £7.20 per hour. A 
report to Executive on 3 November 2015 “Introduction of the Compulsory National Living 
Wage” included the estimated cost of the introduction of the National Living Wage on the 
Authority. Amounts have been included in the forecast based on the NLW rising to £9.00 
per hour by 1920/21. The potential liabilities for this will start to be felt in 2018/19. As a 
result amounts have been built into the forecast from 2018/19 for the pressure on the 
Council pay bill based on information contained within the report “AE” presented to 
Executive in November 2015. 
 
1.11 Devolution 

 

At the time of writing, discussions were underway between senior Leaders of the Regions, 
Councils and Government about a devolution agreement. Whether these negotiations will 
slow down or even stop following the EU referendum vote to leave the EU is unclear. For 
the purposes of the Forecast in this document, no assumptions, either positive or adverse 
have been made about the financial consequences of such a deal. 
 
1.12 Apprenticeship Levy 
 
A forecast of £1m p.a. has been included in the forecast for the introduction of 
Apprenticeship Levy from April 2017 for non schools pay. The levy is to be 0.5% of the 
total pay bill. As the criteria for eligible apprenticeships have not been fully worked through 
no income returned from the levy has been assumed in this forecast. 
 

Page 131



 
 

ANNEX C: RESOURCE FORECAST ASSUMPTIONS 

 
1.1 National influences  
 
The Local Government Settlement and the Chancellor’s March 2016 budget have both 
outlined that further austerity measures will be applied during the remainder of this current 
Parliament. There are several reviews and consultations taking place that will affect local 
government financing over the period covered by this forecast but as these have not yet 
concluded there is more uncertainty than in previous years. The reviews and consultations 
are referenced in the appropriate sections below.  
 
The EU referendum vote to leave the EU brings further uncertainty and it is unclear 
whether there will be an adjustment to local government finances or what the size of any 
such adjustment may be. No adjustments have been made to this forecast but the 
situation will be under constant review during the budget setting process.  
 
The 2016/17 change in Bradford’s core spending power was a reduction of 3.6% 
compared to an average of 2.3% for England. By the 2019/20 the forecast core spending 
for Bradford will be a reduction of 1.9% compared to the national average of 0.4%. 
However, the 1.9% reduction assumes that an additional £17.2m of Improved Better Care 
Fund is paid to Bradford Council and that the Council raises a further £14.4m through the 
social care precept.  This means that the level of spending reductions and reforms 
required in Bradford may be and perceived to be greater than elsewhere. 
 
Bradford Core Spending Power  
Source: Final core spending power supporting information published by DCLG Feb 2016 

 
 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Settlement Funding Assessment * 236.6 211.4 192.8 182.3 172.1 
Council Tax, of which: 150.1 159.1 169.4 180.5 192.6 
Council Tax Requirement excluding parish precepts 
(including base growth and levels increasing by CPI) 

150.1 156 162.9 170.3 178.2 

additional revenue from referendum principle for social 
care 

0 3.1 6.5 10.2 14.4 

Improved Better Care Fund 0 0 1.6 9.9 17.2 
New Homes Bonus† 9.6 11.4 11.5 7.2 6.9 

Core Spending Power 396.3 381.9 375.3 380.0 388.8 

*2019-20 Settlement Funding Assessment has been modified to include a provisional tariff or top-up adjustment 
†The New Homes Bonus is a pro-rata share of the assumed level of national control total for NHB using projected 
proportions of funding distributed to each authority for 2016/17. It is not therefore a forecast of the NHB likely to be 
received. 

 
a – Review of Relative Need 
 
A fundamental review of the relative need of local authorities is being undertaken for 
implementation in 2020. The relative need determines the baseline for the Settlement 
Funding Assessment, in other words it sets out how the pot of local government funding 
may be split. The baseline need is currently determined by the 2013/14 four block model, 
specific grants rolled into the Revenue Support Grant and subsequent funding reductions. 
The current four block model was frozen at 2013/14 and is derived from a Central 
Allocation (on a per capita basis), Relative Need (a combination of relative need 
measures), Relative Resource (council tax collected) and Damping (to restrict gains or 

Page 132



 
 

losses). 
 
The fundamental review of the relative needs is being undertaken by the Technical 
Working Group that reports into the Business Rates Retention Steering Group. The review 
will tackle some fundamental questions about need and how to measure it. A review on 
this scale has not been undertaken for a decade. A call for evidence was issued by DCLG 
on 5th July 2016 with responses due by 26th September 2016. 
 
It is likely that any gains or losses will be reflected through the top up/tariff adjustment. 
Bradford may gain or lose from this fundamental review but for the purposes of this 
forecast a neutral position has been adopted. 
 

b– Revenue Support Grant (RSG) (10% of 2016/17 gross funding excluding schools 
and 22% of 2016/17 net expenditure)  

 
The Final 2016/17 Local Government Settlement announced in February 2016 provided 
the opportunity for local authorities to apply for a multi year settlement up to and including 
2019/20. In essence the multi year settlement only covers the Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) and the rate of reduction during that period and it may be adjusted due to 
unforeseen circumstances. Clearly the result of the Brexit vote will be classed as an 
unforeseen event in relation to the multi year settlement. The Chancellor has announced 
that he will await the Office for Budget Responsibility’s forecast on the economy in the 
autumn and following that there may be an Autumn Budget. It is not known whether this 
will lead to further austerity measures or if such measures are implemented whether they 
will be directed towards local government. This forecast therefore assumes that the multi 
year settlement is still on offer. 
 
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in his statement to 
Parliament on 8th February 2016 said “ultimately the Revenue Support Grant will disappear 
altogether, as we move towards 100% business rate retention.” 
 
It is recommended that the Council applies for the multi year settlement and on that basis 
the indicative RSG published by DCLG has been included in this forecast. Annex D sets 
out the Council’s Efficiency Plan that underpins the application for the multi year 
settlement. 
 
Forecasted RSG † 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

onwards 

 £’m £’m £’m £’m 

RSG included in the forecast  62.8 48.5 34.1 0 
 
†Only 20177/18 to 20119/20 are covered by the multi year settlement 

 
The profile of reduction suggests a sharp fall between 2019/20 and 2020/21. In order to reduce the 
severity of the reduction in RSG from 2019/20 to 2020/21 the Council could choose to implement 
cuts earlier in order to smooth the impact of the reduction. 
 
 

c- Business Rates Retention 
 
The move to 100% business rates retention has been widely publicised and a Business 

Page 133



 
 

Rates Retention Steering Group has been established with government representatives 
and interested parties. It is being hosted by DCLG and the Local Government Association 
(LGA). In addition to the fundamental review of relative need there are also reviews on the 
NNDR baseline and new burdens associated with the move to 100% rates retention. A 
further two working groups are tasked with looking at these issues. A consultation on 
100% business rate retention was launched by DCLG on 5th July 2016 with responses due 
by 26th September 2016. 
 
Systems Design Working Group – this group is looking at the mechanisms needed to set 
up and run 100% business rate retention. It will cover many issues such as redistribution 
mechanisms, managing appeal risks, safety net, split between tiers of local government, 
amongst other issues.  
 
A key task for this working group is to make recommendations on establishing the new 
NNDR baselines for local authorities. The baseline will determine the target level of 
business rates to be collected by the Council. Over recent years the Council has not 
achieved the target level of business rates and the effect of appeals has exacerbated the 
gap between the baseline and actual business rate income. The NNDR baseline is 
important as it is deducted from the Settlement Funding Assessment to derive the top up 
grant the Council receives.  
 
It is not explicit from the papers released so far but it appears that there will not be a levy 
system for above target growth in future. The levy system was introduced to avoid local 
authorities with potential for high growth making large surpluses and the levies were used 
to fund the safety net for local authorities that failed to reach a set percentage of their 
business rates. If the levy system is abolished this will remove the incentive for business 
rate pools as it is the levy payable that is redirected into the local business rate pool rather 
than back to central government. 
 
The NNDR baseline and mechanisms to be put in place for 100% business rate retention 
may lead to gains or losses for Bradford, independent to the review of relative needs. In 
this forecast it has been assumed that the NNDR baseline will be neutral for Bradford. 
 
Responsibilities Working Group – this working group is reviewing the potential new 
burdens that will come with 100% business rate retention. It has been assumed that the 
move to 100% business rates retention will be fiscally neutral for HM Treasury so the new 
burdens will be offset by any increased share of the business rates income.  
 
One issue that caused some concern was the extension of the Small Business Rate Relief 
for which local authorities are compensated for the loss of income by a s31 grant funded 
from central government’s share of the business rate income. The Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government has indicated that when 100% business rate 
retention is introduced the new burdens will be adjusted to allow for the current s31 
compensation.  
 
Alongside the business rates reform there will also be a business rates revaluation 
introduced in 2017 which is likely to bring fresh appeals. Nothing has been factored into 
this forecast for the effect of the 2017 business rates revaluation. 
 
To compare the proportion of the rateable value that attracts small business rate relief the 
NNDR1 2016-17 returns have been analysed. To aid comparison the small business rate 

Page 134



 
 

relief forecast to be given was divided by the small business rate multiplier to give an 
estimated rateable value of the properties attracting relief. The results of the analysis are 
shown in the table below: 
 
Comparison of Small Business Rateable Values as a proportion of Total Rateable Value 
Authority Total 

Rateable 
Value 

Small 
Business Rate 

Relief 

Rateable Value on 
which relief given (rate 

relief ÷ 0.484) 

Rateable Value attracting 
relief as a percentage of total 

Rateable Value 
 £m £m £m % 

Kirklees 281 13.8 28.4 10.1 
Calderdale 158 6.9 14.2 9.0 
Bradford 384 16.5 34.1 8.9 
Wakefield 309 8.0 16.5 5.4 
Leeds 918 16.8 34.7 3.8 
Westminster 4,116 2.2 4.6 0.1 
England  57,365 1,126.7 2,327.8 4.1 
Source NNDR1 Returns 2016/17 
 

The table on small business rate reliefs illustrate significant differences in the proportion of 
relief forecast between different local authority areas. Leeds and Bradford have similar 
monetary amounts of small business rate relief. However, for Bradford this represents 
8.9% of the total rateable value compared to only 3.8% in Leeds. The comparison with 
Westminster  is even starker. 
 
Out of the 36 metropolitan boroughs/districts, Kirklees, Calderdale and Bradford have the 
highest percentage of rateable value attracting relief as a proportion of the total rateable 
values in their respective areas. This doesn’t necessarily correlate to a vibrant, young 
entrepreneurial sector but is more likely to be a reflection of property values. 
 
A breakdown of the composition of the rateable value shows that 28% of the business rate 
base is retail based with 18% categorised as industrial.  
 
 
Rateable value analysis by business type 
Property Type Rateable Value % of total 

Shops, banks, post offices etc. 109,224 28% 
Industrial 69,060 18% 
Warehouses, stores etc. 54,985 14% 
Offices 49,593 13% 
Other commercial 34,318 9% 
Education, training and cultural 32,891 9% 
Other 33,952 9% 
Total 384,024 100% 

 
Macro economic issues clearly impact on the local economy but the biggest cause of 
volatility on the business rate income is caused by successful appeals. The business 
rateable values are set by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) and any appeals against 
those valuations are heard by the VOA. The Council has no say in the appeal process. In 
2015/16 a successful appeal on purpose built GP surgeries has led to a repayment of 
£14m of which the Council had to bear £7m. 
 
A potential new power was suggested would become available to local government to cut 
the business rate multiplier going forward but such a power could quite easily become a 
race to the bottom and is also fraught with potential state aid implications. 
 

Page 135



 
 

d- Schools National Funding Formula and Academisation 
 
The Education Bill outlined in the Queen’s speech will include: 
 

• A new funding formula to deliver fair funding for every school and pupil in the 

country, 

• New laws to expand the academies programme in the poorest performing local 

authority areas.   

 
First stage consultations have now closed on the proposed Schools National Funding 
Formula and the responses will be used to inform the second stage consultation process. 
The first stage dealt with principles and general proposals so it is not possible at this stage 
to try to understand any change in the totality of funding into the Bradford District or in the 
distribution of funding between types of schools and academies. 
 
The academisation programme will undoubtedly change the relationship of the Council 
with schools and hence the Council will need to carefully consider the activities it 
undertakes in respect of the education agenda. 
 
The amount of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is in the main passported directly to 
schools and therefore the transfers to academies, whilst affecting how the Council might 
undertake its duties in respect of education, will have a lesser effect on the net budget of 
the Council. However, there is an amount of DSG that is used to fund services provided by 
the Council and this has been forecast to decline as we move to a sector led model. 
 
For the purposes of this forecast we have assumed that the Education Services Grant 
(ESG) will reduce to just £0.5m from 2018/19. 
 
1.2     Local Influences 
 
a) Business Rates (7% of 2016/17 gross funding excluding schools and 17% of 

2016/17 net expenditure)  
 
As explained above the landscape for business rates is changing which makes the 
forecasting of the business rate income difficult. For the purposes of this forecast any 
changes to the national system are assumed to be revenue neutral to Bradford. However, 
as mentioned in section 1.1d above the academisation process will impact on business 
rate income as schools that convert to academy status will get mandatory relief as 
charities, which is estimated to be in the region of £3.1m. 
 
For future years the MTFS assumes a minimum underlying level of growth in the Council’s 
net Business rates yield consistent with an annual increase in Business rates multiplier 
capped at 2%.  
 
In 2016/17 the Council is to receive £6.1m in Section 31 grants to compensate the Council 
for the loss of business rates income as a result of Business Rates Reliefs included in the 
March 2016 budget.  
 
The Forecast assumes that the Council’s current Discretionary Rate Relief continues in its 
current form and is not extended to include growth incentives. 

Page 136



 
 

 
The cost of appeals against the 2010 rating list continues to adversely affect the Council’s 
Business Rates income. At 31 March 2016, based on information provided by the 
Government’s Valuation Office Agency, there were 1918 appeals outstanding with a 
Rateable Value of £178m. To cover the cost of settling these appeals an estimated 
£12.2m has been provided for in the Business Rates Collection Fund. This has contributed 
to a deficit on the Business Rates Collection Fund at 31 March 2016. Bradford’s share of 
which (49%) will be recouped in 2016/17 from locally retained Business Rates income in 
order to bring the Collection Fund back into balance. 
 
The Council continues to commit to being a Member of the Leeds City Region Pool along 
with the other four West Yorkshire Authorities, Harrogate and York.  The advantage of the 
pooling arrangement is that levy income generated by Leeds, Harrogate and York is 
retained in the region as opposed to being paid over to the Government. The future 
distribution of any levy income generated will be determined by the Leeds City Region 
Business Rates Joint Committee and is outside the scope of this Forecast.  
 
The business rate reforms may lead to the levy being abolished which would remove one 
of the primary reasons for establishing a business rates pool. 
 

b Council Tax Levels (19 % of 2016/17 gross funding excluding schools and 
43% of 2016/17 net expenditure)  

 
For 2016/17 the limit on raising council tax remained at 2% but a new power was 
introduced to raise up to an additional 2% in council tax through a social care precept, 
recognising the continued and growing pressure on the adult social care budget. With a 
2016/17 Band D Council tax of £1,198.08 (including the social care precept of 2.0%) the 
Council continues to set one of the lowest Band D Council Taxes of all Metropolitan 
Districts.  
 
In total the Council budgeted to raise £160m in Council Tax in 2016/17.  
 
Any future increase in Council Tax will be consulted on as part of the Budget process. In 
February 2016 Full Council indicated a 3.99% Council Tax rise for 2017/18. This figure has 
been included in this forecast but no further Council Tax rises have been included for 
future years. If the Council Tax rise of 3.99% is not agreed for 2017/18 this would widen 
the gap for 2017/18 by a further £6.4m. 
 
No Council Tax freeze grant was offered as part of the Final Local Government 
Settlement, which together with the social care precept is a significant shift in central 
government policy.  
 
With early indications pointing to a growing number of new properties being built in the 
District the Council Tax base has been increased by an estimated 750 Band D properties 
in 2017/18 and a further 0.6% in subsequent years. This may prove to be a relatively 
cautious estimate and will be kept under review as the Local Plan is implemented. 
 
It is important to understand the profile of the categorisation of properties in the District 
and the effect it has on limiting the revenue that can be raised through Council Tax 
increase compared to more affluent areas. The table below shows that 121,375 or 78% of 

Page 137



 
 

properties fall within bands below Band D. This clearly limits the amount of money that a 
rise in Council Tax will raise compared to other districts that have property profiles skewed 
to higher council tax bands. 
 
Council Tax Band Analysis 2016/17 

  A* A B C D E F G H Total 

             

Equivalent number of 
properties 86 55,461 34,158 31,670 15,031 10,845 5,196 3,306 232 155,985 
             

Band D Ratio 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9   
             
             

Band D Equivalent 
number of properties 48 36,974 26,567 28,151 15,031 13,255 7,506 5,509 464 133,505 

 
 
The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTR) provides help with Council Tax for people on 
low incomes. As a result of more people being in employment the CTR awarded in the 
current year is reducing. This gives the Council the opportunity to either:-  

• change the current CTR scheme by increasing the protection granted to vulnerable 
groups or reducing the percentage of Council tax residents on low income are 
expected to pay; or 

• increase. the Council Tax base included in the Forecast and reduce the funding gap 
identified in each year of the Forecast. 

   

2.1 Core Funding – specific grants 

 

In addition to the funding announced in the Final Local Government Settlement details of 
the main grants that will be paid to the Council have been announced which will be used to 
fund over £71m of the Council’s gross expenditure, the most significant being the ring 
fenced Public Health Grant. 
 

 
2016/17 

£m 
 Local Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit Admin 
Subsidy  3.1 

Public Health Grant  44.0 

Education Services Grant 7.0 

New Homes Bonus 11.2 

Returned New Homes Bonus top sliced monies 0.3 

Section 31 Business Rates Compensation  

   Small Business Rates 4.1 

   Top Up and Multiplier 2% Cap 1.9 

   Retail Reliefs 0.1 

Total 71.7 

 
Lead Local Flood Authority grant and Adult Care Act New Burdens grant have been rolled 
into the RSG as part of the 2016 Final Settlement. 

Page 138



 
 

 
a) Public Health 
 
To cover the cost of public health services delivered by the Council, the Department of 
Health will pay the Council a ring fenced grant of £44.0m in 2016/17 which includes the full 
year effect of district health visiting responsibilities which transferred to the Council on 1 
October 2015. The Head of Public Health England has indicated the probable level of cuts 
to the Public Health grant up to and including 2019/20. These cuts have been included in 
this forecast. This means future contract inflationary pressures will have to be absorbed 
from the within the Public Health grant.  
 
It is thought that with the introduction of 100% retention of business rates that the Public 
Health grant will disappear and become part of the new burdens to be funded by business 
rates. This forecast assumes that the level of Public Health funding will remain cash flat 
post 2020.  
 

b) Education Services Grant (ESG) 

 
The Council and Academies in the District are allocated an Education Services Grant 
(ESG) on a per pupil basis according to the number of pupils for whom they are 
responsible. There have been further cuts to the ESG in 2016/17. The current consultation 
on the National Schools Funding Formula indicates that ESG will be significantly reduced. 
The level of ESG has therefore been phased down to just £0.5m in 2018/19 from the 
current level of £6.35m. The grant is not ring fenced; therefore the forecast has not 
assumed that savings equal to the reduction in the grant will be made in those areas that 
ESG currently funds.  

c) New Homes Bonus Grant 

 
The Chancellor announced in the 2015 Spending Review that the New Homes Bonus 
(NHB) needed to reduce by at least £800m in order to redirect funding to adult social care 
(i.e. Improved BCF). A consultation was launched in December 2015 which has now 
closed and central government are considering the responses. Any announcement on a 
revised NHB is unlikely to be made until later this year.  
 
One option included in the consultation was to reduce the number of years NHB would be 
paid from six years to four years. The amount included in this forecast is the removal of 
one year funding in 2017/18 and the removal of two years funding from 2018/19. 
 
The estimated amount of NHB in future years is based on a rolling average of the previous 
three years. For 2018/19 onwards a scaling reduction has been applied to keep the New 
Homes Bonus within the forecast national control total. 
 
In 2017/18 a forecast return of NHB of £2m has been included in the forecast based on 
the assumption that the removal of one year NHB funding for 2017/18 will release some of 
the top slice taken by DCLG. 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



 
 

Forecast New Homes Bonus 

 
  

2014/15    
£000 

2015/16    
£000 

2016/17    
£000 

2017/18    
£000 

2018/19    
£000 

2019/20    
£000 

2020/21    
£00 

 

Year 1 (Actual)  2,760 2,760 2,760 0 0 0 0  

Year 2 (Actual)  1,150 1,150 1,150 0 0 0 0  

Year 3 (Actual))  1,756 1,756 1,756 1,756 0 0 0  

Year 4 (Actual))  1,864 1,864 1,864 1,864 0 0 0  

Year 5 (Actual)   1,708 1,708 1,708 1,708 0 0  

Year 6 (Actual)    1,916 1,916 1,916 1,916 0  

Year  7 (Est)      1,829 1,829 1,829 1,829  

Year  8 (Est )      1,818 1,818 1,818  

Year  9 (Est )       1,854 1,854  

Year  10 (Est )        1,834  

Less scaling to 
remain within 
national control 
total      (917) (1,278) (1.093) 

 

Total 7,530 9,238 11,154 9,073 6,354 6,139 6,242 

 

A more radical option in the NHB consultation is potentially to withhold all or part of the 
payment of NHB for local authorities that have not produced a local plan. We have 
assumed that such a measure would not be applied to Bradford. 

 

d) Local Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit Administration 

With no clarity on when Housing Benefit Administration will fully transfer to the Department 
of Work and Pensions (DWP), a reduction of 9.6% has been assumed in the two separate 
grants the Council receives to fund the cost of administering Council Tax reduction (CTR) 
scheme and Housing Benefit. The reduction has been factored into the underlying funding 
gap as opposed to being addressed by the Service. 
 

e) Local Welfare Assistance Funding 

The Forecast assumes no external funding for Local Welfare Assistance. 

 

3.1 Schools Funding  

Of the Council’s gross spend of nearly £1.3bn, £419.5m is spent by schools and funded 
from the ring fenced grants, Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), Pupil Premium and Post 16 
funding.  

The funding system for schools is currently very fluid and the timescale for the introduction 
of the anticipated national funding formula for primary and secondary schools is still 
unclear. 

Page 140



 
 

4.1 Reserves 

At the start of year, the Council has £19.9m of unallocated reserves, £6.2m of which have 
been used immediately to support the 2016/17 Budget. This leaves just £13.8m (1.5% of 
the Council’s gross budget excluding schools) as a contingency reserve.  

The level of unallocated reserves will be kept under the review, in the light of the Council’s 
External Auditor’s recommendation in their June 2015 report on the Council’s 
arrangements for securing Value for Money “that unallocated reserves should not be 
allowed to fall below the level determined prudent by the Council’s Section 151 Officer”. 

 
All other balances are set aside to meet the cost of future commitments and political 
priorities. The utilisation and purpose of which will be subject to regular scrutiny.  
 
5.1 European Funding 
 
The Council is in receipt of EU Structural funds and works with businesses and the VCS 
across the district on EU programmes.  It is anticipated that following the vote to leave the 
EU that central government monies will be directed to the regions to replace any potential 
loss of EU structural funding. 
 
If the funding is not replaced it will have a negative impact on the range and type of 
interventions the Council can be involved with. 

Page 141



 
 

ANNEX D:  EFFICIENCY PLAN 
 
This Efficiency Plan is a continuation of the Planning Framework and Strategies for 
Delivering Planning and Efficiencies that the Council has been implementing since the 
beginning of austerity. The Efficiency Plan will be used to support any application for a 
multi-year financial settlement with central government. 
 
The Council has published a District Plan, and is developing a Council Plan for formal 
adoption in September.  The latter will be the mechanism through which detailed service 
and internal budget plans will be developed, in order to keep Council performance 
effective and finance sustainable.  
 
Between 2011/12 and 2015/16 the Council delivered net cost reductions totalling £172.6m, 
and has plans to deliver £45.6m more in 2016/17 and £25.3m more in 2017/18 (already 
reflected in the forecast). 
 
In defining future service changes and associated budgets, it will build on the approach 
adopted hitherto which has included: 
 

• Being clear about its priorities, and assessing budget proposals against them 

• Explaining the financial challenges facing the Council 

• Working with partners, stakeholder and citizens to explore what people should be 
able to expect from local services, what it is reasonable to pay or pay more for, 
what they are responsible for themselves and within their communities, what people 
can contribute and what support they might need 

• Consulting on specific changes in informal and formal ways, and taking account of 
feedback before setting the final Budget 

• Where appropriate balancing cost reduction with growth and investment. 
 
 
The budget reductions from 2011/12 to 2016/17 by department are shown in the table 
below: 
 
Budget reductions by department 2011/12 to 2016/17 £m 
Adult and Community Services 53.9 
Cross cutting and non service 42.1 
Children and Young People 37.2 
Regeneration 23.2 
Support Services 21.2 
Environment and Sport 17.3 
Finance 10.8 
Travel Assistance 7.8 
Public Health 4.7 
Total 218.2 

 
The table illustrates that despite £63m of the reductions coming from cross cutting, non 
service and support services there has still been a large proportion of the reductions to the 
biggest spending departments. Given the size of the reductions required this is 
unsurprising. 
 
If the savings over the same period are analysed by type of saving it is clear that 
efficiency, restructuring and management savings have contributed to the biggest share. 

Page 142



 
 

In later years these savings as a proportion of the total have reduced where cessation and 
reduction in services are now becoming more prominent. 
 
 
Budget reductions by type 2011/12 to 2016/17 
Savings Type £m % 

Efficiency, restructuring and management 56.2 26 
Renegotiate contracts, better commissioning 30.6 14 
Back office support, training and equipment 26.1 12 
Cease or reduce service delivery 25.4 11 
Reduce non service expenditure and base budget provisions 22.0 10 
Increased income (charges, trading and grants) 11.2 5 
Reduce demand, requirements, prices 8.7 4 
Property and utility costs 6.9 3 
Change to eligibility 6.5 3 
Transfer to alternative providers 6.0 3 
Partners contributions and collaboration 5.6 3 
Reduce grants and third party payments 4.1 2 
Savings from invest to save/prevention 3.6 2 
Public Health support 2.9 2 
Terms and conditions 1.5 1 
Transitional support to move to new delivery model 0.7 0 
Total 218.2 100 

 
It is also worth noting that the savings category that has been one of the most difficult to 
achieve is the increased income which reflects the price elasticity of demand for many of 
the Council services and also the impact of the economy on the level of income generated 
e.g. planning fees. 
 
Contingency budgets have been utilised to plug the gap where budget reduction plans 
have not been implemented to plan. In addition reserves will have to be utilised in order to 
fund transition costs as Council services are reshaped. 
 
Another lesson from the previous five years of budget reductions is that small scale 
reductions can generate a lot of resistance for example closure of public conveniences. 
 
Stakeholder engagement is vital if budget reduction plans are to succeed and diversifying 
the risk across different types of budget reductions provides resilience in achieving those 
reductions. 
 
It is also very clear that Council tax increases are an increasingly essential component for 
setting a balanced budget as central government support reduces. This was also reflected 
in the core spending figures published as part of the Local Government Final Settlement. 
 
All of these factors inform the budget setting process which is set out in more detail in the 
next section. 
 
1.1 Budget Setting for 2017/18 and Beyond  
 
To manage changes in future resources, service demand and the impact on spending 
levels requires a robust planning framework. Budget setting is at the core of the financial 
planning process. It is a complex process that must be fully integrated with the Council’s 
strategic planning, service planning and value for money planning. 
 

Page 143



 
 

Given the size of the task remaining to reduce the size of the Council’s budget, the Council 
is adopting an Outcome Based Budgeting approach as the methodology to set its future 
budgets. This approach is to design what the Council should undertake in the future to 
have the biggest positive impact on the Council priorities with a net budget of £300m in 
real terms by April 2020. 
 
The Council Priorities are: 
 
● Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy 
● A great start and good schools for all our children 
● Better health, better lives 
● Safe, clean and active communities 
● Decent homes that people can afford to live in 
 
Boards have been set up to determine what the sub-outcomes need to be in order to 
deliver the Council Priorities and then to set out the actions the Council will undertake to 
best achieve those sub-outcomes. There is full engagement with the Executive on the 
Outcome Based Budget process. The process has already commenced and a structured 
plan will be implemented to change the shape of the Council. From the Outcome Based 
Budgeting approach the shape of the Council in April 2020 will be designed and budget 
proposals formulated to determine the staging posts in order to get to that April 2020 
position. Firm 2017/18 budget proposals will be consulted on from late 2016 with 
proposals also set out for 2018/19.   
 
In determining its Budget, the Council will take account of the public sector equality  
duty as detailed in the Equality Act 2010. The public sector equality duty requires the 
Council when exercising its functions to have due regard to the need to: 
 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010 

• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 

• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The Council will ensure that there is meaningful consultation throughout this process. The 
Council will ensure it meets its legal obligations in this respect, both as a public authority 
responsible for the delivery of services in the District, and as an employer (in the event that 
workforce implications are envisaged). 
 
The Council will apply rigorous project management principles to its budget setting 
process to ensure consistency, effective management of interdependencies across 
Council services and compliance with the principles of the current internal design. 

1.2 Value for Money  

 
The Council will use a full range of strategies, approaches and tools to ensure it gets value 
for every pound it spends. They include: 
 

• Exploring the options for innovative and alternative models of service delivery 

Page 144



 
 

• Commissioning and procurement strategies and frameworks 

• Reviewing and identifying the opportunities to share services and jointly 
commission services with other organisations 

• A performance management framework 

• Use of a wide range of management information on efficiency and productivity 

• External benchmark and other comparative indicators 

• Qualitative surveys 

• User involvement (co-production, devolved decision-making) and emphasis on 
social value 

• Demand management and other techniques to manage non-pay costs 

• Pricing and charging 

• Contract management tools 

• Business case and other decision-support techniques 

• Cross-Agency pooling of resources 

• System and process reviews 
 

1.3 Statutory Framework 

 
When the Council is looking at proposed service changes and reductions, the impact that 
change or reduction may have on the Council’s continued compliance with its statutory 
duties must also be considered.  The Council will need to consider how it can continue to 
comply with its statutory duties but at a reduced level and whether the risks of reducing the 
level of compliance are acceptable in the context of a significantly reduced budget. 
  
1.4 Partnership Working  
 
The partnerships and networks are responsible, with the Bradford District Partnership 
(BDP) Board, for shared outcomes identified by the BDP and partnerships. The Board 
provides strategic leadership and oversight to the delivery of shared priorities and provides 
a collective response to challenges facing the district.   
 
1.5 Relationship with the Voluntary and Community Sector 

 
The Council values its relationship with the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) as a 
partner and recognises the significant role it plays in delivering on our shared priorities for 
the District.  
 
As Government reforms and reductions in public spending continue to take effect, the 
Council remains committed to working with the VCS through the Bradford District VCS 
Assembly, engaging in a mature and on-going dialogue about delivering on priorities and 
addressing the key strategic issues affecting the District. In particular, the Council will seek 
the close involvement of the sector in reviewing VCS commissioning arrangements.  
 
1.6 Relationship with Business Sector 
 
To help deliver a thriving local economy and support business growth the Council 
maintains strong links to the business community in order to understand its needs and 
help identify potential opportunities for investment and growth. The Council will 
continue this approach to working with the private sector through direct contact with 

Page 145



 
 

business and through relevant partnerships/networks. This activity helps to both promote 
Bradford District as a place to do business in and to support local entrepreneurs, skills and 
the delivery of additional employment opportunities.   
 
1.7  Role of Local Councils 
 
Within the Bradford District there are eighteen Town and Parish councils. These local 
councils have three main responsibilities: 
 

• Represent their local communities; 

• Delivering services to meet local need; 

• Striving to improve the quality of life in the parish 
 
The local councils can raise their own precepts to help fund these responsibilities. The 
local councils are the first tier of local government. The Council will continue to engage 
with the local councils in order to ensure that services are delivered by those best placed 
to do so. 
  

1.8 Community Budgets / Payment by Results  

 
The Council is committed to making wise use of the totality of all of the assets and 
resources available to the District.  This means thinking more radically and planning for 
larger-scale transformational change in service delivery. It is clear that efficiency measures 
alone will not be sufficient to meet the challenges that the District faces.   

1.9 Social Investment 

 
The Council is also willing to explore opportunities to fund services through social 
investment. Essentially social investment can offer the investment to fund services with the 
investment being repaid usually in return for moderate returns. For instance social impact 
bonds may improve the social outcomes of publicly funded services by making funding 
conditional on achieving results. 
 
1.10 Alternative Delivery Models 
 
The Council will continue to explore the options on alternative delivery models and adopt 
these where it makes sense to do so. The key principle is to offer the best service and 
outcome rather than allow the choice of model to direct the approach to the arrangement. 
 
Types of delivery model include:  
 
In house provision 
Strategic partnership 
Shared services 
Outsourcing 
Establish separate corporate entity to deliver services 
Establish a staff mutual 
  

Page 146



 
 

1.11 Internal Changes 

Managing the Council’s Buildings 

 
The Property Programme to manage the Council’s buildings is now nine years into a 10 
year invest-to-save strategy. Since its inception 65 properties have been vacated and 
gross revenue savings of £5.2m per year generated. Future objectives will include; 
 

• Completing approved schemes as planned and continuing work to optimise the size 
and quality of the Council’s estate. Schemes that are nearing completion will deliver 
an extra £2m per year savings.   

• Identifying opportunities to share property with other public sector partners as part 
of the Government’s One Public Estate initiative.  

• Ensuring that all property issues generated from the Council’s Efficiency Plan are 
managed.  

 
1.12  Contingency Planning 
 
The Council has a Risk Management Strategy and from this the Council identifies the main 
risk to its operations in the Risk Register. To recognise the risks, contingencies in the base 
budget have been set at a level consistent with experience in 2015/16. Clearly the 
financial landscape of the Council is subject to change and the EU Referendum result to 
leave the EU has brought further uncertainty to the shape of that landscape. Issues that 
emerge will be assessed on an on-going basis and if it is considered necessary spending 
plans will be adjusted accordingly. 
 
In addition to the contingencies specific provisions have been set aside in relation to 
liabilities that are likely to arise. 
 
At the 31st March 2016, the Council set aside £22.7m, of which £9.4m is expected to be 
used in 2016-17 with the remainder in subsequent years. Provisions are £2.7m higher 
than at the 2014-15 year end. 

 
The main provisions include: 

• £8.4m Termination Provision to fund the cost of future redundancies 

• £6.0m Business Rates appeal provision 

• £4.0m Outstanding legal claims 

• £3.9m Damage Compensation 
  

1.13  Reserves Policy  

 
In turbulent financial times, the Council’s unallocated reserves enable a balanced budget 
to be set as the Council moves to a smaller organisation. However they cannot sustain day 
to day services on an on-going basis. 
 

The Council will continue to use balances prudently, recognising that the volatile fiscal 
climate requires the Council to remain resilient, through the retention of adequate 
balances.   
 

Page 147



 
 

The Council has a long standing principle to maintain a prudent level of general reserves. 
This is currently set at 2.5% of the net budget each year and informed by a risk 
assessment. 
 
With a financial gap of £109m it is inevitable that there will be some call on reserves but 
the unallocated reserves of £13.8m are just 12.6% of the forecast gap. 
 
Whilst the balance of reserves appears to be healthy, a closer inspection reveals how 
these are forecast to reduce over the period of this forecast. 
 
Reserves as at 31 March 2016 
Reserve category £m 

Service earmarked reserves 42.8 
Capital reserves 13.1 
Unallocated reserves 19.9 
Corporate earmarked reserves 38.9 
Grant reserves 8.4 
School balances 33.8 
General reserve 10.8 
Total 167.7 

 
Of the service earmarked reserves of £42.8m one quarter of these are expected to be 
utilised in 2016/17 with the remainder forecast to be used over the period up to April 2020. 
The capital reserve is fully allocated to support the financing of the capital investment plan. 
 
At the start of 2016/17 there were unallocated reserves of £19.9m available of which 
£6.2m were used immediately to support the 2016/17 Budget. This leaves just £13.8m or 
1.5% of gross Council expenditure. 
 

Accordingly, reserves should be used only to: 
 

• Support transitional arrangements both organisational and in our communities, in 
recognition of the fact that some changes cannot be implemented in one financial 
year or over the short-term. 

• Fund non-recurrent or time limited activities contributing to Council priorities (where 
there is a compelling business case)  

• Support invest-to-save activity 
 
Of the corporate earmarked reserves, £12.3m is set aside for specific work on skills jobs 
and economy. These one off funds are being used to facilitate the growth of the local 
economy and ultimately an increase in business rates.  
 
£11.5m of the corporate earmarked reserves are set aside for specific risk such as 
insurance claims, transitional activity, and partially exempt VAT liabilities. Of these £3.6m 
are due to be used in 2016/17. 
 
£4.1m of the corporate earmarked reserves are set aside for severance costs which will 
need to be funded as the size of the Council reduces. 
 
£4m of the corporate earmarked reserves are to be used for waste minimisation actions to 
facilitate a reduction in waste collection and disposal costs. 
 

Page 148



 
 

£2.8m of the corporate earmarked reserves relate to deferred expenditure which will be 
utilised in full during 2016/17. 
 
The £8.4m of grant reserves are specific sums of money to be spent in line with the grant 
conditions. 
 
School balances are controlled by the Schools Forum and there is little scope for the 
Council to influence the use of these reserves. 
 
To sum up, the level of reserves is forecast to reduce significantly during the period 
covered by the Efficiency Plan. 
 
1.13   Treasury Management  
 
There has been a clear trend of reducing cash balances and during 2015/16 cash and 
cash equivalents have reduced by £24.4m to £70.5m as at 31 March 2016. This will be 
kept under review and there may be a point reached during the next few years where 
borrowing is required in order to maintain sufficient working capital for the Council to run its 
operations. 
 

1.14 Fees, Charges and Income Stability 

 
In the past two years a clear picture emerged of the difficulties faced by Services 
dependent on external fees and charges. To address this matter selected income targets 
have been reduced. Going forward Services should continue to  
 

•  maximise income opportunities whilst having regard to Council and partners 
priorities, service performance and the impact on key service groups and 
businesses in Bradford. 

 

• have regard to the cost of collection when setting charges and aim to recover 
promptly all income that it is due. 
 

• explore trading and charging opportunities where it makes commercial sense to do 
so. 
 

• consider the investment strategy relating to property holdings where a strong 
business case suggests that there may be opportunities to gain an income stream 
from such investments. 
 

1.15 Council Tax Setting 

 
Historically the Council has set relatively low levels of Council Tax, below  
the averages for both Metropolitan Districts and all local authorities in England. This 
means that there is a wider gap between resources and expenditure when there are 
reductions in central government funding than would be the case if Council Tax were at 
average levels. 
 

Page 149



 
 

Going forward the key objective will be to strike a balance between protecting services, 
investing in priority areas, delivering value for money and setting an appropriate level of 
Council Tax. 
 
For 2016/17 the Government announced that Councils with responsibility for adult social 
care would be allowed to raise a social care precept of up to 2% on top of the basic 
council tax increase. For the 2016/17 Full Council chose to raise the social care precept by 
2% and a forecast has been made to do so again in 2017/18. Given the increasing 
pressure on social care costs the approval of raising further funding through the social 
care precept makes financial sense.  
 
The Council aims to collect a minimum of 97.4% of all Council Tax debt raised.  
 
In addition to the Council Tax and Social Care Precept the local town and parish councils 
also raise their own precepts which are used to deliver services in their local areas. 
 

1.16 Budgetary Control and Monitoring  

 

• Budgets will be controlled by the relevant budget holders, monitored regularly 
throughout the year and reported alongside performance information to individual 
Assistant Directors and Strategic Directors on a monthly basis. Executive will 
receive quarterly reports to ensure that action is taken to address any significant 
unplanned deficits or surpluses. 

 

• Service areas are required in the first instance to accommodate unforeseen 
expenditure or income shortfalls from within their approved cash limits in any 
particular year. Allocations from reserves will only be made if there is no alternative 
and on the approval of Executive. 
 

• The Budget Delivery Board receives monthly reports on an exception basis and 
reviews the delivery of the budget proposals approved by Full Council. Where 
budget proposals are not proceeding to plan corrective action is recommend by the 
Board. 

 
The detailed principles applying to all aspects of financial management are set out in the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 
1.17 Internal Control and Reporting 
 
The maintenance of a sound internal control environment is paramount, and the Council 
has developed and embedded effective corporate governance.  Within the prevailing 
internal and external protocols and guidance, including the Annual Governance Statement, 
the Council will aim to deliver best practice in this important area. 
 
Financial monitoring and reporting will be undertaken in accordance with the budget 
management and control framework and in line with the corporate financial monitoring and 
reporting timetable.  The current and estimated year end financial position will be reported, 
including progress against savings targets at regular intervals to both Members and 
officers. Reporting will be on an exception basis bringing managers’ and Members’ 
attention to important financial issues linked to cost drivers and strategy. The emphasis will 

Page 150



 
 

be on future corrective action to bring performance back on track rather than explaining 
past performance. 
 
Quarterly financial monitors presented to Members will report on key balance sheet 
balances as well as the forecast revenue and capital expenditure positions.  

1.18 Improvements in Management Information 

  
A programme of work continues to make more use of activity-based and unit cost 
information, to focus more on productivity and value for money.  Performance is reported 
alongside financial stewardship reporting. 

1.19 Performance Management Arrangements 

 
The regular reporting of key corporate indicators and measures to Members is a key 
element of the Council’s corporate performance framework that provides assurance 
around service performance, the Council’s contribution to District outcomes, value for 
money and informs decision-making. At a time of reduced resources and increasing 
demand, the Corporate Indicator set is part of a performance framework that helps the 
Council be smarter about where to allocate its budget and assets and to measure their 
impact. 
 

The Council has 45 headline indicators on which it monitors progress.  

1.20 Transparency  

 
The Council is committed to adhering to the statutory Transparency Code that provides 
local people with the tools and information they need to enable them to play a bigger role 
in shaping the services the Council provides. 

1.21 Capital Financing and the Capital Investment Plan (CIP) 

 
Capital spending will remain a significant aspect of the Council’s financial strategy, with 
planned capital investment of £350.2m during the period from 2016/17 to 2020/21.   
 
The profile of the capital expenditure is as follows: 
 
Capital Investment Plan (CIP) profile 
2016/17 

£m 
2017/18 

£m 
2018/19 

£m 
2019/20 

£m 
2020/21 

£m 
Total 

£m 

107.4 111.9 91.0 22.6 17.3 350.2 

 
Slippage in the profile of capital spending will lead to one off savings in the capital 
financing budget as a higher proportion of the CIP is now funded from corporate resources 
compared with previous years. 
 
The analysis of the planned capital spending by Council Outcomes is shown in the table 
below: 
 
 
 

Page 151



 
 

Capital Investment Plan analysed by outcome 
Outcome Planned Spend £m 

Better skills, more good jobs and a growing economy 116.0 
A great start and good schools for all our children 63.8 
Better Health, Better Lives 63.7 
Decent Homes that people can afford to live in 50.3 
Safe, clean and active communities 32.6 
Enabling activities 14.8 
Contingency 9.0 

Total 350.2 

 
The revenue budget associated with financing the capital investment plan does have 
headroom for additional capital spend of up to £50m (in totality – this is not a per annum 
figure). Or there could be a choice to freeze any new capital spending plans and take the 
revenue savings. 
 
Forecast Capital Financing 
Budget 

2016-17 
£000 

2017-18 
£000 

2018-19 
£000 

2019-20 
£000 

2020-21 
£000 

Forecast      
Interest 19,940 18,153 17,900 17,891 17,194 
Premia/Discounts 285 285 285 285 285 
Principal on Historic Spend 15,255 15,060 14,464 13,948 13,948 
Principal on Planned Spend 0 2,761 5,528 6,544 7,853 
Available New Spend/Revenue 
Saving 6,420 6,002 4,366 4,505 4,493 
Total 41,900 42,261 42,543 43,173 43,773 

 
The Council’s objectives in managing the CIP and its financing are: 

• To ensure that the schemes in the CIP are funded in the most cost effective way for 
the Council.  

• To ensure that the financing costs fall as revenue resources reduce and therefore 
do not become an unsustainable burden on the Council revenue. 

• To manage the portfolio of debt in such a way that the Council is not exposed to 
major shifts in interest rates by managing the maturity structure of debt and 
exposure to interest fluctuations. 

• To ensure that  capital spending is aligned to the Council’s priorities 
 
Given the Government no longer provides additional resources to fund new borrowing by 
the Council, key to the Council’s capital financing strategy is to manage down its corporate 
borrowing and at the same time reduce the reliance on external borrowing.  
 
To achieve this aim the Council will  

 

• use in the first instance internal cash balances when high interest external loans 
mature and  

• continue to invest in schemes that either generate additional income (e.g. 
affordable housing schemes) or reduce costs (e.g. office rationalization that reduces 
running costs and allow for disposals) to pay for the capital financing costs of the 
prudential borrowing. 

 
The value of loans that are due to mature during the period 2017/18 to 2020/21 is £38.4m 
and new borrowing of £20m is forecast to be taken out during this same period. This will 
leave the Council with a forecasted £315m of debt outstanding by April 2021.The position 
will be reviewed in the light of actual cash balances and capital investment plans.   

Page 152



 
 

 
A Project Appraisal Group is the expert officer forum for reviewing the Capital Investment 
Plan and scrutinising individual business cases, in support of Directors and Members. 
 
All capital receipts will be treated as a Corporate Resource.   
 

1.22 Risk Management Strategy 

 
The Council has in place a comprehensive Risk Management Strategy and action plan. All 
financial decisions take place within the principles set out in the risk management strategy. 
Responsibility for the management of financial risk is shared between elected members 
and officers with overall risk management being the responsibility of the Executive. 
 
The Risk Management Strategy provides a framework which is designed to enable the 
Council to take a proactive approach to the identification and management of risk and 
opportunity, and to ensure that it is best placed to seize the opportunities that present 
themselves. The Council will not be risk averse, and will seek to seize and maximise 
opportunities by the appropriate identification and management of risk. 
 
In constructing and assessing the annual budget for the forthcoming year, a 
comprehensive financial risk assessment is undertaken for all parts of the budget, 
including sensitivity analysis, and steps are taken to manage identified risks to the extent 
appropriate. 
 
The Council has adopted the Covalent Risk management database for recording, 
monitoring and overall management of its risk register. It provides a consistent method for 
scoring and evaluating a risk status and promotes pro-active risk management. 

The Risk Register is reviewed, assessed and updated on a regular basis, with each 
service formally documenting its key risks and potential impacts and the actions taken to 
mitigate those risks.  

 
 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of 
the Executive to be held on 19 July 2016. 
 
 

          I 
Subject:   
 

First Quarter Financial Position Statement for 2016-17 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report provides Members with an overview of the forecast financial position of the 
Council for 2016-17. 
 
It examines the latest spend against revenue and capital budgets and forecasts the financial 
position at the year end. It states the Council’s current balances and reserves and forecasts 
school balances for the year.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stuart McKinnon-Evans 
Director of Finance 
 
 
 

Portfolio:   
 
Leader of the Council and Corporate 
 

Report Contact:  Andrew Cross 
Business Adviser Management 
Accounting 
(01274) 436823 
andrew.cross@bradford.gov.uk 
 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
Corporate 

Page 155

Agenda Item 7/



 

FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT FOR 2016-17 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
This report is the first monitoring report presented to Members on the Council’s 2016-17 
financial position. It provides an early indication of the revenue and capital financial position 
of the Council at the 31st March 2017.  
 
The report covers  

• The forecast outturn of the Council’s revenue budget including management 

mitigations where issues have been identified. 

• The delivery of 2016-17 approved budget savings plans. 

• A statement on the Council’s reserves including movements in the first quarter.  

• An update on the Capital Investment Plan.  

• An update on Council Tax and Business Rates Collection.  

2.0.  MAIN MESSAGES 
 

• Based on May 31st 2016 projection, the Council is forecasting that spend will be 
£6.6m above the approved budget of £378.0m. The main forecast variances are 
outlined in section 3 - Service commentaries. It is important to stress that this 
estimate is based on information gathered at a very early point in the financial year. 
Actions taken between now and the end of the financial year, together with additional 
issues that might arise, such as the repercussions of Brexit, will affect the ultimate 
outturn position.  

 

• Regarding the £45.6m budgeted savings programme, there are risks associated with 
the underachievement of a number of plans, and it is forecast that £7.3m of savings 
will not be delivered as intended. The main variances are outlined in section 2.2 – 
Delivery of budget savings proposals. One of the aims of this report is to flag these 
so that necessary action can be taken. 

 

• At the 17th June reserves stand at £153.4m (Council £119.6m and Schools £33.8m). 
Net movements from reserves have led to a £14.3m reduction in total reserves from 
£167.7m at 1 April 2016.  Reductions are inclusive of £11.4m1 of reserves used to 
support the 2016-17 budget, and £2.8m of Better use of Budget carry forwards from 
2015-16.  
 

• Unallocated reserves now stand at £13.8m as a contingency reserve. This is 
equivalent to just 1.5% of the Council’s gross budget excluding schools.  

 

• The balance continues to be seen as potentially inadequate by both the Director of 
Finance and the Council’s External Auditors given Governments fiscal policies that 
will reduce Council net spending from £400m in 2015-16 to £300m by 2021. 

 

• Regarding Capital Expenditure, the profiled resource position for 2016-17 for the 
Capital Investment Plan (CIP) stands at £118.4m with £6.3m incurred at 31st May. 

 

• New schemes for approval include £0.7m for the Station Gateways Programme to 
secure land to enable the major redevelopment of Bradford Forster Square Station. 
The acquisition to be funded by £0.275m from the Strategic Acquisition scheme, with 

                                            
1
 £6.2m unallocated reserves, £3.7m of service earmarked reserves and £1.5m of grant reserves 

Page 156



 

temporary borrowing for the remainder as future reimbursement from the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority is expected. 

 

• Regarding Council Tax, there is no forecast variance against the 2016-17 Council 
Tax budget of £159.9m. 
 

• By statute the Council in 2016-17 will receive its budgeted £63.7m share of Business 
Rates from the Collection Fund. A challenge on forecasting Business Rates is the 
cost of refunds for backdated appeals. The current forecast for these refunds is in 
line with the assumptions in the 2016-17 budget. 
 

•  As reported previously, Business Rates appeals handled by the Governments 
Valuation Office relating mainly to GP surgeries and Health Centres are impacting on 
the Business Rates base.  

 

• At 31 May 2016, the Council had collected 17.7% of the value of Council Tax bills for 
the year compared with 17.8% at the same point last year. A reason for this slight 
reduction in the collection rate is that in May 2016 an additional 1,500 households 
had opted to pay Council Tax over 12 rather than 10 instalments, compared with May 
2015.  

 

• For Business Rates the collection figure at 31st May 2016 is 24.64% compared to 
24.24% at the same time last year.  
 

• The EU referendum result to leave the EU has added a further layer of uncertainty to 
the ultimate financial outturn of the Council. The impact to the Council could be the 
direct loss of EU structural funds and any indirect effect of potential further cuts to 
local government funding if there is a downturn in the economy leading to a reduction 
in public sector spending. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 157



 

2.  COUNCIL REVENUE FORECAST 
 
2016-17 Revenue Budget  
 
The Council’s approved net revenue budget of £378.0m is forecast to overspend by £6.6m. 
The budget is after £45.6m of service and non service budget savings.  
 
2.1 2016-17 Revenue Forecast as at 31st May 2016 
 
 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Services to the public & 

businesses

Adult & Community Services 156.4 159.7 3.2 37.7 37.5 0.3 118.7 122.2 3.5

Children's Services 580.6 569.3 -11.3 499.7 486.7 -13.1 80.9 82.7 1.8

Environment & Sport 90.3 90.6 0.3 45.0 45.2 0.2 45.3 45.4 0.0

Public Health 46.1 46.1 - 45.0 45.0 - 1.1 1.1 -

Regeneration 83.2 84.0 0.8 46.7 46.6 -0.1 36.6 37.4 0.9

Revenues & Benefits 190.1 190.1 0.0 186.9 186.7 -0.2 3.2 3.4 0.2

Total services to the public 

& businesses
1,146.8 1,139.8 -7.1 861.0 847.6 -12.9 285.8 292.2 6.4

Support services and non 

service

Property Programme - - - - - - - - -

Chief Executive 4.3 4.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 -0.0 4.2 4.4 0.2

City Solicitor 8.2 7.9 -0.3 2.2 1.8 -0.3 6.0 6.0 -0.0

Human Resources 7.6 7.7 0.1 2.1 2.1 0.0 5.5 5.6 0.1

Finance (Excluding 

Revenues & Benefits)
20.0 20.0 0.0 1.9 1.9 0.0 18.1 18.1 -0.0

Non Service Budgets 7.2 7.2 - 1.3 1.3 - 5.9 5.9 -

Total support services and 

non service
47.3 47.3 -0.1 7.5 7.2 -0.3 39.8 40.1 0.2

Central Budgets & Net 

Transfers To Reserves
76.7 76.7 - 24.3 24.3 - 52.4 52.4 -

Total Council Spend 1,270.8 1,263.8 -7.1 892.8 879.1 -13.2 378.0 384.6 6.6

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



 

2.2  Delivery of Budgeted Savings proposals 
 
The combined budget savings of £45.6m in 2016-17 (£44.6m approved by Council in 
February 20162, and a further £1.0m Government cut to the Public Health Grant) brings the 
total savings the Council has had to find in the five years following the 2010 Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR) to £218.3m. 
 
Table 2- Year on Year savings since 2010 CSR 

 £m 

2011-12 48.7 

2012-13  28.5 

2013-14 26.1 

2014-15 31.8 

2015-16 37.7 

2016-17 45.6 

Total savings   218.3 

 
In tracking progress made against each individual saving proposal, £37.7m (84%) of the 
£45.6m is forecast to be delivered, leaving £7.3m that is forecast not to be delivered.  
 

Saving Tracker 

Service  

Original 
Budgeted 

Savings 

Revised 
Savings

3
 

Forecasted 
Variance at Qtr. 

1 

Adult & Community Services  12.5 12.6 2.6 

Children’s Services  3.2 3.7 1.6 

Environment & Sport  3.2 3.5 0.0 

Regeneration  4.1 4.3 0.0 

Public Health 1.4 1.4 0.0 

Director of Finance 7.1 7.2 0.0 

City Solicitor 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Chief Executives Office 0.2 0.2 0.0 

Director of Human Resources 0.7 1.0 0.1 

Non Service Budgets and cross cutting 10.2 8.8 0.0 

Travel assistance 3.0 3.0 3.0 

Total 45.6 45.6 7.3 

 
The main planned savings that are at risk of not being delivered in full: 
 
Transport Assistance 
 

• Informed by extensive public consultation, the Executive in June 2015 
approved a revised Travel Assistance Policy based on principles and 
guidance contained in a joint framework between Children’s and Adults. The 
£3m savings reduction in 2015-16 transport assistance was underachieved by 
£1.8m and there is a further saving of £3.0m in 2016-17. The service will be 
undertaking reassessments of entitlement in 2016-17 which will contribute 

                                            
2
 £27.4m of savings agreed in Feb 2015 that impact on 2016-17 budget, and £17.3m of additional 

savings agreed in Feb 2016. 
3
 Revised savings include £1.5m of savings linked to Transactional support being allocated to 

departments from cross cutting, and £0.1m of savings linked to Connexions being implemented by 
Environment and Sport. 

Page 159



 

towards the savings target, but the saving cannot yet be quantified. The 
Council also agreed to allocate £0.6m of investment over 2 years from 2016-

17 to support the provision of Travel Training. The forecast 
underachievement is covered by Corporate contingencies in 2016-17. 

 
 

• £1.2m of savings planned to be delivered by reducing the average number of 
Adults Residential Care places by a further 50 to 850 are forecast to be 
underachieved by £1m. The service starts the year with a £0.65m shortfall on 
the £1.6m 2015-16 saving, meaning that places would need to reduce by 93.  
 

• £1m of savings planned to be delivered by renegotiating Adults high cost 
placements are forecast to be underachieved by £1m as the service starts he 
year with a £0.5m shortfall on the £1m 2015-16 savings target. 

 

• £0.8m of savings planned to be delivered by reducing the number of Looked 
After Children by 75 over 2 years are forecast not to be delivered. 

 

•  £0.6m of savings planned to be delivered by bringing Looked After Children 
cared for outside of Bradford back into the district are forecast not to be 
delivered.  

 

• The Journey to Excellence and Signs for Safety programmes have been 
established to deliver the above two Looked After Children savings. 

 

• £0.4m of savings planned to be delivered by reducing payments to Foster 
Carers due to a reduction in the number of Looked After Children is forecast 
to be underachieved by £0.1m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



 

3.  SERVICE COMMENTARIES 
 
3.1 Adult and Community Services 
 
Adult and Community Services are forecast to overspend the £118.7m net expenditure 
budget by £3.5m.  The forecast overspend results from £2.6m forecast underachievement of 
the £12.6m budget savings; £0.3m recurrent shortfall on 2015-16 savings and further 
recurrent pressures of £0.6m. 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Operational Services

Purchased Care 68.6 70.6 2.0 13.0 13.0 - 55.6 57.6 2.0

In-House Community Care 10.0 10.4 0.4 8.3 8.3 - 1.7 2.1 0.4

In-House Residential and Day Care 11.6 12.2 0.6 3.5 3.5 - 8.1 8.7 0.6

Access, Assessment & Support 13.7 13.7 - 2.7 2.7 - 11.0 11.0 -

No Recourse to Public Funds 0.8 0.8 - - - - 0.8 0.8 -

Other Operational Services 3.4 3.4 - - - - 3.4 3.4 -

Non Residential Charges - - - 6.5 6.4 0.1 -6.5 -6.4 0.1

Commissioned Services 30.6 30.6 - 1.2 1.2 - 29.4 29.4 -

Total 138.7 141.7 3.0 35.2 35.1 0.1 103.5 106.6 3.1

Integration and Transition 

Financial Support 1.2 1.2 - 0.3 0.3 - 0.9 0.9 -

Transformation 1.0 1.0 - 0.4 0.4 - 0.6 0.6 -

Housing 4.9 4.9 - 0.2 0.2 - 4.7 4.7 -

Commissioning & Contracting 6.2 6.2 - 1.2 1.2 - 5.0 5.0 -

Safeguarding 0.7 0.9 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.8 0.4

Other Services 0.8 0.8 - - - - 0.8 0.8 -

Total 14.8 15.0 0.2 2.4 2.2 0.2 12.4 12.8 0.4

Directors Office 3.0 3.0 - 0.2 0.2 - 2.8 2.8 -

Total 156.4 159.7 3.2 37.7 37.5 0.3 118.7 122.2 3.5

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 

• Of the £2.6m forecast unachieved savings, £1m relates to the planned reduction of 
Older People Residential and Nursing placements (A10 - £1.2m saving).   The saving 
planned that the average population in 2016-17 would reduce by a further 50 to 850; 
however, as the 2015-16 outturn position was 943, placement numbers would need 
to reduce by an average of 93. 

• This is a challenging target for the department, however it is positive to note that the 
population figures are showing a month on month reduction. This positive trajectory 
is due to the service working closely with the NHS to ensure that at discharge from 
hospital all clients are accessing re-ablement services before the appropriate long 
term service is agreed.  

• At this stage the department is also forecasting that the £1m High Cost Placement 
savings target (A9) will be unachieved.  The £1m target will be challenging in 2016-
17 particularly as the service did not fully meet the 2015-16 saving (£0.5m shortfall).   

• To mitigate the overspend, the department’s reviewing teams will continue to review 
client’s packages of care and negotiate costs with providers.  The department also 
works closely with the NHS to share the cost of high cost placements where a client 
has both health and social care needs.  Given these factors, together with the 
department’s strategy to reduce the number of residential placements and the close 
monitoring of new placements via a panel, the £1m forecast pressure may reduce in 
2016-17. 

• Additionally, there is a £0.1m forecast non achievement of the Safeguarding saving 
target which was a request for further funding from partner organisations.  There is 
also an additional £0.1m pressure for the 2015-16 unachieved element of this saving.  

Page 161



 

The department will seek to identify compensating savings to mitigate the overall 
£0.2m shortfall in 2016-17. 

 

• There is a further unachieved saving in 2016-17 of £0.4m relating to the original 
proposal (A10) to close an in-house residential home.  The total pressure of this 
original saving is £0.6m, as £0.2m relates to 2015-16.  The mitigating savings for this 
pressure will be evident in the on-going Great Places to Grow Old strategy. {Dn 
how?] 

 

• The consultation period for the new non-residential charging policy (3A1) has been 
extended by a further two months, therefore a shortfall of £0.1m is forecast on the 
£0.5m saving target due to the delay in implementing the new policy. 

 
 
Recurring Pressures 
 

• The Bradford and Airedale Community Equipment Service (BACES) is forecast to 
overspend by £0.4m.  This is a reduction of £0.6m from the £1m overspend in 2015-
16 (of which £0.5m was funded from the NHS).  A number of initiatives are currently 
being put in place to reduce expenditure, including invest to save measures, 
reviewing the policy on the provision of equipment to care homes, and introducing a 
panel to review both council and NHS special orders to ensure value for money.  This 
budget will be closely monitored in 2016-17 and corrective action taken as 
appropriate to reduce the overspend. 

 

• The Mental Capacity Act budget is forecasting a pressure of £0.2m due to the costs 
of the service carrying out increased MCA assessments and the costs associated 
with the medical assessments carried out by doctors.   

All other service areas are reporting a balanced budget at this stage in the financial year. 
 
 
3.2  Children’s Services 
 

Children Services are forecast to overspend the £80.9m net expenditure budget (£580.7m) 

Gross budget) by £1.8m.  The forecast overspend is inclusive of a £1.6m shortfall in the 

£3.7m of budgeted savings for 2016-17 as outlined in section 2.2. The main variances are 

outlined below. 

 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Directors Office 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.3 0.0

Performance Comm & Develop 3.6 3.7 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.0 3.4 3.5 0.1

Education, Employment & Skills 111.1 110.1 -1.0 79.9 79.2 -0.7 31.2 30.9 -0.3

Children’s Social Care 58.7 60.8 2.1 3.7 3.8 0.1 55.0 57.0 2.0

Schools 407.0 394.4 -12.6 416.0 403.4 -12.6 -9.0 -9.0 0.0

Total 580.7 569.3 -11.3 499.8 486.6 -13.1 80.9 82.7 1.8

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
Children Social Care Service 

• Children’s Social Care are forecast to overspend the £58.1m net expenditure budget 
by £1.9m.  The main variances include: 

Page 162



 

 

• A £0.7m overspend on the £7.2m external purchased placements budget. The 
service had an overspend of £3m in 2015-16 and was allocated £1.5m of additional 
budget in 2016-17 to address the increase in prices paid for external placements.  
 

• The fees and allowances budgets of £16.7m are also anticipated to overspend as 
follows: 

 
- Special Guardians Allowances £0.5m 
- Adoption Allowances £0.3m 
- Fostering £0.3m 

 

• The above pressures are partly offset by forecast underspends on the Direct 
Payment budget to children with disability (£0.2m), commissioning budgets for 
Prevention and Support Services (£0.4m), staffing vacancies within Children 
Residential Homes (£0.1m) and Support for Children Shared Care Services (£0.1m). 

 

• Children’s services plan to mitigate the remaining pressure on Purchased 

Placements and Allowances by reviewing the sufficiency and commissioning 

strategy; Re-commissioning block contracts for residential and fostering provision; 

reviewing the care plans of all young people in purchased placements who can return 

internally or to an Independent Foster Agency placement, and increasing the 

capacity of the In-House Fostering Service through training and recruitment. 

 
Performance Commissioning and Development   

• Performance Commissioning and Development are forecast to overspend the £3.5m 

net expenditure budget by £0.1m as a result of a £0.2m overspend on  administration 

being partly offset by a £0.1m underspend on Strategic Commissioning due to 

staffing vacancies. 

Education, Employment and Skills 

• Education, Employment and Skills  are forecast to underspend the £31.5m net 

expenditure budget by £0.3m as a result of a £0.7m underspend on Early Years  

resulting from staffing vacancies, partly offset by  overspends in Education, 

Employment and Skills and underachieved savings in administration 

Page 163



 

3.3 Environment and Sport  

 
The department is forecast to balance the £45.3m net expenditure budget (£90.3m gross 
budget) and deliver the £3.5m savings as planned. 
 
 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Directors Office 0.0 0.0 - - - - -0.0 -0.0 -

Fleet Services & Emergency Planning 12.7 12.7 - 13.1 13.1 - -0.4 -0.4 -

Waste Collection & Disposal 28.9 28.8 -0.1 6.1 6.0 0.1 22.8 22.9 0.0

Neighbourhoods & Street Scene 18.4 18.4 0.0 5.7 6.2 -0.4 12.7 12.3 -0.4

Leisure & Culture Services 30.3 30.6 0.3 20.1 20.0 0.1 10.2 10.6 0.5

Environment & Sport 90.3 90.6 0.3 45.0 45.2 -0.2 45.3 45.4 0.0

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 

• The forecast balanced position is however inclusive of a continued forecast 
overspend within Sports Facilities, offset by underspends in Bereavement services, 
Parks and landscapes and income from bus lane fines.  

 

• A summary explanation is outlined in the sections below. 
 
 
Waste Service 

 

• Waste Services are forecast to balance the £22.8m net expenditure budget (£28.9m 
gross budget). The forecast position is comprised of a £0.2m under spend on Waste 
Collection offset by a £0.2m overspend on Waste Disposal. 

 

• Waste Collection is forecast to under spend the £7.7m net budget by £0.2m due 
mainly to savings on transport costs and increased income from Trade Waste. 

 

• Waste Disposal is forecast to over spend the £15.2m net budget by £0.2m, mainly 
due to the continuing problem of insufficient income being received from paper sales 
due to contaminated batches. The proposed Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) is in 
the process of being procured, which should remedy the problem, but is not expected 
to be operational until August/September. 
 

• The service is also projecting an over spend on disposal costs (£0.06m); however 
increased recycling as a result of waste minimisation strategies should reduce waste 
to landfill.  
 

• This has been acknowledged in the 2016-17 savings proposals, as the current 
budget provides for 145,000 tonnes of residual domestic waste, which is approx. 
3,000 tonnes less than the 2015-16 outturn figure. 
 

 
 Neighbourhoods and Customer Services  
 

• Neighbourhoods and Customer Services are forecast to underspend the £12.7m net 
expenditure budget (£18.4m gross budget) by £0.4m 

 

• All services are forecast to balance other than Uniformed Services which is predicting 
higher than expected income from bus lane fines of £0.4m.   

Page 164



 

 
 
Sports and Culture  
 
 
Sports & Culture are forecast to overspend the £10.2m net expenditure budget (£30.3m 
gross budget) by £0.5m.  
 

• Employee costs within Sports Facilities are forecast to overspend the £4.3m budget 
by £0.6m. This takes into account the transfer of Nab Wood from Council ownership 
which gave a year on year reduction of £0.1m. When compared to the 2015-16 
outturn figure of £5.0m (£5.1m less Nab Wood £0.1m) this shows a year on year 
reduction of £0.1m. 

 

• The Sports Facilities income budget of £4.5m is also forecast to be underachieved by 
£0.2m based on the 2015-16 outturn figure adjusted for the transfer of Nab Wood 
and price changes. 

 

• Transportation costs, equipment running costs, and maintenance within Parks & 
Landscapes, are forecasting a combined underspend of £0.2m against a budget of 
£1.1m. This has been achieved through a combination of reduced activity, planned 
replacement of equipment, and service efficiencies.  

 

• Bereavement Services are forecast to receive £0.2m more than the £1.3m net 
income budget. This is based on the level of burials administered in 2016-17 being 
forecast at a similar level to those which were administered in 2015-16 (4,197). 

 

• Culture Services are forecast to balance the £5.4m net expenditure budget (£16.3m 

gross). The £5.4m budget includes £0.5m transitional funding to facilitate the delivery 

of savings during 2016-17.   A strategic review of the function of tourism services in 

the Bradford District is underway. The review encompasses both a destination 

management plan and the future of tourism services. Budgeted savings of £0.1m 

have been applied in 2016-17. The shape of the future service will be expected to 

follow from the conclusions of the review. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



 

3.4    Public Health 
 
 
The department is forecast to balance the £1.1m net expenditure budget (£45.0m gross 
budget) and deliver the £1.4m savings as planned. 
 
 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Public Health Leadership 1.1 1.6 0.5 - - - - 1.1 1.6 0.5

Information & Intelligence 0.2 0.2 0.0 - - - - 0.2 0.2 0.0

Nutrition, Obesity & Phsical Activity 2.3 2.3 -0.0 - - - - 2.3 2.3 -0.0

Drugs Misuse 12.2 12.1 -0.1 0.7 0.7 - - 11.5 11.4 -0.1

Alcohol Misuse 0.6 0.6 -0.0 - - - - 0.6 0.6 -0.0

Tobacco 1.1 1.1 -0.0 - - - - 1.1 1.1 -0.0

Dental Public Health 0.7 0.7 - - - - - 0.7 0.7 -

Children 5-19 3.5 3.5 -0.0 - - - - 3.5 3.5 -0.0

Health Checks 0.2 0.2 - - - - - 0.2 0.2 -

Sexual Health 4.7 4.6 -0.1 - - - - 4.7 4.6 -0.1

Emergency Preparedness - - - - - - - - - -

Premises becthe respons 0.1 0.1 - - - - - 0.1 0.1 -

Running Costs 1.3 1.1 -0.2 - - - - 1.3 1.1 -0.2

Health Protection 1.7 1.7 0.0 - - - - 1.7 1.7 0.0

Wider Determination 4.7 4.7 0.0 - - - - 4.7 4.7 0.0

Children's Service (0-5 Year Olds) 10.7 10.7 - - - - - 10.7 10.7 -

Public Health Grant Funding - - - 44.0 44.0 - - -44.0 -44.0 -

Environmental Health Management 0.5 0.5 - 0.0 0.0 - - 0.4 0.4 -

Air Quality - - - - - - - - - -

Environmental Health & Transport 0.4 0.4 - 0.2 0.2 - - 0.2 0.2 -

Public Health 46.1 46.1 - 45.0 45.0 - - 1.1 1.1 -

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
 

• The Public Health grant for 2016-17 is £44m which includes an in year reduction of 

£1m and the full year effect of the transfer of the Health Visiting service from NHS 

England.  As reported at 2015-16 year end, £0.4m was transferred into reserves to 

be utilised during 2016-17 and the service is forecast to balance the net expenditure 

budget of £1.1m.  The reductions in funding are being managed through continual 

review and commissioning of contracted services.  

 

• Following the announcement from the Department of Health regarding future funding, 
Public Health will also be planning for annual funding reductions of approximately 
£1m per annum between 2017-18 and 2019-20. 
 

• The Environmental Health service transferred to Public Health on 1st April 2016, part 
of the service is funded through base budget (£0.6m) and the balance of £1.4m is 
funded by the Public Health grant which includes £0.3m from 2016-17 savings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



 

3.5  Regeneration 
 
The Department of Regeneration is forecast to overspend the £36.6m net expenditure 

budget (£83.2m gross budget) by £0.9m.  Budget savings of £4.3m are currently forecast to 

be delivered, however, there are some risks associated with delivery.   

 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Strategic Directors Office 0.2 0.2 - - - - 0.2 0.2 -

Economy and Development Services 9.2 9.1 -0.1 1.6 1.7 -0.1 7.6 7.4 -0.2

Estates and Property Services 53.6 54.2 0.6 38.7 38.8 -0.1 14.9 15.3 0.5

Planning, Transportation & Highways 20.2 20.5 0.3 6.3 6.0 0.3 13.9 14.5 0.6

Regeneration 83.2 84.0 0.8 46.7 46.6 0.1 36.6 37.4 0.9

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 

Economy and Development Services 

• Economy and Development Services are forecast to underspend the £7.6m budget 

by £0.2m, mainly from within housing and ancillary school support services. 

Economic Development Services are projecting a balanced budget. 

• EDSe service supports a range of major Regeneration projects such as One City 

Park and the Odeon. An initial allocation of funds was made for One City Park but the 

Council is working with the Combined Authority to determine the most appropriate 

funding method for the remaining allocated funds. Also funding amounting to £0.4m 

has been allocated from Regional funds for the Odeon, allowing for internal works to 

be made that will enhance the prospects for future funding bids.  

• Housing operations are forecast to underspend the £1m net expenditure budget by 

£0.1m due to additional fees being collected from the delivery of Disabled Facilities 

Grants. Demand for adaptations to homes to allow for independent living remains 

high. Housing Access services (homelessness services) are also much in demand 

but costs are being contained.  

Estates and Property Services 

• Estates and Property Services are forecast to overspend the £14.9m budget by 

£0.5m.  

• This consists of a £0.3m forecast overspend on utility costs linked to waste water and 

trade effluent (depot waste water and other large dischargers e.g. landfill sites and 

City Park), and minor overspends in Other Catering and Admin Buildings. 

• The Energy unit is seeking to mitigate the forecast overspend through refunds and 

compensation resulting from suppliers inaccurate billing.  

• Estates management are anticipating to balance the £1.8m net rent account this 

year. Additional income has been secured from both one off rent reviews and new 

temporary occupiers of Shipley Town Hall and Future House.  

• The new income will provide a boost to the account of between £0.2m and £0.4m, 

however, the additional income may be offset by additional costs required to 

Page 167



 

undertake a review of commercial and non commercial leases, and undertake other 

property related work associated with transitioning to a smaller estate. 

Planning, Transportation and Highways  

• The service is forecast to overspend the £13.9m net expenditure budget by £0.6m. 

This is mainly due to lower than budgeted income from fees for building control 

(£0.3m) and planning charges (£0.2m). 

• The service is seeking to mitigate the forecast overspend though cost efficient 

practice, strict vacancy management and improved productivity.  

• Highways Asset Management and the Highways Delivery Unit are expected to 

balance. Weather conditions can be a factor in closing the account favourably and so 

there is a degree of uncertainty in projections. Savings of £0.8m are expected to be 

met in full, although only partially from a reduced insurance premium as originally 

expected. Instead efficiencies will be found from within highways operations, leasing 

vehicles instead of purchase, reducing depot costs, productivity improvements and 

vacancy management. 

 
3.6  Chief Executive  

 

• The Chief Executive’s Office including Policy, Programmes & Change (PPC) is 
forecast to balance the £4.2m net expenditure budget (£4.3m gross budget) and 
achieve the £0.2m of savings targets.   

 
 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Chief Executive Core Office 0.4 0.4 - 0.0 0.0 - 0.4 0.4 -

Political Offices 0.2 0.2 - - - - 0.2 0.2 -

Public Affairs 1.3 1.3 - 0.1 0.1 - 1.2 1.2 -

Policy Programme 2.4 2.4 - - - - 2.4 2.4 -

Chief Executive 4.3 4.3 - 0.1 0.1 0.0 4.2 4.2 -

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 
3.7  Finance 
 

• The department is forecast to overspend the £21.3m net expenditure budget 
(£210.1m gross budget) by £0.1m, and deliver £7.2m of savings as planned. 
 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Director of Finance 0.3 0.3 -0.0 0.0 0.0 - 0.3 0.2 -0.0

Financial Services 2.6 2.6 0.1 0.2 0.2 - 2.4 2.5 0.1

Revenues & Benefits 190.1 190.1 0.0 186.9 186.7 0.2 3.2 3.4 0.2

Information & Customer Services 15.2 15.3 0.0 1.4 1.4 0.0 13.8 13.8 -0.0

Commissioning & Procurement 1.9 1.8 -0.1 0.3 0.3 - 1.7 1.6 -0.1

Finance Directorate 210.1 210.1 0.0 188.7 188.6 0.2 21.3 21.5 0.2

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
 

• Revenues & Benefits are forecast to overspend by £0.2m due to an anticipated 
requirement to increase the bad debt provision within the Housing Benefits payments 

Page 168



 

budget.  
 

• Revenues & Benefits are also forecasting an underspend of £0.2m on salaries which 
is counterbalanced by a £0.1m reduction in forecast payroll income and a £0.1m 
increase in transaction fees.  
 

• Commissioning & Procurement are forecast to  underspend by £0.05m on salaries 
due to the decision not to fill vacant posts pending a service review, and is 
anticipating a further £0.05m in year saving to be made through the renegotiation of 
contracts. 

 

• Information Technology Services (ITS) are forecasting a balanced budget with the 
costs of recruiting to new posts anticipated to be balanced by structural changes to 
achieve the budgeted  savings.   

 
 
 

3.8  Human Resources 
 

• Human Resources (HR) are forecast to overspend the £5.5m net expenditure budget 
by £0.1m, after accounting for £1m of budget savings. 

 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

HR Functions 4.0 4.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.0 3.7 3.9 0.2

Single Status - - - - - - - - -

Corporate Projects 0.1 0.1 -0.0 - - - 0.1 0.1 -0.0

Miscellaneous Income - - - 0.0 0.0 - -0.0 -0.0 -

Traded HR Functions 1.3 1.3 -0.0 1.6 1.6 - -0.3 -0.3 -0.0

Administration 2.2 2.1 -0.1 0.1 0.1 - 2.1 2.0 -0.1

Human Resources 7.6 7.7 0.1 2.1 2.1 0.0 5.5 5.6 0.1

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 

• The £0.1m currently projected over spend is primarily on employee costs within the 
core Human Resources & Administration functions pending the completion of a 
review and restructure. Mitigating savings are to be sought and the potential for 
increased income generation within Workforce Development examined. 

 

• The projections also allow for work on Council priority programmes such as New 
Deal & Learner Management System being funded in 2016-17 via prior year 
underspends of £0.2m. 

 
 
3.9        City Solicitor 
 

• The City Solicitor is forecasting a small underspend of £0.05m on its £6m net budget. 
This partly as a result of improved position for Registrars since the move into City 
Hall.  

 

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

City Solicitor's Office 0.3 0.2 -0.1 0.1 0.1 - 0.2 0.1 -0.1

Democratic 5.4 5.3 -0.1 1.9 1.6 0.3 3.5 3.7 0.2

Legal 2.6 2.5 -0.1 0.2 0.2 - 2.4 2.3 -0.1

Legal & Democratic 8.2 7.9 -0.3 2.2 1.8 0.3 6.0 6.0 -0.0

Gross expenditure Income Net expenditure

 
 
3.10 Non Service Budgets  

Page 169



 

 

• Non service budgets are forecast to balance. 
 
 3.11 Central Budgets & Contingencies 
 

• Budgets held centrally include the revenue costs associated with Capital Investment 
(interest and principal repayment), payment to the West Yorkshire Passenger 
Transport Executive and contingencies amongst others. 
 

• All budgets are forecast to balance, except for the £4.8m of savings associated with 
Transport Assistance that are forecast to be mitigated by the use of £4.8m of 
contingencies in 2016-17. 

 
 
4.  BALANCE SHEET  
 
4.1     Cash Reserves 
 

• At 17th June 2016 unallocated reserves stand at £13.8m.  
 

• The balance continues to be seen as potentially inadequate by both the Director of 
Finance and the Council’s External Auditors given the expected cuts in non protected 
Government Departments spending the future. 

 

• Net movements from reserves have led to a £14.3m reduction in total reserves from 
£167.7m at 1 April 2016 to £153.4m at 17th June (£119.6m Council and £33.8m 
schools). The £14.3m net releases from reserves include: 

 
Releases from 
-£6.2m from unallocated reserves to support the 2016/17 budget 
-£3.6m from the Transition and Risk reserve to support the 2016/17 budget 
-£0.1m from the Trade Waste Vat reserve to support the 2016/17 budget 
-£1.5m from Children’s Grant Reserve to support the 2016/17 budget 
-£2.8m Better use of Budget releases 
-£0.5m from Producer City Initiative reserve to fund new Strategic site assembly and 
development reserve 
-£0.3m from Capital Feasibility reserve to fund new Strategic site assembly and 
development reserve 

 
 Transfers to  
 +£0.3m Public Health grant reserve 
 +£0.3m General Fund Surplus 
 +£0.8m Strategic site assembly and development reserve. 
 
Appendices 1&2 outline  Council and schools reserves. 
 

 
4.2  School Balances 
 

• The table below shows the School Reserves (including Schools Contingencies) position 
as at 31st of March 2016. Schools do not report their quarter one financial position for 
2016-17 until the end of July 2016.  
 
 

Page 170



 

Balance 1st April 
2015 

Balance 31st 
March 2016 

Movement  

No’s £000 No’s £000 No’s £000 
Nursery 7 866 7 634 0 232 
Primary 137 13,281 137 13,193 0 88 
Secondary 15 4,303 13 3,307 0 996 
Special 6 773 6 693 0 80 
Pupil Referral Units (PRU) 7 1,841 7 1,041 0 800 
       
Total 172 21,064 170 18,868 0 2,196 
School Contingency  16,693  14,091 0 2,602 
City Learning Centres/Other  598  844 0 (246) 
Total 172 38,355 172 33,803  4,552 
 

• There have been four schools (Laisterdyke Business College, High Crags Primary, 
Thornbury Primary, and Barkerend Primary) that converted to Academy Status in 2016-
17.  
 

• In setting the 2016-17 Schools budget, The Schools Forum allocated £9.6m balance 
held within School Contingencies.  

 
 
 
5. CAPITAL 
 

• The profiled resource position for 2016-17 for the Capital Investment Plan stands at 
£118.4m. This includes £4.9m of carry forward resources from 2015-16 plus £0.7m of 
additional external funding. To the end of May there has been total spend of £6.3m. 
Service managers are in the process of reviewing the profiled spend on their capital 
schemes. A summary by service is shown below with a detailed monitor in Appendix 
3. 

 
 
 
 
 

Scheme 

No 
Scheme Description 

Budget 

Approved by 

Exec 

Change 

Re 

profiled 

Budget 

16-17 

Spend to 

date 

 

Budget 

17-18 

Budget 

18-19 

Budget 

19-20 & 

Onwards 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Adult & Community Services 2.6 0.0 2.6 0 4.2 8.3 7.0 

Children's' Services 28.5 1.5 30.0 3.1 2.9 0 0 

Environment & Sports 17.0 0.5 17.5 0.2 17.5 11.9 20.3 

Regen – Property & Economic Dev 16.4 2.3 18.7 1.6 1.7 4.3 0 

Regen - Climate, Hsg, Empl & Skills 21.7 0.3 22.0 0.6 23.8 5.7 6.9 

Regeneration - Planning 0.6 0.3 0.9 0 0 0 0 

Regen - Highways & Transport 11.0 2.2 13.2 0.7 10.0 38.3 0 

Reserve Schemes & Contingencies 15.0 -1.5 13.5 0 18.3 9.0 8.0 

         

TOTAL - All Services 112.8 5.6 118.4 6.3 78.4 77.5 42.2 

 
 

Page 171



 

New Capital Schemes 
 
The Project Appraisal Group (PAG) has considered the following capital bids and 
recommends their approval by Executive for inclusion in the CIP. 
 

• £0.7m of capital expenditure is required to secure land to enable the major 
redevelopment of Bradford Forster Square Station as part of the Station Gateways 
Programme. The acquisition to be funded by £0.275m from the Strategic Acquisition 
scheme, with temporary borrowing for the remainder where future reimbursement 
from the West Yorkshire Combined Authority is expected. 

 

• The Station Gateway Programme is part of the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund 
Portfolio of Projects, that will make significant improvements to the key Rail Stations 
in West Yorkshire, as well as improving the linkages between the stations and their 
city and town centres. 

•  The Bradford Stations Gateways projects are two of six stations included in the West 
Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund (WY+TF) Station Gateways Programme. This 
development would attract significant capital investment into the city. Given the 
potential benefits of the scheme it is recommended that this scheme is given 
approval. 

. 
 
6. COUNCIL TAX AND BUSINESS RATES COLLECTION  
 
Council Tax  
 

• Regarding Council Tax there is no forecast variance against the 2016-17 Council Tax 
budget of £159.9m. 

 
 
Business Rates  
 

• By statute, the Council in 2016-17 will receive its budgeted £63.683m share of 
Business Rates from the Collection Fund. A challenge on forecasting Business Rates 
is the cost of refunds for backdated appeals. The current forecast for these refunds is 
in line with the assumptions in the 2016-17 budget. 
 

•  As reported previously, Business Rates appeals handled by the Governments 
Valuation Office relating mainly to GP surgeries and Health Centre are impacting on 
the Business Rates base.  

 
 
Collection Rates   
 

 

• At 31 May 2016, the Council had collected 17.7% of the value of Council Tax bills for 
the year compared with 17.8% at the same point last year. A reason for this slight 
reduction in the collection rate is that in May 2016 an additional 1,500 households 
had opted to pay Council Tax over 12 rather than 10 instalments, compared with May 
2015.  

 

Page 172



 

• For Business Rates the collection figure at 31 May 2016 is 24.64% compared to 
24.24% at the same time last year.  

 
 
7.0 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

• The Financial risks of future known and uncertain liabilities are being addressed 
through contingencies and provisions outlined in this report. 

 
8.0 LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 

• This report is submitted to the Executive in accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure rules 

 
9.0 NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
 None 
 
 
10.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That the Executive 
 

10.1 Note the contents of this report and the actions taken to manage the forecast 
overspend. 

 
10.2 Approve the addition of the £0.7m land acquisition for Station Gateways Programme 

to the Capital Investment Plan. The scheme to be funded by £0.275m from the 
Strategic Acquisition scheme and temporary borrowing.  

 
11.0 APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1   Reserves Statement as at 17 June 2016 
 Appendix 2 Service Earmarked Reserves as at 17 June 2016  
 Appendix 3  Capital Investment Plan 
   
 
 
12.0 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

• Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18  to 2019/20 and Beyond incorporating the 
Efficiency Plan -  Executive Report 19 July 2016  

• Annual Finance and Performance Outturn Report 2015-16 Executive Report 19 July 
2016 

• The Council’s Revenue Estimates for 2016/17 & 2017/18 – Council Report R 25 
February 2016 

• The Council’s Capital Investment Plan for 2016/17 to 2019/20 – Executive Report BB 
23 February 2016 

• Section 151 Officer’s Assessment – Council document S 25 February 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 173



 

Reserves Statement as at 17 June 2016              Appendix 1                                             

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2016-17 

£000 

Closing  
Balance 

£000 Comments 

A. Reserves available to support the annual revenue budget   

Unallocated Corporate Reserves 19,919 -6,099 
 

13,820 The approved 2016-17 Budget used 
£6.2m of unallocated reserves. 

Total available Unallocated Corporate 
Reserves 19,919 -6,099 13,820   

          

B Corporate Earmarked Reserves to cover specific financial risk or fund specific programmes of work. 

          

Employment Opportunities fund 1,025 0 1,025 Funding to support young and 
disadvantaged people into 
employment 

Managed severance 4,093  0 4,093 Money to meet termination costs in 
the years beyond 2017-18. 

Exempt VAT 2,000  0 2,000 Amount set aside to meet the 
estimated cost of VAT that the 
Council would not be able to 
recover should it exceed its partial 
exemption limit. 

Waste Collection and Disposal Options 4,029 0 4,029 A Trade Waste VAT claim resulted 
in a £4.4m reimbursement. This 
has been set aside to address 
future Waste Collection and 
Disposal costs 

Trade Waste VAT refund 463 -120 343 £120k per annum to be used in 
2015-16 onwards to contribute 
towards the cost of Financial 
Services. 

PFI credits reserve 805 0 805 Funding to cover outstanding 
potential Building Schools for the 
Future liabilities. 

Insurance 1,775 0 1,775 To mitigate and smooth the impact 
of any future increases in insurance 
premiums. 

Industrial Centres of Excellence 1 0 1   

Sports Strategy 165 0 165 To cover feasibility costs 
associated with the Sports 
Strategy. 

Single Status  24 0 24 To cover any residual 
implementation of Single Status 
costs. 

Capital Feasibility Studies   70 -70 0  

     

Transformation Programme  124 0 124 To fund transformational activity 

Better Use of Budgets  2,757 -2,756 1 £2.7m has been transferred back to 
Services to enable projects and 
activities carried over from 2015-16 
to be completed. 

Producer City Initiative  743 -559 184 To pump prime initiatives linked to 
the Council’s Producer City 
programme 

Regional Growth Fund 6,345 0 6,345 The Council’s revenue match 
funding for the Regional Growth 
Fund 

Regional Revolving Investment Fund 3,956 0 3,956 Money set aside in 2013-14 carried 
forward to meet the Council’s 
commitment to the Regional 
Revolving Investment Fund. 

Discretionary Social Fund 1,848 0 1,848 To fund a replacement local 
welfare scheme following the 
government ending its Local 
Welfare Assistance grant 
programme at 31 March 2015. 

Page 174



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2016-17 

£000 

Closing  
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Transitional and Risk Reserve 7,748 -3,609 4,139 To help fund Transitional work, and 
cover risks. £3.6m has been used 
to support the 16-17 budget. 

Health Integration Reserves 222 0 222  Available to fund projects that lead 
to greater integration between the 
Council and its Health partners. 

Match Fund Basic needs Grant 700 0 700  

Strategic Site Assembly and Development 
 

0 800 800 
 

 

     

Sub Total 38,893 -6,314 32,579   

C. Reserves to support capital investment     

Renewal and replacement 11,917 0 11,917 Funding used to support the capital 
investment programme. 

Markets 1,231 0 1,231 Cumulative Market trading surplus’s 
to be re-invested in maintaining 
market buildings throughout the 
district. 

Sub total 13,148 0 13,148   

D. Service Earmarked Reserves 42,829 -123 42,706  See Appendix 2 

E. Revenue Grant Reserves 8,389 -1,826 6,563   

F General Reserves         

General Fund 10,803 0 10,803 The GF balance acts as a 
necessary contingency against 
unforeseen events.  The balance at 
31st March represents a minimum 
of 2.5% of the Council's budget 
requirement in line with council 
policy and the general advice of 
External Auditors.  

Schools delegated budget 33,802 0 33,802 Represents in the main balances 
held by schools as part of delegated 
budget responsibility.  These 
balances are not available for 
Council use but are balances 
attributable to individual schools. 

Sub total General Fund Reserve & School 
balances 

44,605 0 44,605   

Grand total 167,783 -14,362 153,421   

Page 175



 

Appendix 2          
Departmental Earmarked Reserves Statement as at 17th June 2016                    
  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2016-17 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Adult and Community Services       

Supporting People 2,065 0 2,065 Funding to support invest to 
save projects 

Integrated Care 5,347 0 5,347 NHS and Council  monies 
used to support ring fenced 
projects  and integration of 
health and social care 

Great Places to Grow Old 604 0 604 Funding to cover 
management and staffing 
costs linked to the 
transformation of services for 
older people.  

District Tenants Federation  30 0 30 Funding committed to 
provide support to District 
Tenants Federation  
 

Stock Condition 95 0 95 Funding to procure Stock 
Condition Surveys. 

Social Lettings 664 0 664 To undertake a feasibility 
study for a Social lettings 
Agency. 

Homelessness prevention 1044 0 1,044 To fund initiatives to prevent 
Homelessness. 
 

Care Act Reserve 4863 0 4,863 To support the 
implementation of the Care 
Act 

     

Total Adult and Community Services 14,712 0 14,712   

          

Children Services         

BSF Unitary Charge  6,568 0 6,568 These reserves are being 
built up to ensure that in the 
future there is sufficient 
money available to meet the 
cost of BSF annual contract 
payments when the PFI grant 
the Council receives reduces 

BSF Unitary Charge Phase 2  4,093 0 4,093 See above 

Dilapidation  1,000 0 1,000 At the end of a lease on a 
building, the Council will be 
liable for any dilapidations of 
the building. 

Better Start Programme 90 0 90 Council’s two year 
contribution to a programme 
that will bring in £50m of 
revenue investment to the 
District over a 10 year period. 

Safeguarding Board 86 0 86 Support for the Council in its 
role as the accountable body 
for the Bradford Children’s 
Safeguarding Board 
 

     

Page 176



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2016-17 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Routes to Work 361 0 361 

Advanced Skills Fund 386 0 386 

Retail Academy (Skills for Employment) 337 0 337    

Training Work Programme (Skills for Work) 1031 0 1,031 

Employment and Skills 
funding that was carried 
forward from 2014-15 to 
complete initiatives that span 
more than twelve months. 

Total Children 13,952 0 13,952   

     

Finance     

Non Council Events programme 10 0 10 To support events put on by 
non Council . 

Community Support and Innovation Fund 404 0 404 To support community led 
service provision and 
investment in initiatives that 
engage with vulnerable 
people. 

Subsidy Claim 711 0 711 Contingent support set aside 
to address the fluctuations in 
the subsidy claims. 

ICT Programmes Budget 4900 0 
 

4,900 To fund future ICT projects 

UC Admin Reserve 545 0 545 To help cover the cost of the 
implementation of universal 
credit administration. 

Total Finance 6,570 0 6,570   

          

Environment and Sport         

Marley pitch replacement 305 0 305 To provide match funding 
under the terms of grants 
given to maintain Sports and 
Leisure venues across the 
District 

Waste disposal procurement 278 0 278 Set aside to meet 
Departmental costs 
associated with delivering a 
Waste Management solution  

Customer Service Strategy 849 0 849 Non recurring investment to 
be used to fund the 
Customer Service Strategy. 

Taxi Licensing 320 0 320 Statutory requirement to set 
aside any taxi licensing 
surplus when setting future 
fees. 

Theatres Box Office 96 0 96  

Cricket Pitch Refurbishment 310 0 310  

Culture Service Transition 121 0 121 To cover costs associated 
with modernising the service 
and adopting a different 
service delivery model. 

Art Fund 12 0 12 To fund the purchase of 
works of Art. 

Page 177



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2016-17 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

HLF Building Maintenance 10 0 10 A condition of the HLF grant 
is that an asset management 
programme is in place to 
maintain Manningham 
Library to a specified 
standard.  

Torex 10 0 10 To address e-Govt targets 
and improve service delivery. 

Saltaire Tourist Information Centre 15 0 15  

Culture Company 200 0 200 Help create a Culture 
Company 

Gym Equipment 133 0 133 To fund replacement gym 
equipment in Sports Facilities 

Museum Restoration 133 0 133  

Tour De Britain 
 

8 0 8  

Tour De Yorkshire 139 0 139  

Lidget Moor YC 18 0 18 To support Youth Services in 
Lidget Green Area 

Total Environment and Sport 2,957 0 2,957   

          

Regeneration         

Empty Homes 125 0 125 To support the on-going 
programme to bring empty 
homes back into use 

Council Housing Reserve 375 0 375 To meet future costs 
associated with later stages 
of the affordable housing 
programme 

Housing Development Programme 212 0 212 Fee income generated to be 
used to subsidise the 
delivery of projects in future 
years.   

Facility Management Service Improvement 515 0 515 To support investment in 
service improvements and 
cover against uncertainty in 
the client base 

City Park Sinking Fund 630 0 630 Funding set aside to meet 
the future maintenance costs 
of City Park. 

European Structural Investment Programme 867 0 867 Match funding for ESIP 

Empty Rates Relief Scheme 500 0 500 Supporting Business Growth 

City Centre Regeneration W 150 0 150  

Total Regeneration 3,374 0 3,374   

          

Human Resources         

Schools Traded HR Reserves 106 0  106 To mitigate the risk of 
changes in customer base. 

Page 178



 

  

Opening 
Balance 

£000 

Movement in 
2016-17 

£000 

Latest 
Balance 

£000 Comments 

Business Support Centre 145 0 145 To support organisational 
development 

Workforce Development New Deal 530 0 530 Changing the organisation - 
vision & values, recruitment 
& selection, development of 
managers, performance 
management, 
leadership & succession 
planning linked closely with 
the New Deal agenda. 
 

     

Learner Management System 85 0 85 Software/system 
implementation etc in support 
of workforce development. 

Total Human Resources 866 0 866   

         

City Solicitor     

District Elections 216 0 216 To smooth the cost of District 
Elections over a four year 
period. 

     

Public Health     

Public Health 182 -123 59  

     

Total Service Earmarked Reserves  42,829 -123 42,706  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 179



 

Appendix 3 

Capital Executive Report        

Scheme No Scheme Description 

Budget 

Approved 

by Exec Change 

Budget 

2016-17 

Spend 

310516 

Budget 

2017-

18 

Budget 

2018-19 

Budget 

2019-20 

& 

Onwards 

    £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Adult  & Community Services         

CS0008 HIV Capital Grant 0 7 7 7 0 0 0 

CS0237 Great Places to Grow Old 0 1 1 0 2,000 8,297 6,990 

CS0239 Community Capacity Grant 2,105 5 2,110 0 2,201 0 0 

CS0257 BACES Mattresses 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 

CS0275 
Bfd Demetia Friendly Environment 

Pilot 
0 2 2 0 0 0 0 

CS0311 Autism Innovation Capital Grant 19 0 19 0 0 0 0 

CS0312 Integrated IT system - new scheme 496 -86 410 0 0 0 0 

CS0326 
Single Gateway to Housing 

Support  
0 50 50 0 0 0 0 

          

Total - Adult & Community Services 2,620 -19 2,601 7 4,201 8,297 6,990 

          

Children's' Services         

CS0231 
C&I School (Conversion of Thorn 

Park) 
0 1 1 0 0 0 0 

CS0025 
Childrens Home Residential 

Provision 
0 14 14 0 0 0 0 

CS0227 Designated Specialist Provision 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 

CS0249 Schools DRF 3,000 689 3,689 0 0 0 0 

CS0256 2yr old Nursery Educ Expansion 448 -92 356 26 0 0 0 

CS0278 Targeted Basic Needs 195 -24 171 23 0 0 0 

CS0286 Outdoor Learning Centres 397 -78 319 111 15 0 0 

CS0297 
Universal Free School Meals - 

Kitchen 
22 4 26 1 0 0 0 

CS0022 CAP-00645 / CAP-00805 1,316 400 1,716 2,475 0 0 0 

CS0030 Capital Improvement Work 100 12 112 1 0 0 0 

CS0042 Primary Capital Programme 62 62 124 5 0 0 0 

CS0240 Capital Maintenance Grant 4,162 -335 3,827 116 0 0 0 

CS0244 
Primary Schools Expansion 

Programme  
18,118 664 18,782 332 2,358 0 0 

CS0313 
School Capital Loans (Solar Panels, 

Blds etc) 
400 0 400 0 550 0 0 

CS0314 Foster Homes Adaptation 186 1 187 0 0 0 0 

CS0316 Tracks Educational provision 0 -47 -47 0 0 0 0 

CS0322 Horton Park Primary Open Spaces 77 13 90 50 0 0 0 

CS0338 Ingleborough Hall Gateway 0 3 3 0 0 0 0 

CS0343 Childrens Home Building Works 0 227 227 0 0 0 0 

          

Total - Children's' Services 28,483 1,519 30,002 3,139 2,923 0 0 

          

 

 
 

        

Environment & Sports         

CS0060 Replacement of Vehicles  3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000 3,000 6,000 

Page 180



 

CS0066 Ward Investment Fund 0 35 35 0 0 0 0 

CS0063 
Waste Infrastructure and 

Recycling projects 
0 0 0 0 1,100 0 0 

CS0090 Landfill Restoration Sugden End  0 40 40 0 0 0 0 

CS0151 
Building Safer Communities 

Capital Proj 
5 42 47 0 0 0 0 

CS0274 
Bradford Enhanced Recycling 

Collection Bid 
0 2 2 0 0 0 0 

CS0283 Above Ground Fuel Storage 0 60 60 0 0 0 0 

CS0324 Waste Minimisation Strategy 352 -53 299 81 0 0 0 

 Westgate Carpark 610 50 660 0 300 300 0 

CS0121 Roberts Park 0 53 53 0 0 0 0 

CS0129 Scholemoor Project 0 83 83 0 0 0 0 

CS0162 Capital Projects - Recreation 0 17 17 39 0 0 0 

CS0187 Comm Sports Field & Facilities 53 0 53 0 0 0 0 

CS0229 Cliffe Castle Restoration 4,299 -146 4,153 15 0 0 0 

CS0328 Cliffe Castle Chimney Piece Project 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 

CS0242 War Memorial 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 

CS0245 Doe Park 0 194 194 4 0 0 0 

CS0284 
Sport Facilities Investment Prog 

(SFIP) 
7,538 10 7,548 101 13,105 6,000 14,303 

CS0107 Markets   0 77 77 6 0 0 0 

CS0327 Oastler Market Redevelopment 1,135 29 1,164 3 0 2,630 0 

CS0247 Replace Box Office Equipment 10 0 10 0 0 0 0 

          

Total - Environment & Sports 17,002 501 17,503 249 17,505 11,930 20,303 

          

          

Regeneration - Property & Economic Development         

CS0094 Property Programme (bworks) 1,315 171 1,486 0 0 0 0 

CS0262 
Property Programme - Office 

Rationalisation / Former Library 
200 -541 -341 358 0 0 0 

CS0294 
Property Programme - Essential 

Maintenance 
690 -101 589 11 0 0 0 

CS0295 
Property Programme - Invest to 

Save 
0 -26 -26 0 0 0 0 

CS0309 
Birklands-Mail Finishing 

Equipment 
0 7 7 0 0 0 0 

CS0308 Property Programme 15/16 314 -125 189 61 0 0 0 

CS0333 Argos Chambers / Britannia House 400 -57 343 40 0 0 0 

CS0344 Property Programme 16/17 0 1,500 1,500 0 0 0 0 

CS0132 Community Hubs  0 25 25 0 0 0 0 

CS0186 Enterprise Hubs 0 0 0 -17 0 0 0 

CS0213 Park Dam 0 6 6 0 0 0 0 

CS0230 Beechgrove Allotments 0 274 274 0 0 0 0 

CS0269 
Burley In Wharfedale Culvert 

repair 
0 100 100 1 0 0 0 

CS0331 
Demolition of Edwards Rainbow 

Centre 
0 36 36 1 0 0 0 

CS0084 City Park 205 0 205 0 0 0 0 

CS0085 City Centre Growth Zone 1,075 864 1,939 -352 0 4,266 0 

CS0086 LEGI 51 0 51 0 0 0 0 

CS0189 Buck Lane 137 34 171 0 0 0 0 

CS0228 Canal Road 200 100 300 0 0 0 0 

CS0241 
Re-use of Former College Buildings 

Keighley 
567 -11 556 9 0 0 0 

Page 181



 

CS0266 Superconnected Cities 902 5 907 0 0 0 0 

CS0290 Odeon 0 6 6 0 0 0 0 

CS0291 Tyrls 5,200 -85 5,115 42 0 0 0 

CS0265 
LCR Revolving Econ Investment 

Fund 
3,956 0 3,956 1,451 0 0 0 

CS0285 Strategic Development Fund 1,167 0 1,167 0 0 0 0 

CS0345 
Development of Land at Crag 

Road, Shipley 
0 120 120 0 1,706 0 0 

          

Total - Regen – Property & Economic Development 16,379 2,301 18,680 1,604 1,706 4,266 0 

          

Regeneration - Climate, Housing, Employment & 

Skills 
        

CS0050 Carbon Management 2,802 134 2,936 24 0 0 0 

CS0134 Computerisation of Records 5 5 10 0 0 0 0 

CS0136 Disabled Housing Facilities Grant 5,981 -379 5,602 605 2,471 2,471 4,942 

CS0137 Development of Equity Loans 1,671 95 1,766 36 1,000 1,000 2,000 

CS0141 Area Renewals 0 -9 -9 0 0 0 0 

CS0144 
Empty Private Sector Homes 

Strategy 
1,000 43 1,043 -102 1,021 0 0 

CS0157 DEEP/Community Warmth 96 0 96 0 0 0 0 

CS0305 
LCR Green Deal Communities 

Project 
0 76 76 5 0 0 0 

CS0158 Regional HALS 0 11 11 0 0 0 0 

CS0160 Affordable Housing - Longfield Dve 0 11 11 0 0 0 0 

CS0223 Affordable Housing - Beech Grove 0 -45 -45 -260 0 0 0 

CS0225 Affordable Housing Prog 11-15 1,090 -63 1,027 0 0 0 0 

CS0308 Affordable Housing Prog 15 -18 7,437 -7 7,430 32 19,268 2,258 0 

CS0250 Goitside 573 -23 550 36 5 0 0 

CS0280 Temporary Housing Clergy House 760 450 1,210 233 41 0 0 

CS0145 S106 monies Affordable Housing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

CS0335 
Bfd Cyrenians 255 - 257 

Manningham Ln 
288 0 288 0 0 0 0 

          

Total - Regen - Climate, Hsing, Employ & Skills 21,703 301 22,004 607 23,806 5,729 6,942 

          

Regeneration - Planning         

CS0131 
Keighley Town Centre Heritage 

Initiative 
310 359 669 1 0 0 0 

CS0178 Ilkley Moor 24 6 30 0 0 0 0 

CS0179 
Landscape Environmental 

Improvement 
26 -3 23 1 0 0 0 

CS0281 Saltaire - Public Realm imp 200 -8 192 1 0 0 0 

          

Total - Regeneration - Planning 560 354 914 3 0 0 0 

          

Regeneration - Highways & Transport         

CS1000 Countances Way - Bridge grant 30 0 30 0 0 0 0 

CS0071 Highways S106 Projects 352 -6 346 5 0 0 0 

CS0091 Capital Highway Maintenance 0 -13 -13 53 0 0 0 

CS0095 Bridges 0 -30 -30 243 0 0 0 

CS0096 Street Lighting 0 202 202 26 0 0 0 

CS0097 Bridge Assessments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

CS0099 Integrated Transport 0 389 389 11 0 0 0 

Page 182



 

CS0103 
WY Casualty Reduction 

Partnership 
37 5 42 0 0 0 0 

CS0164 
Local Intgrtd Transp Area Com 

CS0164 
401 153 554 50 0 0 0 

CS0168 
Connecting the City (Westfield 

Agreement) 
0 56 56 2 0 0 0 

CS0169 Public Realm Impm't, City Centre 0 33 33 0 0 0 0 

CS0172 
Saltaire Roundabout Congestion & 

Safety Works 
318 -7 311 3 0 0 0 

CS0232 Local Sustainable Transport Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

CS0252 Measures to Support Hubs 160 46 206 0 0 0 0 

CS0264 Highway to Health 0 99 99 67 0 0 0 

CS0282 Highways Strategic Acquisitions 209 0 209 0 0 0 0 

CS0289 Local Pinch Point Fund 0 542 542 3 0 0 0 

CS0293 West Yorks & York Transport Fund 725 303 1,028 64 2,966 38,314 0 

CS0306 
Strategic Transport Infrastructure 

Priorities 
5,500 0 5,500 0 6,260 0 0 

CS0302 
Highways Property Liability 

Reduction Strategy 
174 -52 122 3 0 0 0 

CS0307 Bus Hot Spots 0 -9 -9 5 0 0 0 

CS0317 VMS Signage 45 -2 43 0 0 0 0 

CS0319 Challenge Fund 2,080 -12 2,068 57 750 0 0 

CS0323 Flood Risk Mgmt 0 45 45 2 0 0 0 

CS0325 Street Lighting Invest to Save 516 -7 509 92 0 0 0 

CS0329 Damens County Park  138 0 138 0 0 0 0 

CS0332 Flood Funding 2015 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 

CS0334 Air Quality Monitoring Equipment 8 25 33 0 0 0 0 

CS0346 
WY+TF Forster Square Station 

Gateway Improvement Project 
275 425 700 0 0 0 0 

         

Total – Regen – Highways & transport 10,968 2,184 13,152 696 9,976 38,314 0 

Reserve Schemes & Contingencies         

 General Contingency 976 0 976 0 2,000 2,000 4,000 

CS0277 Wyke Manor Ph2 Sports Dev 493 0 493 0 0 0 0 

 WY Archive Service 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 Essential Maintenance Provision  2,000 -1,500 500 0 2,000 2,000 4,000 

 Libraries Consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 The Oakes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 Depot Strategy 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 

 Whiteoaks Respite Centre 503 0 503 0 0 0 0 

 Bradford City Centre Townscape Heritage 2,750 0 2,750 0 0 0 0 

 Schools Catering Equipment 300 0 300 0 300 0 0 

 St George's Hall 3,788 0 3,788 0 0 0 0 

 Britannia Hse/Argus Chambers Phase 2 1,000 0 1,000 0 1,000 0 0 

 Strategic Acquisition 275 0 275 0 0 0 0 

 Keighley One Public Sector Estate 3,000 0 3,000 0 10,000 5,000 0 

          

Total - Reserve Schemes & Contingencies 15,085 -1,500 13,385 0 18,300 9,000 8,000 

          

TOTAL - All Services 112,800 5,640 118,440 6,306 78,417 77,536 42,235 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Report of the Strategic Director of Children’s Services 
to the meeting of the Executive to be held on 19th July 
2016 
 
 

           J 
Subject:   
 
Regionalisation of Adoption Services 
 
 

Summary statement: 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide information to the Council’s Executive 
about the proposals for adoption reform contained within the government’s 
Education and Adoption Act 2016. It sets out the Yorkshire and Humber regional 
plan for adoption and requests delegated authority for the Director of Children’s 
Services to form a Yorkshire and Humber central adoption hub and develop a West 
Yorkshire Regional Adoption Agency which is to be hosted by Leeds City Council. 

Michael Jameson 
Strategic Director for Children’s 
Services 

Portfolio:   
 
Health & Wellbeing 
 

Report Contact:  Jim Hopkinson, 
Deputy Director, Children’s Social 
Care 
Phone: (01274) 432904 
E-mail: jim.hopkinson@bradford.gov.uk 

 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services 

Page 185

Agenda Item 8/



 
 

1. SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide information to the Council’s Executive about the 
proposals for adoption reform contained within the government’s Education and Adoption 
Act 2016. It sets out the Yorkshire and Humber regional plan for adoption and requests 
delegated authority for the Director of Children’s Services to proceed with the plan to form 
a West Yorkshire Regional Adoption Agency, to be hosted by Leeds City Council within 
the Yorkshire and Humber hub. 

1.1 An agreed regional and sub-regional approach to the future delivery of adoption 
services will benefit Bradford in delivering a more efficient and cost effective service. 
It will utilise central Government funding to help facilitate the change. 

 
The new Agency would take over the recruitment of adoptive families, the family 
finding function for children requiring adoption and the provision of adoption support. 
The Local Authority would however retain the decision making in respect of adoption 
planning and matching for its own children.  

 
 The key benefits of the agency would be to: 
 

• Focus on best outcomes for children requiring adoption through good quality 

recruitment & assessment of adopters, matching, early placement and adoption 

support.  

• Improve outcomes for children, prospective adopters and adoptive families and 

birth families.  

 

• Provide sufficient placements for West Yorkshire’s children and improve 

adoption support for all those affected by adoption including birth families, for 

the transition and the future adoption service 

 

• Enable the new regional adoption agency to form relationships with voluntary 

organisations in the Yorkshire and Humberside Voluntary Adoption Alliance 

Group 

 

• Ensure partnership work is promoted and enhanced to promote the best 

interests of children, adopters and adoptive families and allow best practice 

elements between the local authorities to be enhanced. 

 

• Ensure funding for the agency will go directly to work for children and adoption 

because the local authority funding profile is understood and factored into the 

plan of the new agency and provides  value for money  

 

• The Yorkshire and Humber hub will be tasked to undertake key functions on 

behalf of the 3 Y&H regional adoption agencies, where the outcomes for all 

stakeholders will be optimised by regional collaboration. 

 
 

Page 186



 
 

The Executive is asked to endorse the proposed creation of a West Yorkshire Regional 
Adoption Agency and Yorkshire and Humber Hub and to delegate authority for the 
implementation of this to the Director of Children’s Services. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 In June 2015 the Department for Education published ‘Regionalising Adoption’. The  
 Government’s view is that structural change will help to: 

• Speed up the process and markedly improve the life chances of 
 neglected and damaged children. 

• Improve adopter recruitment and adoption support. 

• Reduce costs. 
 
2.2  In March 2016 ‘Adoption: A vision for change’ was published which set out plans for 

adoption reform as part of the overarching vision for transforming the quality of 
children’s social care services by 2020. 
 
The key objectives of this are 

• To reverse the marked decline in the numbers of adoptions 

• To address concerns that some children still wait too long for adoption 

• To address concerns that too many families miss out on vital support services 

• To address concerns that some children fail to get the permanence option that 
would be in their best interests 

 
The government’s stated intention is to improve the provision of adoption services 
through the establishment of Regional Adoption Agencies with local authority and 
voluntary agency involvement.  

2.3 The issues that the government is seeking to address within adoption reform 
  are as follows: 

 

• Inefficiencies. The current system is fragmented with around 180 agencies, 
both Local Authority and Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA), recruiting and 
matching adopters for 5000 children per year. The majority of agencies are 
operating at a very small scale and this hinders strategic planning and 
economies of scale. 

• Timeliness of placing children. Whilst there has been significant improvement 
in the performance of Local Authorities in placing children swiftly with adoptive 
families there is further progress that can be made. This is particularly the case 
with harder to place children, often older, within a sibling group or with a 
disability. 

• Adopter recruitment. Again there has been improvement in both the number of 
adopters recruited and the timescales to achieve this. However, whilst the 
number of approved adopters nationally is now greater than the number of 
children waiting, many of these adopters are less willing to consider those 
children who are harder to place. 

• Adoption support. The help that is offered to families after adoption is the 
responsibility of Local Authorities. However it is currently fragmented and 
characterised by a combination of in-house and spot purchased arrangements 
with often significant variations between local authority areas. 

Page 187



 
 

 
2.4 The specific proposal within the Education and Adoption Act 2016, as it relates to 

adoption reform, is to support the creation of regional adoption agencies. This is the 
preferred delivery structure to ensure the issues identified above are resolved. 
Government has asked the sector to propose the most suitable method of scale and 
scope for these regional agencies and has provided funding to achieve this. It is the 
intention that by the end of the current parliament there will be a regional adoption 
agency in place for every part of England. There are powers within the Education 
and Adoption Act 2016 to force a Local Authority or VAA to join a regional agency if 
no action is taken. 

 
 The proposal is to create a Yorkshire and Humber adoption hub with 3 regional 

adoption agencies, North and Humber, West and South. The hub will take on many 
of the functions previously provided by the Adoption Consortium with a small 
number of functions held centrally e.g. performance data collection and analysis to 
enable tracking and service planning. The hub is likely to be hosted by Barnardo’s. 

 
2.5 Yorkshire and Humber regional project board has been successful in an application 

to the Department for Education (DfE) to become an early adopter of 
regionalisation. As a demonstration project of a regional approach it can establish 
best practice and help to shape adoption agency development on a wider basis. 
The Yorkshire & Humber project board will be working over the next six months to 
establish an implementation delivery plan.  In relation to West Yorkshire this will 
combine adoption services from Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and 
Wakefield. Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA’s) and Adoption Support Agencies 
(ASA’s) will be integrated into this arrangement.  

 
2.6 West Yorkshire will be responsible for managing its own Regional Adoption Agency 

which will be hosted by Leeds City Council but jointly controlled by the Local 
Authorities and Voluntary Agencies in the area. It will provide a centre of excellence 
for adoption practice and a consistent, high quality service for children in our care 
and adopters. 

 
2.7 A detailed partnership arrangement will be drawn up between the Local Authorities. 
 
2.8 The Agency will be overseen by a Joint Committee with a representation of elected 

members from each Local Authority and a Management Board with chief officer 
representation from each Local Authority. These two bodies will set the strategic 
direction and performance expectations for the Agency. 

 
2.9 Key stakeholders have been briefed about the work of the project board to ensure 
 that they understand the direction of travel towards a regional agency. Regular 
 briefings will continue to be produced 

 
2.10 Each Local Authority will have key staff in the areas of Legal, IT, HR, Finance and 

Procurement, Communications, Business Support, involved in progressing the 
regionalisation of the adoption service. 

 
 The formal process of engagement with staff, elected members and the key 

officers, who will establish a regional agency has not commenced, as the 
governance model needs to be agreed and given regional/Departmental approval to 

Page 188



 
 

proceed.  
 

The staffing structure and funding model for the new agency is being developed in 
conjunction with KPMG external consultants. This will require fuller discussion 
regarding arrangements for staff transfer, TUPE, pension implications etc and 
consultation with the trade unions. 

 
2.11 The planned implementation date for the Regional Adoption Agency is 1st April 
     2017. 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS - THE BRADFORD CONTEXT 
 
3.1   In the Regional Agency Decision making about Bradford children will be retained by 

Bradford Council and agency decisions regarding whether a child should be placed 
for adoption and whether a child should be matched with a particular family for 
adoption will remain with the Council’s Deputy Director for Children’s Social Care. 

3.2   Regionalisation offers the opportunity  for some of Bradford’s harder to place children being 
more likely to be placed within West Yorkshire than across the country as sometimes can 
be the case now and for all West Yorkshire families to benefit from a larger scale and 
breadth of adoption support services than are currently available 

3.3  There is a commitment to retaining a presence of adoption staff within Bradford district and 
that there will continue to be a point of contact and recruitment events for prospective 
adopters from the District in Bradford. 

 
4. OPTIONS 

 
 There are two available options for consideration 

 
4.1 To support the continuing development of the Regional Adoption Agency will:  

• provide economies of scale and efficiency savings to Bradford Council at a time 
of economic austerity. 

•  improve the timeliness of service delivery to adopters and children within the 
Bradford district  

• increase the range of services available to all parties affected by adoption.  

• as an early adopter of the development of the Regional Adoption Agency model, 
enable the Agency to benefit from Department for Education funding to facilitate 
the transition process 

 
4.2 To maintain the status quo and not pursue the development of the Regional 

Adoption Agency will;  

• render the risk that legislation will oblige the Bradford adoption service to merge 
with or be taken over by another adoption agency within 2 years 

• risk the ability to access the level of funding currently available to facilitate the 
staff time and expertise to oversee the regionalisation. 

• risk that Bradford children and adopters will be disadvantaged from accessing the 
benefits of an adoption service offered on a larger scale. 

 
 

Page 189



 
 

5. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 

 Funding of the Agency will be based on an accurate understanding of each 
agency’s budget and expenditure in respect of adoption, identification of economies 
of scale that can be achieved by a regional agency and recommendation of a 
budget and funding formula to apportion the cost of the Regional Agency between 
the 5 Local Authorities 

 
 Each Local Authority will consult with HR advisors to identify the scope of the 

proposal for affected staff in that LA and engage in consultation and the application 
of the HR process with the affected staff and their trade unions. 

 
 It is anticipated that there will be savings in the implementation of the Regional 

Adoption Agency through the rationalisation of duplication of some management 
functions and tiers. 

 
 Any forecast savings will be clarified during the 2016/17 financial year once the 

identified model is confirmed and implementation plans are effected. 
 

The return upon the overall investment will ensue when the Regional Adoption 
Agency has increased its recruitment of adoptive families in the Agency, which had 
formerly required cost and time intensive inter agency searches/matches. 

 
6. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
 The proposed joint arrangements are permitted under Article 13.2 of the constitution 

which states the Executive may establish joint arrangements with one or more local 
authorities to exercise functions which are executive functions. Such arrangements 
may involve the appointment of joint committees of these other local authorities.  

 
 The establishment of a joint committee, its terms of reference, members to be 

appointed and terms of office etc are executive decisions. These matters will need 
to be considered by the Executive at a later date as they cannot be delegated to 
officers. The Executive may wish to consider delegating the matters to a committee.  

 
 Article 13.11 of the constitution requires the Monitoring Officer to keep a record  of  

 joint governance arrangements and gives the monitoring officer the power to 
 require information about the arrangements.  
  
 Governance of the Agency and the management of any associated risks will be 

subject to a detailed partnership agreement between the 5 Local Authorities. 
 
 The Agency will be overseen by a Joint Committee with a representation of elected 

members from each council and a Management Board with chief officer 
representation from each Local Authority. These two bodies will set the strategic 
direction and performance expectations for the Agency. 

 
 The new agency will need to be formally established as an Adoption Agency and 

registered with OFSTED. 
 
 For the duration of the process of transition a local Bradford Regionalisation Board 

Page 190



 
 

has been established to ensure the various strands of ongoing work are 
synchronised. 

 

7. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
7.1 The adoption functions included in the proposed transfer are executive functions of 

the local authority. The proposal to discharge functions jointly with other authorities 
is lawful and governed by the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Authorities 
(Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions (England) Regulations 2012. Such 
joint arrangements may be made by the Leader, the Executive, an individual 
member of the executive or a committee of the Executive. As stated above, the 
establishment of a joint committee, its terms of reference, members to be appointed 
and terms of office etc are executive decisions and cannot be delegated to officers.  

 
7.2  The Education and Adoption Act 2016 provides the Secretary of State with the 

power to direct one or more local authorities to make arrangements for any or all of 
their specified adoption functions to be carried out on their behalf by one of the local 
authorities named or by another adoption agency. The Secretary of State can either 
name which adoption agency should carry out these functions, or instruct the local 
authorities to determine who should carry out the functions. The effect of the 
provisions is that the Government has the power to remove the adoption function 
from a local authority and direct that another authority or adoption agency carries 
out that function. 

 
7.3 The proposals would involve a transfer of staff from City of Bradford MDC to Leeds 

City Council. It is considered that the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment Regulations 2006 (“TUPE”) would apply to such a transfer. If collective 
redundancies are envisaged, information and consultation duties under Trade 
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 may also apply. The Council 
should also bear in mind any relevant collective agreement, policy and/or 
procedure. It is important to inform the recognised trade unions long enough before 
the proposed transfer of staff to enable effective consultation with representatives of 
any affected employees to take place. 

.  
8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 

IT and Performance Management systems will require further development but the 
timeline and cost of procurement for a new system does not fit with the proposed 
implementation date for the Agency and further work/collaboration will be needed. 

 
8.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 

Implementation of a Regional Adoption Agency should optimise the potential range 
of families available for Bradford children within the West Yorkshire region and 
avoid those children losing connection with their West Yorkshire heritage by virtue 
of being placed outside of the region. 
 

8.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The establishment of a Regional Agency will bring about economies of scale and 
make the adoption service more resilient to service cuts impacting adversely on 

Page 191



 
 

service delivery. 
 
8.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

None.  
 
8.4.1 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 

None. 
  
8.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 

None.   
 
8.6 TRADE UNION 
 

The trades unions will be fully involved in the process of consultation with staff and 
with any HR processes at both a West Yorkshire and Bradford level. 

 
8.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
 All Bradford children and families are affected equally by these proposals. 
 
8.8 AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS  
  
 Not applicable. 
 
9. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
 None. 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

• That Executive approve the formation of a Yorkshire and Humber adoption 
service as set out in this report.  

• That authority be delegated to the Director of Children’s Services, in 
consultation with the Education, Employment and Skills Portfolio Holder to 
progress the development of the Yorkshire and Humber Hub and the West 
Yorkshire Adoption Agency and to proceed with the revised structure leading to 
the transfer of staff to Leeds City Council as the host of the West Yorkshire 
Agency with the new arrangements being in place for April 2017.  

• That a further report be presented to the Executive prior to the implementation 
of the new arrangements, including details of proposed governance 
arrangements 

 
11. APPENDICES 
 

None. 
 

 

Page 192



 
 

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

None. 
 

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of the Director of Children’s Services to the 
meeting of the Council Executive to be held on           
19th July 2016. 
 
 

          K 
Subject:   
 
Proposed Educational Psychology Team Spin-Out from LA from 1st November 2016 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This is a progress report on the proposal to spin out the Educational Psychology 
Team as an Employee Owned Mutual. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Michael Jameson 
Strategic Director Children’s Services 

Portfolio:   
  
Education, Employment and Skills 
 
Health & Wellbeing 
 

Report Contact:   
Ruth Dennis, Principal Educational 
Psychologist 
Phone: (01274) 439444 
E-mail:  
ruth.dennis@bradford.gov.uk 
           

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Children’s Services 

 

Page 195

Agenda Item 9/



 

1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report provides a background to the proposed spin out of the EPT with 

the requested updates. The Council Executive is requested to approve the 
final sign off of spin-out of the EPT as an employee owned mutual. 

 
1.2 It is recommended that the Spin-Out is a Community Interest Company (CiC), 

reflective of the council’s ‘New Deal’ agenda.   
 
1.3 The CiC will be a Mutual, owned and run by its employees, but with assets locked 

for community benefit. Employees will be represented on the board, and 
consultation mechanisms will be put in place to communicate with service users 
and stakeholders 

 
1.4 In line with the New Deal, the Spin-Out will provide the opportunity for the LA to 

develop its role as commissioner of previously centrally held services, and add 
social value to the district through attracting more skilled and experienced 
Educational Psychologists to the area. 

 
1.5 Through its constitution, the Community Interest Company will add social benefit to 

Bradford, through any surplus being used to provide additional psychological 
services to children and their families across the district. These services will be 
established and co-created in collaboration with service users, partners and other 
stakeholders. 

 
1.6 The proposal was shared with the Chief Executive’s management team in January 

2016 and they similarly agreed that it should be progressed. At a meeting with Joint 
Management Team on 29th February 2016, it was agreed that this should be 
progressed and key issues addressed, prior to being presented to council exec for 
final approval. 

 

 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The LA currently employs a team of 21.4 Educational Psychologists (EPT), 

including trainees and assistants. The role of the EPT is to improve educational 
outcomes and life chances for children and young people by ensuring they have 
maximum success in school.  

 
2.2 The LA currently funds approximately 75% of the cost of the team, in order to 

provide statutory advice for children undergoing Education Health and Care 
assessments under the Children and Families Act (2014). In addition this funding 
provides early intervention work for schools across the district and a critical incident 
response linked to the LA’s emergency planning duties. The remaining 25% of the 
cost of the team is funded through traded work with schools and other external 
partners such as Healthy Minds and Born in Bradford. 

 
2.3 There is a strong market for educational psychology, but in the context of a national 

shortage of EPs it is becoming increasingly difficult to attract new psychologists to 

Page 196



 

Bradford.  The EPT is currently carrying three permanent and two temporary 
vacancies and a recent recruitment yielded only one applicant. This situation puts at 
risk the statutory and other services required by the LA. 

 
2.4 In response to this, an options appraisal was undertaken to look at ensuring the 

long term sustainability of educational psychology services within Bradford. Three 
options were considered including remaining as is, a wholly owned company and a 
Spin-Out. The preferred option is that the EPT should spin out of the Local Authority 
as an Employee Owned Mutual. 

 
2.5 This proposal is supported by the Association of Educational Psychologists 

(Professional Association) and by team members. Stakeholders have also been 
informally consulted and they expressed support for the idea. 

 
2.6 A business proposal was drawn up and scrutinised by the LA’s ‘Alternative Delivery 

Vehicle Project Group’ in November 2015. This group, comprising of 
representatives from Finance, Legal, Commercial and HR pronounced that the 
proposal was sound and should be progressed. 

 
 
 
3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
3.1 This will be the first Spin-Out from Bradford LA in recent years. Based on the past 

successful trading of the EPT, the venture is low risk and likely to succeed. The 
Spin-Out could provide valuable experience of developing such arrangements and 
an effective model for future Spin-Outs.  

 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
4.1 Initially the Spin-Out will look very similar to the existing EPT. The LA will enter into 

an initial three year contract with the CiC to provide a similar level of statutory and 
early intervention services. This will be provided at a cost which is will be no more 
than the existing budget spent on the EPT. 

 
4.2 Over an agreed timescale the Spin-Out  will expand its trading with schools and 

other partners (for example Public Health) in order to generate increased income. 
Any surplus will be reinvested into the Bradford District to enhance existing or 
provide new services. 

 
4.3 As a Spin-Out, the CiC will in time provide a secure income stream for the council 

through the buying back of accommodation and other back office functions which 
were previously provided to the EPT through corporate recharge.  

 
4.4 During the establishment of the CiC and for the period of the initial contract, it is 

expected that BMDC will transfer physical assets and staff to the company, enter 
into arrangements for the provision of facilities to the company and novate any 
existing contracts held by the Educational Psychology Team. Assets currently 
consist of psychological test equipment and resources (approximate value £30,000) 

Page 197



 

and IT equipment (approximate value £15,000) 
 

4.5 In order to support the Spin-Out, it is proposed that the LA authorises any surplus 
generated by the EPT in the pre Spin-Out phase to be used to support the 
development of the CiC. 
 

4.6 Due diligence has been carried out by Raj Singh, May 2016 and confirms the financial 
viability of the mutual being created, a contract being issued and operational 
robustness for  3 – 5 years 

 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
5.1 The main risk to the LA relates to ensuring sufficiency of EPs to carry out the 

required statutory work. 
 
5.2 Careful negotiation of the core contract with the CiC will be a key tenet in reducing 

this risk. Staff recruitment and retention within the CiC should be enhanced by the 
Spin-Out, enabling it to fulfil the requirements of any contract entered into. Should 
these anticipated benefits not materialise, the CiC may struggle to deliver the 
required statutory work. This situation is however no less favourable than remaining 
as is. 

 
5.3 As with any new business, there is a chance that the CiC will fail, and this will 

impact negatively on the LA’s capacity to access sufficient statutory psychological 
advice. Working with the CiC to ensure its best possible chance of success will 
mitigate against this. In the worst case scenario of the CiC failing, then the option 
remains for the LA to re-employ a team of psychologists directly in order to fulfil 
their statutory and other requirement. 

 
5.4 At the end of the three year contract the LA will need to enter into competitive 

tendering for Educational Psychology Services. This introduces a potential risk to 
service security. However, it is anticipated that the CiC will maintain a strong link to 
Bradford and will be keen to bid for any tendered contract and ensure best value for 
the district. 

 
Progress has been made with the cohort of staff subject to change as a result of 
transferring into the mutual. This has been pursued by Michelle Moverley and 
Darren Whitelaw (May 2016). There are no perceived risks (including from unions)  

 

Progress has been made for the establishment of the mutual and plans are in  
Place for a formal launch from November 1st 2016. Market testing and awareness is  
in place and demonstrates a welcome from existing client and key LA departments. 

 
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
6.1 The initial contract entered into with the LA will be a contract “reserved” under 

Regulation 77 and will run for the maximum allowed 3 years. After this period the 
LA will enter into competitive tendering for Educational Psychology Services.  

Page 198



 

 
6.2 All staff currently within the EPT will transfer from BMDC to the new company under 

the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations (TUPE) with 
indemnity for predicted redundancy, sickness etc provided initially by the LA in line 
with other outsourced contracts. 

 
6.3 The CiC will request admitted body status to West Yorkshire Pension Scheme and 

in the first instance, the LA will provide a bond to support the new company with 
potential responsibilities around sickness and redundancy.   

 
6.4 A modification order will be sought by the CiC to ensure continuity of service for all 

members of staff joining the CiC.  
 
7. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1      EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 

The proposal will advance equality of opportunity for people who share a protected 
characteristic. As a CiC, the Spin-Out will have a community interest statement 
requiring it to use any surplus to provide additional services to the community. By 
their nature, psychological services are focused on those with disabilities and with 
other barriers to educational success eg poverty. As such, the proposal will 
advance equality of opportunity for these groups. 

 
The proposal will have a positive impact and help to eliminate discrimination against 
people who share a protected characteristic. The reinvestment of any surplus into 
the community will ensure that those with disabilities and other barriers to education 
will have enhanced access to educational psychology, which in turn will improve 
outcomes for these groups. 

 
 
7.2      SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

This proposal seeks to secure a viable, financially robust, long-lasting response to 
ensuring educational psychology service delivery within the Bradford District.  

 
The proposal is positioned within the wider changes to public services and co-
creation of personal and social wellbeing in line with New Deal outcomes and 
principles. It will contribute to enhancing the overall prosperity, well-being and 
resilience of people, communities and future generations within Bradford. 
 

 
The proposal recognises that robust and agile structural, governance and 
organisational changes create the foundations for the future and are part of the 
solution to more efficient, effective and ethical ways of supporting children, young 
people and their carers throughout the District.   

 
7.3      GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

Page 199



 

There is no impact on the Council's own and the wider District's carbon footprint 
and emissions from other greenhouse gasses.   

 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no Community Safety Implications 
 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
 There are no implications in relation to the Human Rights Act 
 
7.6 TRADE UNION 
 

The Association of Educational Psychologists (AEP) has been fully engaged 
throughout the options appraisal and drafting of the business proposal. It is fully 
supportive of the move. 
 
UNISON is aware of the proposal and has had sight of the business proposal. 
 
Full consultation will be undertaken as part of the TUPE process.. 
 

7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

Under the proposal, all wards will continue to access Educational Psychology 
support via the core contract drawn up between the LA and the CiC. 
 
Community stakeholders will be engaged in order to establish how and where 
services provided through the ‘community interest statement’ will be delivered. 

 
8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
8.1 Background document - Yorkshire Educational Psychology Partnership (Bradford) 

Business Proposal (not for publication paragraph 3 (financial or business affairs) of 
schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended) 
 

 
9. OPTIONS 
 
The following options were previously presented to JMT, giving the main advantages and 
disadvantages: 
 
Option 1:  Retain current structure (The “as-is,” no change) 
 

Advantages 

• Provision of statutory services secure (within limits of staffing) 
 
 Disadvantages 

• Deterioration in terms and conditions linked to efficiency savings impacts 
negatively on capacity to attract and retain staff 

Page 200



 

• Increased pressure on remaining staff due to recruitment issues impacts on 
retention and capacity 

 
 
 
 
 
Option 2:  Establish EPT as a ‘wholly owned’ TECKAL company 
  

Advantages 

• LA maintains decisive influence over the strategic objectives and key 
decisions of the EPT 

• TECKAL exemption avoids need for competitive tendering 
 

Disadvantages 

• TECKAL is generally seen as a transition arrangement to incubate 
fledgling businesses. As the EPT has been trading successfully for 6 
years, this seems unnecessarily bureaucratic 

• As the EPT currently trades in excess of 20% with external partners, the 
EPT would not pass the TECKAL status test 

• Working as a quasi-LA department, the EPT would reduce flexibility to 
offer more favourable terms and conditions in order to attract staff 
 

Option 3:  EPT spins out of the LA as an Employee owned Mutual, in the form of a 
Community Interest Company. 

 
Advantages 

• Allows freedom and flexibility for EPT to attract new EPs to the team, and 
retain existing team 

• Ethically bound through Community Interest statement, so any surplus is put  
back into the district through co-constructed community based initiatives 

• In line with New Deal, the core contract with the CiC ensures provision of 
statutory and other services, but from perspective of commissioner, not 
provider 

• Potential income stream opened up, through CiC paying for services 
currently provided by LA 
 

Disadvantages 

• After initial protected term, EP services will need to be procured through 
competitive tendering 

• Failure of CiC would put at risk delivery of statutory services 
 
 

Option 3 was agreed as the preferred option, having most financial, organisational 
and social benefits for the district, as well as addressing the retention and 
recruitment issues. 

 
Option 3 is in line with the ‘New Deal’ ethos. As a commissioner the LA will have 
more flexibility over what services it purchased from the CiC offering a potential 

Page 201



 

budget saving. This option will also provide an income stream for the council 
through the buying back of accommodation and other back office functions which 
were previously provided through corporate recharge. Further benefits include de-
risking the LA through reducing directly employed staff and providing a valuable 
learning experience relating to spinning services out of the LA 

In addition, Option 3 has benefits for the wider District. The CiC community interest 
statement will ensure that a significant proportion of any surplus is put back into the 
community. In this way, through consultation with the LA and community groups, 
initiatives such as parenting classes and community consultations for vulnerable 
groups, which have been casualties of budgetary reductions, could be reinstated.  

 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 Executive is requested to approve final sign off of the proposal that the EPT spins 

out of the LA as an Employee owned Mutual, in the form of a Community Interest 
Company, from 1st November 2016. 
 

 
11. APPENDICES 
 
11.1 None 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
12.1 Yorkshire Educational Psychology Partnership (Bradford) Business Proposal (not 

for publication paragraph 3 (financial or business affairs) of schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 as amended) 

 
 

Page 202



 

 

Report of the Strategic Director Environment & Sport to 
the meeting of Executive to be held on 19th July 2016. 
 
 

          L 
 
Subject:  The Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 
2016. 
 
 
 

Summary statement:  Executive is asked to agree to the use of Fixed 
Penalty Notices for fly-tipping offences  as provided for in the Unauthorised 
Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 . 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Steve Hartley 
Strategic Director 
Environment & Sport 

Portfolio:   
 
Environment, Sport & Culture 
 

Report Contact:  Amjad Ishaq, 
Environmental Services & 
Enforcement Manager 
Phone: (01274) 433682 
E-mail: amjad.ishaq@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Environment & Waste Management 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 203

Agenda Item 10/



 

1. SUMMARY 
 
 Executive is asked to agree to the use of Fixed Penalty Notices for fly- tipping 

offences as provided for in the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) 
Regulations 2016.  

 
 
2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 (the 
“Regulations”) came into force on 9 May 2016. The Regulations give local 
authorities greater powers to tackle fly- tipping by allowing authorised officers of the 
authority to issue fixed penalty notices of between £150 and £400, where they have 
reason to believe a person has committed a “waste deposit offence” in the 
authority’s area. Introducing fixed penalty notices for fly-tipping is the latest move in 
a government crackdown on waste crime, which costs the economy millions of 
pounds a year in clean-up costs, undermines legitimate business, and poses 
serious risks to our environment.  

2.2 Currently the only sanctions the Council can take are to either prosecute or offer 
cautions to offenders for fly-tipping. Fly-tipping is a criminal offence and the 
maximum penalty for most fly-tipping offences is a fine of up to £50,000 or 12 
months imprisonment or both  (in the Magistrates Court) or a unlimited fine or 5 
years imprisonment  or both (in the Crown Court).  
 

2.3 Prosecutions can be extremely time consuming, costly and can take many months 
to get to court.  It is recommended that Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) are used for 
small scale fly-tipping such as dumping more than a single item of non commercial 
waste  e.g 2 black bin bags of rubbish up to a car boot load.  Anything more than a 
car boot load or any commercial waste is considered to be serious fly-tipping and 
prosecution would be considered in such incidents. Historically the fly-tipping of a 
single item of waste e.g. a single black bag or equivalent has been dealt with as a 
littering offence and a littering fixed penalty notice was issued to the offender. This 
will continue to be the case. The ability to issue a fixed penalty notice for small 
scale fly-tipping will enable the Council to deal with such offences in a more efficient 
and proportionate manner other than to prosecute or offer a caution. The fixed 
penalty notice offers the offender an opportunity to discharge their liability for the 
offence by payment of a fine. However, if the fine is not paid within a specified time 
scale namely 14 days following the date of the notice the Council will then 
prosecute the offender for the fly-tipping offence.   
 
For more serious fly-tipping offences the Council will still look to prosecute 
offenders. 

2.4 While acting as a deterrent, issuing fixed penalty notices for small scale fly- tipping   
will also save the Council officer time and money in prosecuting offenders as they 
will provide a quicker alternative to the prosecution of fly-tippers through the courts.  

 

 

Page 204



 

3. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 
3.1 The Regulations provide for a fixed penalty of not less than £150 and not more than 

£400 for fly-tipping. If no amount for the fixed penalty is specified by the waste 
collection authority the default amount is £200. The Regulations allow a waste 
collection authority to offer a reduction for early payment if the penalty is paid before 
the end of the period of 10 days following the date of the notice.  

 
3.2 Officers from Yorkshire Councils have been discussing the implementation and use 

of Fixed Penalty Notices for fly tipping to ensure a co-ordinated and consistent 
approach across the county. 

 
3.3 Nearly all Councils in the Yorkshire and Humber region are setting the fixed penalty 

at £400.  Most councils are looking to use the option of a discount for early 
payment, typically about a £100 reduction.  

 
4. OPTIONS 
 

Option One 
 
Executive agree to the use of Fixed Penalty Notices for small scale fly-tipping and 
agree that  the penalty in the Bradford District be fixed at £400 .  
 
That Executive also agree that the penalty be reduced to £300 if the penalty is paid in 
full before the end of the period of  10 days  following the date of the notice.   
 
 
Option Two 
 
 

           Executive  do not agree to the use of Fixed Penalty Notices for  small scale fly-tipping. 
 
 Option Three  
 
 Executive agree to the use of Fixed Penalty Notices for small scale fly-tipping  but 

decide that  a different amount for the fine and/or the early payment discount, within 
the limits prescribed by the Regulations , should be imposed .   

 

5. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 

There are no direct financial implications with this report. The new fixed penalty 
powers will increase the potential to take alternative action against people 
committing lower level fly-tipping offences by issuing Fixed Penalty Notices as 
opposed to preparing lengthy, time consuming prosecutions. 

 
6. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
 There are no risk management and governance issues apparent within the context 

of this report. 
 

Page 205



 

7. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
7.1 Pursuant to  section 33 (1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 it is an offence 

to deposit controlled or extractive waste in or on any land without a permit or in 
breach of a permit. 

  
7.2 The Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 introduce a 

new section to the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to allow waste collection 
authorities in England to issue Fixed Penalty Notices for fly-tipping waste offences 
in breach of s33(1) EPA 1990.      

 
 
8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 

There are no equality and diversity implications apparent within the context of the 
report.   

 
8.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Preventing fly- tipping contributes positively towards the sustainable agenda. 
 
8.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 

The content of the report does not have a negative climate change impact. Should 
the incidence of fly- tipping be reduced there will be a carbon saving from less 
vehicle and miles needed to remove fly- tipped waste. 

 
 
8.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no community safety implications. 
 
8.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 

There are no known Human Rights Act implications. 
 
8.6 TRADE UNION 
 

There are no staffing implications arising from this report. 
 
8.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 

Enforcement action would take place across the district and all Wards would be 
covered under the new legislation, which will hopefully help to reduce the amount of 
fly-tipping across the district, when applied as part of a wider Environmental 
Enforcement strategy. 
 

 
9. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 

Page 206



 

 
None 

 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That the Strategic Director Environment and Sport be given delegated authority in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder to implement the provisions within the 
Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016.  

 
10.2  That the Strategic Director Environment and Sport authorise in writing designated  

Council officers to issue Fixed Penalty Notices for fly- tipping and such officers will 
receive appropriate training.  

 
10.3 That the fixed penalty be set at £400 which will be reduced to £300 if the penalty is 

paid in full before the end of the period of  10 days  following the date of the notice.   
 

 
11. APPENDICES 
 
 None   
 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

None 
 

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



                          
 

 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 

WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY 

HELD ON THURSDAY 31 MARCH 2016 AT WELLINGTON HOUSE, LEEDS 
 

 

 
Present:  Cllr Peter Box (Chair)    - Wakefield MDC 

   Cllr Tim Swift (Dep Chair) - Calderdale MBC 

Cllr David Green  - City of Bradford MDC  

   Peter McBride   - Kirklees MC 

Cllr Judith Blake  - Leeds City Council 

Cllr Keith Aspden  - City of York Council 

Cllr Stephen Baines  - Conservative Representative 

        (Calderdale MBC) 

Cllr Simon Cooke  - Conservative Representative 

        (City of Bradford MDC) 

    

In attendance: Cllr Keith Wakefield  - Chair of WYCA Transport Committee 

   Ben Still   - WYCA 

   Nick Winney   - WYCA 

   Angela Shearon  - WYCA 

       

 

76. Apologies for Absence 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Andrew Carter (Leeds City 

Council), David Sheard (Kirklees MC), Jeannette Sunderland (Bradford) and Roger 

Marsh (Leeds City Region LEP). 

 

77. Nick Winney 

 

It was reported that it would be the last meeting for Nick Winney, Director of Legal 

Services, who would be leaving WYCA on 15 April to take up a new position. 

 

Members thanked Nick for all his hard work during his time with WYCA and wished 

him well for the future. 

 

 

 M 

Page 209

Agenda Item 11/



78. Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 

There were no pecuniary interests declared by members at the meeting. 

 

79. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

 

There were no items on the agenda requiring exclusion of the press and public. 

 

80. Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 February 2016 

 

Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting of the WYCA held on 4 February 2016 be 

approved and signed by the Chair. 

 

81. Implications of Government’s 2016 Budget 

 

The Authority considered a report setting out the implications of the Government’s 

2016 budget and the principal implications related to Combined Authority powers 

focusing on business rates, flooding and transport. 

 

Business Rates 

 

The Chancellor announced cuts for all business rate payers with most of the short-

term benefit for small businesses and significant long-term benefits for large 

businesses.  The government committed to compensating local authorities for the 

loss of income as a result of the cuts to business rates although there was no 

guarantee that the level of compensation would account for the full loss of business 

rate income and clarity would need to be sought on the detail.  

 

Flooding 

 

The Government committed a further £130m to repairing roads and bridges 

damaged by Storms Desmond and Eva on top of the £49m previously announced 

which would benefit, for example, Linton Bridge in Leeds, Scout Road in Calderdale 

and the A646 near Mytholmroyd.  In addition, a further £700m would be added to 

the Government’s flood defence capital programme by 2020 with maintenance 

spending to be increased by £40m.   

 

Transport 

 

The Chancellor committed support to the Northern Transport Strategy, developed by 

Transport for the North (TfN), including commitments to develop the following 

schemes using part of the £300m funding pot announced in November’s Spending 

Review:- 

 

• High Speed 3 

• Upgrade of the M62 to a four-lane smart motorway 

• Improvements to Leeds Station to capitalise on the benefits of HS2 

Page 210



 

Further announcements made included the bringing forward by 2 years of previously 

announced critical road projects, including Lofthouse junction and capacity 

enhancements to the M1 at junction 35a-39 (Rotherham to Wakefield); funding to 

improve local roads with £15m allocated from the Pothole Action Fund to repair 

around 277,000 potholes during 2016-17. 

 

Resolved –  

 

(i) That the headline implications from the Government’s 2016 budget be noted. 

 

(ii) That a further report be brought to a future meeting of the Combined 

Authority once further details of the implications of the budget are known. 

 

82. Growth Deal Approvals 

 

The Authority considered a report seeking approval to the gateway stages for 

Growth Deal schemes outlined in the submitted report and providing an update on 

projects within the Skills Capital, Resource Efficiency, Housing and Regeneration and 

the West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund programmes within the Growth Deal. 

 

Skills Capital Programme 16/17 – Leeds College of Building 

 

The report provided details of the project to enable the Leeds College of Building to 

consolidate its estate to operate from two sites in Leeds to provide world class 

education and training facilities for students and the construction industry to meet 

the growing needs and skills gaps in the industry. 

  

Approval was sought from the Authority, subject to completion of the appropriate 

due diligence and legal documentation, for grant funding of £14m, of which £2.1m 

would be repaid upon completion of the project. 

 

Resource Efficiency (Pillar 3) 

 

The report provided details of the project, which had been considered by WYCA’s 

Investment Committee, to construct a new 6.4 kilometre District Heating Network 

(DHN) to connect the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility in the Aire Valley to 

customers across the Leeds, the benefits of which would include tackling fuel 

poverty and a 40% reduction in carbon between 2005 and 2020. 

 

The Authority were asked to consider the benefits of the project and an appropriate 

funding mechanism to support the £7m required by Leeds City Council to invest in 

the project, recognising the developing pipeline of other District Heat Networks. 

 

Housing and Regeneration (Pillar 4) Programme, 2016/17 to 2020/21 

 

It was reported that proposals for a 2016-17 Housing and Regeneration Programme 

had previously been considered by WYCA’s Investment Committee and that, 

Page 211



following the appraisal of the business cases for the proposed projects and the 

conclusion of the SEP refresh, a detailed programme would be submitted to the 

Investment Committee for further consideration and future recommendation to the 

Combined Authority. 

 

York Central Access and Station Masterplan Gateway 1 

 

Members were provided with details of the scheme which would deliver a highly 

sustainable new central business district providing modern commercial floor space 

currently lacking in the city centre enabling businesses to grow and encouraging 

companies to relocate to York and the Leeds City Region and will deliver significant 

new homes. 

 

Approval was sought to expenditure of £2.1m to progress the scheme through 

Gateway 1 to the next stage. 

 

M62 Junction 24a 

 

Approval was sought to additional expenditure of £70,000 to undertake an extended 

feasibility study into the economic, social and wider impacts of the scheme. 

 

South East Bradford Link Road 

 

Approval was sought to expenditure of £91,000 to undertake pre-feasibility work to 

re-evaluate the economic benefits of the original scheme and other potential route 

options. 

 

A629 Phase 2 

 

Approval was sought to progress the A629 Phase 2 through Gateway 1 and for the 

release of the remaining funding of £1,616,000 to cover the costs of developing the 

scheme from Gateway 1 through to Gateway 2. 

 

Resolved:   

 

(i) That, subject to completion of the appropriate due diligence and legal 

documentation, grant funding of £14m to support the proposal from the 

Leeds College of Building, of which £2.1m will be repaid upon completion of 

the project, be approved. 

 

(ii) That the benefits of the Leeds District Heat Network be recognised and that 

the final decision on an appropriate funding mechanism for the £7m sought 

be delegated to the WYCA Director of Programme Delivery, in consultation 

with the Chair of the Investment Committee. 

 

(iii) That progression of York Central Access and Station Masterplan through 

Gateway 1 and the release of £2.1m to cover the costs of developing the 

scheme from Gateway 1 through to Gateway 2 be approved. 

Page 212



 

(iv) That expenditure of £70,000 to progress the feasibility work to progress the 

M62 Junction 24a project to Gateway 1 be approved. 

 

(v) That expenditure of £91,000 for pre-feasibility work on the South East 

Bradford Link Road be approved. 

 

(vi) That progression of the A629 Phase 2 through Gateway 1 and the release of 

the remaining funding of £1,616,000 to cover the costs of developing the 

scheme from Gateway 1 through to Gateway 2 be approved. 

 

83. Refresh of the Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan  

 

The Authority considered a report seeking endorsement of the final draft of the 

refreshed Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (SEP). 

 

It was reported that the first SEP had been completed in March 2014 at the request 

of the Chancellor and was intended both as a statement of local economic ambition 

and policy and as a competitive bid document for a share of the government’s 

£12bm Local Growth Fund.  In September 2015, following recommendation by the 

LEP Board, the Combined Authority approved a review of the SEP two years on in 

order to re-assess the strategy in light of experience of project delivery to date and 

economic and political developments over that period.  Work began in Autumn 2015 

on reviewing the SEP which included:- 

 

• an update and review of the economic evidence base underpinning the 

strategy; 

• economic modelling both of the impact of LEP investments to date and of the 

expected economic impact of investments that it is recognised will happen 

over the next decade; 

• extensive consultation with external stakeholders, business people, local 

authority partners and the public. 

 

Members considered a first draft of the refreshed SEP at its February meeting, 

following which an amended version formed the basis of the consultation document.  

Changes suggested during the consultation exercise were incorporated into the latest 

version of the Plan, attached as Appendix B to the submitted report, which the 

Authority were asked to consider, together with the Executive Summary attached at 

Appendix A. 

 

Resolved – That the draft Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan be endorsed as 

the overarching economic strategy of the Combined Authority. 

 

84. Land and Assets Board Terms of Reference 

 

The Authority considered a report seeking endorsement of the Terms of Reference 

for the Leeds City Region (LCR) Land and Assets Board. 

Page 213



 

The Authority had considered a report at its meeting on 20 November regarding the 

establishment of a Leeds City Region Land and Assets Board with the Government’s  

Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) to jointly consider and make 

recommendations on the use, re-use and disposal of public sector land and assets, 

including rationalisation of the public estate.  The aim of the Board being to identify 

suitable public sector land for development, taking a strategic view on the use of 

surplus public sector land whilst seeking to maximise the delivery of the LCR 

Strategic Economic Plan objectives and targets; particularly housing and economic 

growth. 

 

The first meeting of the Board, held in February, had considered Terms of Reference 

which were appended to the submitted report and recommended to the WYCA for 

consideration. 

 

Members considered the Terms of Reference and discussed the membership and 

political composition of the Board.  It was reported that in determining membership, 

consideration had been given to ensuring both politically balanced and geographical 

representation. 

 

Resolved –  

 

(i) That the draft Terms of Reference for the Leeds City Region Land and Assets 

Board, as set out in Appendix 1 of the submitted report, be endorsed. 

 

(ii) That the LEP Board be requested to consider clearly defining the political 

composition of the Land and Assets Board within the terms of reference. 

 

85. Strategic Planning Update  

 

The Authority considered a report providing an update of progress in implementing 

the Leeds City Region (LCR) Planning Review recommendations agreed by the West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority and seeking endorsement of relevant documents 

recommended for approval by the LCR Planning Portfolio Board. 

 

The Planning Review had been undertaken in order to explore and develop options 

on the potential roles of the WYCA and Leeds City Region LEP in adding value to the 

Duty to Cooperate, planning processes and strategic planning.  At its meeting on 17 

September 2015, WYCA had endorsed thirty six Planning Review recommendations, 

which had been made with a view to adding value to existing local priorities and 

policies, and had been developed and put forward for approval by the LCR Planning 

Portfolios Board. 

 

Members considered the report which provided an update on progress in 

implementing the Planning Review recommendations six months on and set out a 

summary of progress within each of the following workstreams: 

 

 

Page 214



• WYCA/LEP Compliance with the Duty 

• WYCA/LEP Involvement with Planning Applications 

• WYCA/LEP Input into Local Plans 

 

It was noted that significant progress had been made across all of the 

recommendations.  Joint working on LCR housing and employment requirements 

together with Duty to Cooperate processes had proved to be robust after being 

tested at both the Leeds and Bradford Local Plan Inquiries. 

 

Members were also asked to consider the LCR Planning Charter, the LCR Statement 

of Cooperation for Local Plans and the draft West Yorkshire Local Aggregates 

Assessment which had been recommended for approval by the LCR Planning 

Portfolios Board and were appended to the report. 

 

Resolved – 

 

(i) That the progress made over the past 6 months in implementing the 

recommendations of the LCR Strategic Planning Review be noted. 

 

(ii) That the revised LCR Planning Charter, as detailed in Appendix 2 of the 

submitted report, be endorsed. 

 

(iii) That the revised LCR Statement of Co-operation for Local Plans, as detailed in 

Appendix 3 of the submitted report, be endorsed. 

 

(iv) That the draft West Yorkshire Local Aggregates Assessment, as detailed in 

paragraph 3.16 of the submitted report, be noted. 

 

86. WYCA Planning Consultations 

 

The Authority considered a report regarding two planning consultations as part of 

the West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s role under the Duty to Co-operate. 

 

In line with the recommendation of the LCR Planning Review, endorsed by WYCA in 

September 2015, the Authority had been consulted on the Kirklees Local Plan and on 

a major planning application in Calderdale.  The report provided members with 

details on each of the planning applications. 

 

Kirklees Draft Local Plan Consultation 

 

It was reported that Kirklees Council had consulted WYCA in February 2016 on the 

Kirklees Local Plan and a response had been submitted within the required period to 

meet the Council’s consultation deadline.  A copy of the response submitted was 

attached at Appendix A to the report for information. 

 

 

 

Page 215



Calderdale Planning Application Consultation (Cummings Turbo Technologies) 

 

WYCA had been consulted on 10 March by Calderdale Council on a planning 

application by Cummings Turbo Technologies for a proposed new manufacturing 

facility at Ainley Top, Calderdale.  Members were asked to consider the proposed 

WYCA response set out in Appendix 2. 

 

Resolved – 

 

(i) That the response to Kirklees Council on the Kirklees Local Plan consultation, 

as detailed in Appendix 1 of the submitted report, be supported. 

 

(ii) That the proposed response to Calderdale Council, as detailed in Appendix 2 

of the submitted report, in relation to the Cummings Turbo Technologies 

manufacturing plant planning proposals be endorsed. 

 

87. Transport Priorities and Transport for the North (TfN) 

 

The Committee considered a report summarising recent progress with Transport for 

the North and priorities in respect of the future role of Transport for the North as a 

Sub National Transport Body. 

 

The report set out the key messages in the recently published Transport for the 

North (TfN) report.   

 

It was noted that Lord Adonis, as Chair of the National Infrastructure Commission, 

had published a report on rail connectivity between major cities in the north, which 

recognised the need for immediate and significant investment in the North and a 

plan for longer-term transformation to reduce journey times, increase capacity and 

improve reliability.  The report also recommended the kick-starting of HS3, bringing 

forward of investment to boost capacity on the M62 and recognised the benefits of 

upgrading the Calder Valley route.  Members suggested that it would be beneficial to 

invite Lord Adonis to a future meeting of WYCA to pick up on some of the issues 

outlined in his report. 

 

Members discussed the ambitions of the Leeds City Region in the context of its role 

in the Northern Powerhouse and supported the six key messages set out in the 

report which had been identified by WYCA’s Transport Committee.  Members agreed 

that it was of paramount importance to set out a consistent and clear narrative to 

influence the northern and national agenda and to have a clearly defined list of 

regional priorities which could be delivered through Transport for the North, 

namely:- 

 

• A Northern Powerhouse rail network that radically improves journey times 

and frequencies without causing a detriment to the existing network; 

• A full review of Strategic Highway Network priorities, recognising the 

importance of the M62 and M1 to the Leeds City Region; 

Page 216



• Improved surface access to Manchester and Leeds/Bradford Airports that 

offer businesses more international destinations; 

• Significant improvements to road and rail to transform the distribution 

network; 

• Smart ticketing and fare simplification with LCR leading the way; 

• LCR schemes that have pan-northern benefits are prioritised and supported. 

 

Resolved:  

 

(i) That the report be noted. 

 

(ii) That the key messages and priorities set out in the report be endorsed. 

 

(iii) That work should continue to identify the priorities of the Leeds City Region 

and to make the case for economic investment in the north. 

 

(iv) That Lord Adonis, Chair of the National Infrastructure Commission, be invited 

to a future meeting of the Authority. 

 

88. Minimum Standards Charter for Construction Industry Employees 

 

The Committee considered a report regarding the Minimum Standards Charter for 

employees in the construction industry. 

 

It was reported that the constituent West Yorkshire authorities were signing up to a 

Minimum Standards Charter with a view to encouraging the adoption and adherence 

to a set of minimum standards of employment on construction projects procured by 

their authorities. 

 

Members discussed the benefits of supporting the Charter and broadly supported 

the principles but felt that it would be useful to have more information on the 

implications for tendering and procurement and the effect on smaller contractors. 

 

 Resolved: 

 

(i) That the principles of the Minimum Standards Charter be supported, namely: 

 

• the Authority will adopt the minimum standards in all construction 

projects procured; 

• underlines that Health & Safety of workers is paramount, and that 

appropriate welfare facilities should be provided; 

• expects that skilled operatives are used in order to achieve the high 

standard finished product that is demanded;  

• expects major contractors to offer apprenticeships to the youth of the 

city region, and generally supports initiatives to improve the 

education/training of construction employers and employees; 

Page 217



• reiterates the belief that workers should be fairly rewarded, and 

should be entitled to holiday, sickness, pension, accident 

compensation and death in service rights; and 

• promotes the vital role of trade unions, including inviting construction 

employers to agree to employ operatives under the terms and 

conditions of relevant national agreements. 

 

(ii) That a further report be brought to a future meeting of the Authority. 

 

89. Organisational Arrangements 

 

The Committee considered a report seeking approval to a number of organisational 

and control matters. 

 

Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 

 

Members were asked to consider the Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 which had been 

endorsed by the Governance & Audit Committee and was attached to the report as 

Appendix A. 

 

Further Budget Approvals 

 

Members were asked to consider approval of expenditure in relation to further 

funding secured since the budget was agreed in February, namely £6m for the 

Business Growth Programme, £15.7m for the Access to Capital Grants programme, 

£625k for the LEP Growth Service and £62k for the Better Homes project. 

 

Treasury Management 

 

In order to manage the expected increase in cash balances upon receipt of Growth 

Deal funding, and recognising some stresses in the economic markets, changes were 

proposed to increase flexibility in managing cash by increasing the time limits for 

investment with local authorities to three years with up to £20 maturing in each of 

the next three years. 

 

European Investment Bank 

 

Approval was sought for the Director of Resources to enter into an agreement with 

the European Investment Bank for a facility of £100m, providing a flexible alternative 

to the usual Public Works Loan Board borrowing, that would be required to fund the 

Transport Fund in future years. 

 

Monitoring Officer 

 

The Authority is required by law to designate an officer as the statutory Monitoring 

Officer with the post of Assistant Director Legal currently fulfilling this obligation.  

Following the resignation of the Assistant Director Legal (re-named Head of Legal 

and Democratic Services), it is proposed that the Managing Director as Head of Paid 

Page 218



Service be the designated Monitoring Officer of the Authority from the date upon 

which the current Assistant Director Legal leaves that post until the date upon which 

the post is filled following recruitment. 

 

Committee Arrangements 

 

Members were asked to consider the request made by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee for the Chair to be given permission to speak at meetings of the 

Combined Authority in order to share any views of the Committee. 

 

 Resolved: 

 

(i) That the internal audit plan for 2016/17 be approved. 

 

(ii) That further budget approvals be approved as follows: 

 

• a further £6m for the business growth programme in 2016/17; 

• £15.7m for the Access to Capital Grants programme; 

• a further £625k for the LEP Growth Service; 

• a further £62k for the Better Homes project. 

 

(iii) That the treasury management arrangements be amended, as set out in 

paragraph 2.7 of the submitted report, to enable longer term investments to 

be placed with local authorities. 

 

(iv) That the Director, Resources be authorised to enter into a facility with the 

European Investment Bank to the value of £100m which would enable WYCA 

to undertake disbursements over a five year term. 

 

(v) That the Managing Director as Head of Paid Service be the designated 

Monitoring Officer of the Authority from the date upon which the current 

Assistant Director Legal leaves that post until the date upon which the post is 

filled following recruitment. 

 

(vi) That upon commencement of employment, the new Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services become the designated Monitoring Officer of the 

Authority. 

 

(vii) That the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be invited to attend 

future meetings of the Combined Authority to present the views and 

recommendations of the Committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 219



90.  Feedback from Combined Authority Spokespersons Representing the WYCA on 

External Bodies 

 

Councillor Wakefield provided members with feedback from meetings of Transport 

for the North and the Rail North Partnership Board which he had attended on 25 

February. 

 

Resolved:  Members noted the update provided by Councillor Keith Wakefield of the 

meetings of Transport for the North and the Rail North Partnership Board which he 

had attended on 25 February. 

 

91. Draft minutes of the meeting of the Governance & Audit Committee held on  

9 February 2016 

 

 Resolved:  That the draft minutes of the meeting of the Governance & Audit 

Committee held on 9 February 2016 be noted. 

 

92. Draft minutes of the meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on  

16 February 2016 

 

 Resolved:  That the draft minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on  

16 February 2016 be noted. 

 

93. Draft minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 26 February 

2016 

 

 Resolved:  That the draft minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held 

on 26 February 2016 be noted. 

 

 

Page 220


	Agenda
	5 ANNUAL FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE OUTTURN REPORT 2015-16
	6 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2017-18 TO 2019/20 AND BEYOND INCORPORATING THE EFFICIENCY PLAN
	7 FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL POSITION STATEMENT FOR 2016-17
	8 REGIONALISATION OF ADOPTION SERVICES
	9 PROPOSED EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY TEAM SPIN-OUT FROM THE LOCAL AUTHORITY
	10 UNAUTHORISED DEPOSIT OF WASTE (FIXED PENALTIES) REGULATIONS 2016
	11 MINUTES OF THE WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY 31 MARCH 2016

